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OPENING FOR THE DEFENSE.

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 24, 1875.
87TH DAY.

Mr. TRACY—MAY 1T PLEASE THE COURT,
GenTLEMEN OF THE JURY: The time having
arrived when the defendant is permitted to be
heard in his own behalf, my associates have
assigned to me the duty of stating his case to
this Honorable Court and to you. I am sure,
gentlemen, when you consider for whom and
in whose presence'l speak, you will believe
that it is for me an occasion of great personal
embarrassment. When I think of the inter-
ests involved in this trial and the effects which
may follow it, when I contemplate the deep
and painful anxiety which it everywhere ex-
cites, I am oppressed by the burden of re-
sponsibility which the over-kindness of my as-
sociates has laid upon me, and would gladly
surrender it to other and abler hands. Noth-
ing, indeed, prevents me from sinking be-
neath the task I have undertaken, but a clear
conviction of the absolute innocence of my

" client, and the assurance of my eminent as-
sociates that his case ig too strong to be in-
jured by my unskillful advocacy. And more-
over, I am assured by the knowledge that
comes to me from every quarter, that, in my
effort to make his innocence as plain to you
and to the world as it has long been to his
counsel and his people, I have the universal
sympathy of mankind.

The magnitude and importance of the ques-
tions here involved, cannot be over-estimated,
for they go down to the very foundations of
our social, moral, and religious life. If the
effect of your decision in this case could be
limited to determining whether the plaintiff
has suffered a wrong at the hands of the de-
fendant, for which he is entitled to be com-
pensated in money, this trial would not excite
the wide-spread interest which has attached
to it from the beginning, and which must fol-
low it to the end. But, gentlemen, I need
not remind you how utterly impossible it is
to circumscribe the effect of this trial within
such narrow limits. Either this defendant is
to go forth from this court-room vipdicated
by your verdict, or you and I and all who
take part in this day’s work are actors in one
of the greatest moral tragedies which has
-ever occupied the stage of human life. Look
-at it as we may, it is impossible to separate

the defendant from his representative char-
acte

T.

Not that I would endorse the remarkable
statement of the plaintifi’s counsel in his open-
ing, that ¢ upon the result of your verdict, to
a very large extent, will depend the integrity
of the Christian religion”” God forbid that
the integrity of the Christian religion should
depend upon the character or the fortunes of
any man, however learned, eloquent or de-
vout. The Christian religion is founded upon
the eternal rock of God’'s nature and God’s de-
cree. It is from everlasting to everlasting;
and will abide when the remotest records of
future history shall have faded from the an-
nals of time, and the heavens ‘‘ghall have
been rolled together as a scroll.’”” My client
expects no other support from the Christian
religion than such as may be found inits
promises. He takes his stand here alone
upon his own integrity, sustained only by
God and the justice of his cause. And yet,
gentlemen, I repeat, you cannot consider him
al ther without reference to that sacred
faith of which he has been for along time
one of the most honored ministers, which
would acquire lustre in his vindication, and
;vil;i}:hl 1could not but be deeply wounded in

all.

HENRY WARD BEECHER.

The son of one of the most eminent clorgy-
men of the last generation, a member of a
large family of which all the men are clergy-
men and all the women authors of repute—a
family, let me say, gentlemen, on whose fair
fame the shadow of reproach has never rested
hitherto—the defendant early devoted him-
self to the self-denying pursuit of a minister
of the Gospel. For it was no bed of roses in
aluxurious abode that he spread for himself ;
he made no use of a dominant family influ-
ence to secure the refinements and privileges
of a wealthy city parish. He struck boldly
out into the wilds and hardships of the far
West, He rode the rough circuit of a home-
missionary life. With his own hands he
made the fires, swept the floors and rang the
bell in his forest church ; with his own hands,
asgisted only by the faithful wife who stood
by him then, and who—to the honor of
womanhood—stands by him to-day, he min-
istered to the necessities of his forest home.
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When the thunders of his manly eloquence
had reached even this distant coast, and the
imperative demand of the church had sum-
moned him to a wider sphere of action, he
left neither his simplicity nor his indepen-
dence behind. He has been the same genu-
ine, true-hearted, unaffected man here that
he was in the West. In the midst of all the
refinements and luxuries of city life, his
motto has been that of the great apostle he
80 much resembles, ‘“I know how to be
abased, and I know how to abound.” To
some who, in the early days, when he was
less known than now, undertook to control
his utterances by threatening loss of place, he
made this memorable reply : ‘‘ You may un-
seat me, but you cannot control me. I came
from the woods, and I can go back to the
woods again.”’

This man, so introduced to us, has wrought
and taught for near thirty yearsin our midst.
He is no longer a stranger, and no longer a
new acquaintance. Genial and unassuming
in his manners ; inspiring in his speech as new
wine ; accessible to all, from the gravest citi-
zen to the humblest child,—the life he has
lived before us has been as warm and fruitful
as God’s summer, as open and beneficent as
His day.

No truth struggling with error has ever
failed to find in him a champion; no phase
of human sorrow has gought him in vain for
sympathy and relief. Nay, a8 we have too
much reason to know, the very excess of his
sensibility has at times become to him an ele-
ment of weakness, and left him for the mo-
ment at the mercy of colder and Larder men.

And, if this is a fair picture of his private
and domestic life, what shall be said of his
life and influence as & preacher of the Gos-
pel? Let the immense assemblies that for
nearly thirty years—without abatement,
‘without fluctuation—have thronged his chap-
el, more numerous and enthusiastic to-day
than ever before, bear testimony. To this
great congregation, presenting an unusual
proportion of able and thoughtful men, he
has ministered all these years untiringly.
That his ministrations have been wmarked by
arare spirituality, and a wonderful mastery
over the various motives of human character
and moods of human experience, is universal-
ly acknowledged. He has been empathically
a preacher of the people. Living himself in
constant communion with the unseen, he has
interpreted the mysteries of the soul and
given voice to those dim intuitions—those im-
mortal yearnings—which spring up in every
human breast, but which so few can ever ut-
ter. A clergym:un of the Congregational
Church, he hus labored for the aggrandize-
ment of no sect, for the building up of no de-
nomination. His creed is as broad as human-
ity itself ; and his deep, wirm heart, instinct-
ively responding to the feeling of all, has en

abled him to summon the race to a higher,
nobler, and purer life. Though a Protestant,
he has ever been able to discern the common
Christian faith in all churches bearing the
Christian name. Moral integrity, sincere de-
votion, and an earnest consecration to the
common Lord, have always been recognized
by him, without reference to the question of
his own recognition by those to whom his
charity has extended. Every honest soul
that labored for the salvation and elevation
of mankind, whether minister, priest or
monk, or enly self-sacriticing layman, has
been to him a Christian brother, & minister
of God. Itisthen no wonder that, besides
the power of his personal teaching, the de-
mand for his printed sermons should be be-
yond all precedent. Their weekly issue is
read in ever{ntlown and hamlet throughout
this broad d; they are met with in the
cabin of the backwoodsman, in the hut of the
miner, in the forecastle at sea. Not only
this, but they have been translated into every
European language. In England alone, as I
am informed, their circulation is thrice as
large as that in all this country.

Thus has he—alone—almost fulfilled the
divine command, ‘‘Go ye into all the world
and preach the Gospel to every creature.”” I
estimate the full force of my words when T
affirm that no man ever exerted in Ais own
lifetime 8o wide-spread and beneficent an in-
fluence. The far-reaching and abiding pow-
er of this Christian minister, has long been a
marvel to the people of two continents, and
theories both friendly and hostile have been
advanced to explain it. Geatlemen, shall I
solve the problem for you? The reason of
the power of this man’s preaching is, that
behind his sermons there is a life—and be-
hind the life, a MAN. It is because they have
come from the heart, that they have gone to
the heart. It is because his preaching is known
by those who know him best to be illustrated
by his daily living, that he is, in thissu-
preme emergency of his life, girded by mil-
lions of faithful hearts and walled to heaven
by the unfaltering love and confidence of
his people.

But if there are those who are not interested
in the minister of the Gospel, I invite them
to contemplate the patrivt and philanthropist.
Espousing the cause of the oppressed, he labor-
ed for the emancipation ofa race. When the
agitation resulted in a conflict of arms, im--
periliag the Union of the States, his clarion
voice was heard everywhere arousing the na-
tion to the holy strife. When danger threatened
from abroad, he was prompt to plead the cause
of ¢* Amgrican union on the basis of Americhn
liberty’’ in the face of infuriated thousands
set on by a foreign aristocracy to revile him
and tostrike him down. Mr. Beecher’s hand-
to-hand fight with the English masses on
English soil, is a thrilling page in history,
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known and read of all men. His courage, his
devotion, his eloquence, in that memorable
contest, won the admiration of all Europe and
can never be forgotten by the American peo-
ple. In that struggle, Henry Ward Beecher
won the ration’s gratitude and the nation's
love. When the fury of the storm had spent
its force, when the war was over, and the na-
tion was saved—then the voice which had rung
like a trumpet in the strife was the first to
plead for forbearance to the vanquished, for a
generous condonation of the ipm;t, and a per-
manent peace resting upon universal amnesty.
This, gentlemen, is a trueand unflattered por-
trait of the defendant in this case—as a hus-
band, a father, a citizen, a patriot, a philan-
thropist, a minister, and a man. If it were a
statement to be established by testimony,
thousands upon thousands of witnesses might
crowd this Court to confirm its truth ; for the
name of Henry Ward Beecher has long been
the treasure of the nation, as it hasbeen the
special pride and glory of this city, famous
throughout the world as the scene of his life
and labors.

One of the most striking characteristics of
the man I have been describing was a profound
and ever-active interest in young men, The
first work he ever published, a work which
won him an enviable reputation while he was
himself yet a young man, and which is still
disseminated by thousands in this and otber
lands, was his ‘‘ Lectures to Young Men.”
‘When, therefore, in his earlier Brooklyn min-
istry, he encountered a young man of unusual
promise, it was like him to receive the youth
into his *‘ heart of heart’’ and to lavish upon
him that affection, that expenditure of time,
and that wealth of intimate intercourse,
which notafew men of the highest culturehad
desired in vain. For that ‘fﬁvileged intimacy,
and for that affectionate devotion, this prose-
cution is the grateful reward. The heart in
which that generous sowing brought forth
only the deadly nightshade of envy and hate
was the heart of the plaintiff in this suit.

THEODORE TILTON.

It now becomes my unpleasant duty to in-
vite you, gentlemen, to consider for a moment
who and what is Theodore Tilton. The plain-
tiff in this case presents the most impressive
instance that has ever come within my obser-
wvation, of the remorseless power and the de-
structive effect of a single absorbing master
passion. An all-dominating, selfish egotism
is the basis of his character. Asa boy, he
was bright and ambitious, and his quickness
of apprehension and felicity of statement
brought him early recognition and praise.
Everybody flattered and encouraged him, re-
garding his self-conceit as something which
mature years and the hard experience of life
would modify into a reasonable self-reliance

and an honorable pride. Beginning life as a
reporter on the public press, he was brought
into contact with great orators and public men,
and he early resolved to devote himself toa
public career. All his studies turned upon this
point—to make himself a graceful and power-
ful er and writer. The art of appearing
well and sounding well was the art he sought
—a dangerous pursuit for one already strongly
predisposed by constitutional vanity to con-
sider life a drama and himself its hero. He
began, with unbounded confidence and cool,
calculating pertinacity, to work his way u
ward. Possessed of a fine address, a lively
imagination, fertile fancy and flowing speech,
he lacked the powersof deep and original
thought ; and, more than these, sound sense,
discriminating judgment and the unselfish
aims which are the prime elements of a noble
manhood. Anxious above all things to shine,
he seized every opportunity and advocated
every cause which would give him promi-
nence, He adopted the ideas of leading men
of the country, Sumner, Phillips, Garrison,
and, more than any other, of Mr. Beecher,
who, as we have seen, was lavish of friend-
ship and aid—and reproduced them in sen-
sational editorials and lectures. The ex-
tremists in politics and religion to whom he
joined himself, were ready to reward the fa-
cility with which he yielded himself to their
uses by fostering his conceit; representing
him as the successful antagonist of Mr.
Beecher—the young David who had over-
thrown the great Goliah in debate, and the
brilliant occupant of the editorial chair of The
I , who bad eclipsed the light of
his predecessor.

He fell in with gay, fascinating people,
who considered themselves free from the con-
ventional restraints of society ; and, little by
little, he slid into their ways of thinking.
His unbalanced vanity was not proof against
the wine of dangerous theories, when present-
ed by the hand of the flatterer., Surrounded
only by those who burned incense to bis
vanity, he became inflated with success, and
fancied himself & monumental genius, a pro-
lific source of wit and wisdom—in a word,
the foremost man of his time. Conspicuously
destitute alike of logical ‘power and the poise
of a nice moral sense, he embraced the wild-
est views and rushed forward, believing that
the world would follow where he led. Some
persons of cool heads can speculate on social,
political, orreligious questions without losing
their balance ; but, with Theodore Tilton, to
calculate the depths of an abyss was to plunge
headlong into it. A believerin the Christian
faith and a member of an orthodox church,
he speculated on the origin of matter and the
attributes of God until he became a deist,
denying the divinity of Christ, and rejecting
the Bcriptures as a Divine revelation of God’s
will to man. The husband of a gifted, pure,
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and loving wife—the father of an interesting
family, having, as he describes it, an ‘““ideal
home,’” he speculated on social problems, and
was led by the malign influence under which
he fell, to denounce the marriage relation as
a remnant of effete civilization—a clog and
hindrance to the development of the race.
His remedy for the evils of marriage was easy
divorce, leaving parties as free to dissolve the
relation as they were to enter into it. He denies
that he is a free lover, but Victoria Wood-
hull, the apostle of free love, asks for no
greater social freedom than this. A leader of
men must know how to construct and to
preserve, but Theodore Tilton knew only how
to unsettle and destroy. The moment he as-
sumed a position of such prominence that he
could be studied and criticised, the glaring
defects of his character discovered themselves
to these who had hitherto been his dupes.
Opposition sprang upin every quarter, and at
last he was forced to realize that the founda-
tion which had been reared for him, and on
which he had been placed by others more than
by himself, was crumbling beneath his feet.
The end was near. Theodore Tilton fell—
fell from an eminence seldom attained by
men of his age—to the very bottom of the
abyss, the depths of which he had attempted
to sound.

From that abyss, hebeheld afar off the man
who had been bis early friend and patron, but
whom he bad long regarded as his rival and
inferior, standing firm and erect, his influence
widening and deepening, and his hold on
public favor becoming more and more per-
manent and secure. A man fed by inordi-
nate vanity can never awake to a sane, rea-
sonable estimate of himself. Failure and dis-
appointment never lead such a man to self-
examination, but excite within him only
bitterness, rage and malice. With him, it is
never his own folly and impotence that
have impeded his advance, but some
malevolent power has interfered. In the
blindaess of his rage, Theodore Tilton
persuaded himself that the sole and effi-
cient cause of his overthrow was Beecher ;
that the one man who had prevented him
from reaching the topmost summit of fame
was Beecher. But one resource was left to
him. If he had not power to rebuild, he
still had power to destroy, and Beecher
should feel that power. To be eclipsed and
neglected was gall and wormwood to his soul.
If he could not be famous, he could at least
be infamous ; and he preferred infamy to ob-
livion. Mr. Beecher had long been his friend,
and the intimate friend of his wife. That
friendship he could pervert, and make himself
the author, and at the same time the central
figure, of the most famous scandal of modern
times. [If he could notsupplant Beecherin the
affection of the people, he could scandalize
him. Ifhe had made it impossible for any

honorable pen to write his own biography,
then was it worth any cost to have a
line devoted to him in the biography
of Henry Ward Beecher. His natural bent
towards plots and conspiracies now fully re-
vealed itself, and Beecher was the object
of his schemes. His grand genius for at-
titudinizing—for Tilton is nothing if not dra-
matic—began to be displ:ged. Asin a play,
everything was arranged with a view to
effect. Facts were nothing to him, except as
they could be adroitly used to serve the pur-
pose of his pageant. Friends, wife, children,
and all that other men hold sacred and dear,
must be trampled down and walked over to
reach the notice and applause for which he
has shown himself willing to barter hisim-
mortal soul. Pure women might abhor and
shun him, but one pure woman at leastshould
go to her grave, bearing witness to his power
in a blasted life and a broken heart, Here,
gentlemen, here speaksthe ¢ master passion”
of this perverted man. At this very moment, if
hecould realize the sad truth that he is morally
dead, he would still rejoice in this post mortem
investigation of his character. The decaying
corpse would rather be dissected than buried ;
but we propose, gentlemen, to dissect him
first in the "interest of truth, and to bury him
afterwards in the interest of decency.

Such, gentlemen, is the plaintiff in this
cause. A staunch new vessel, launched upon
an honorable voyage, sailing with prosperous
winds over unruffled seas, has been transform-
ed into a pirate by the wickedness of her
commander, and wrecked by his folly, and
now lies a stranded and battered hulk, the
object at once of the curiosity and abhorrence
of mankind.

And now, gentlemen, with this imperfect
preliminary sketch of the two leading charac-
tersin what we shall show you is the most re-
markable conspiracy of modern times, perha;
youwill be better prepared to comprehend t!

‘¢ gtrange, eventful’’ history which I proceed
to lay before you. In 1847, Mr. Beecher re-
moved from Indianapolis and settled in
Brooklyn. His success as a preacher was al-
ready established, and he immediately took ®
rank among the foremost orators of America.
His church was at once crowded, and soon
came to be the largest and one of the wealthi-
est in the two cities. Removing to Brook-
lyn in 1851 or 1852, the plaintiff—then a boy
just from school—took his place among the
‘young men of Plymouth Church. He was
speedily taken into favor by some of the
leading members and by the pastor. He was
employed to report some of Mr. Beecher's
sermons, and the two men came into frequent
contact and formed & warm friendship. The
favor in this friendship was all on one side.
Mr. Beecher was a man of mature years, and,
even then, almost at the height of his fame.
He had multitudes of friends—men of
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wealth, of learning, of high reputation—=and
could derive nothing from the merelad whom
- he thus took into the circle of his friends,
exceptthe pleasure which a great and generous
nature feels in imparting knowledge to an
openirg mind, and in helping forward a
struggling aspirant. The pastor wasled to
take an additional interest in this young man
by the fact of his marriage to a young girl
whom Mr. Beecher had known and loved
from her childhood. In the following year,
Tilton, through Mr. Beecher’s friendly inter-
est, was taken upon the editorial staff of The
Imﬁ;mdmt, a paper mainly owned by one
of Mr. Beecher’s congregation, and to which
Mr. Beecher was himself a regular and valued
contributor. From this time the relations of
the two grew more and more intimate. Til-
ton visited frequently at Mr. Beecher’s house
and took an active part in the work of
the church; and when, in 1861, Mr.
Beecher was invited to the editorial chair of
The Independent, his affection for Mr. Tilton
was so well known that one of the chief in-
ducements held out to him to acoept that po-
gition was, that Mr, Tilton should be associa-
ted with him as assistant editor. It is true
that there had been some indications of envy
and conscious rivalry on the part of young
Tilton, even at this early day, and some of Mr.
Beecher's oldest friends suspected and criti-
cised the motives of the young man; but
Mr. Beecher himself was entirely free from
suspicion, and put the mostinnocent interpre-
tation upon every act of his new friend.
At this time, gentlemen, Mr. Beecher had
a summer residence in the country, to which
it was the habit of his family to repair, about
the lust of May or the first of June, and to
return again in October, or sometimes as late
a8 November, But a portion of the time,
while his family were thus residing in the
country, and prior to the beginning of his
summer vacation, in the city—he spent
in working at his own house, taking his
meals with some of the families of his church
during the time that he was in the city. This
habit was well known to Mr. Tilton,
and early in 1861 or 1862 he urged Mr.
Beecher to make his house also a place
of frequent resort. He spoke often to
his pastor of his wife’s great affection for
him, and requested him to call and make
himself at home in the family. Mr. Beecher
had known Mrs. Tilton prior to his acquaint-
ance with Mr. Tilton, but only as a young
girl, a member of the church ; and the ac-
quaintance had practically ceased after her
marriage, until it was renewed, as I have
stated, at the request of Mr. Tilton—ceased,
I mean, so far as his visits to their house were
concerned ; for in the early years of their
marriage they were boarding, and when they
began to keep house they commenced in Ox-
ford street, so far from the place of Mr.

Beecher's residence that it was quite imprac-
ticable for him to visit the house often. Still,
at the earnest solicitation of Mr. Tilton, as
we have said, he began his visits to the house
in Oxford street; and it was during these
visits—quite infrequent, as the plaintiff tells
you, and made at his earnest request—that
Mr. Beecher first became acquainted with Mrs.
Tilton in the relations of wife and mother.

MRS. ELIZABETH R. TILTON.

And now, gentlemen, Iask you to consider
for a moment that Mrs. Tilton is the true des
fendant in this cause—she whose lips are sealed
and whose hands are tied, while the battle is
waging over her body. She can make no out-
cry, and strike no blow in her own defense.
She can only weep and pray, as she has done
so often already, looking for her deliverance
to Almighty God and to the spirit of justioe
which He inspires in the hearts of men.

Small in stature, and of a childlike dispo-
sition, this lady is of a nature deeply rever-
ential and filled with an exalted religious en-
thusiasm, The plaintiff himself declares
that, had she lived in former days and be-
longed to the Roman Catholic Church, she
would have been recognized as one of those
illustrious women whose names shine with
the halo of saintliness. She was devoted to
her home, entertained views of thesacredness
of motherhood almost romantic (if that were
possible), and gave her own life, under God,
absolutely to her husband and children, with-
out & murmur as to her own self-sacrifice.
Gifted, sensitive, pure, self-depreciating, idol-
izing her home, and worshipping with all the
intensity of her nature the husbaud of her
early love, her very existence was so blended
with his, that their union fulfilled Lord
Coke’s definition of marriage, ‘two souls
united in one person.”” From the time when
Theodore Tilton placed the wedding ring upon
the finger of Elizabeth, until that hour when,
driven by his persecution, she was compelled
to tear herself from her home and from him
forever, there had been but one person who
in all things dominated that household, and
that one was Theodore Tilton. His wish was
to her a command ; whatever he willed, she
did. Relieving him from every household
care incident to the rearing of a young and
numerous family, she was content to toil and
suffer that he might win the distinction he
coveted so much.

In amarried life which would have made
most women wretched, for ten long years of
absolute self-sacrifice, Elizabeth Tilton fan
cied hergelf happy. Month by month, she
watched the ual unfolding of her hus-
band, under the guidance and companionship
of hisfriend and pastor. She saw him rising
step by step to that proud eminence which
lwgbeen the ruling ambition of hislife, and
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she was happy. But she at last came to real-
ize that every new success brought to him
new dangers. She saw with pain the charac-
ter of the associates with whom, in the reck-
lessness of vanity and the intoxication of first
success, he surrounded himself. And with
unspeakable anguish she witnessed the
change that, day by day, was going on in his
religious convictions. Slowly but certainly
he was sliding away from the views of mar-
riage and of social duty which he once adop-
ted, and becoming the advocate of theories
which seemed to her to have been propounded
only by those who were unwilling that the
principles they professed should be better
than the lives they lived. The spell of the
-flatterer was upon him. To rescue him from
all that she deemed false in religion and per-
nicious in morals was, as it seemed to her,
the one great duty of life, To accomplish
this, no sacrifice was too great. She would
patiently if not willingly accept humiliation,
reproach, accusation j nay, the most sacred
feelings of wife and mother might be out-
raged and trampled upon ; and still she would
hide her sufferings and conceal her wounds,
if only the object of her solicitude and pray-
ers might besaved.

There was but one person on earth to whom
she could make known her sorrow, and that
one was their friend and pastor. Boundless
was her faith in God and the efficacy of
prayer, but she was not a mere enthusiast ;
she believed in a wise and faithful applica-
tion of appropriate means. How natural,
then, that she should appeal in this emer-
gency to him who had been the friend of
her husband’s youth, the counsellor and
guide of his maturer manhood. This pastor
sympathized with her suffering and promised
kelp. How faithfully and how tenderly he
counseled the plaintiff we have seen by the
beautiful letter, as wise as it is beautiful,
which the defendant wrote to the plaintiff in
1867. If Tilton could have but heeded that
advice how different would have been the
scene from what we this day witness! There
would have been no bleeding heart, no
deserted hearth-stone, no wife with broken
heart and blasted life, no children with-a
blight resting upon their young and innocent
lives; but a home happy and harmonious, a
family bound together by the ties of love and
respect, a household altar undesecrated, as in
those early days of simple piety of which he
is now 80 much ashamed.

But, blinded by his egotism and drunk with
the intoxication of flattery, he refused to
break away from his evil associates. Neither
the voice of friendship nor the appeals of
affection had power to save him. And now,
gentlemen, they ask us to believe that, at
this time, when all of a wife’s faith, a
woman'’s devotion and a mother’s love, was
being exerted to save Theodore Tilton from

the companionship and corrupting influence
of those *‘ whose feet take hold on hell "’—
this pure-minded and saintly woman, in her
very effort to save her husband, fell herself |
Fell into the very sins against which, for so
many anxious years, she had been warning her
husband “‘with strong crying and with tears !’
Nay, more, that the very religion—the relig-
ion which she had cherished all her life, and
which was confessedly so conspicuous in that
life, furnished the motives for her fall! Still
more, that so infatuated and unintelligent
was her hold upon that faith that, having
sinned, she solemnly denied this conscientious
crime and invented a tissue of lies to support
that denial ; that, still further moved by an
inspiration she believed Divine, she aban-
doned all the responsibilities and loves of
life, and clave to a spiritual guide, himself
all leprous and loathsome with adultery and
perjury—and that (anti-climax of abomina -
tions!) she is ‘‘a pure and white-souled
woman'’ still! Gentlemen, you are men
full grown ; you have the wisdom that comes
from the experience of life, the observation
of human nature, the knowledge of affairs.
Is there one among you that can so discredit
all that experience and observation as to
entertain for a moment a suggestion so un-
utterably absurd, so absolutely monstrous ?

MR. TILTON’S TRIUMPHANT CAREER.

In June, 1863, Mr. Beecher, feeling ex-
hausted by his labors, visited Europe for a
few months, leaving Mr. Tilton in charge of
The Independent during his absence; and,
on his return, finding from experience that
the burden was too great for him, he private-
ly relinquished the entive charge of the
paper to Mr. Tilton. He consented, how-
ever, that his own name should remain as
ostensible editor for a year longer, and, at the
end of that time, Mr. Tilton openly assumed
the charge of the paper. The prize Tilton
had so earnestly struggled for was now won ;
and, at the age of thirty years, he found
himself the successor of Henry Ward Beecher,
the occupant of one of the proudest editorial
chairs in America. For this position he was
indebted to the friendship of Henry Ward
Beecher.

The nature of the friendship which I have
thus briefly described, and its value to Mr.
Tilton, can be portrayed in no language of
mine more effective than that in which he
has done it himself, in a letter which he
wrote under a stress of conscience, the very
year that he became editor, and a few days
after he had, over his wine, made direct and
wicked insinuations against his loving pastor
and bestfriend. In this letter he tells, under
an impulse of gratitude which was all too -
brief, something of the obligations which he
was under to the man whom he had just
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begun covertly to slander, and whom he now
seeks to destroy :

MIDNIGHT, }
BROOKLYN, Nov. 30, 1865.
REYV. HENRY WARD BEECHER :

MY DEAR anuD—Remuminﬁome lateto-night,
X cannot go to bed without writing you a letter.

Twice I have been forced to appear as your antag-
onist before the public—the occasions five years
apart. After the first, I am sure our friendship,
instead of being maimed, was strengthened. After
this last, if I may guess_your heart by knowing
mine, I am sure the old love waxes instead of
wanes. * * ¢ My friend, from my boyhood up,
you have been to me what no other man has been—
‘what no other man can be. ‘While I was a student,
the influence of your mind on mine was greater
than all books and all teachers. The intimacy
with which you honored me for twelve years has
been (next to my wife and_family) the chief affec-
tion of my life. By you I was baptized—by you
married. ~ You are my minister, teacher, father,
brother, friend, companion. The debt X owe you L

.oan never pay. My religiouslife; my intellectual
develogment ; my open door of opportunity for labor
my public reputation; all these, my dear friend, f

.owe in ro great a degree to your own kindness that
my gratitude cannot be written in words, but must
be expressed only in love.

Then, what hours we have had together? What
armin arm wanderings about the sireets ! What
hunts for pictures and books! What mutual revela-
tions and communings! What interchangings of
mirth, of tears, of gnyetsl

The more I think back upon this friendship, the
more am I convinced that, not your public tion,
not your fame, not your genius, but just your affec-
tion, has been the secret of the bond between us;
for whether you had been high or low, great orcom-
mon, I believe that my heart‘]knowing its mate,
would have loved you exactly the same! .

Now, therefore, I want to say that if, either long
ago oriately. any word of mine, whether spoken or
.printed, whether public or private, has given you
pain, I beg you to blot it from your memory, ans to
‘write your orﬁveneu in its place.

Moreover, if I should die, leaving zou alive, I ask
m to love my children for their father’s sake, who

taught them toreverence you, and to regard you
a8 the man of men. )

One thing more. My religious riences have
never been more refreshing than during the last
year. Never before have 1 had such fair and win-
ning thoughts of theother life. With these thoughts
ion stand connected in a strange and beautifal wi}y.

believe human friendship outlasts human life.
-Our friendship is yet of the earth, earthy, but it
shall one day stand uplifted above mortality, safe,
without scar or flaw, without a breath to blot or a
:suspicion to endungr it. Meanwhile, O m{ friend !
may our Father in Heaven bless youon the earth,
de you, strengthen you, illumine you, and at last

ocrown you with the everlasting orown!
And now, night, and sweet be your dreams of

Your unworthy but eternal friend,
THEODORE TILTON.

We have seen, gentlemen, that, in this year

18656, Mr, Tilton assumed the absolute and’

-open control of The IW. He could
be no longer supposed to be under the influ-
ence of Mr. Beecher. Mr. Beecher had
retired from the paper, and although he was
-a correspondent of it, and it published his
-sermons weekly, still Mr. Tilton was its sole
responsible editor. The first thing his ego-
tism {)rompted him to do, on assuming
-oontrol of the paper, was to satisfy the world

that he had emancipated himself from Mr.
Beecher's influence, and was no longer guided
by him. He had, in his estimation, become
the equal of Henry Ward Beecher, if not his
superior, and he must take the first opportu-
nity to satisfy the world of that fact. Early
in 1865, he makes a political difference the
occasion for denouncing Mr. Beecher in The
Independent. The year féllowing, the op-
position of the paper to Mr. Beecher became
so pronounced, and its attacks wupon
him so virulent, that he was compelled in
self-respect to sever all connection with it,
and to refuse it permission longer to print his
sermons. ‘The pretended occasion of this
attack in 1866 was Mr. Beecher’s Cleveland

“letter which has been introduced in evidence

before you, and which you have heard read.
You will remember, gentlemen, that that was
a period just succeeding the close of the war.
The question before the country was what
should be the policy of the North towards the
conquered States of the South, and that
question depended upon what should be the
policy of the Administration; because what-
ever policy the Administration—having a
majority in Congress and the control of the
executive power—should adopt, must become,
of course, the policy of the nation. There
was a long and angry controversy, as you
may remember, within the ranks of the
Republican party, which was at that time the
party responsible for the control of the Gov-
ernment—as to what should be the policy of
the country; many Republicans adhering to
what they regarded as the policy which Mr.
Lincoln had adopted prior to his death, and
others seeking to depart from tha!, policy and
adopt a new and more aggressive course
toward the South. While the policy of the
Republican party was being formed and set-
tled, and debate and argument were going on
within the ranks of that party, Mr. Beecher
was among those who adhered to what he
deemed the poli::iy which Mr. Lincoln would
have inaugurated and carried out had he
lived. That policy was expressed in what
is known as the *‘ Cleveland letter,”’ a letter,
gentlemen,which, permit me to say, read at this
time, nine years after it was written, shows
that Mr. Beecher was no less eminent as
a statesman than as a minister of the
Gospel. But that letter, which was only an
argument intended to influence the policy of
the Administration and of the Republican
party, was made by Theodore Tilton the
pretext for a bitter and outrageous attack
upon Henry Ward Beecher; and in that
contest, as we know, the policy which was
advocated by the extreme men of the party
came to prevail, and Mr, Tilton, as he tells
you upon the witness stand, found himself
with the majority of the party. The contro-
versy which sprang from this letter severed
the public connection between Mr. Beecher
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and Mr. Tilton. The latter could no longer
be suspected of being swayed or controlled
in his public relations by the influence of Mr.
Beecher. Other influences came in to replace
the great influence which had departed. The
character of that influence, gentlemen, you
may judge by the subsequent career of Mr.
Tilton. The extreme men of every faction,
of every view, flocked around Mr. Tilton,
They found how easily they could use him.
To use him successfully, it was only necessary
to flatter him. They found him naturally
prone to accept the most radical view of
every question; and they simply took posses-
sion of him and controlled him, 8o long as he
remained editor of that paper. But at this
time, in 1866, the second year after he had"
assumed control of The Independent, it was
observed that his religious views began to
undergo a marked change. For the people
who had surrounded him were not extremists
in politics or in social theories exclusively,
but in religion also, and Mr. Tilton began to
show that he was accepting their views on this
subject. As early as March, 1866, he writes to
his wife : ““ I don’t care greatly for sermons,
but I am a believer in bymns.”” On February
1, 1867, he writes; © © @ “Jam con-
scious of departing more and more from the
peculiar religious and theological views which
you regard-assacred. Perhapsthis statement
may give you trouble, but certainly this fact
has given me peace.”’ Twelve days afterward,
he again writes: ¢ 9 © ¢ The oldreligious
teachings, the orthodox views, the dread of
unishment, the atonement, have less and
ess power over my mind. Of course you
will mourn over this. But I must be an
honest man. I don’t believe in orthodoxy,
and therefore I will not pretend to do so.”’
This change in his religioussentiments wasa
source of great unhappiness to his wife. This
is testified to, not only by Mr. Tilton, but by
the witness whom the plaintiff hasintroduced
into your presence, Mrs. Bradshaw. She tells
you that Mrs. Tilton mourned greatly over
the change of religious sentiments that came
over her husband in these early years. On
his cross-examination before the Committee,
Tilton declared that he thoroughly hates and
despises religious creeds. Says he: ‘‘Ido
not believe in one of the thirty-nine articles,
nor in either of the catechisms, nor in the
divine inspiration of the Scriptures, nor in the
divinity of Christ.”” He further says: *‘I
despise the church and gener i1y despise min-
isters.”” He further says : **I thank God I
do not belong to the priesthood or the
church.”” Tilton farther testifies to the sor-
row and anguish which this change in his re-
ligious sentiments caused his wife. He says :
**She wus always in sorrow that I was not a
minister, which was the only virtue that I
” On that examination, there was
put to him the following question : * Well,

it was that lack of reverencefor the church
and its ordinances, and your lack of belief in
the divinity of Christ, as she held it, that she
missed in you?’’ To that he answered :
‘“Yes ;"' and the following question was put
to him: ¢ And she grieved over it?"’ He
answered: ‘‘ Oh! yes, indeed ; grieved over
it with tears.”” And to a further questions
‘Do you know whether the change in your
religious convictions was a source of great
grief and sorrow to your wife?’ He an-
swered : ‘‘ It was a great source of tears and
anguish to her ; she 8aid to me once that de-
nying the divinity of Christ, in her view,
nullified our marriage almost; and I think,
next to the sorrow of this scandal, it has
caused that woman to sorrow more than any-
thing else she has ever suffered, because L
cannot look upon the Lord Jesus Christ as.
the Lord God. I think her breast has been
wrenched with it ; she is almost an enthusi-
ast on the subject of the divinity of her
Saviour. Q. You think her a Christian, do-
you? A. Yes; she is the best Christian I
know of, barring her faults; ‘better than any
minister. Q. The change of your religious
views has been the subject of a great deal of
conversation and anguish, and labor on her
part, hasit not? A. Oh, yes—of letters, and
prayers, and tears, and entreaties, many a
time and oft."”’

In this hour of her great sorrow, Mrs. Til-
ton applied to her pastor for advice and sym-
pathy. Mr. Beecher saw Tilton frequently,
and talked with him upon matters of re-
ligious belief. On June 3, 1867, he wrote
Tilton the judicious and eloquent: letter
which has been given in evidence, and from
which I now desire to quote.

Mr. Beecher writes to Mr. Tilton :

June 8, 1867,

My DEAR TrREODORE: In thinking over our con-
versation respecting your Fositlon on religious
matters, it occurs to me that you are liable to do
yourselfa.n unnecessary injustice by supposing or
affirming that you have wandered from received
orinions, whereas it seems to me that you have
simply entered that stage of development in
which every active mind explores the groundsand
reasons of belief for himself. Now, it isimpossible
for one, unless cautious even to coldness, to pursue
such investigations without great oscillations of
belief, without seeming at one time averse to one
view, and then again seeking it with greater
avidity than ever. It is a question so wide, 80
grave, that one ought not to commit himself upon
the hastyresult of a year's or severalyears’reading.
You seem to me to follow your sympathies largely
in investigation. This has its advantages, and i8
one way of study; but it requires far more time
and caution, inasmuch as it will surely lead you to
accept things from poetic or emotive reasons,
which are but Aalf true, which need and will get by
longer experience much modification, The forma-
tion of opinions upon religious questions in sucha
nature as yours is a matter of growth more than of
logic. Under such a state of facts, therefore, I
would submit whether you can wisely or even trul
ssg you stand on th's or on that ground, an
whether you do not, in justice to your own final
self, require all the privileges accorded to those
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who are investi, atmg In part I write from ex-
back u

rience. I loo pon periods when, if I had
ge reesed the then results of:honght and readingi
I should have committed myself to views which
bave outgrown or left behind. Ifind myeelf, slow-
1y but surely, going toward those views of human
nature and of divine government which have
underlain for a thousand years the Evangelical
churches. It seems to me that I discern, arisin,
from studies in natural science, a surer foothold o:
these views than they have ever bad, in so faras
theology i8 concerned. IfI have one purpose oraim,
it is to secure for the truths now develop}ng inthe
spheres of natural science a religious spirit and a
harmonigation with all the great cardinal truths of
religion which have thus far characterized the
Christian system. I turn with more and more chill
and dread from that bleak and fruitless desert of
naturalism which 80 many are hailing as a second
paradise,”

Further on he says :

“ Believe me, Theodore, that I have great syra-
pathy in your developments, and affection for you,
and sheuld be glad to help and sorry to hinder.”

Now comes a paragraph, the significance of
which will be more apparent as we get further
on in our opening, gentlemen, but which I
wish to call your attention to now, lest it may
not recur to me at that time. Mr. Beecher,
in order to disarm all ground of hostility, and
to prevent the advice which he had given to
Mr. Tilton on religious subjects being repelled
by hostile personal feelings, says to him :

‘I hawe given up the idea of starting a newspaper.
I am sure that I could not bear the strain and yet
carry on my church.
I am truly yours,
H. W. BERCHER.”

This, gentlemen, was in 1867. The sig-
nificance of that reference to a new paper in
the relations of these two men, as I have
said, will become more apparent as we get
further on in this matter.

But the change in his religious convictions
was not the only departure made by Mr.
Tilton from opinions theretofore accepted by
him. There followed soon after a very marked
change in his social views respecting the re-
lation of the sexes, and particularly on the
subjects of marriage and divorce. Mr. Til-
ton espoused with zeal the cause of woman'’s
suffrage. He reports himself in The Golden
Age as baving said during the war that, after
the abolition of slavery, the next great ques-
tion which would agitate the public mind
would be that of woman’s suffrage; und,
undoubtedly believing that a great social
revolution wasimpending, he aspired to make
himself the leader of the movement. But
its adherents differed widely among them-
selves in their views of the marriage relation.
Many, perhaps a majority, coincided with all
Christian people upon this subject; while
others held that marriage was a mere matter
of civil contract, and that the parties thereto
shiould be as free to dissolve the relation as
they were to enter into it. Tilton accepted

9

the most radical views upon this, as he was
accustomed to do upon all subjects. He soon
began to talk with friends visiting at his
house upon this matter. He did not hesitate
to declare before his wife that he had now
come to regard the marriage relation very
differently from what he once did. To him
it was no longer a sacred institution, to be
regulated by the Church or S8tate. His most.
intimate friends of both sexes came to be
those who agreed with him upon the subject.
of marriage. They used to converse much
upon the relation of the sexes; the great
value of mutual friendships between married
men and unmarried women, or between mar-
ried men and other men’s wives; the extent.
to which such intimacies could be carried and
still be innocent; and finally the impossibil- -
ity of criminality in any relation which love
had sanctified. is, I say, gentlemen, we
shall show you, was a frequent subject of
conversation between Mr. Tilton and his as-
sociates visiting at his house, It was these
sentiments, so offensive to this pure and de-
voted wife and mother, that she was com-
pelled to listen to, day after day, and week
after week. This change was, if possible,
more repugnant to her than his change in
religion. The one she strove against with
anguish, with entreaty and with tears; the
other she resisted and fought against. She:
despised the doctrine and its adherents; she
forbade her house to the women who advo-
cated it; she remonstrated with her husband
against the principles he held and the people
with whom he associated, and, particularly,
she suspected his numerous friendships with
women, which he characterized as ** sacred
weddings which knew no sex.’’

TILTON'S ALIEN LOVES.

She rejected his sophistry, that they were
helps to him in his labors, or pillars against
which he could lean for support. She per-
ceived with a w~man’s instinct the end to
which such relations would bring him. Still
Tilton persisted in the necessity of such.
friendships and humiliated his wife by the:
publicity he gave to them. The freedom
with which he used to write to his wife on the
subject of his relations with other women—
his friendships, as he called them, for women
—is illustrated in the correspondence which
has been introduced. It is a remarkable cor-
respondence, gentlemen, to pass between
husband and wife. It develops a traitin
Mr. Tilton’s character that is most unusual
and almost unaccountable—that he could
presume to humiliate his wife and destroy
her peace of mind by disclosing to her in cor-
respondence the frizndships which he had for
other ladies, and describe them as going to
the extreme lengths which he did. On Feb-
ruary 12, 1867, he wrote :
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My DaruiNG: I wrote you a hurried sheet this
morning from the Sherman House, while waiting
for —— to breakfast with me, He did not come;
1 ate my breaktast alone. Once again on the cars,
and once again confronting a lecture a.%}')ointment,

I feel that L am once again at work, after my two
days of pleasant rest.
Knd fconfess that rest is sweet, I do mot

mean rest for wearied limbs, though that, too, is
sweet : but rest for one’s spirit; rest in the midst
of a cirole of kind and loving friends; rest to ore's
own vagrant, untamed and unconquerable home-
sickness; rest in the tranquillity of spiritual peace.

1 have been enjoying two days of such rest. The
spell 18 still on me this morning. Irode five hours
to — yesterday afternoon, and five hours back,

after midnight, on ose to spend a long and de-
licious eveginé wifme —— family. This family

and its infinences have helped to make me a better
man. The very roof seems to gpread over me a
benediction. Iam Eratefnl for the Providence that
ordered my steps, last December, to the threshold
of this cottage. Tarrying with these dear people
has been & new experience in friendship—a new
delight of life. .

The wholo subject of friendships bas been much
in my mind this Winter.

I am satigfled that whoso makes no intimate or
confidential friends, both among men and among
women—friends with whom he girdles himeselt
round about as with a halo—friends who are props
to keep him lifted perpetually toward his highest
life—friends whose friendship is a kind of sacred
wedding that knows no sex—such a man ne, lects
one of the greatest of human opportunities for in-
tellectual, moral and spiritual growth.

Again, he says:
The number of people who mate each other—who

fit one another exactly—who are (to use your
word) ** counterparts,” is very small.

Again, he says:

«And this fact reveals the one prolonged mis-
take of my past life—my association with your
mother. I can now plainly see what I might have
been, if, for instance, I could have lived under such
a roof 'as sheltered me in — instead of breath-
ing during all these years the atmosphere of Liv-
ingston street.”

“If my mother-in-law had been such & woman as
—and the influences of Brookiyn had been
ke the influences of —, I believe that I might
have grovn by time as unselfish as & good wo-
man.  How much more I would then have been to
yourself and the children! How many pangs you
Iight have been saved | How many unknown joys
you might have experienced! I have not been &
wise man or I would not have consented, eleven
years ago, to pitch my tent in & bank of fog.”
‘Again he says: ‘‘ I have never seen so plainly as 1
have seen this winter what Livingston street mil-
dew I have been carrying on my garments for
eleven years. Six months ago I was accustomed
to say to myself in my secret hours, ¢Theodore Til-
ton, it is time for you to die ; your soul grows not
whiter but darker; die soon and save youself from
total destruction.’  But I believe thatif I shall re.
turn to Brooklyn at all, I shall return a different
man. God grantit! I know thatIhave tried to
wash myulg?ean at the fountain of a better life.”

It was this family in the West presided
over by a mother with geveral daughters,
.one of which was the young lady I have re-

“ferred to, who paid a visit at this house about
this time in Brooklyn. If you can imagine &
cruelty which a husband can inflict upon a

wife greater than the writing of such

aletter as I have just read to you, gentle-
men, followed by such an association as ex-
isted between Theodore Tilton and . this
Western family, then I confess my inability
to appreciate cruelty or the intense sorrow
which & man may be capable of inflicting
upon a woman.

MRS. TILTON’S MAGNANIMITY.

But in January, 1868, Mr. Tilton's social
relations had reached a point where conceal-
ment could no longer be endured, where
there must be an explanation with promise
of reformation, or else a break. That explan-
ation was bad on Sunday, Jan. 26, 1868.
The whole subject of his relations with other
women, his temptations, hissins, the manner
of treatment by his wife on account of them,
his concealments, and_deceit, were brought
up in this interview. Elizabeth Tilton was in
one of her most exalted moods. She spoke
with frankness, earnestness, and sorrow to
her husband, who, conscious-stricken, fell
groveling at her feet. He confessed that
his ¢ sacred weddings’’ were stained with
sin, and that he could no longer look his wife
and children in the face and listen to their
words of confidence and affection without
feeling himself *a hypocrite, a deceiver, a
whited sephulchre full of dead men’s bones.”’

1 will not stop to consider too closely whe-
ther he confessed adultery of the body, or
what he calls adultery of the soul. Certain
it is, from the remarkable correspondence
which followed, continuing through the year
1868, that this evening was made memorable
by confessions of some degree of sin on his
part concerning his sexual relations, and by
an angelic forgiveness, pity and victorious
faith in the future on the part of his wife.
Not one word of reproach was uttered by this
pure and injured woman. She hastened to
lift him from the moral prostration into
which he had fallen, to comfort him by the
assurance of her unsbaken hope and confi-
dence in his future life, and broke him down
afresh by her beautiful tenderness. She for-
gave him even before he pledged himself to
anew career ; but he gave these pledges with
the utmost earnestness aud solemnity. They
bowed their knees together, renewing before
God their early vows, forsaking all the world
beside to cleave to each other alone. Nor
did this content the noble wife. Her won-
derful magnanimity and divinely-inspired
sympathy could not let her rest till she had
taken upon herself the blame of her hus-
band’'s fall, and found in some supposed
harshness and indifference on her own part
an excuse for his many sins. For this im-
aginary fault she lashed herself both then
and afterward with fanatical severity. She
applied to herself tho epithets which his
conscience had suggested concerning his own
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Teal transgressions. Her language, seen in
the correspondence immediately following,
is more extravagant than at any previous
or subsequent period, in its expression of
devotion to and admiration for ber husband.
In it she strives in every way to restore
his self-respect, to replace him on his pedes-
tal of pride, to convince him that she wor-
shiped him more, and not less than she
had done before his humiliating confessions.
The effect of this magnificent exhibition of a
woman'’s devotion, of her utterly unselfish,
purifying love upon the mind of her husband,
cannot be better described than in the lan-
guage of that husband himself, from which
I sball now read to you a few passages. This
interview, gentlemen, took place, as I have
said, on Sunday night, January 26, 1868. Mr.
Tilton was to leave home that night fora
lecture tour in the West. He left his house
that evening to go to the railroad station in
New York, and once in the car he wrote his
wife this memorable letter :

HupsoN RIVER R. R., 31st st. Depot, }
Jan. 96, 1868,
MY DARLING:
* - - - * L d - * - *
You have never seemed so noble to me as durin,
last evening and this day. You are not_only all,
‘but more then all, that any man can need or ever
can desire. Life never seemed to me to be more
full of objects and ends worth living for, than since
our recent long interview and mutual confessiofls.
I am by nature so frank that the attempt to hide my
feelings, to cloak my shortcomings, to deny utter-
ance to my inward sorrows, lately driven me
almost to despair.
The secret of ali my long.continued moodiness

has been—dissatisfaction, not with you, but with
‘myself. I was once well enough content fo be
esteemed at something better than my merit, but of
late all such estimates of me have been horribly re-
. They have revealed me to my-
self in the character of a hypocrite, a deceiver, a
d with dead men's bones. Above
n dreadful for me to hear praises
of myself from you and Florence. I could not rest
oontent under the idea that either of you felt that
my gloom was oocasioned by anything lacking in
-yourselves, but only in my own self.

She answers this letter on the 8lst of
January, and in it you will see, gentlemen,
how,. notwithstanding his admissions and
confessions of his numerous temptations, she
"attributed to her own harshness, her unchar-
itableness, her rebukes of him, thus com-
pelling him to keep secret his affairs some-
what from her—how she attributed his fall
or his shortcomings to herself, and took all
the sin upon herself.

FRIDAY, Jan. 31, 1868~11 o’clock P. M.

‘Oh, Theodore, darling, I am haunted night and
day by the remorse of knowing that, because of my
harshness and indifference to you, you were driven
to despair, perhaps sin, and these last years of un-
happiness. 1 sometimes feel it to be the un on-
abPe sin. God cannot forgive me. But if fou only
may be restored to your former loveliness, I shall be
oontent to live my life in penance, yea, in disgrace.

I am the chief of sinners! I understand perfectly
how you have felt. I carry in my soul this burden,
black of sin, yet appear to my children and friends
calm and happy. ‘‘ Woe unto you, whited sepulchre,”
I hear perpetually. I will carry these agonies glad-
1y, for I know a life of happiness awaits you.

This, you remember, gentlemen of the jury,
was on the 31st of January, 1868. The lan-
guage which I am about to read will show you
what was the subject of their conversation,
what the danger is which, at the time, threat-
ened him, and from which she was striving
with all the devotion and the faith of a
woman to save him :

Darling, we must both cultivate our self-respect
by being what we seem—then will be fulfilled my
ideal marriage—to you and you-only a wife—but
contact of the body with no other—while then, & pure
friendship with many may be_enjoyed, ennoblin,
us. Let us have not even a shadow of doubt of eac
other—tho’ all the world are weak yet will we be
strong.

God accept and bless us both.
Now are we one.

By bye
7 i‘a:lthfully yours.

Now, gentlemen, this letter was written
long before the breath of suspicion had been
breathed against this lady, even by the malice
of her husband. It was written when his
own relations with women had destroyed his
self-respect and broken him down, and he
sought to palliate it by the harshness, and
the indifference, and the jealousy which his
conduct had inspired in his wife. "To save
him and restore him she made her forgive-
ness as bountiful as woman can make for-
giveness to man. She took everything upon
herself, and, as you see, refers to her harsh-
ness here, and her indifference, as pe haps
the cause of his temptations. But to leave
no doubt as to the subject of that interview,
and what was discussed there, I read you now
the letter of February 3, 1868, a letter which
Las become somewhat famous in this remark-
able controversy :

o, Ly e

‘What may I bring to my beloved this morning?
# * * Most truly do I love, and am resolved
nevermore to refpress the expression of it. I have
lived under the fatal mistake that I would make you -
selfish, but oh! what it has cost me to learn that a
large, genercus love cannot, in its very nature,
minister but to our best and }noly states! The pic-
ture of your dear face, most constant with me, is one
glowing with love, but always bearing the look of
one that has suffered. Can I, who am the cause
thereof, ever again be indifferent? Nay, the little
life which remaineth is consecrated to restore, if
ble, the beautiful image I have marred. There
no sacrifice too great that I would not enthusi-
astically make to this end, if God will only con-
sider me worthy to work with him. I have been
thinking, my darling, that knowing as.you do your
immense power over an audience to move them at
your will, that same power you have with all public
men over any woman whom you may love. To love
is pz:!:eworthy. but to abuse your gift of influence
isa i
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This is the letter, gentlemen, which was so
marvelously garbled by this plaintiff in the
early part of this controversy before the
church, which he so garbled as to put upon
the wife an imputation that she herself was
tempted, and was likely to fall, and was re-
sisting her own temptation. He made it
read, a8 you remember, speaking of herself :
**To love is praiseworthy, but to abuse the gift
issin. Here I am strong. No temptation could
induce me,’’ etc. But when you get at this let-
ter and read the whole of it, you see that she
is speaking of kim, and the abuse of Ais
influence over women, and she is remonstrat-
ing with him against that abuse: *‘ To love
is praiseworthy, but to abuse your gift of in-

is asin, Therefore I would fain help
restore to you that which I broke down—
SELF-RESPECT.  Your manhood, and its purity
and dignity, if you feel it, is stronger than
even love itself. I know this because here I
am strong. No. demonstrations or fascina-
tions could cause me to yield my woman-
hood.”” He had made her believe that her
chiding, her jealousy, her harshness had
compelled him to be a hypocrite to her, and
to conceal from her his relations and his
affections with other women. Then, bursting
out into confessions of his sins, his humilia-
tion before her had broken down his self-re-
spect ; and that is what she alludes to in this
passage. She will aid him now to restore
that self-respect which she had helped him
to break down.

TRE AFTERNOON SESSION.

GENTLEMEN OF THE JURY : At the recess, I
was reading to you the remarkable corres-
pondence that followed the interview between
the husband and the wife on Sunday even-
ing, January 26th, at the time Mr. Tilton
was to take his departure for a lecturing tour
out West. I had read to you one letter from
Mr. Tilton written on the cars that night,
and I had read you two from his wife.
and I now read the second letter from Mr.
Tilton, dated February 9th, 1868, and you
will see by this letter, gentlemen. the high
estimate in which he held his wife at this
time :

CRAWFORDSVILLE, IND., }
SUNDAY MoRNING, Feb. 9, 1868.

My DEAR ANGEL: I dreamed of you last night,
and awoke thinking of {ou this morning. How
much I want to see you! How I yearn after you!
How my soul blesses you day by day! I can never
describe how precious your love of your husband
has apgeared him during these few weeks past.
Your singleness, your fervor, your purity, your de-
votion—they fill my mind and heart with reverence,
adoration, and humility. -

I regard my last evening spent with you at home
at the most memorable point in my whole life. You
opened for me, that night, the gate of Heaven,which
had so long seemed shut.

Ever since I have had nothing but glory, thanks-
glving and praise, If ever a man was made a new

creature, that man was I; no more despondency—
no more repining—no more vain regrets—no more
loss of self-respect—no more groveling in the dust.
On the contrary, I am once again a man among men,
and a Christian among Christi Now, this trans-
formation I owe to yourself, to your irrepressible
love and devotion, to your ceaseléss prayers, and to
you.r vio‘borio‘us faith.
»

L - * - - *

Your letters, since I have been from home this last
time, have been the dearest you have ever penned.
They are royal in their tone. Each one fills me with
renewed pride and joy in my wife. O, my darling,
in comparison with such love as you ex&; , how
poor is the friendship of all other friends! I have
never seen any one who loves as you do.”

‘Well might he say that !

“ You have the richest of all human hearts. I
am pledged to you for ever. My vows I shall keep
and not break. 'With God's help and with yours
Ishall be the faithfulest man in the world. "Bles-
sings on your soul this Sabbath day.

Ever yours,
THEODORE.

During this Western trip he had, previous
to February 18, written his wife in regard to
a visit he had paid this same Western family
to which I have referred. He had stated to
her that, in order to make that visit, he had
given up one or two of his engagements at
lecturing ; and yet, this wife having promised
him no more chidings, no more harshness, no
more jealousy, when she received this letter
from him informing her of this fact, answers

m in the manner I shall now read. On
Tuesday afternoon, February 18, ’68, Mrs.
Tilton wrote her husband then in the West,
as follows :

TUESDAY AFTERNOON, Feb. 18, 1868.

My DARLING HUSBAND : You have made me rich
to-day ; your letter from Lincoln came this morn-
ing, and this night Eliza brought me thefull epistle
from Chi . I read evetzl word en&eﬂy; drop
instantly wEatever 1 am doing when the postman
comes, and give myself up utterly, body and soul,
locking the doors to prevent intruders, just as we
are wont to do after an absence. I am heartily

lad you are with the dear good friends in Chicago.
ﬁow I wish I could have been with Iou! I hope
you have impressed upon — my profound respect
and love for her. ow grateful it was to your
oor tired helad to ml';:il,mmﬂi:n t{:;ﬂ b(;iom of thoee
ear ones. 1am so 8o thankful, the o] gortnn
:i&y was given you, 8even though it costlz e Des
oines appointment and two letters of mine await-
ing you. I never realized, as now I do, your ar-
duous labors, and the great hindrance and drag I
have been to your young beautiful life.

I yearn to caress and tenderly care for you, read,
sing, and gladden those Mes once again. X
feel, as never before, how 1a thing it is to
wound or stab any human heart by sharp, stinging
words. Perhaps the dear Father has given me
another lease of life, that I may learn this lesson.
I praise him for his goodness. Then, again, dar-
ling, I have felt so heart-sick, that there are so few
great men and women. The idea ofa faithful, true
marriage will be lost out of the world—oertainly
out of the literary and refined world—unless we re-
vive it.

* * * * * - * * * *

Believe in me,
Yours always, .
ELIZABETH, WIFE.




MRS, TILTON’S MAGNANIMITY.

At that same journey West, on the 20th
of February, he writes her again, referring
to this same Western influence, and he, hav-
ing made vows of faithfulness, assures her
that the spel! with him is broken. He says :
¢¢ The picture Madonna had arrived in good
condition, and was hanging on the wall’’—
the wall of the residence of this lady.

“It is very neatly .ramed, and looks pure and
royal. —— was pleased, but the old fragrance has
gone out of the ‘prairie rose.’ The flower is still
oome{f, interesting, and eable, but I marvel at
myself for once thinking it so fragrant above all
the rest of the garden. It is gone for ever! Itcan
never be to me henceforth anything but & common
plant. This figure of speech is a mystery which I
think you will understand. I intimate no names.”

Thus much, gentlemen, for the letters
while he was West, and for the assurances of
fidelity to his marriage vow which he gave
her after that conversation of January 26th.
In theSummer, however, he has returned to
his home in the City of New York. Old as
sociates have come around him and new
temptations have overtaken him, and he
finds that the resolutions of January cannot
hold out through the frosts of November.
He is stricken again with humility, with a
feeling of worthlessness, with inability to
resist these temptations, and, moved by a
letter which he received from his wife, writ-
ten in the studio in New York, at his office,
on the 8d day of November, he replies to her
in the following manner. I shall not dwell
upon this letter, gentlemen—I shall not stop
to comment upon it at present. The duty of
that will be reserved until the final summing
up of this case. I ouly allude to it now as
the closing letter of this remarkable corres-
pondence in the year 1868 :

‘“ AT THE OFFICE, Nov. 3, 1868.

MY DeARrY: Your kind and lov!uﬁ note falls so
pl ly on my spirits that I would immediately
go home "this afternoon were it not that I have gn-

ed to go out this evening.

‘There is 80 much sunshine pouring into my little
office at this moment that I think I never knew u
brighter day in my life; " [The sunshine he here
refers to, I suppose, is the sunshine that came from
the note of his wife in the morning.]

‘‘ And I hope that some of the light and warmth
l‘:rlllratten.l into and remain within my cold and cruel

eart.

It is the greatest regret of my life that I do not
seem constituted so as to make you as happy as you
deserve to be; but I have the best of intentions—
and the worst of success.

The cause of 80 much trouble at home is my gen-
eral anxiety about everything. Latterly I worry
more or less concerning every matter which I touch.
Ihave hardly ten minutes a day of uninterrupted free
from care. This mayseem an exagferated state-
ment ; but it i the painful truth. feel as it I
were growing old before my time. Lights that
used to burn within me have been quenched. Hopes
are faded ; ambition is killed ; life seems a failure,

As I cannot bear to see any expression of pain,
or sorrow, or regret, on your face, I cannoi bring
myself to speak to you familiarly on any subject
connected with any of our sorrows~-not even Paul,

13

our chief. I am literally tormented at having no
grave for his crumbling clay. Every allusion to the
subject has been a panf through my heart. X

Then, too, all my religious doubts and difficulties
have been, and are, and I fear must be, shut within
myself, because I cannot open my mouth to you con-
cerning them without giving you a wound. You
are the finest fibred soul that ever was put into a
body ; you jar at my touch, and I am apt to tonch
you too rudely.

As for my own character, I saw, at the time of
Paul’s death, what it was to be a man, and how far
short of it I am myself; and I have ever since been
utterly overwhelined with my own worthlessness,
selfishness, degradation, and wickedness. Atsome
time I expect to recover from this slough of des.

nd, but not now ; I must remain longer in suffer.

ng before I can emerge into peace. 1 have been
overthrown, and, before I rise, I must be made to
feel, like Antasus, that strength comes from touch-
inﬁthe round.
ut the chief of all my miseries is this: thatI
impart them to others. t me say, with the ut-
most fervor of protestation, that neither you, nor
the children, nor the house, nor the servant, nor
anything that is within our gates—not one alone—
nor all combined—no, none of these persons or
things has the slightest originating share wn my
trwgsleé. Those troubles (such as they are) are of
my own making.. Would to God they were also of
my own enduring! But they have to be inflicted
upon others—upon yourself and the children. 1t is
this fact that doubles my affliction,

But your kind and tender words, penciled in the
studio this morning, were very precious to me—
sweeter than honey in the honeycomb. I write
this letter on purpose to thank you for them. God
bless you evermore.

Lovingly yours,
THROLORK.

I now read, gentlemen, another letter in
this correspondence written by the wife,
February 20, 1868, in which she betrays her
fears of renewed difficulty and dissatisfaction,
on his return home.

‘ THURSDAY EVENING, Feb. 20, 1868.

My BeLovED: I am 80 lonesome and heartsick
for your companionship to-night that I hesitate to
write lest my mood may depress you. Yet 1 car
cannot wish you home, for I am persuaded you are
happier where you are. While I long to be with
you, I am hannted continually with fears that your
cheery face will soon be shadowed and the dear
head droop. This thought is agony to me, and I
have spent many hours since your absence weeping
because of it.

I would fain make the path smooth for your feet,
or, in other words, direct the children and the
household that they minister harmony only, but I
know I cannot, and I am afraid!"

Again she says to him, on March Sth,
1858 :
* NUBRSERY, Sunday eve, March 8, 1868,

My BrLovep: All alone, save Eliza in the
kitchen, and the children all asleep about me, while

I have been trying to imagine my state when I
shall again live wi ou and behold your precious
form. This, I think, I have decided—no more chid-

ings, scoldings! An inexpressible tenderness has
grown up in my soul towards you. I never saw
my path as clear a3 now—that whatever you may
do, say, or be, it becometh me to be the Christian
wife and mother ! The full meaning of those words,
when developed from a nature l.m?obent a8 mine, 1
most thoroughly understand. I1f I may lead m,
children now to an intimate love and trust in
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He manifesting Himself to babes, as He has prom-
ised, then to this great source of happiness stron,
bodies be added, I will risk intellectual training an
knowledge.”

Notwitbstanding the promises made Janu-
ary 26, 1868, and the promises of complete re-
formation which were often repeated in the
correspondence following that interview, it
is clear from that correspondence, and partic-
ularly from the letter of November 8, 1868,
that upon his return to New York, and falling
again under the influence of old associates
and suljected anew to temptations, he felt
himself unable to keep the vows he had
made in January previous. This is made
evident from the correspondence of the parties
daring the years 1869 and 1870. Diffi-
cultics were thickening around him, rumors
of his dissolute life filled the air—it was im-
possible for Tilton to conceal any longer
from the world the life he lived. In Decem-
ber, 1870, the storm which had been so long
gathering, burst upon him. It struck him
in every quarter. He found his business re-
lations imperiled and bis home shattered.

. As early as 1866 Tilton began to shadow
forth in The Independent his religious and
social views. They bred discontent every-
where, particularly in the Northwest.

In 1867 there was an open revolt among
the Congregational ministers of the North-
west, which resulted in starting, at Chicago,
& new paper, called T7e Advance, intended
to supersede The Independent in that quarter.
The correspondence and negotiations which
led to the starting of tbagegaper began soon
after Mr. Tilton commenced developing his
views in The Independent on religion and
3ocial matters. Several meetings were had
between Mr. Bowen and the proprietors of
that paper, and representative clergymen of
the Northwest. Mr. Bowen promised reform,
promised repeatedly to muzzle Tilton, and to
prevent the obnoxious utterances in his
paper ; but after one or two promises and
failures in that direction, the Congregational
clergymen of the Northwest started a new
and independent paper in Chicago. Mr. Ed-
ward Beecher, the brother of the defendant,
then residing in Illinois, was active in this
opposition to his paper and to him. At this
point, gentlemen, I desire again to refer you
to the remark of the defendant in his letter
in 1867, addressed to Mr. Tilton on the sub-
ject of religion, where he says: ¢'I have
given up the idea of starting a new paper.”’
You will perceive, therefore, gentlemen, that
from the time of this political difference be-
tween Mr. Tilton and Mr. Beecher, resulting
out of the Cleveland letter, the subject of a
new paper in place of The I nt, and
in opposition to Tilton and his views, had
been the subject of conversation. It is evi-
dent from the remark of Mr. Beecher
to Tilton, that Mr. Tilton under these facts

suspected Mr. Beecher of encouragicg an op-
position to him here, and of becoming the
editor of an independent paper. He therefore
had for some time regarded Mr. Beecher as a
rival and was jealous of his fame. He feared
his power, as did also Mr. Bowen, the owner
of the paper; and this opposition and this
jealousy increased on the part of Mr. Tilton
against Mr. Beecher. While they were per-
sonal friends outwardly, the public reputa-
tion of Mr. Beecher was continually being
disparaged by Mr. Tilton, and he represented
him as having reached the zenith of his
power. Henceforward Mr. Beecher was to
decline in mind and public position, and
there was only one man who could take his
place, and that man, in the estimation of
Theodore Tilton, was himself.

In 1868 another opposition paper, The
Church Union, Was in New,York. In
1869 it was taken possession of by Ford &
Co., Mr. Beecher's. publishers; its name
changed to The Christian Union, and in Jan-
uary, 1870, Mr. Beecher became its editor.
Tilton now regarded Beecher as his rival and
was jealous of hisfame. You see, therefore,
gentlemen, that by this time the rivalry be-
tween those two men had become sharp and
well defined, at least so far as Tilton was
concerned. The rapid increase of The Chris-
tian Union (for the name of the paper had
changed when Mr. Beecher took hold of it)
in circulation and its growing popularity
alarmed both Tilton and Bowen. Never-
theless Tilton grew bolder and more out-
spoken in the advocacy of kis peculiar views
t ever. .

In 1869 and 1870 rumors affecting Tilton's
moral purity began to reach Bowen ; also
rumors of Tilton’s domestic difficulties
reached Bowen'’s ears. You have heard some
of those rumors referred to, gentlemen. It
is in evidence that Mr. Bowen heard of the
Winsted affair. I donotstop to comment
upon that transaction at this time, gentle-
men. I do not stop to say whether Mr. Til-
ton was guilty or not of what was imputed
to him by the people of Winsted on that oc-
casion. I only say that no mere child (as he
represents her to be in his letter from Tidi-
oute to a Mr. Hastings in Winsted)—no
mere child, buta young lady, fully developed,
twice the size of his wife, was the person
there referred to. And I only say, without.
imputing the slightest blame to the young
lmf , that Mr. Tilton’s conduct on that occa-
sion was characterized by that degree of in-
discretion that it provoked a horrible scandal
concerning himself at Winsted, Connecticat,
in 1869 ; and the rumor of that difficulty
had reached Mr. Bowen. Also Mr. Tiltoa
tells you himself from the witness stand that.
in 1870, about the time this storm-cloud burst.
upon him, an evening paper in New York

“published the fact that he was about to elope.
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with a woman, whom it named. Now, gen-
tlemen, evening papers in New York, or
morning papers in New York, are not apt to
allude to scandals by name, particularly
when the names of such prominent persons
as Theodore Tilton are connected with them,
unless those scandals have been of long
standing, and have become a matter of news
to the editorial profession. These scandals
filled the air in regard to Mr, Tilton, and
they had reached Mr. Bowen. Mr. Bowen
saw that Mr. Tilton must be gotten rid of,
How to do it was the problem, which he was
not prepared at this time to solve. But for-
tunately for him, Tilton with his genius for
blundering, gave adequate cause for dismissal,
in an editorial which he published in T%e
Inaependent on the 1st of December, 1870,
committing the paper to the doctrine of Free
Love. That editorial has been produced in your
presence, gentlemen, and has been read to
you. It will be the subject of further com-
ment during the course of this trial. I shall
refer to it here, and to other publications of
Mr. Tilton about this time, for the purpose
of showing that, when he was editor of what
was understood to be a religious newspaper,
he was still at heart the advocate of social
freedom, or what might be more correctly
eharacterized as Free Love.
But, before reading this article from The
Independent, which led to Mr. Tilton’s im-
mediate retirement from it as its editor, I beg,
gentlemen, to read to you a letter from
Theodore Tilton to his wife, written Jan. 9,
1865, upon this same subject. It was written
just about the time he assumed control of
that paper. It was written at a time when
he was still under the influence and guid-
ing force of this great mind, which had led
him from boyhood up to his present position.
I wanttoshow'you, just on theeve of hiseman-
cipating himself from that influence, how he
regarded the sancity of the marriage relation,
and what views he held upon that subject.
January 9, 1865, in a letter written to his
wife, he says :
¢TI have ‘latel{ ‘been much more than ever im-
pressed with the wonderful simplicity of God’s
lan for binding together human society, namely,
gy creating in emhgbreut some strong and domi-
nating love for one human being. Were it not for
the love of mother to child, or husband to wife,
oursociety, civilization, the peace and order of the
world—all would fall asunder in a day. Whatever
rends apart t wo lives which have been bound into
oneis a cruelty to allmankind, a blow at the unity
of civil society. I begin to see as mnever before
that the center of the world to an honorable man
is his own fawily, his wife’s sitting room,
children’s play-places, his home. Ihope hereafter,
if God snou]c!y spare my life, to bemore careful how
my face is made to cast a ehadow upon myjhome. I
have been too often negligent of your requests
that I should give more gme to your dear self and
the children, as my heart now feels. Iam re‘:giy to
promise never to seek my old selfish seclusions

a§ain, but to spend my home life in your eweetest
of all company.”

Such were Tilton’s views at the time that
he emancipated himself from the friendly
influence which had so long guided and
directed him.

THE CHANGE OF FIVE YEARS
‘WROUGHT IN MR. TILTON.

But I now, gentlemen, invite your attention
to the change which five years had wrought
in the principles and character of Theodore
Tilton. For five years he had bevn editor of
The Independent, one of the leading and
most influential of the religious journals of
the country. He had denounced Mr. Beecher
politically in 1866 and had parted from him
on all public and social questions. Personally
friendly, he had by this attack cut himself
off from that friendly, guiding mind which
had hitherto been his stay and support. His
position rendered him gerviceable to theadvo-
cates of new doctrines. To use him it was
only necessary to fawn upon and court him.
For five years he had been the victim of the
flatterer. For five years hg had been the as-
sociate and boon companion of people of easy,
virtue, who gild their lives with plausible
but corrupting theories. How continuously
those who surrounded him burned incense to
him and how remorselessly they used him,
the history of those five years and his disas-
trous fall at the end, bears sad and painful
evidence. On the 1st of December, 1870, the
same man who in 18656 saw with such
clearness that the marriage relation was
ordained of God, the cement of society, had
so fallen that he could publish in the paper
of which he was the editor, as the leading
editorial, the following. After asking what
is love und quoting from the poets, he says:

“To answer what breaks we must inquire whnt
makes the marriage bond.”” ‘‘Marriage without
loveis a sin against God—a sin which, like other
sins, is to be repented of, ceased from, and put
away. No matter with what solemn ceremony the
twain may have been made one, yet when love
%%g: , then marriage ceases acd divorce begins.

is the esgence of Christ’s idea. T'o say that
he granted divorce only for a gross and fleshly
crime, is to forget that he called the eye a para-
mour and tho heart a wanton’s bed. This idea
(and this idea cannot but be true) carries with it,
as its logical sequence (and this, too, cannot bu
be true), the irresistible conclusion that marria&e,
if broken, and whether broken by the body or the
soul, is divorce. Infidelity of the bod{iis not so
gr::l;‘t"a sin against marriage as infidelity of the
80

This was his utterance in December, 1870,
as the responsible editor of that great news-
paper, The Independent. Of course it roused
a flame of indignation throughout this land
from one end of it to the other. No Christian.
community would support & paper that advo-
cated such doctrines, and Mr. Bowen, who
can appreciate the standard of value, if (as
Mr. Tilton says) he cannot the standard of
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morals, soon discovered that it was import-
ant for him to be rid of this editor. This
was the cautious utterance of one who at the
time accepted the doctrine of social freedom
-as broadly as Victoria Woodhull herself.-
You bhave heard the evidence, gentlemen,
-of Mr, Tilton from the witness stand as to
the subject of his views upon this questton.
After the article which I am about to read to
you had been put in evidence, yousaw how
the learned counsel opposed, sought to break
the force of that evidence by introducing
‘Theodore Tilton to swear, on hid re-direct ex-
amination, that he held the marriage relation
in great sacredness; that with him it was
only the question of divorce, and he opposed
the strict ruleadopted and adhered to in this
State upon thatsubject, and desired to liberal-
ize our legislation, and make it compare with
that of New England or the Western States.
And you heard him testify on the witness
stand, gentlemen, in answer to the counsel,
and they felt it important to make him say,
I have no doubt, that he did not hold, and
never held, that the marriage relation was
above the law, but it was a matter which
should be regulated by the law, and the only
fault he found with the divorce laws of this
State was, that they were not sufficiently
liberal and they ought to be liberalized, but
still it was a matter to be regulated by law.
That was a material matter, gentlemen, of
evidence, and I propose to convict Theodore
“Tilton right here, from his own writings, of
having falsified before you when he gave that
evidence. And I propose to show from his
own published writings—writings that he
has never repudiated, writings that he adheres
1o to this day—that when he said from the
witness stand that he held as other men held,
that the laws of this State touching divorce
should be more liberal, but still that divorce
should be a matter to be regulated by law,
and not by the parties themselves, he testi-
fied to what is untrue. And Iask, gentlemen,
your careful attention now to this correspon-
dence, which is among the most celebrated
«correspondence that Mr. Theodore Tilton ever
had in his life ; I ask your careful attention
to his utterances upon that subject. He is
answering Horaoe Greeley’s objections to free
love, and that youmay clearly understand the
meaning of his language, I shall read to you
Mr. Greeley’s position, 8o that you may have
before your mind a clear conception of what
Mr. Tilton was uttering. Mr. Greeley says;

¢I, Youaskme what I mean by ¢ Free Love.’ Let
me illuetrate:

¢ Here are & husband and wife, cach fifty years
old, who have lived in wedlock a quarter of a cen-
tury, and had six or eight children, of whom half
survive. The pains and cares of maternity have
nearly worn out the wife, while the husband is
still In the prime of manly vtiigor and strength.
He has filled a wider sphere and enjoyed better op-
portunities for mental culture than shc bas, and

feels himself her intellectnal superior. Among
his acquaintances is_a younger, fairer, fresher
woman, not sorichly dowered with worldly weaith,
who admires and is admired by him—who, in fact,
is willing, if invited, to be his *affinity,’ and he is
more than willing that she shall. If they ‘take
up’ with each other,” [*‘takeup’ ia quoted; seems
to be an understood phrase with the free lovers;}
‘‘their arrangement, or whatever you please to
call it, 8 just what I execrate as ‘Free Love.”
You know that such alliances exist. I feel that
they are abhorred of God and a chief cause of
human degradation, family disraption and %enenl
wretchedness. In short, I hold the man who has
swora to love and cherish his one woman till death
not free to love another while that woman lives
and strives to fulfll toward him the duties of &
lovlnf wife. Hence, I intensely hate ¢ Free Love,’
and I hate all inculcation that a marriage may
rightfully be dissolved, except for flagrant, de-
liberato adultery, while husband and wife both
ve.

That was Mr. Greeley's denunciation of free
love, and that was the free love that he
execrated. Now, let us see what Mr. Tilton’s
reply to that is. I now read the third para-
graph of Mr. Tilton’s reply. which is as
follows :

“I11. Ajustinferencefrom yourletteris thatad-
vocate Free Love. On the contrary I stifly oppose
it. The latest bulletin of Mr,Stephen Pearl Andrews
castigates me because I hold that the heart's ideal
is monogamic the supreme love of one
man for one woman -through life, and, I hope
beyond death. But this is only my own view;
do not judge for others. Furthermore, I hold
that love, and love only, constitutes marriage,
that marriage makes the iaond, not the bond mar-
riage; and that as the contract is to ‘‘love and
honor,’ so when the love and honor end, the con-
tract dissolves, and the marriage ceases, * .
I would no more permit the law of the land to en-
chain me to a woman whom I did not love or who
did not love me, than I would permit the same law
to handcuff me as a slave to a master on a planta-
tion. There are hi%her laws than civil statutes,
and I am a rebel against the State's too imperti-
nent_interference betwe~n man and wife. Love
s}l:lllﬂl%be"like religion—free from mandate by the
cf W, ’

Does that correspond with Mr. Tilton’s oath
that he has given you on the witness stand,
that he thinks divorce should be regulated by
law? Does he think religion, in a free
country, should be regulated by law ?

Mr. Tilton—Yes.

Mr. Beach—Never mind ; don’t interrupt.

Mr. Tracy—Does he think that whether
you are & member of this church or that
church should be a subject regulated by law ¢
Does he think if you desire to withdraw your
relations with one church and join another,
that the law should prohibit you from doing
that ; does he think the law should under-
take to regulate in a free country a man’s
relations to the church and to regulate his
religion? No, but he places divorce on the
same footing fas religion, and he says that
‘““love should be like religion, free from the
mandate of the civil law.”’ And it is import-
ant, gentlemen, that you heed the discrepan-

cy between this publication of Mr. Tilton,
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made in his correspondence with Mr. Greeley,
and his statement of his own views upon the
witness stand ; because, as I shall show yon
further on in this opening, if you are satis-
fied that Mr. Tilton or any other witness who
may be introduced in this case has deiiberate-
ly falsified upon any material matter here,
his whole evidence is to be rejected ; in other
words, you cannot rely upon any part of the
evidence of a witness who has deliberately
given falseevidence upon any material point.
And therefore, if you are convinced that the
plaintiff in this case, feeling the pressure from
his own counsel of the necessity of placing a
different view upon his convictions touching
marrlage and divorce than he had placed in
his own publications, came in here to state
them as he does not' believe them, that of
#self would justify you in rejecting every-
thing that be hastest!fied to from the witness
stand ; indeed it would be your duty to do so.

We have now, gentlemen, traced the rise
and progress of Theodore Tilton from the
time when, a boy, he was a reporter upon
the newspaper press, to one of the proudest
editorial chairs in the country, a station for
which he wes educated and fitted by this de-
fendant and by him elevated to tﬁat lofty
position of power and influence. But his star
has culminated ; and henceforward it will be
our painful duty to trace the disastrous fall
of this man, whose early life was so full of
promise. Previous to the publication of the
editorial in The Independent, so far as Mr.
Beecher knew, and go far as the world knew,
no trouble had occurred between Tilton and
his wife. They were apparently living in
perfect peace. Moulton, the intimate friend
of the family, had seen nothing and sus-
pected nothing. Mrs., Bradshaw, the inti-

. mate friend of both husband and wife, who
Eassed much of her time at their house, had
iscovered no unhappiness between them,
and, I may add, did not discover any until
after the publication, known as the Woodhull
Scandal. But in the early days of December,
and before Mr. Tilton had publiched his vale-
dictory as editor of The Independent, there
came to this defendant a message from Mr.
Tilton, borne to him by the young girl, Bessie
Turner, which greatly surprised him. He was
informed that Mrs. Tilton had left her home
and her husband, and desired to consult him
on the subject of separation. The nature of
the wrongs of which she complained was
made known to him by the bearer of the mes-
sage, who, with downcast eyes, informed Mr.
Beecher also that Mr, Tilton had twice at-
tempted her virtue.

Although Mr. Tilton and Mr. Beecher had
long been separated on public and social
questions, yet personally they had always
been friends, and Tillon encouraged Beecher's
visits to his family. In 1867, by a letter
which hasbeen given in evidence, Mr. Tilton,

2

then West, answering a letter of his wife
which informed him of Mr. Beecher’s visits
to her during that absence, says :

My DARLING: * * * T am song to hear that
Mr. Beecher had a poor house in Brooklyn. Im
view of his kind attentions to you this Winter, all
my old love for him has revived, and my heart
would once more greet him as of old. I sometimes
%nmel with my friends on the surface, but never at
the bottom. With yourself, O friend of all friends!
I am 1n perpetual love.
Yours,
THRODORE.

And on Mr. Tilton’s examination before the
Investigatin% Committee of the Church he
testified at length on the subject of Mr.
Beecher’s relations to his family, how they
originated, and how they were continued from
time to time. On that investigation there
were put to him the following questions :

“ % At the beginning of the acquaintance of Mr.
Beecher with your family—not with you or your
wife, but with your family—did not youn invite him
frequently to your house? A. Yes, sir; and I was
alwaye very proud when he came. .

‘- Q? Did’you not say to him that you desired him
to visit your house frequently ? A. I'did, and always
scolded him becanse he did not come oftener.
During the first part of our life we were in Oxford
street, so faraway that he very rarely came; thefre-
quency of his visits took place after I purchased the
house in Livingston street’ [which, gentlemen,

ou will remember was in October, 1866; 8o the
uency of Mr. Beecher's visits to Mr. Tilton’s
family, according to Mr. Tilton, did not begin until
1866. He visited oocasionally at the earnest solici-
tation of Mr. Tilton, but not as often as Mr. Tilton
desired; but when the latter came to reside nearer
him, he acceded to Mr. Tilton's request and vis-
ited him at his house more frequently.

**Q. Did you not say that there was a little woman
at your house that loved him dearlyt A. I did,
many a time; I always wanted him to ocome
oftener,

*Q. You fre%nently spoke to him of the high es-
teem and affection that your wife bore to him, did
younot? A. I did; he knew it and I knew it.

Q. You always knew it? A. I cannot say that
I always did; because at first, durlnﬁrthe early
years of my married life, I felt that Mr. Beecher
rather slighted my family; he was intimate with
me, and I think Joved me; but he did not use to
come very often to my house, and it did not please
me; I wanted him to come oftener.

¢Q. And it wounded you, did it not? A. I can-
not say that I was wounded; I was a mere boy;
it was a matter of pride to have him there. Eliza-
beth at first was modest and frightened. She did
not know how to talk with him, or how to enter-
tain him, and it was & slow process by which he
obtained her confidenco so that she could talk with
him. It wasthe same with Mr. Greeley. He had
great reverence for her, and had an exalted opinion
of her. I do not think there was o woman that he
had a higher regard for than for Mrs. Tilton.

o ?. And did she not have a high regard for him
also! A. Yes.

Q. And that was known to you, too? A. That
was known to me, and I was very glsd of it.

**Q. Did you urge him to come when you were off
leetnrlnlﬁ! A. Idid.

Q. Did not you impressupon Mr. Beecher the ne-
oessity and deeire that you had that he would call
upon your family and see d{g‘ur wife frequently dus-
ing your absencet A. I did.”
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So, gentlemen, if there is any person re-
sponsible for the visits which Mr. Beecher
has paid to the family of Theodore Tilton,
that person is Theodore Tilton himself.
From the beginning to the end of their ac-
quaintance, it was always a matter of solicita-
tion and urgency on his part that Mr. Beecher
should make more frequent visits at his
house and to his family, not only when Mr.
Tilton was present but when he was absent
also. The breath of suspicion never crossed
the mind of Theodore Tilton, either in regard
to the purity of his wife or to the integrity
of Henry Ward Beecher. He knew the mo-
tive that led to those visits on the part of Mr.
Beecher, and why the visits were desired on
the part of his wife. He knew that it was her
reverence for him as a religious teacher, as
her pastor, as her comfort and consolation in
the hour of her deep affliction and sorrow on
account of the change in his own religious
sentiments and social views; he knew it,
vnderstood it all; and the fact that Mr.
Beecher visited at his house was never a sub-
ject of hostile comment or thought upon his

rt, and never excited in his breast anything

ut pleasure, as he himself tells you from the
witness stand, and told the Committee in the
examination from which I amn now reading.
As proof of that, gentlemen, I onky need refer
to one fact given in evidence by Theodore
Tilton as late as 1869, when he tells you that
he expended $500 for the portrait of Henry
‘Ward Beecher, that he might hang it in his
E::lor, as evidence to all who came within

is walls of the esteem, love and affection
that he bore towards the one who had been
to him more than friend or elder brother.

Mr. Beecher, therefore, retaining always
this relation of personal friendship with Mr.
Tilton and his family, received in the early
days of December, 1870, this message from
Mrs. Tilton. It shocked him, but he obeyed
the summons. He went to the house of her
mother and saw her. From her own lips he
Jearned the sorrows of her life, of which she
had told him something, although she had
concealed the most of her troubles and diffi-
culties from him. He found that she had
quit her home, and, concurring with her
mother, she did not intend to return to that
home. Mr. Beecher, as is his custom in such
cases, preferred that his wife should see and
confer with Mrs, Tilton, because she could
learn from her many things which modesty,
perhaps, would restrain her from disclosing
to a man. He asked permission to bring Mrs.
Beecher to visit Mrs, Tilton ; and, Mrs, Tilton
consenting, Mr. Beecher turned the case of
Elizabeth Tilton, separated from her home
and threatening to leave her husband, over
to his wife. She went there and heard the
story of sorrow and affliction, and she came
back and reported it to her husband. Mrs.
Beecher had no hesitation in advising a sepa-

ration at once. She declared that she never
would live with a man an hour who had
heaped upon her one quarter the indignities
that Theodore Tilton had heaped upon his
wife for years. But Mr. Beecher hesitated, as
became the cautious pastor and the sincere
friend, to advise so radical a measure as the
separation of husband and wife. It was a
watter of consultation between him and his
wife ; and before he would determine it, gen-
tlemen, he called into his counsel, George A.
Bell, one of the most prominent men of his
church, whom the plaintiff has put upon the
witness stand, for advice upon that subject.
A consultation was had, and after much re-
luctance Mr. Beecher concurred in the opin-
ion of his wife and advized a separation,

And, right here, gentlemen of the jury, I
ask you to consider for one moment whether
this conduct which we shall lay before you,
which has already been proved, and on which
wo shall give further evidence, furnishes you
evidence of the guilt or innocence of these
parties? Remetnber, now, that the theory of
the plaintiff's case is, that he had had a
knowledge of the wrongs which Mr. Beecher
had inflicted upon him since the July previ-
ous. Now, here is the wife leaving her hus-
bind in the following December, and going
to her alleged paramour for advice as to
whether she should separate from him or not.
More, that alleged paramour advises separa-
tion. Do you believe for a moment, gentle-
men, that if either of these parties had been
conscious of guilt, they would have been
betrayed into such indiscreet action as
this? Is it possible that a woman guilty her-
gelf, and yet determined to separate from her
husband, would go to her paramour for advice
upon that subject? Is he the friend she would
seek for counsel? and do you believe that
that paramour would have advised a separa-
tion, with the thought of guilt fresh in his
mind? Would he not have seen in it at
once his ewn destruction? More than that,
gentlemen, it is confessed in this case, testi-
fied to by the plaintiff, stands undisputed,
that, notwithstanding these repeated in-
terviews that occurred between Mrs. Tilton
and Mr. Beecher at this time, she never
communicated to him the fact that she
had made any confession to her husband, or
revealed to him anything touching their rela-
tions? Is it possible, if they had been guilty,
that she would not have told Mr. Beecher
that she had dieclosed their relations to her
husband ? Do you think that @ woman main-
taining this life of sin, and confessing it to
her husband, would not make haste to lay
before her paramour the fact of that confes-
sion? Would she not warn him of the dan-
ger hewas in? Would she not tell him, *‘I
have confessed to my husband ; and if he
cuts you, or is hostile to you, you will under-
stand the cause of it. Beware, for you are
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in danger’’ ? Am%dyet, I say, it stands con-
eeded here that Mr. Beecher was entirely
ignorant of the fact of any pretended disclo-
sure by the wife to the husband until it was
communicated to him by the plaintiff himself
in that interview on the thirtieth of Decem-
ber, at Mr. Moulton’s house. But now, gen-
tlemen, don’t you think that, if Mr. Beecher
had been conscious of guilt when he was sent
for by this l:dy, and was informed by her
that she had separated from her husband,
don’t you think the first word he would have
said to her would have been, “My dear
woman, do you know what you are doing ?
Are you conscious of the danger to which you
are exposing me and exposing yourself? If
you separate from your husband, covered all
over 18 you know you are with guilt, do you
not suppose that, in the litigation that will
arige out of the separation, your guilt will be
discovered !’ Can it be possible that a man
of the ability and mature years of Henry
‘Ward Beecher would have gone into this
house and given this advice, and never made
such a suggestion to this woman? And yet
he gives the advice that she should separate.
1 read you, gentlemen, a note that he handed
his wife on the last visit thatshe wasto make
to Mrs. Tilton on thisoccasion. Ithad been,
as I have #aid, a subject of consultation. She
was about leaving. There were visitors in the
back parlor, so that they could not talk, and
Mr. Beecher wrote to his wife and gave her
this note: ‘I incline to think that your
view is right, that a separation and settle-
ment of support will be wisest, and that in
his preseut desperate state her presence near
him is far more likely to produce batred
than her absence.”” That was the note which
he gave to his wife when she left his house
to pay the last visit to Mrs. Tilton.

But events thicken. That was along about
the 16th or 16th of December. Tilton bhad
published this offensive article in The Inde-

ndent on the first, and he had been deposed.

ut, to patch up a peace with Bowen, he had
entered into two contracts with him by which
he was to serve as editor of The Brooklyn
Union for five years, and as chief editor of
The Independent for two years, at $5,000 a
year for each. Those contracts were signed
on the 20th. His valedictory was published
on the 22d of December, the contracts to
take effect on the first of January following.
On the 22d of December, gentlemen, the very
dy that his valedictory was published in The
Independent, Theodore Tilton seized his child,
in the abseunce of his wife, and by force took
it home, sick and suffering,—and thus com-
pelled the return of his wife to his house.
On the night of the 24th, she suffers a mis-
carriage, and goes upon her sick bed, from
which she does not rise until after January
1st, when the most important of these event-
fal scenes have transpired.

THE RUPTURE AND THE COMPACT BE-
TWEEN MR. BOWEN AND MR. TILTON,

‘While these scenes were transpiring in the
domestic affairs of Tilton, Bowen was not
idle. The article of December 18t had satis-
fied him that he must be rid of Tilton as
editor of The Independent : yet he was afraid
of Beecher and the Christian Union. I have
said to you, gentlemen, that Mr. Beecher
became editor of the Christtan Union in April,
1870, and the circulation of that paper sprang
up as if by magic, and was a menace both to
Mr. Tilton and Mr. Bowen. To remove Til-
ton absolutely, who had so long been the
ruling spirit of the paper, was a dangerous
experiment. 1f discharged, Tilton, for aught
Bowen knew, might be employed by the
Christian Union ; and Tilton knew too mueh
about Bowen to be permitted to become an
ally of Beecher. At this time, Bowen saw no
alternative but to depose him from power and
yet retain him in his employment. Hence
the two contracts executed about December
20, by which he was to be editor of The
Union for five years, at $5,000 per year, and
chief contributor of The Independent. His
valedictory as editor was published December
22. 8o soon as people saw that Bowen had
broken with Tilton go far as to depose him as
editor, the stories affecting Tilton’s character
came down upon Bowen, as Tilton himself
testifies, like an avalanche. Bowen was
alarmed ; he doubted whether it was possible
to retain Tilton in any capacity upon either

per. He talked with Oliver Johnson, their
mutual friend, who solicited for Tilton an
opportunity for an explanation. This was
granted, and it led to the now celebrated
meeting at Bowen’s house on December 26,
1870—Oliver Johnson, Tilton and Bowen pre-
sent. That interview, gentlemen, has been
described to you. Its object and purpose
was to enable Tilton to explain the stories
which had been planted in Bowen's. ears
againgt him. The interview began in
rather high spirits. - Tilton mounted his
high horse and demanded an investigation,
and to be confronted with his accusers;
but Bowen met him boldly. He told him
that he knew his Iife ; and in a very short
time he satisfied Tilton that the last thing
that he desired was an investigation. Tilton
saw that the game of bluff could not be
played with Bowen, and he tried a new line
of tactics. Knowing Bowen’s fear and
hatred of Beecher, he suggested the danger
The In t was in from The Christian
Union, and the importance of dethroning
Beecher ; and nothing could have'been sug-
gested to Bowen 8o agreeable as that. Stories
affecting the moral characters of his editors
were a matter of light consequence compared
with thesuggestion of the displating of Beecher
from The Christian Union, and the crippling
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of that paper as a business rival. Of courre,
he listened with eager ear to any suggestion
that Tilton could make on that subject. Tilton
was familiar with Bowen’s scandals against
Beecher, because they had often been the
subject of conversation between them. He
referred to them, to the injury that Bowen
bad suffered at the hands of Beecher in busi-
ness relations in times gone by, and all that;
and finally he suggested that he, too, had a
personal grievance against Beecher. That
was news to Bowen ; he never had heard of it
before, and he eagerly besought Tilton to tell
him what it was ; and Tilton finally told him
that Mr. Beecher had been guilty of unhand-
some proposals to his wife. Bowen was quick
to discover the situation.

He had no scandals against Beecher that
he dared undertake the responsibility of
establishing. I do not know, gentlemen,
how far the stories or the reports which at-
tribute the authorship of scandals against Mr.
Beecher to Mr. Bowen are true. I bave my
own opinion that they are very much ex-
aggerated. I have my opinion and belief
that, when this thing is carefully investigat-
ed, it will be found that Theodore Tilton is
the true source of most of the scandals
that have been put in circulation against
Henry Ward Beecher. He is the man whose
ability at scheming, whose facility at insinua-
tion, whose skill to produce results in a
roundabout way, by which he covers bis
tracks, lead me to suspect that he is largely
the author of thesescandals, and the scandals
which Henry C. Bowen has repeated to others.
Thus, scandals which perhaps Henry C.
Bowen would come to believe after having
heard them repeated year after year, have
their true origin in the fertile brain of the
plaintifi,. How that may be, I do not
know ; it is not necessary for us to inquire, in
this proceeding. Suffice it to say, gentlemen,
that Henry C. Bowen had no scandal against
Mr. Beecher which he would ever dare to
bring to the test of an investigation ; but
when Tilton told him that Henry Ward
Beecher had been guilty of unhandsome pro-

osals to his wife, that furnished him with the
t tangible bit of evidence which had ever
come to him warranting the belief that Mr.
Beecher could be attacked, and attacked
with evidence against him; and he sug-
gested the letter which Mr. Tilton wiote
on that occasion to Mr. Beecher, in which
be says: ¢ For veasons which you ex-
plicitly understand, I demand that you quit
Plymouth Church and leave Brooklyn as a
residence.’”” That letter, Tilton says, was an
open letter when he wrote it and left it with
Mr. Bowen. He says Henry C. Bowen not
only ugreed to bear that open letter to
Beecher, but to suPport it with evidence, and
to assume the fight and carry it on. Til-
ton was perfectly willing to send a fire-brand

into the camp, if Bowen would take care of
the conflict afterwards. To save his contracts
with Bowen, to save his salary of from ten to
twelve thousand dollars a year, he was wil-
ling to make a union between himself and
Bowen to attack Beecher ; 8o he consented to
write that letter, and Bowen was to bear it
to Beecher. This he did, as has been dis-
closed by the evidence ; and further evidence
will be given you on that subject.

Gentlemen, I now, propose to make clear
to you what has hitherto been one of the
great mysteries involved in this controversy.
I refer to what Moulton calls the treachery
of Henry C. Bowen in not only refusing to
sustain the demand made in the letter which
he bore to Beecher, but also in promising
Beecher his friendship in the threatened con-
test with Tilton. I have already indicated
Bowen’s desire to be rid of Tilton ; but the
prosperi& of The Independent was menaced
by The Christian Union and by Beecher, and
he hesitated to dismiss Tilton absolutely from
his service, lest he might join Beecher against
Bowen and The I nt. Tilton, anxious
to save his contracts, was willing to join in
a war upon Beecher, and thereby cement
‘himself to Bowen. Sueh a suggestion kindled
the embers long smouldering in Bowen's
bosom into & flame. Tilton, in his zeal to
fan the flame, which he himself had started
into life, declared that he too had a personal
grievance against Beecher; for Beecher, he
sa.iig, had made unhandsome proposals to his
wife.

The Court then adjourned until Thursday
morning at 11 o’clock.

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 25, 1875.
88th par.

GENTLEMEN oF THE JurY: We now ap-
proach a stage of this case whereitis import- -
ant for us to consider the nature of the action,
the rules which judicial experience has found
it necessary to establish in the trial of this
class of cases, in order that the truth may
prevail, and collusion, deceit and falsehood
be defeated. First, the charge of adultery is
to be tried by the rules applicable to crimes.
The charge involved here is in the nature of
acrime ; the burden of proof is upon the pro-
secution, and they are bound to make out
their case beyond a reasonable doubt. It is
not for this defendant to prove that he is
not guilty of this offenge ; it is for the prose-
cution to prove that he is.  As you perceive,
gentlemen, from the very nature of the case,
it is one where affirmative evidence of inno-
cence is impossible, except from the testimony
of the partyimplicated. No man, whoever
he may be, charged with such an offense as
this, can introduce affirmetive evidence upon
the witness stand that he is not guilty of the
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offense, for it is impossible for any witness
save himself to testify that he did not com-
mit it. Whenever such an accusation is
made against any man and woman residing
in the same city, running over a long period
of time, you see how utterly impossible it is
that any witness could come upon the wit-
ness stand and say : *‘ Of my own knowledge
I know that this accusation 18 untrue.””  Se-
lect the most estimable man within your
knowledge, gentlemen, and bring a charge
against him ; let any person however worth-
less, charge him with having visited houses
of ill-fame, for instance, in the city of New
York, during a period of sixteen months.
If bo has resided in the city of New York
during that time, what can he do in answer
to such a charge as that but say it was untrue,
and rely. upon the insufficiency of the evi-
dence to establish his guilt ? It is utterly im-
possible for him to call witnesses who can
say that this man did not visit these houses;
he cannot do that from the very nature of
the case. Itisan attempt to prove a nega-
tive, which it is very difficult under any cir-
cumstances to establish. From the very na-
ture *of this case, therefore, when this de-
fendant is accused of this crime committed
with a lady who was his acquaintance, whom
it is admitted he frequently visited at her
house, at the solicitation of her husband—all
he can do is to interpose his word of denial
and rest upon his established character,
which he has made during the last thirty
years in your midst. The evidence of guilt
muss be removed from all suspicion ; it must
be evidence free from doubt ; it must be evi-
dence that carries home to your consciences
conviction of the truth of the offense charged,
or you are bound by the oaths you have
taken to render a verdict here for this de-
fendant. :

The charge of adultery is not a new one in
our courts of justice. It is a matter of fre-
quent occurrence, and the rules of law which
judicial experience has established in order to
ascertain the truth in this class of cases are
well defined and well understood. This
charge may be established, first, by direct
evidence of witnesses who saw the act. I
need not say to you, gentlemen, that there is
no such evidence pretended in this case.
Second, it may be established by circumstan-
tial evidence leading irresistibly to the con-
clusion that the act has been committed.
There is no evidence worthy of the name
which falls under that head in the case now
on trial. These parties have been acquainted
for twenty years. During all that time this
lady hag been a member of the Church of
which this defendant is the pastor. During
all that time they have been acquaint-
ances and friends. During all that time,
up to within the last four years at least,
the pastor and the husband were in-

timate personal friends; he visited that
house at the solicitation of the husband;
and, beyond that fact, the fact that he came
to the house of the plaintiff at his request,
there i8 not a fact or circumstance worthy of
credit here which tends to show in theslight-
est degree improper familiarity between these
parties, much less a criminal act.

THE PLAINTIFF'S EVIDENCE WEIGHED
AND DECLARED WANTING.

The plaintiff accuses his wife now, and
seeks to blast her character; but during all
these years he is unable to lay his baud upon
a single well autheuticated fact which con-
victs this white-souled woman of the slightest
impropriety of conduct in connection with
her pastor. Will it be said that I forget the
evidence? Will it be said that I do not re-
member Kate Carey, the woman brought from
the lazar house of New York city, reeking
with prostitution and disease, twice itsinmate
within three months, discharged everywhere
she has been employed for intoxication or
some improper conduct, who testifies to the
fact that on some occasion she saw this plain-
tifi’s wife sitting upon the knee of the defend-
ant? Gentlemen, I shall not insult your
good sense by supposing that twelve honest-
minded men would blast a reputation such as
Henry Ward Beecher’s and that of a woman
of the character that this plaintiff gives his
wife for twenty years, upon the word of such
a woman as Kate Carey; Carey is the name, I
believe, or Smith; which is it? )

Mr. Shearman—Smith; Carey alias Smith.

Mr. Beach—She gave her name as Kate
Carey Smith on the stand.

Mr. Tracy—Then, gentlemen, what does
that circumstance amount to if it is true?
What were the facts connected with her testi-
mony which shows the improbability of the’
story that she tells herself? Why, she says
to you, that she came down into the dining-
room one day for a drink of water, when the
doors between the dining-room and the par-
lor were wide open, and as she walked in she
saw the plaintiff's wife sitting upon the knee
of the defendant, and she hea.rgo him say to
her: ¢t Elizabeth, how do youfeel?’’ and she
said: ¢ Dear father, so so.”” [Laughter.]
Well, gentlemen, you only needed that last
expression to show that this was a matter
that was coined from the brain of thissimple-
minded woman. It was natural fir her to
address her priest by the name of ‘¢ Father,”’
and thervefore when she comes to make this
plaintiff's wife address her minister she nses
the same word that she would have used if
shie had been addressing her own. It is that
slight circumstance that is enough to show
the improbability of the story which this
woman tells, upon her own showing. Butl
shall nut dwell upon that, gentlemen. Itis
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unworthy, I repeat, of the serious considera-
tion of twelve honest men.

There is another circumstance which I am
not permitted to forget, not on account ofits
importance as evidence, gentlemen, in this

~cage, for, as such, it amounts to nothing,
but on account of the exhibition which was
made by the witness who came to testify to
it. Irefer to the brother of this plaintiff's
wife, who said she was his only sister, and
how highly he regarded her, who came into
Court in oompa.ng' with this plaintiff, knowing
and realizing and telling you from the stand
that he knew nothing of his own knowledge
that could affect the reputation of these par-
ties, unless he should be permitted to make'a
speech to you from the witness stand and
connect with what he saw what he had heard
from such women as Kate Carey and other
people—prostitutes, male and female alike.
If he could repeat these rumors and these
stories that he had heard, then perhaps his
evidence would have some significance; but
he knew perfectly well, and realized it, that
it he was permitted to testify only to what
he had seen, it amounted to nothing against
hig sister. And yet why did he come here ?
‘Why? He was under no obligation to come
here. If he had told the plaintiff, or rather,
permit me to gay, if he had told the senior
counsel of the plaintiff that what he had seen
would amount to nothing, he would have
been excused; but if he could come here and
be permitted to make a speech against his
gister, then he mlghthossibly prejudice your
minds against her. Now, what is the story
he told? He says that on one occasion—
when, he don’'t know and cannot tell—he
went into the parlor of his sister one morn-
in'% and on opening the door saw Mr. Beecher
sit¥ing in a chair, and saw his sister moving
away from his direction—moving rapidly, he
says, with her face apparently flushed, and
that is all he saw! They were in the parlors,
gentlemen, where a virtuous woman receives
an honorable guest. They were in no bed-
room, and Mr. Beecher was sitting quietly;
ne movement on his part, gentlemen, no
surprise could this man testify to at all, and
he practically testified to none against his
sister. How long had his sister been in that

-room? He does not know. Where did she
come from, and what. had she been doing
before he went in? He does not know, He
saw her moving away. How far she was
fiom him he does not know. And is there
any evidence of guilt in that, gentlemen ? Is
that not & thing that is likely to happen to
anybody a thousand times.

Why, let me refer you to the evidence of
a virtuous woman, given from this witness
stand by herself, her own confession of an
interview that she had with this defendant
without provoking a suspicion on the part of
her husband of impropriety, and- without a

thought of impropriety on her part. I refer
$0. Mrs. Moulton. She says that she spent
four hours with this defendant in a bed-room,
left there by her husband. Aye! more. She
testifies to a fact that they have not yet
fastened on Elizibeth Tilton. She tells you

“that while alone in that bed-room with this

defendant she kissed him. Now, gentlemen,
supposing that they had got a servant who
could have testified to such fucts as that
against Mrs. Tilton and Mr, Beecher. Sup-
posing they had found him tucked upon a
sofa with an Afghan, baving an interview
in a bedroom with this plaintiff's wife and
she kissing him, all testified to by a servant.
That, the counsel of the plaintiff would argue,
was evidence of guilt. Yec you see that
when that fact is testified to by Mrs. Moulton
herself, against herself, it excites in the mind
of no honorable man even a suspicion against
that woman’s virtue. And you see, there-
fore, what familiarities and what liberties
virtuous women can take, and properly take,”
with virtuous men, without exciting suspi-
cion. But there is no such fact as this
against Elizabeth Tilton. I say, and I repeat
to you, that this casestands entirely destitute
of either class of evidence usually relied upon
in cases of this description to convict this de-
fendant. It is confined entirely to the con-
fessions of the defendant, written and oral,
mainly oral, for they have despaired of con-
victing him upon his letters, and, therefore,
they have endeavored to supplement them
by oral confessions. The effect of that class

of evidence I shall have occasion to consider
in a moment. But that class of evidence,
gentlemen, yon will bear in mind comes from
asingle family, if I may count Tilton as a
member of the family of Moulton, as I
think I can safely from the evidence of both
himself and Mr. Moulton and Mrs. Moulton.

It comes from two couspirators against this
defendant ; the plaintiff, his mutual friend,

and the mutual friend’s wife. No other wit-
ness appears to testify to oral confessions ex-
cept these three.

MR. CARPENTER'S ABSENCE.

‘And right here, gentlemen, I desire to call
your attention to a remarkable omission in this
case, quite as remarkable as anything that
bas been produced in it. You were notified
upon the opening of this case by the plain-
tiff’s counsel, that the confessions of this de-
fendant would not be confined to a single
family, nor to a single instance ; that they
would call a witness who would claim to be
outside of this case, a disinterested witness, as
they said, who would testify to the confes-
fessions of Mr. Beecher, and they named
their witness—Frank Carpenter. But, is he
here! Has he been placed upon the witness
stand? Before I close, gentlemen, and be-
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fore this case cloges, we will show you why
Frank Carpenter was not produced upon the
witness stand in this case. In the first place,
he could not testify to any confessions of
Henry Ward Beecher, and in the second
place, we will show that, if they had pro-
duced him, we would have blasted their case
with this man’s evidence, and the evidence
that we should have brought against him.
The reasons why they have omitted him are
cogent and powerful, as you will see. He is
a link in the conspiracy that they have been
drawing around this d -fendant for five years,
and with him we would have established it.
‘Without him they hope that they have broken
the chain of circumstantial evidence, but we
will show them that they are disappointed in
their expectations.

THE LAW ON ORAL CONFESSIONS.

The plaintiff in this case, relying, there-
fore, mainly on the oral confessions of this
defendant, it becomes important, gentlemen,
for you to consider, and for the Court to con-
sider, the legal effect of this class of evidence,
and it is to that question that I desire to
invite your attention before I proceed with
a further history of thin case—before I begin
to unravel the network that this plaintiff with
his fertile brain, stimulated and aided by his
mutual friend, has for four years been weav-
ing around the feet of my unfortunate client.
‘We concede, gentlemen, that, in connection
with direct or circumstantial evidence, the
oral admissions of the accused are pertinent.
‘Wherever circumstantial evidence is relied
upon the circumstances, taken together,
must establish the following three facts:
First, the criminal disposition of the parties
charged ; second, a like disposition on the
patt of the paramour ; third, an opportunity
to commit the act. These three facts must
be reasonably approximate in point of time,
and the opportunity must be one character-
ized by circumstance pointing to. guilt. In
other words, guilt cannot be inferred from
the opportunity to commit adultery, unlees
there is also evidence that at about the same
time there were acts of each party specifically
indicating a disposition to commit it. It is
this class of evidence, gentlemen, which is
usually relied upon in courts of justice to
establish the fact of adultery. In fact, this
class of circumstantial evidence, that is, the
relations of the parties, the frequency with
which they have been seen together, the im-
proper places at which they have been seen,
the stedlthy meetings of the parties—all of
this class of acts tending to show a disposition
to commit adultery—is the class of evidence
usually relied upon, and is seldom or never
wanting in any case of adultery charged in
good faith., This is almost the only import
ant case on record where there is no proof of

facts and circumstances calculated to excite
suspicion and produce a conviction of guilt.
This case is made to rest entirely upon the
supposed confessions of the defendant. 8o
far as the case depends upon alleged confes-
sions it is to be observed that there are two
classes, the letters of the defendant and the
reports given by witnesses of his oral confes-
sions. The letters are in evidence and will
speak for themselves. The alleged oral con-
fessions are an entirely different kind of evi-
dence, as such evidence is always tested by
the law with the most careful scrutiny, My
associate, Judge Porter, will relieve me by
reading the rules of law applicable to this
class of evidence—oral confessions.

Mr. Porter—Our first citation in this con-
nection, your Honor, is from Morris ». Miller
(4 Burrows, 2,049). The action was crim.
con. Lord Mansfield, in delivering the opin-
ion of the Court, says :

 This is a sort of criminal action. There is no
way of punishing the crime at common law. It
should not depend upon the mere reputation of a
marriage which arises from the conduct or de-
clarations of the plaintiff himself. In prosecutions
for bigamy a marriage in fact must be proved.
No inconvenience can h:spen by this determina-
tion; but inconvenience might arise by a contrary
determination, which might render persons liable
to aotions founded upon evidence made by the per-
sons themselves who should bring the action.”

The next citation of Mr. Tracy is from
Dillon ». Dillon (1 Note Ecc. Cas., 442). This
was & suit for divorce. Dr. Lushington, in
delivering the opinion, says :

“ This, as concerns the wife, is not a civil, but in
effect a criminal proceeding. 1f thereis any doubt,
she is entitled to the benefit of it. The evidence as
to the fact, on the part of the husband, may, per.
haps, preponderate : but I tsay that the proog
is free from reasonable doubt.”

The next citation is from Berckmans v.
Berckmans (17 New Jersey Equity Reports,
4564). This was a proceeding for divorce on
the ground of adultery. Under the laws of
New Jersey the parties charged were admissi-
ble as witnesses to deny the charge. The al-
leged paramour of the wife was sworn and de-
nied the adultery. The adultery was supported
by the direct evidence of a lady who professed
to have detected the parties in the act ; and
this, supported by corroborating evidence of
opportunity, circumstance and suspicion of
adulterous disposition. - The Court, in deliver-
ing the opinion, say :

“The testimony of Mrs. Berckman, the witness
for the plaintiff, is seriously affected by two con-
giderations. First, her testimony is in favor of the
complainant ; and it stands, so far as these scenes
are oconcerned, alone and uncorroborated, while she
is seriously and positively eontradicted with regard
tothem by two witnesses, Sarah Berckman and
Dr. Titsworth, These two witnesses may be un-
truthful as to what they say, but_they oannot be
mistaken about it. They certainly do keow whether
the scenes described were true or not. Mrs, Berok-
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man, the elder, may be untruthfal, and she may also
be mistaken. If the evidence of the three be en-
titled to a1 equal amount of credit and coufidenee,
then the evidence ot the defense has entirely over-
thrown, by its positiveness and preponderance, tha*
of the complainant. Itis true that these witnesses
on the part of the defenso have astrong inducement
toswear as they do; but is not this algo true with
regard to Mrs, Berckman? We have no rule by
which to determine what notice or consideration
will most certainly induce a person to perjure him-
self or herself. One might be tempted &e o it for a
mere money consideration; another, who could
not be purchased by money, might do it to save his
name and reputation from the charge of dishomor
and disgrace. Another, who might care bat iittle
for either of these, might do it to ‘gratlfy a most
malignant and insatiable feeling of revenge or of
implacable axd unrelenting hat ; aud I do not see
but what either cf these motives might be as effec-
toal in inducing a witness to d t from the truth
as any of the others . and, judging from the devel-
opments aud manifestations to be found in the evi-
dence in the case, I hardly feel at liberty to say
that the defendant and Dr. Titsworth had stron
irducements to depart from the truth than Mrs:
Berckman herself. And, entirely aside from this
controversy, and everything connected with it, I
do not know but what their characters for truth and
veracity are as a8 her's. Nor can I admit that
the mere charge ot crime is so far to destroy the
credit and character of a person as thas he is not
entitled to credit when speaking under oath. Such
apﬂncl{ole wight 1uin the most exemghry peog}:.
Surely, if the charge is not true, it ought not to dis-
credit the party ; and, to permit to do so, is to as-
sume that the charge is true; which we cannot do,
for that is the very thing to be proved.”

The next of the authorities cited by Gen.
Tracy will be found in 3 Sand., 8. C. R., and
has relation to the force of evidence that is
required on the part of a plaintiff before such
an accusation can receive the sanction either
of a court or of a jury. It isthe care of Fer-
guson v. Ferguson (3 8and., 8.C., 809). In
delivering the opinion of the Court, Judge
Mason cites and gives the sanction of the
Court to the proposition laid down by Judge
Stowell in the case of Loveden vs. Loveden
(2 Hagg. Consist. R., p. 1). It is in the follow-
ing words :

‘It is a fundamental rule that it is not necessary
to prove the direct fact of adultery, because, if 1t
were otherwise, there i8 not one case iv a hundred
in which that proof would be attiinable, Itis very
rare, indeed, that the parties are surprised in the
d rect fact of adultery. In every case almost the
fact is inferred from the circumstances thatlead to
it, by fair inference, as a necessary conclusion;
and unless this were the case. and unless this was
80 held, no protection whatever could be given to
marital rights, What are the circumstances which
Yead to such a conclusion cannot be Ja'.d down uni-
versally, though many of them, of an obvious na
tare and of more frequent occurrence, are to be
found in the ancient books. The only qeneral rule
that can be laid down on the sabject Is that the
circamstances must be such as would lead the
q .rded discretio.1 of a reasonable and just man to
the conclusion; for it is not to lead a harsh and
intemperate jn&gment, moving upon appearances
that are equally capable of two interpretations;
neither is it to be a matter of artificial rasonirg,
Judging uﬁnn such’ things differently from what
would strike the carefnl and sagacious considera;
uon of a discreet mind."” .

The Court proceeds :

‘“This rule, 8o simple and loosely stated, com-
mends itself to the approbation of every mind, and
its application to the present case will lead m8 to a
correct decision.”

The Judge then examined the evidence,
and came to the conclusion that it was
equally capable of two interpretations, and
therefore did not prove the fact which was
there in issue.

The next citation is from 17 Abbott, Pr. R.,
68. In that case Judge Hoffman, who deliv-
ered the opinion, states the doctrine thus:

*The general rule that applies to the degrce and
nature of the evidence demanded are too well
known to ;ustify a statement in detail, While
direct proof of the actnal commission of the crime
is not re?ulred} yet the approximate facts must
lead by a fair inference to & necessary conclusion.
'his 18 not a necessary conclusion in a strict
mathematical or logical sense ; the subject and con-
ditions of the evidence do not admit of this; but
it must be 2 conclusion so far inevitableas that the
suppositien of innocence cannot by any just conrse
of reasoning be reconciled.”

0. the subject of oral confessions the au-
thorities cited are. first, the case of — wv.
Merrill (6 Wend , 277) ; a leading case on the
subject in the Court of Errors, where Chan-
cellor Walworth, in delivering the opinion of
the Court, has occasion to say :

¢ Again, evidence to establish a fact by the con-
fessions of the party should always be scrutinized
and received with caution, as it is the most danger-
ous evidence that can be admitted in a Court of
Justice, and the most liable of abuse. Although
the witness is perfectly honest, it i impossible in
most cases for him to give the exact words in
which an admi*sion was made, and sometimes
even the transposition of the words of a garty ma
give a meaning entirely different from that whicl
was intended to be conveyed to the witness.”

The next citation is from Earle v. Picken
(24 Com. Law Reports, 698).

¢In the eourse of this circuit, Mr. Justice Parke
several times observes that too great wei%:nt ought
not to attach to evidence of what a party has been
supposed to have said, as it very frequently Lap-
peus not only that the witness has misundersto od
what the party has said, but that, by unintention-
ally altering a few of the expressions really used.
hmivel an effect to the statement completely at
variance with what the party really did say.”

The next citatioun is from Meyers ». Baker,
where the Court states the rule thus :

*“Proof of confessions of a party, in the presence
of the witnesses only, are of him and the adverse
party, although certainly competent testlmou{.
ou{;ht to be weighed with great caution, because it
is impossible for the party to counteract it by other
testimony, becaunse the exsleqaiona used are easily
misunderstood or perverted, either throngh mistake
or design, and becanse not the whole_conversation,
but only parts of it. are genemlly detailed by the
witness, Itis the most dangerous species of tes-
timony held competent b{s.the law, and unless the
story told is probable in its nature, or is eorrobor-
‘ntg? by circumstances, very littlo weight is due to




THE LAW ON ORAL CONFESSIONS.

25

In Joy on Confessions (page 108) the
learned writer has embodied what perhaps is
the best statement to be found in the Eng-
lish law upon this subject, ard, singularly
enough, it first appeared in The Edinburgh
Review, being from the hand of that most
accomplished master of jurisprudence who
redeemed to fame the name of Jeffreys.

** A modern writer remarks on this subject, that
‘the imagination need not be taxed for extreme
cases, in which silence, equivocation, or even false-
hood, the ordinary badges of guilt, would naturally
be found in company with innocence. There are
many instancesin which the truth, properly brought
to light, would set free the accused, but his very
situation disqualifies him from doing justice to his
own statement. Conscious of his rectitude, and
proud of his character, he is abashed, humilia:
and oconfounded by the charge. The untow
chances that have loaded him with suspicion, may
Eo on to his utter ruin; the fslse witnesses, who

ave now cstablished a  prima facio case, may
ultimately convince his judges. That he should
ever become an object of accusation, would have
struck him yesterday as moro impossible than that
accusation should now lead to conviction. The
last step seems far less violent than the first, and
the commencement of his progress is a fatal augury,
which teaches him to despair of its isswe.’”

Mr. Porter—The last citation that Gen.
Tracy has marked for evidence is 1 Greenleaf
on Evidence, section 200. The language of
Chief-Justice Redfield in this portion of the
text is as follows : ‘¢ In a somewhat extended
experience of jury trials we have been com-
pelled to the conclusion that the most unreli-
able of all evidence is that of the oral admis-
sions of the party. And especially where
they purport to have been made during the
pendency of the action, or after the parties
were in a state of controversy. It is not un-
common for different witnesses of the same
conversations to give precisely opposite ac-
counts of them ; and in some instances it will
appear that the witness deposes to the state-
ment of one party a8 coming from the other.
It is not very encouraging to find a witness
of the best intentions repeating the declara-
tions of the party in his own favor as the
fullest admissions of the utter falsity of his
claims.”’

Judge Neilson—Judge Porter, when you
and I were boys, we found that general prin-
ciple cited in all the text-books, very much
after the form that you have put it.

Mr. Porter—In the form in which the
judges have putit. Ihave not been using
my own language.

Judge Neilson—I mean, have read it ; and
perhaps the best statement of that has been
found in Starkie on Evidence. My general
recollection of what be says is to the ef-
fect that this kind of evidence is dangerous ;
first, because it may be misapprehended by
the person who bears it ; in the second place,
it may not be well remembered ; and third,
it may not be correctly stated. And I have

a general recvllection of a very early case
mentioned in a note, where he said that on
the trial of a party for forgery, a witness, a
doctor, was examined, and the judge had it
down on his notes that the witness said : *‘I
am the drawer, the acceptor and endorser of
the bill ;’’ under three different names the
witness himself stating himself to be guilty
of forgery ; and while the judge was so stat-
ing to the jury from his notes, the counsel
interrupted him ; but, like the judge in the
Pickwick case, he persisted in adhering to
his notes, and the witness was recalled, when
on inquiry of the Judge himself the witness
said that his testimony was, I know the
drawer, the acceptorand endorser of the bill.”’

Mr. Porter—Your Honor’s reference is
very striking, and reminds me of a passage
which has been previously read, and which
will be borne in your Honor’s recollection,
and as very pertinent to another proposition
of Gen. Tracy, that, ‘* so far as the evidenceis
to depend upon the circumstances whenever
there is an imputation of a criminal nature,
the circumstances must all be such as to ex-
clude the possibility of innocence, for other-
wise the law will presume against guilt,’”’ and
I think that comes in connection with the
very obaervation to which your Honor has re-
ferred.

Mr. Beach—Will my friend permit me to
read an additional sentence from Joy on Con-
fessions, from which he has quoted ? After
considering the subject to which my friend,
Judge Porter, has drawn the attention of the
Court and Jury, this author says :

* Whilst such anomalons cases ought to render
oourts and juries at all times extremely watohful of
every fact attendant on confessions of guilt, these
cases should never be invoked, or 8o urged as to in-
validate indiscriminately all confeasions put to the
Jury, thus repudiating those salutary distinotions
which the Court, in the judicial exercise of its duty,
shall be enabled to make. Such an use of these
anomalies, which should be regarded as mere ex-
ceptions, and which should :geak only in the voice
of warning, is unprofessional and impolitie, and
should be regarded as offensive to the intelligence
both of the Court and jury.”

J udp? Neilson—The rule being that admissions
are to betaken with caution and scrutiny.

Mr. Tracy—Yes, if your Honor please ; and
we do not argue, gentlemen, that all confes-
sions are to be invalidated. We only ask
you to scrutinize the testimony by which the
pretended confessions of this defendant are
proved or pretended to be proved, the proba-
bility that he had made them under the cir-
cumstances, and the motives of the witnesses
who testified to them to misrepresent or to
forget. We shall introduce some confessions,
proved by witnesses whose character you will
not doubt, and whose interests arenotinvolved
in this litigation ; and we shall ask you, gen-
tlemen, to believe the confessions which we
shall prove, provided you are satisfied with
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the witnesses, their character, their means of
knowing what they testify to, and their abil-
ity to repeat accurately what they have heard;
and that they are influenced in giving their
evidence, by no motives except to state the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
the truth. As you have just heard from
the authorities which my associate has read
in your hearing, gentlemen, the testimony of
witnesses as to oral:confessions is always no-
toriously unreliable; but in this case it is
particularly so. The testimony of tkis kind
comes exclusively from three witnesses—the
plaintiff, the ‘‘mutual friend,”” and the
*‘mutual friend’s’’ wife. Admissions of this
character always require corroboration; and
the corroboration must be of facts pointing
to guilt, which have been adduced by other
witnesses. Before a jury can give effect to
oral confessions, they must be satisfied, first,
that the party who is alleged to have con-
fessed was correctly understood by the wit-
ness, a rule which his Honor has just given
you, one of the most forcible illustrations of
showing how easy it is for & man listening
attentively and desiring to recall accurately
what is said, to be mistaken. You have
‘yourselves been witnesses to the numerous
contests which have arisen during this trial
Detween counsel experienced in remembering
what witnesses say and repeating it accurate-
ly, as to what a particular witness has said,
or has not said on this trial. 8o, with a wit-
ness who assumes to repeat what another
party has said : his liability to have misun-
derstood the party is very great, and you
must be careful and cautious in scrutinizing
the evidence, and be satisfied that the party
has correctly understood, But the jury must
be satisfied, secondly, that the party alleged
to have confessed is correctly reported. Now,
there is such infirmity in human language
that an intelligent man, desiring to report
accurately, is very liable to misreport. We
seldom remember the precise language of a

who is conversing with us; we catch
the 1dea and reproduce it in our own lan-
guage ; and in doing that we are always liable
to convey an impression which the party
whom we are reporting did not intend {o con-
vey. The third rule is, that the language in
which the confession was made must have
been unambiguous ; because if the language
used by the party may as well apply to one
set of facts as to another, you cannot tell by
the pretended confession what fact the party
intended to admit. If there are two views
of a case, or two situations, the party speak-
ing having reference to one, and the witness
listening having reference to another, the
witness is quite liable to impute to the
speaker a reference to a transaction, or give
to his language a meaning, entirely different
from what the speaker intended. All of these
rules are to be carefully observed.

Again, if the witnesses relied upon to prove
oral admissions, are justly tainted with sus-
picion in the case ; if it is established that
they have been guilty of misconduct or false-
hood in the case in which they testify ; for
instance, if they have been guilty of the de-
struction of important documents in the
case, a fact to which I shall call your atten-
tion further on, gentlemen, as bearing on the
witoesses who testify to oral confessions
against this defendant; or if the witnesses
testifying to oral admissions are members of
the same family, or are moved by a common
interest in the result of the action, and par-
ticularly if they admit that they have been
guilty of repeated falsification of the facts to
which they now testify, these considerations
added to the inherent infirmity of theevidence
itself, would compel a jury to disregard
evidence of this nature. .

I shall not stop here, gentlemen—I only
desire to recall your attention to it in pass-
ing—I shall not stop here to remind you
that every witness in this case is tainted by
the infirmities which are otherwise pointed
out, and which you have heard read. They
come from the same family ; I shall show
you that they have been guilty of the do-
struction of the most important documents in
this case; I shall show you that they are
under the strongest motives possible to fasten
guilt upon this defendant; and I shall show
you—no, they have themselves confessed to
you—that they have been guilty of repeated
{:'{zi‘?cation of the facts to which they now

ify.

MR. BOWEN’S MANAGEMENT.

Having considered thus briefly the rules of
law which must govern you in your disposi-
tion of this case, I now invite your attention
to the charge made by the plaintiff against
this defendant, and to the circumstances
under which this charge was made. I resume
my narrative at the point where Tilton had
said to Bowen that Beecher had made an un-
handsome proposal to his wife. This was
news to Bowen; the announcement of it
caused his very soul to thrill with delight.
He at once discovered his'opportunity ; if
he could lead Tilton to make a personal at-
tack upon Beecher, this would give him the
choice of two alternatives. If Tilton suc-
ceeded in his attack, this would so damage
The Christian Union that the accruing benefit
to The Independent would be many times
Tilton’s salary, and the danger from retain-
ing Tilton would be compensated for by the
injury inflicted upon a dangerous rival. Be-
sides, such a contest would make it impossible
for Beecher and Tilton ever to unite against
Bowen and The Iy dent. On the other
hand, if Tilton failed in his attack on Beech-
er, this would furnish an excellent reason for
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getting rid of him. In either evert, there-
fore, Bowen was to win. After a few mo-
ments reflection upon the situation as now
presented by Tilton, Bowen turned to him and
said, with a seriousness of countenance that
would have done honor to Aminadab Sleek:
‘ You and I, Mr. Tilton, owe a duty to so-
ciety. This man is the editor of The Chris-
tian Unton. Its circulation has run up in a
single year from 2,000 t0456,000. Such a man
is a dangerous visitor in the families of his
congregation. He isa wolf in the fold. We
should unite to extirpate him.’”’ ¢ Agreed,”’
says Tilton, ‘‘save my two contracts, and we
will smite him before the world.”’

** Then,’”’ gaid Bowen, ** gince my hands are
tied by the result of a settlement that I have
recently made with Beecher, do you write him
a letter, demanding that, ¢ for reasons which
he explicitly understands,’ he should imme-
diately cease from the ministry of Plymouth

. Church, that he quit Brooklyn as a residence,
. and that he cease to write for The Christian

Union. I will bear the letter to him and sup-

. port the demand.’”’ Tilton, thinking only of

. saving his contracts with Bowen, and with-

out seeing the trap, caught at the bait, and

" forthwith did the act, for the doing of which

his friend Moulton an hour afterwards called
him afool. This was a master stroke of strate-
gy on the part of Bowen. At one move he had
made a union between Tilton and The Chris-
tian Union impossible, and left himself free
to discharge Tilton without any danger
thereby of strengthening a business rival,
For Bowen had no objection to joining in an
attack upon Beecher, provided he could do
so sgafely to himself and disastrously to
Beecher ; but, distrustful of Tilton, and feel-
ing that he was a broken reed on which it
was unsafe to lean too heavily, he proceeded
to move cautiously, to feel his way carefully,
always keeping open a safe road by which he
could retreat.

If Tilton's charges were true, the mere
veading of the letter would disclose the con-
sciousness of guilt to the keen and argus-
eyed Bowen. This letter, Tilton says, was
an open one, and if this should be presented
open by Bowen, Beecher would at once per-
ceive that he had been a party to it. To pre-
vent this, the cautious owner of The Inde-

t said, as he went along, bearing the
etter to Beecher’'s house, ‘I think it would
be well for me to seal this letter ; then I can
deny to Beecher all knowledge of its con-
tents. I will hurl this secret missile at him,
and, carefully watching the effect, I will
await events before determining whether I
will make myself a party to the controversy
or not.”’

Nowhere has Bowen's consummate canning
been more conspicuous than in this sugges-
tion which led to the introduction of the
clause in the letter ¢ for rewsons which you

explicitly understand.”’ In the light of Til-
ton’s present accusation, few could under-
stand how this clause came to be inserted in
the letter at the instance of Bowen. With
this clause in it, the letter would point so
directly to some cause of offense against the
writer which would be understood by the
reader, that Bowen could bear the letter with-
out provoking the slightest suspicion of
having been its instigator. He would have
the advantage of watching, of seeing the
effect produced upon Mr. Beecher by the read-
ing of the letter, and a personal interview
immediately following thereupon, and thus
be zble to judge of the probability of
Mr. Beecher's guilt. He could thus gain
time and await developments, But he was
not long in doubt. Mr. Beecher’s reply to
that letter was quick, bold and impassioned :
** Bowen, what does this mean? This is in-
sanity ; the man i3 mad!”” And he attacked
Tilton to Bowen with a violence that struck
him dead in five minutes. He'told Bowen
Tilton’s true life, as he had learned it from
his wife and his intimate associates within
the last two or three years, and then he did
what was worse—he turned Bowen over to
Mrs. Beecher, who finished Tilton very sum-
marily in Bowen’s estimation.

Having discovered tbe courage of innocence
where he had fondly hoped to see disclosed
the cowardice of guilt, Bowen, always quick
to discern his interests, at once began a
masterly retreat. ‘‘I don’t know,” he said:

““T am surpriged at the contents of the letter !

If Mr. Tilton is your enemy, I will be your
friend, Mr. Beecher.”” ¢ Codlin is your
friend, not Short.”” And he who had just
before entered Mr, Beecher’s house, having
pledged his friendshi;‘)ﬂto Tilton, now left it,
pledging that friendship to Beecher. But he
was the friend of neither; he was the implac-
ableenemy of both. Having made certain that
Tilton and Beecher could not and would not
unite against him, he at once determined to
discharge Tilton from his employ. Thisis
proved by Tilton himself, who says: ‘‘The
next morning, after Bowen had instituted
this demand for the retirement of Mr. Beecher,
and after saying that he would fortify it with
facts, he came to The Union office and said to
me: ‘8ir, if you ever reveal to Mr. Beecher
the things I told you and Mr. Johnson, I will
cashier you!’ and,” adds Tilton, *‘hardly
had his violent words ceased ringing in my
ears, when I received his summary notice
breaking my contracts with The Iy

and The Brooklyn Union.’” And thus Til-
ton’s first attack upon Mr. Beecher had mis-
carried.

Let us now, gentlemen, consider for a
moment the position in which the interview
of Dec. 26 had placed Tilton and Bowen in
the eye of the law. We charge here, gentle-
men, that Theodore Tilton is a conspirator
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against the reputation of Henry Ward Beech-
er, and has been since the 26th day of De-
cember, 1870. 'We say he formed that con-
spiracy with Henry C. Bowen ; but Henry C.
Bowen backed out, and then the place had to
be supplied, and it was supplied by Francis
D. Mouiton : but that Theodore Tilton has
held the position of a couspirator against the
reputation of Henry Ward Beecher since the
26th day of December, 1870, I shall leave no
doubt in the mind of any honest man, after
I recount the evidence of that conspiracy and
of the schemes which Bowen and Tilton then
formed against Beecher, Tilton himself being
the witness. Beyond all question, therefore,
I say they had become conspirators against
Beecher, and havd entered into a plot to
bring a charge of crime against him, not for
the purpose of securing his legal punishment,
but solely with the view to get him out of
their own way. It was business, gentlemen.
So much fraud, so much conspiracy, so much
lying, for so much return in dollars and cents
through The Independent by dwarting The
Christian Union. ~Bowen had slipped out of
this conspiracy, and immediately on learning
this, Tilton, who was too deeply committed
to withdraw, sought another man to join
him, who, taking Bowen’s place, necessarily
became a conspirator in his stead.

The nature of that conspiracy between Til-
ton and Bowen, gentlemen, Mr. Tilton has
proved from his evidence. He hus shown
you that in that conversation between Mr.
Bowen and himself, charges against Mr.
Beecher were made, charges of crime, charges
that would disgrace him before the commu-
nity, if they were true, and that this missile
was hurled at him on that day for the pur-
pose of compelling him to resign his position
as pastor of Plymouth Church, and to cease
writing for The Ohristian Union. That was
a crime that made them, in the eyes of the
law, conspirators.

- THE LAW ON OONSPIRACY.

I will ask my associate now to furnish us
at this point the authorities on the subject
of conspiracy.

Mr. Porter—The first citation, if your
Honor please, is from 8d Greenleaf on Evi-
dence, section 893

“ A conspiracy may be described in general terms
a8 a combination of two or more persons by some
concerted action to accomplish some eriminal or
unlawful purpose, or to accomplish some purpose
not in itself criminal or unlawful by criminal or
unlawful means. Itis not essential that the act
intended to be done should be punishable by indict-
ment, for if it be designed to destroy a man’s re;
utation by verbal slander, or to seduce a female
elope from her parents’ house for the purpose of
m-utntion, it js a criminal offense, though the aot

If be not indictable.”

12th Conn., 112, The State v. Bowley:

¢*‘ Now, that mangl acts whieh, if done gy an in-
dividual, are not indictable, are punished criminally
when done in pursuance of the conspiracy among
numbers, is too well settled to admit of controversy.
Thus, a conspiracy to slander & man by charging
him with a crime, or with being the father of a
bastard child, is an idiotable offense.”

2 Mass., 623. The Commonwealth v. Tib-
betts:

¢ A oonspiracy to charge any persen with acrime,
and in pursuance of a conspiracy falsely to affirm
that heis guiltly, is an indictable offense, without
proouring any legal process.”

8 Penn. State Rep., 280. The case is that
of Hood ». Polin, your Honor, in which the
action was substantially on the civil side of
the Court, for damages occasioned by the
conspiracy. In imputing to a party whose
property had been burned a design to defraud
the insurance company, Chief-Justice Gibson,
:rl;igelivering the opinion of the Court, uses

CH

“To d];nt another in jeopardy or terror, is of its.
self a damage to him; and it is on this ground
that it’s actionable to charge maliciously an in-
nocent person with orime. It is said that the
plaintiff in this case was not in geopardy. Of pro-
secution by indictment, he ce: y was not; but
of being ruined in his reputation and business, he
certainly was. The libel which jeopardized him
would give him an action against a single publisher
of it, and why not against a number who publish
it in concert.” It is not to be maintained thata
libel charging what would not be actionable inde-
pendent of the publication of it, is not actionable
without proof of special damages from it; or that

it is notan lq)lt‘lry from which constructive damage
results b im‘f ication of law. From every tort :ﬁe
law implies

amage; and when substantial damage
is not shown, it imp\ies the smallest amount of it ;
but still an amount sufficient to sustain an action
for it. An action of co ldom be main-
tained on any other basis; and, if the libel be ac-
tionable when published by one, it is actionable
when published by a plurality. But T do not rest
the case entirely on the fact that the defendants
conspired to publish alibel. A, oonsf:iraoy to de.
fame by spoken words, not actionable, would be
equalllfya. subject of prosecution by indictment;
and, if o, then equally a subject of ipro.eeution by
action, by reason of the presumption that injury
and damage would be produced by the combination
of numbers. The overt acts laid in this declara-
tion, werc scandalous words written, and scandal-
ous words spoken; and backed, as they were, a
confederacy to lgivo them circulation and credit,
they raised a legal presumption of damage to a
greater or less extent. Defamation by the outery
of numbers is as resistless as defamation by the
written act of the individual. The mode of pub-
lication is different, but the effect of it is the same;
and it isfor this reason that an action lies at the
suit of one who has beenthe lub&ect of a conspiracy,
whenever an indictment would lie for 1t. But an
indictmont lies for any conspiracy to vex or annoy
another—for instance, to hiss a play or an actor,
right or wrong.”

The next case cited is from The People v.
Mather (4 Wendell, 261), where the Court,
in delivering the opinion, says : _

‘If parties ooncur in doing the act, although
they were not previously aoquainted with each



THE LAW OF CONSPIRACY.

20

other, it is a comginc%v Lord Kenyon says, in
King v. Hammond & Webb: If a general con-
spiracy exists, you may go into general evidence of
its nature, and the conduct of Its members, so as
to implicate men who stand charged with acting
upon the terms of it, years after those terms have
been established, and who reside at a great distance
from the place where the ]ganeral lan is carried on.
These cases show that all who ere to a conspir-
acy after its formation and while it is being exeou-
tes, become conspirators.

Mr. Tracy—That by the rules of the com-
mon law, gentlemen, this plaintiff in this
case, if he is to be believed in his testimony,
was a conspirator with Henry C. Bowen
against the character of this defendant, under
the rules of law which you have just heard
read there can be no doubt whatever. I
want to put in here, gentlemen, again, the
qualification which I stated yesterday. I de-
sire to do it always, for I do not desire to im-
pute even against Mr. Bowen the charge of
conspi resting entirely upon the evidence
of Th re Tilton. I make the charge on
the theory that he states the truth, and that
what transpired between him and Mr. Bowen
on the 26th of December is what he states in
his evidence. If Mr. Bowen should come
here and say that that is false ; if Mr. Bowen
should appear upon the witness stand or elze-
where and say: ‘‘ Theodore Tilten falsifies
when he charges me with conspiring with
him on the 26th day of December to drive
Heury Ward Beecher out of Brooklyn by the
charge of scandal against him, and under fear
of provoking ascandal in the community
te induce him or to frighten him to abandon
the pulpit,’” I say that if Henry C. Bowen
shougd deny that, and should assert his ig-
norance of the contents of that letter, I
should not be prepared to ask you to believe
Theodore Tilton even against himself. But
that upon his statement of the case, that he
was a deliberate conspirator on the 26th day
of December, 1870, against Henry Ward
Beecher, the object of that conspiracy being
to drive him out of Brooklym by means of a
threat of an outrageous scandal, there can be
no doubt, if you are to believe Theodore
Tilton. But as we have shown, Mr. Bowen
backed out early. He did not want to travel
long in that direction ; he found it unsafe to

0 on.

§ But the plaintiff had committed himself,
80 that he was compelled to go on, and he
was therefore compelled to seek another
friend to aid him.

The letter which Mr. Tilton had sent to
Mr. Beecher by Bowen was delivered on the
evening of the 27th day of December. I have
repeated to you, gentlemen, the indignant
manner in which this defendant received it.
I have shown you that his conduct there, in
the presence o{ Henry C. Bowen, satisfied Mr.
Bowen of his innocence, and he retraced his
steps at once. But there ie another fact to

which now I desire to call your attention in
this connection. You will observe that that
letter says: ‘‘For reasons which you expli-
citly understand, you arerequired,’’ etc. Now,
gentlemen of the jury, if Mr. Beecber had
been conscious of guilt—if he had committed
adultery with Mrs. Tilton, and had received,
on the 27th day of December, such a letter
from Mr. Tilton—don’t you think he would
Lave divined the object of it? Would not
he have understood what he meant? At least
would not it have suggested to him *‘ Mr.
Tilton hag discovered my crime’’? And
wouldn’t he have been desirous of under-
standing how far that crime had been dis-
covered and precisely what Mr, Tilton knew
aboutit? And yet, gentlemen of the jury,
this alleged guilty man, who had been carry-
ing on adulterous intercourse for sixteen
wonths, thus having his guilt suddenly dis-
closed to him, end finding the knowlegge of
it possessed by the husband, never moves a
step to ascertain what the husband knew or
to communicate with this woman to ascertain
the situation. There he rested on the 27th,
28th, 9th and 80th days of December, with-
out making the first move to ascertain what
Mr. Tilton knew about it, and how far he
bad discovered the truth as it existed be-
tween himself and Mrs. Tilton, Would a
guilty man have done that, gentlemen? Do
{’ou think thatif an injured and outraged hus-

and had gone to a man who was really
guilty and written him such a letter as that,
he would not hav:{)ut himself in communi-
cation with that wife, to ascertain just what
the husband knew and what this letter
meant? And yet he made no effort to com-
municate with Mrs, Tilton ; did not commu-
nicate with her, and, as the plaintiff himself
tells you, was in profound ignorance that the
plaintiff had any accusation to make against.
him in connection with his wife, until they
met on that stormy night at Moulton's
house, about eight o’clock in the evening. I
submit to you, gentlemen, that that is proof
conclusive that this defendant knew nothing
about the object of that letter; at least he
did not understand that it referred at all to
his relations with Mrs. Tilton. And the fact
that he did not so understand proves conclu-
sively that guilt did not exist.

The sending of tbis letter by Mr. Tilton to
Mr. Beecher provoked a contest from which
Mr. Tilton could not retire easily, and when
he was deserted by Mr. Bowen, he found him-
self in a very awkward situation. Ho had
sent this challenge tothe most prominent
clergyman in Brooklyn, and bad nothing on
which to support it ; Bowen had failed him ;
he had nothing from his wife in writing—
nothing whatever on which to support this
charge. But he had crossed the Rubicon.
To advance might be dangerous, to retreat
was impoesible. If before this his ruin was
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imminent, with Beecher and Bowen united
agaiost him it was not only *‘sure,’”” but to
avail ourselves of the fine criticism of the
plaintiff upon the witness stand, we may say
it was ‘“ certain.”” To sever that union and
pacify Beecher was with him the necessity of
the hour. TUnless he could do this, he was
not only the fool that Moulton had called
him, but he was a ruined man. How this
could be done was the subject that occupied
his thoughts during the 28th, 29th and 80th
days of December.

MR. MOULTON'S ENTRANCE ON THE
SCENE.

And now, gentlemen, we come to the
period of time when we say the conspiracy,
which had been beg-un on the 26th of Decem-
ber at Mr. Bowen's house by Mr. Tilton, in
concert with Mr. Bowen, was changed into
one between himself and Mr. Moulton. We
have seen that Mr. Moulton was somehow
(by accident as they say, but by pre-arrange
ment as we think) at Mr, Tilton’'s house
awaiting Mr, Tilton’s return from the inter-
view at Mr. Bowen's house, December 26th.
He was then informed of the result of that
interview and of the writing cf that letter
to Mr. Beecher. He regarded that as so im-
portant an event, that he made a memo-
randum noting the precite hour and minute
at which this communjcation had been hand-
ed to him |

And here, gentlemen, at the very begin-
ning of the association of these two men in
relation to this case, you are called upon to
discredit the first fact they testify to, or to
accept a statement which is not only ex-
tremely improbable, but which is contradicted
by the written evidence of one of them.
They both testify that Moulton was not con-
sulted again until the evening of the 80¢h.
I ask, you, gentlemen, to consider the im-
probability of that statement.

On the 26th, as they tell you, Francis D
Moulton found that his most intimate friend
had committed what he called the foolish
act of sending this letter to Henry Ward
Beecher. He was informed that that letter
was to be borne to Mr. Beecher by Mr,
Bowen, and he predicted the result. Says
he: ¢ You have signed the letter alone ; sur
posing Mr, Bowen leaves you to support it
alone, where are you?’ The result of the
interview between Mr. Bowen and Mr.
Beecher was known by Mr. Tilton the next
morning, for I have just read in your hear-
ing that he says, ‘‘The next morning Mr.
Bowen came into my presence und told me
if I dared repeat what he had told me he
would cashier me at once.”” Do you believe,
gentlemen of the jury, that the result of
that interview between Mr. Bowen and Mr.

Beecher was never communicated to Francis
D. Moulton until the evening of the 80th of
December? Do you believe that, all these
days, he was in ignorance of the response
that .letter had met at the hands of Henry
Ward Beecher? This fact, so important to
his friend that he marked not only the hour
but the precise minute at which he had re-
ceived it, denouncing his friend as a fool for
what he had done? ~And yet they tell you
—although they admit that they had seen
each other in the meantime—they tell you
that no word had ever passed between them
as to the manner in which Mr. Beecher had
received theletter.  You would not believe
it, gentlemen, you would not bslieve it
if itstood unoontradicted, and rested upon
the oath of both these witnesses, with no
other infirmity except the improbability of
the statement itself.

But we are not left to that. Fortunately
for us in this ,and in many others,
Theodore Tilton reduced the history of these
scenes transpiring at that time to writing, in
1872; and while he thought he had destroy-
ed it, and gotten rid of it, providentially for
us, he showed it to too many men ; and some
of them were chrewd enough and cautious
enough to preservea copy of it; and apaper
which he supposed was destroyed and would
not confront him during this litigation was
resurrected, to his great surprise, and con.
fronted him upon the witness stand. Now,
I appeal to that * True Story,’’ as written by
Theodore Tilton himself, to contradict the
evidence of Mr. Tilton and Francis D. Moul-

' ton right at the inception of this conspiracy

between them. The ‘‘True Story,”’ as Mr.
Tilton entitled it, says distinctly that Mr.
Moulton was consulted at: least twice after the
26th and before the 80th of December, thus
giving tke lie in the plainest terms to the
testimony of these two witnesses. After re-
ferring to the interview of December 26th,
the ¢ True Story’’ says:

A dléol' two afterwards '’ [which would be the
27th or th,‘] “ rom%ted by my wife's wish and
Mr. Moulton’s advice, I resolved that I would send
for Mr. Beecher to meet me ata personal interview,
either in their presence or with me alone "

Then giving the account of the scene in
which Bowen threatened to discharge Tilton
from The Iy and The Union, and
to call the police to cast him into the streets,

the ¢* True Story’’ proceeds:
“T informed my wife and Mr. Moulton, and
fterwards Mr. Joh of this incident

a n.
ing which Mr. Moulton remarked that it did not
surprice him in the least, and then with the joint
advice ofall '—

I take it, gentlemen, that that word ‘all”
is never applied to any act concerning this
conspiracy that does not include Francis D.
Moulton from this time forward—
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1 determained to summon Mr. Beecher to the
coutemplated interview. To this end Mre. Tilton
wrote a brief note, addressed to Mr. Beecher
through me.,”

AFTERNOON SESSION.

Thus it is clear that upon the statement in
Tilton’s own handwriting, prepared in De-
cember, 1872, and shown by him to numer-
ous friends as the very truth of the matter,
that Mr. Moulton was consulted on two sep-
arate days after the 26th and before the 30th,
and that it was by Moulton’s advice that
Tilton determined to send for Beecher, this
advice being given before Mrs. Tilton wrote
her brief note, which Tilton has sworn was
written on December 29th. Yet they tell
you, gentlemen, that the first that Mr. Moul-
ton knew of that was when Mr. Tilton came
to him on the 80th of December with this
letter from Mrs. Tilton, What motive did
Mr. Tilton have for falsifying in this respect
when he drew up the ‘“TrueStory?"’ He has
a motive for falsifying now, because he has
been advised by his counsel that these facts
made out a clear case of conspi against
Moulton and himself, and it is the result of
their shrewd suggestion (but I do not intim-
ate that it is by theiradvice) that both heand
the mutual iriend now disclaim any consulta-
tion prior to the signing by Mrs. Tilton of the
abominable charge drawn up by her husband.
But Tilton consulted no lawyer when he pre-
pared the ¢ True Story,” and only inserted
such falsehoods as seemed to him then to be
useful. This statement was not one which
could have done him any good, and it may
therefore be safely assumed to be true.

MR. TILTON FORCED TO MAKE PEACE.

But whether Moulton was consulted or not,
the situation was plain. Tilton could get
nothing from Bowen upon which to support
his threatening letter, and he had nothing
from his wife which would confirm the charge
he had made to Bowen against Beecher. He
had, therefore, given a rash challenge to one
of the foremost men in Brooklyn, without
the slightest support, save his own word,
backed by hisown tainted reputation. There
was but one thing to bedone. He must make
peace with Mr. Beecher. But how should he
accomplish that?- He had written a most in-
sulting letter. Should he say, frankly, ‘‘Mr.
Beecher, I have been mistaken. Isent you
that letter under a misapprehension of facts ?’’
Not to meation that the idea of an apolo
would be utterly repugnant to Tilton's self-
conceit and vanity, Mr. Beecher’s natural an-
swer would have been, ‘* How did you dare to
send go insulting a letter without making
inquiry as to the facts?’’ Moreover, what
misapprehensgion of facts could he have al-
leged? If he had suid, ‘‘Mr. Bowen told me

such and such tales,’”” Bowen would have de-
nied it, and Tilton’s position would have been
worse than ever. If heshouldsay, ‘‘My wifa
has told an evil tale about you,”” he well
knew that his wife would deny it, unless
some writing were extracted from her. I
was essential that he should have an inter-
view with Mr. Beecher, in which he should
instantly satisfy the latter tbat he had had
some reasonable pretext for writing his inso-
lent demand, and yet sbould at the same
moment withdraw that demand in such man-
ner as to convinoce Mr.Beecher that if he should
further resent this withdrawn insult there
would be danger of an explosion, in which
Mr. Beecher's reputation must inevitably suf-
fer, no matter how innocent he might be.
Furthermore, Tilton must so shape his case
as to satisfy Mr. Beecher that the stories which
the latter had circulated to some extent
against Tilton were false and slanderous, and
thus at one blow convince Mr. Beecher that
Tilton was pure in his own moralsand under
an honest apprehension as to Mr. Beecher’s
conduct. ’

The infernal sagacity which devised a
scheme meeting all these requirements did
not emanate from the excited brain of Tilton,
but from the cool and calculating villany of
his friend. Mrs, Tilton wassick, having {Ad
a narrow escape from death, and greatly weake
ened by a severe and protracted hemotrhage.
The Mephistopheles at her husband’s elbow
suggested to him that now was the time te
getb her signature to any paper which would
answer the purpose. Tiltun disclosed to his
wife 80 much of his own difficulties as sufficed
to convince her of bis imminent ruin. He
turned out the nurse and companion; he
locked the door, and kept himself for hours
alone with the poor prostrate woman, and by
a mixture of threats and coaxing pr
her consent to sign a letter which he proposed
to write, soliciting Mr. Beecher to an inter-
view with her husband, and pleading for
peace and reconciliation. For him to substi~
tute for such a letter a few words, charging
her pastor with baving made improper solici-
‘t;::onu to her, without descﬁ]t;ing %heii: pre-

purport, was easy enough ; and h T
;)ifei' h:\lr]inlg otneoe rg;s%d 1l:ex'self frolxln thepl?:d

sign the letter which he originally pro

ed, had no power to refuse to put her n&.;
below such a charge, the purport of which
she but dimly comprehended, if indeed she
understood it at all. All that she reall
knew was that she was doing something whic]
her husband,to whom she had always render-
ed a slavish obedience, commanded her to do.
Probably she had some indistinct idea that
the natural effect of her signature was to do
Mr. Beecher a wron% ; but she was assured
by her husband, as he tells you himself, that
its real effect would be to do Mr. Beecher
good, and to put an end to the conflict which
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had begun between her husband and her
pastor. Such a letter was obtained on the
29th of December, and carried by Tilton to
Moulton, who now certainly becomes one of
the most important actors in this unhappy
controversy.

THE MUTUAL FRIEND.

¢ is hardly necessary, gentlemen, that I
should occupy much time in describing the
" character of Francis D. Moulton, or in ex-
plaining the motives which have actuated
* him throughout this controversy. He has
been in your presence for ten days; you have
" seen and heard him. No man in this court-
room could fail to be satisfied that Moulton
was a person well chosen by the plaintiff to
play the desperate part required of the mu-
tual friend. Cool, fearless, plausible, of cul-
tured tastes, not destitute of literary ability,
gifted with a quick perception of human
character, of tremendous energy, and totally
destitute of any belief in conscience, in im-
mortality, or in God, this man was well qual-
ified, like his great archetype, to deceive the
very elect. He has told you, under the
solemnity of an oath, that he was a heathen;
and by that you know what he means. Not
& heathen like SBocrates or Plato, not a hea-
then like those men of old who walked in
darkness, seeking after the light, and to
whom the great poet of the Catholic Church
has assigned a place in the other world, free
from pain, though far from Heaven—but
such a heathen as can only be found in the
midst of Christian civilization; a man who
despises the idea of personal responsibility,
who scoffs at the idea of future accountability,
who laughs in his sleeve at the credulity of
those who read the solemn words of Scrip-
ture, or who listen to the instructions of the
Church, and whose only idea of God isasa
convenient name for rounding an oath or en-
forcing an execration. Yet it was not in this
guise that he presented himself to the defend-
ant, and he took great care not to impress
ou with this conception of himself in Court.
iven here, when facing hundreds of men
in whose eyes he read that they knew him
to be an unscrupulous and hardened villain,
he wore a vail of decent respectability. How
much more, when he approached the most
distinguished clergyman of the age, to whom
he was almost a stranger, did he clothe him-
8€lf as an angel of light, and, while humbly
acknowledging his unconverted state, yet
strive to show that he was aiming to practice
the highest Christian virtues!

What was this man? What was his posi-
tion in society? Upon what endorsement was
hereceived? He was the junior member of
one of ‘the largest and most respected com-
mercial houses in this city. They were not

- only the largest warehousing.firm at tbis

port, but also the principal importers of cer-

tain staple articles of commerce. The high

favor in which they stood with the officers of
the quarantine and of the port was a matter

of public notoriety; and the maintenance of
friendly relations with all these officers, and

with the officers of the Custom Houre, was a
matter of the utmost concern to the firm. "A
slight change in the tariff would, at any
time, gain or lose hundreds of thousands of
dollars for them. It was, therefore, & mat-
ter of vital importance that they should be
represented, as occasion arose, at Washington,
at Albany, and among the local officers of
both the national and State governments, by
some confidential agent, who could under-
take the management of such affairs involv-
ing the most delicate and weighty considera~
tions, You must be aware, gentlemen, that
in every large concern of this kind there is
invariably & junior partner, or a highly-paid
confidential clerk, who undertakes the man-
agement of these interests, and concerning
whose transactions no questions are ever
asked. To no partnership in either of the
two cities was such an agent more valuable
than to the firm of which Mr. Moulton is a
member. These considerations will explain
some things at a glance, which otherwise
would seem to you mysterious. Brt the con-
fidential partner in such cases cannot do all
his work with his own hands. He must be
able to put his hand on some lever of public
opinion. He cannot afford to go down to Wash-
ington and urge or oppose legislation withont
any support from the public press. To him
it is a matter of life and death to be able to
guide some current of public sentiment. Fail-
ing to do this, his power ceases, his uscful-
ness is at an end, and his share in the part-
nership would quickly come to an end
also, as Mr. Moulton’s partnership in this
concern did quickly come to an end when
his usefulness had been destroyed.

Francis D. Moulton and Theodore Tilton
had been intimate friends from boyhood ;
but they had been separated by circumstances
for some years. The period at which Mr.
Moulton was placed in charge of all these
great interests of his firm appears to have
been also the period when he renewed, with
all or more of its original warmth, his devo~
ted friendship for Theodore Tilton. From
this time there was no interruption and no
breach. Mr. Tilton had, meanwhile, become
the editor of The Independent, a paper which
before his accession, was religious, but which,
he has taken pains to assure you, he made
-sacular. It was a powerful political engine.
.He has told you that it was one of the princi-
pal organs of the Republican party, which.
during the whole period of this renewe!
friendship, has had exclusive control of th:
National Government, and for most of th:

time has controlled the legislation of tkii
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State. When this controversy began, Mr,
Tilton was the editor, not only of The Inde-

ndent, but of another newspaper of large
influence in this city, and the acknowledged
local organ of the Republican party. He was
also the intimate and trusted friend of Horace
Greeley, the chief editorial writer of that
party. No man could obtain more readily
access to Mr. Greeley's ear, or introduce a
friend with greater assurance of welcome
than Theodore Tilton. Through the whole
term of this close union between Mr. Tilton
and Mr. Moulton, which reminds us of Damon
and Pythias in the olden time, Mr. Moulton
had, therefore, easy and confidential access to
the principal organs of the Republican party.

This was the situation of the two friends at
the beginning of December, 1870. We may
well believe that when Mr. Moulton found
his friead suddenly dethroned, and no longer
a power in the land, he felt that his own
fortunes were seriously imperiled. Whether
Mr. Moulton was generous enough to be
sincerely. grateful for past favors from his
friend, or whether he was among those who
define gratitude as ** a lively sense of favors
to come,’’ could make but little difference in
the earnestpess with which he naturally
sought to reinstate so powerful an ally. Itis
easy to see that he made the case of Mr.
Tilton his own. He attacked Mr. Bowen as
bitterly and even ferociously as he could
have attacked his own worst personal enemy.
This he states himself, and describes the
scene with dramatic force. *

But we are asked to believe that when he
was informed by Mr. Tilten that not Mr.
Bowen, but Mr. Beecher, had been his worst
enemy— his enemy in business, his enemy in
the church, his enemy in the household—Mr.
Moulton approached Mr. Beecher in a genu-
ine spirit of friendship, and with a sincers
desire to act the fair and honorable part of a
strictly mutual fiiend. He tells us that he
learned that Mr. B:echer had been guilty of
one of the basest and foulest acts which any
man can commit; he tells you, under the
solemn oath of & man who believes in neither
God nor the devil, that his friendship for Mr.
Beecher commenced on that stormy night
when he learned for the first time, that this
new friend had debauched his old friend's
wife. This horrible crime, the deliberate
and long planned seduction of a trusting and
reverential woman, by the pastor who had
given her hand to her husbaud in marriage,
and invoked the blessiug of God on their
union, was the one fact which awoke in the
generous breast of Mr. Moulton a new foun-
tain of sympathy for the alleged treacherous
seducer. He hastened to pledge to this man,
whom he now describes as an abandoned
hypocrite and libertine, ‘‘ the strictest and
firmest friendship.”” He assured him that no
oue among the thousand of friends who stood

3

around this pastor with devoted affection
would ever equal him in fidelity.

HOW THE FRIENDS WORKED
TOGETHER.

He did all this with the knowledge and full
approval of the man who claims to have been
the injured husband, whose happiness had
been destroyed by the new friend whom Mr.
Moulton thus enthusiastically took to his
bosom. Aund notwithstanding this pretended
friendship of Mr. Beecher, which seemed
gradually to 1ipen into an ardent affection ;
notwithstanding his repeated pledges and of-
fers of support ; notwithstanding his earnest
agsurances that Mr. Beecher should in all
events be protected by him ; notwithstanding
the absolute confidence aid high esteem,
which, by his plausibility, he gained from his
new-found friend, all of which was well
known to Tilton as the case progressed. Mr.
Tilton himself tells you, from the witness
stand, that this conduct never once excited a
doubt or suspicion in his mind of Mr. Moul-
ton’s unqualified fidelity to hiscause, or made
him for a moment think otherwise of Mr.
Moulton than as his own mostchivalrous and
devoted ally. There never was an act of Mr.,
Moalton’s to which Mr. Tilton did not give
his assent. There never wus a paper of the
least importance (save one) written by Mr.
Moulton which was not either dictated or ap-
proved by Tilton; t¢nd there never was a
secret confided by Beechcr to Moulton which
he did not fnstantly betray to Tilton. On
this point the testimouy is clear and most
significant, While Moulton uffected to deny
that Tilton had seen Mr. Beecher’s letters or
that he was aware of Tilton’s copying them,
the evidence of Tilton shows that in every
case he tovk down shorthand notes in Moult-
on’s presence of just s0 much as he thought
desirable, and that in some cases these confi-
dential communications were left in his hands
by Moulton for a period long enough to have
(l;nade printed copies, if Tilton had wished to

o 8o.

And another piece of evidence to which I
desire to invite your attention Lere, gentle-
men, which Mr. Moulton had evidently for-
gotten in this conncction, was the letter sign-
ed by bim, but written by Tilton on August
bth, you will remember, where he refuses to
Mr. Beecher access to these pipers, and says
that he shall consult Mr. Tilton and obtain
his cousent to l;grsthese papers before the Com-
mittee at his t opportunity, though Mr.
Tilton was present and wrote the letter him-
self | That letter you will remember, gentle-
men. A statement in it Mr. Moulton had
evidently forgotten, for in that very.letter he
states that Mr. Tilton took shorthand notes
from these Jetters as he read them to him—
and yet he comes upon the stand here and
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swears deliberately that he never permitted
Mr. Tilton to have a copy of this confidential
correspondence, and never with hisussent al-
lowed him to have a copy ; never saw Lim
take a copy; tells you under oath that he
could not have taken a copy in shorthand
without his knowledge, as we all know he
could not; though, in that very letter of
August 5th, sent by Moulton to Beecher, Mr.
Moulton himself suys that Mr. Tilton took
shorthand notes from these letters, as he read
them to him. I shall have occasion to call
your attention specitically to that letter,
Moulton affected to give advice to both parties
iu the interest of both. He tells you himself
that Tilton almost uniformly disregarded any
advice in Beecher’s interest, while Beecher
uniformly, even against his own judgment,
followed the advice of the mutual friend.
Tilton never yielded, except when it was plain
to both these conspirators that bis refusal
would precipitate the crisis and kill the goose
that laid the golden egg; and even when he
did nominally yield, it was always upon con-
dition that heshould dictate the precise terms
of compromise, and, if anything was to be
written, that he should write it, word by
word, in his own language. Then the papers
thus written or dictated were carried to
Beecher, without an intiniation of their real
authorship, and submitted to him as the pro-
duction of a sincere aud devoted friend. It
is impossible to conceive that a professed
friendship thus carried on with the approval
and under the direct gnidance of Mr. Beech-
er'smost bitter and relentless enemy could
have been otherwise, from beginging to end,
than utterly hollow and false.  Itds not ne-
cessary to suppose thut whken this plot was
originally hatched the two conspirators luid
out their plans upon the gigantic scale which
they afterwards assumed. They doubtless
mfposed, at the beginning, that the restor-
ation of Theodore Tilton would be speedily
accomplished; and it was not until his re-
peated failures, owing to his own amazing
follies and wickedness—that extended over a
period of nearly four years—that the original
scheme gradually developed into the most
gigantic and bhideous conspiracy of modern
times.

It can need no argument to satisfy you
that a man who has been for years carrying
on so diabolical a conspiracy as this, his
movements being known at every step to the
man whose cause be was really serving, could
not fail Limself to be involved in such a nct-
work of crime a8 would make it impossible
for him ever to retrace his steps or to aban-
don his partner in guilt—no matter what
might be the cost to himself of pursuing the
original scheme. The descent into crime is
easy, but the return from such tortuous paths
of darkness is well nigh impossible. Neither
of these men could for one moment afford to

betray the other, even if they had no secrets
apart from this case; for either to drive the
other to desperation would be an act of sui-
cidal madness.

But this is not the only tie, nor even the
chief tie, which bLinds together these two
men. They have had a most significant al-
liance in the prusecution of new social theo-
ries. They have had most significant rela-
tions with women whose very names stain
the lips that utter it. They have both held
their wives in humiliating bondage, and com-
pelled the women whom they vowed to love
and to cherish to become the mere ministers
to their lugt. It was not Tneodore Tilton
who sent bLis wife to biing home in a car-
riage the most notorious preacher and prac-
ticer of free love that the world has ever seen.
‘This huniliation was reserved for the wife of
Francis D. Moulton. And it was her lips,
and not the lips of Elizabeth Tilton, so far
as we have yet learned, that were kissed by
Victoria Woodhull. It was this woman,
whose published utterances are so foul, that
the learned Judge now presiding was unwill-
ing to allow them to be read in your hearing,
even a8 a part of the evidence in this case,
who was selected by Francis D. Moulton as
the honored guest of his wife, and as a fit
person to be brought home in & carriage by
bis wife and only child. And this alliance
was maintained for a year. It was main-
tained, if you believe Mr. Moulton, for the
sake of Mr. Beecher, whom Mr. Tilton hated
with all his soul ; ‘or else it was maintained,
if you believe Mr. Tilton, for the sake of
Mrs. Tilton, whom Moulton despised with
all his heart |

But no mere words can do justice to this
man ; none but an artist who should paint
the man as he is, can bring out his real char-
acter before mankind ; and, thank heaven,
gentlemen, that portrait has been painted,
nnd by one of the greatest artists the world
has ever known. If any of you ever visit
the beautiful city of Milan, you will find
that, next to its magniticent cathedral, on
which thousands of saints and angels, carved
in heavenly white, stand in the attitude of
silent prayer, the pride and glory of that city
is in the humble refectory of an ancient
monastery, upcn the wall of which, four
hundred years ago, the illustrious Leonardo
da Vinci printed his almost inspired picture
of the ‘* List Supper’’—a picture the colors
of which are too rapidly f.ding, but the fame
of which will never die. And, gentlemen,
in the most striking portrait of that group of
disciples, you will recognize the startling
likeness between the red natted hair, the
low forehead, the sharp, angular fice, the
cold and remorseless eye of Judas Iscariot,
and the same fextures in his legitimate suc-
cessor, the * mutual friend ** There, on that
consecrated wall, the portrait of Francis D.
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Moulton has stood waiting for his birth 400
years, and will stand for twice four hundred
years after this resurrected Judas shall have
sunk into eternal infamy. [Great applause,
which was checked by the Chief-Justice.]

It was such a man that Tilton requested to
become his friend in this emergency, and it
was this man into whose hands he placed the
letter of his wife and bade him go and invite
Mr, Beecher to an interview on the night of
the 80th of December.

Before he returns, gentlemen, let us inquire
into the motives which impelled Tilton to
seek this interview, aud the object which he
sought to accomplish by it. This is made
clear from Tilton's own statement. On his
cross-examination before the Church Com-
mittee he declares that the object of this in-
terview was to make peace between himself
and Mr. Beecher. He says; ‘¢ Elizabeth saw
that Mr. Bowen and I were in collision ; she
was afraid that the collision would extend to
Mr. Beecher, and sbe wished me, if possible,
to make peace with him ; therefore, she wrote
& womanly, kindly letter to him. I donot”’
says Tilton * remember the phraseology. I
remember only one phrase which was pe-
culiarly hers. She said she loved her hus-
band with her ‘maiden flame.” She begged,
a8 the best mode of avoiding trouble, that a
reconciliation might be had between Mr.
Beecher and himself —that Mr. Beecher and
her husband might instantly unite to prevent
Mr. Bowen from doing the damage which he
had threatened in demanding Mr. Beecher's
retirement from the church. Mr. Tilton
further said that he ¢ resolved to accede to
his wife’s request, and for her sake would
prevent the threatened exposure by Bowen,
and for this purpose he sought the interview
with Beecher.”’

His object was peace, and peace was to be
secured by his withdrawing the letter he had
written to Mr. Bzecher and inducing the lat-
ter to withdraw the charges which he had
made against Tilton to Bowen, and through
Beecher to silence not only Mrs. Beecher and
Mrs. Morse, but his own wife from circulating
the scandalous stories against himself. You
will remember, gentlemen, that this wife had
separated from her husband and was under
the influence of her mother, where Mrs.
Beecher visited her. You will remember that
her child was taken from her and she thus
forced to return to Mr. Tilton’s house. You
will remember that the next night after that
return she was suddenly taken ill by a mis-
carriage, and was on hersick-bed at this time.
The question which agitated Tilton’s mind
was, ‘‘ What will this woman do when she
recovers '’ He bad no strong hold upon her,
and her future course wasuncertain when she
was again restored to health. He was bound
to werk while opportunity was given him;
and you will see the position in which he had

his wife, and how skillfully, under the advice
of this Mutual Friend, he used it.

A NEW PURPOSE.

Tilton knew Beecher well, and we shall
show you, gentlemen, that he has often de-
clared that the surest way of securing Mr.
Beecheer’s aid was to accuse him of having
wronged you. Onace convince him that he
bas done you an injury, and there is
nothing you can ask that he will not do to
repair the wrong.

They determined to approach him in this
manner, and to convince him that the stories
he had heard, as well as those he had circu-
lated against Tilton were false and slanderous.
They knew that if they could convict him in
his owe conscience of having slandered Til-
ton, he would make haste to atone for the
injustice. To do this they must destroy his
confidence in Mr. Tilton’s accuser. That ac-
cuser was Tilton’s own wife. They knew Mr.
Beecher's confidence in her truthfulness ; and
to impair that confidence was a difficult task.
There was only one way in which this could
be done beyond a possibility of a doubt. To
obtain from her a mere retraction of her
charges against her husband would not
suffice, for Mr. Beecher would easily sus-
pect that she had done this either from affer-
tion or from fear. But if she could be byany
means brought to make an accusation against
Beecher himself, then he and Tilton would
stand on the same ground, both accused by
the same woman ; and Beecher, knowing the
accusation against himself to be false, could no
longer place the slightest confidence in the
charges which she had made against her hus-
band. They knew, moreover, how reluctant
he would be to attack, even in his own de-
fense, a women who had long been in rela-
tions of friendship and sympathy with him,
and who was now lying upon her sick bed.
They knew that he would rather be sacrificed
himseli than save his own reputation by
war upon her. This suggestion was the sug-
gestion of the devil ; and it was now carried
out with a Bkill, an audacity and a heartless-
ness worthy of its author.

We have seen how Mrs. Tilton had been
controlled and entrapped into signing an ac-
cusation ingeniously framed so a8 to be es-
pecially disastrous to the reputation of her
pastor. Thus far the scheme had been suc-
ceasful; and it on'y remained to carry it
throngﬂ in such a manner as to convince
Beecher that Mrs. Tilton had voluntarily
made thig nccusation and the success of the
!:‘,an would be complete. Thus, witn these

deas seething in his mind, Tilton sat await-
ing Beecher’s arrival, conscious that unless
this desperate plan of himself and his friend
rucceeded he was a ruined man. Meanwhile
Moulton had gone down to Beecher’s house,
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and with an air of politeness but of great
earnestness, had requested Mr. Beecher to
come to his house to hold an interview with
Theodore Tilton. Mr. Beecher naturally
guessed that this proposed interview had some
bearing upon the letter which he had recent-
ly received from Tilton, and the motive of
which was an utter mystery to him. S8end-
ing for Mr. Bell to take charge of his meet-
ing, he went with Moulton, and on the way
inquired what was the object of theinterview,
to which Moulton replied that he had better
let Tilton tell it himself.

MR. MOULTON'S CONDUCT TOWARDS
MR. BEECHER.

‘While they were on the road an incident
occurred, according to Moulton’s account of
the affair, which will justify a short digres-
sion from the main subject. He tells you
that having learned that very evening for
the first time that Beecher, the pastor of his
own wife, had most infamously debauched
the wife of Moulton’s most intimate friend,
that circumstance impelled him, for the first
time in his life, to proffer to Beecher a life-
long friendship of his own accord. Without
a hint from Beecher of his own desire for
such services, Moulton said to him, *“I am
not a Christian, I am a heathen ; but, if you
wish, I will show you how well a heathen
can serve you.'” And from that moment
there sprung up the strictest and firmest
friendsbip (8o he says) between himnself and
the man whom he now describés, and whom,
if he speaks truly, he must then have known
as a libertine, He assures you that for four
years after that time he strove day and night
to serve and save the man whom he now de-
nounces with such intense bitterness, and
who, according to his own account, has add-
ed not one whit to his ging since that time,
except that there came a time when he re-
f any longer to follow Moulton's lead in
this matter. That is the only crime which
has changed the friend, wbom Moulton
would sacrifice 80 much to save, into the
enemy he now hates and would do so much
todestroy. Mr. Moulton has been at some
pains to explain to the puolic his motives in
offering and maintaining this frigndship. It
seems that it was the peace of families, the
interests of Plymouth Church, the cause of
Christianity, which moved this heathen to
undertake the task of maintaining in the
first pulpit of America the man who, if what
Moulton now rays of him be true, deserves
{0 have his name a by-word and & hissing
among men. 'To preserve the pence of fami-
lies Mr. Moulton was willing to introduce a
man who he now says was a practiced seducer,
into Lis own household, to recommend him
to the confidence of his own wife, to place
his own child under his teachings, to invite

him to his own tible, to leave him in a bed-
room with his own wife for four hours, and
listened with vomplacency to her narrative of
the manner in which she had affectionately
tucked him np on the sofa, and kissed him on
the forchead, the tears of sympathy stream=
ing down her cheeks! To protect the interests
of Plymouth Church, an institution which
be now hates with a bitter hatred, because it
still believes what he originally said of its
pastor, he was anxious to deceive that church
into accepting the ministrations of # man
whom he now characterizes as a wolf in the
fold, and rejoiced in seeing this man con-
tinue to preach the doctrines of Christianity
from that pulpit! To promote the interests
of that Cbristianity in which he did not be-
lieve, and to honor that God whose name he
never used except as a by-word, he tells you
now that he told hundreds of lies, that he
invented all manner of schemes, that he
bullied some men, that he coaxed others,
that he made his own wife the associate and
companion of loose women, and divided her
lips between his own kiss and the kiss of
Victoria Woodhull. All this, and more, he
was willing to do in behalf of these great
intereste, which, if his story be true, could
only have been truly served from the first
moment by casting out the alleged criminal
from his place of trust and protecting inno-
cent families from the wiles and intrigues of
a seducer. .

But when the time came that Mr. Moul-
ton’s interests were touched, when he
thought that Ais good name, such as it was,
.was to be injured, a name which he had not
hesitated to defile by contact with sinks of
infamy, his regard for the peace of families,
for the interests of Plymouth Church and for
the cause of Christianity suddenly vanished,
and he devoted himself with blind fury and
with a single aim to the gratification, of re-
venge.

But, gentlemen, yon must not allow your-
selves, for n moment, to imagine that Mr.
Moulton, who told hundreds of lies for the
sake of Christianity, in which he did nut be-
lieve, will now tell a_single falsehood for the
sake of himself! You must not imagine
that the man who would gladly associate
with prostitutes, and take pleasure in seeing
them kixs his wife, all for the sake of the honor
of the Church and the good of society, would
dream of associating with prostitutes for his
own pleasure. Oh, no! When Francis D.
Moulton steps upon this witness stand, and
seeing the man for whom he acknowledges a
deadly hate sitting before him, takes an oath
upon the Gospel which he never reads, and
in the name of a God whose existence to him
is a jest, he suddenly becomes absolutely
truthful, and demands of you with unhesitat-
ing contidence that you shall not doubt a

single word he utters.



WHAT WAS THE CHARGE !

K

THE INTERVIEW OF DECEMBER 30.

But to return now to the interview to
which Mr, Moulton introduces Mr. Beecher
on this stormy winter's night. I desire to
call your attention in this connection, gentle-
men, to a fact which Mr. Moulton states in
bis evidence; and I desire to refer you to the
unconscious testimony which the action of
both of these parties, according to the evi-
dence of Mr. Tilton, furnishes of tke inno-
cence of Mr. Beecher. Mr. Moulton tells
you that, on his way to his own house, he
told Mr. Beecher of the stories and slanders
which Bowen had reported against him in the
interview of the 26th of December. You will
remember the language that he makes Mr.
Beecher use on that occasion. He says:
““Did he? I am surprised at that; for Bowen
said nothing to me of that kind.” It was
evidently, according to Mr, Moulton’s testi-
mony, the first that Mr. Beecher had heard
that Mr. Bowen had been guilty of slander-
ing him at that interview. When he is in-
troduced into the presence of Mr. Tilton, I
desire to call your attention to Mr. Tilton’s
evidence of what occurred.  Mr. Tilton says
the first thing he said to Mr. Beecher was:
¢¢ You received a letter from me, I suppose.’’
Mr, Beecher says: *‘Idid.”” “Iwi-h youto
consider the letter withdrawn, as if it was
never written.”” ‘¢ Then,’’ says Mr. Tilton,
‘I introduced the name of Elizabeth, and
began to state to him what I had learned
from Elizabeth. At that instant,’’ says Mr.
Tilton, *‘Mr. Beecher interrupted me and
said: ¢ But what about the stories that Mr.
Bowen told you concerning me on the 26th " *’
And Mr. Tilton says: *‘8ince you ask it, I
will tell you,”” and stopped his narrative and
went on to repeat to Mr. Beecher the nccusa-
tions which Mr. Bowen had made against
him. Now, gentlemen, I desire you to con-
sider, §f Mr. Beecher was conscious up to that
moment that he was confronting an injured
husband who was about to accuse him of
having seduced his wifc, do you think he
would have interrupted the husband in that
accusation by a reference to the mere slanders
of Bowen, saying: *‘ Tell me first about what
Bowen said about me?’ Do you think, if
this great clergyman was conscious that he
was to be assailed on that evening with such
a charge as that, it would not have been the
one thing that would have absorbed all his
attention, and that the questions of the mere
slanders that Bowen bad uttered against him
a week before would have made any impres-
gion on hismind? The very fact that he
interrupted Mr. Tilton as soon as he had
introduced the name of Elizabeth, shows you,
gentlemen, that Mr. Beecher was thinking of
nothing at that time except the information
which he had just, for the first time, received,
to wit, that Bowen had been uttering slanders

against him in this interview on the 26th. It

is an unconascious piece of testimoany, that in-

my judgment outweighs the mere assertions
of any number of men who are interested in
producing upon your minds a particular im-
pression. It is the act of the parties. It shows
how they felt and how they acted on this

occasion.

And right here, gentlemen, in approaching
the discussion of the question, permit me to
say that this case is peculiar in this respect :
all the acts of all there parties, from the time
that this charge was first intimated down to the
time that Theodore Tilton made his charge
of adultery before the Church Committee,
have been inconsistent with the crime of
adultery. From the beginning to the end of
it, strike it where you will, where you find
one of these parties performing an act, that
act is utterly inconsistent with the existence
of adultery. Their whole evidence against
Mr. Beecher here consists of words; of lan-
guage which they say he has uttered from
time to time. But the acts of Mr. Tilton on
the night of the 80th of December; his
whole conduct from July up to that time, the
conduct of Mr. Beeche:, the conduct of Mr.
Moulton, the conduct of all of them com-
bined, the acts of all of them, wherever you
strike an act, are inconsistent with the charge
of adultery. This accusation, I repeat, rests
entirely upon words and upon nothing else.

WHAT WAS THE CHARGE?

Now, what was the charge which Tilton
made against Mr. Beecher on that night?
This is the most importaut question in this
inquiry, gentlemen, and to it I now invite
your serious attention ; because, if we satisfy
you that on that night Mr. Tilton did not
charge Mr. Beecher with the crime of adul-
tery, you will consider this case disposed of.
You will not listen to any charge subsequent-
ly invented of a graver offense than that
which was brought to Mr. Beecher’sattention
on that night. They are bound by thatact;
they cannot charge that interview as one of
the exigencies by which they have been
induced to lie to conceal this crime. They
brought Mr. Beecher into their presence to
make the accusation, and by the accusation
there made they must stand or fall. You
will not permit them to change it. I intend
to hold them there, and I intend to demon-
strate to your understandings as clear as the
noon-day sun in Heaven, that that charge
was not adultery.

In the first plaoce, gentlemen, Tilton’s con-
duct from July to December has been utterly
inconsistent with the existence of this pre-
tended knowledge. He says, and asks you
to believe now, that all he knew on that
night he had known for six months, and yet
it had not even ruffled the temper of Theo.
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dore Tilton. Tiere was not even a domestic
ar in the family arising on account of this
information. Theodore Tilton was then edi-
tor of The Independent and of The Brooklyn
Union. He wus a prosperous man, doing
well, and you never hear lipsed a word from
Theodore Tilton in regard to the existence of
this charge until December, when, as he him-
self s1ys, he fell into business troubles with
Heory C. Bowen, which, to use the language
of 1is sworn statement, were augmented by
the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher and his wifu;
wherefore, says Mr. Tilton in his sworn state-
ment: ‘‘ At the instance of my wife, Eliza-
beth, who wrote a letter to Mr. Beecher, I
songht an interview with him.”’ TUntil busi-
ne:s troubles came upon Mr, Tilton there was
n> suggestion of offense against him by
Henry Ward Beecher. It was only when he
found that his wife had left him; that Mrs.
Morse, as he says, was insisting the should
not return to him ; that Mrs. Beecher was en-
gaged in consultation with Mrs. Morse ; that
Henry Ward Beecher was also ¢ngaged in
consultation with that wife and giving her
advice ; when he found also that Mr. Beecher
was crediting the stories that were in circul:-
‘tion against him, and when he found himself
liable to be dismissed from the employ of
Henry C. Bowen, his position of influence and
his means of support taken away from him,
then it was that ) e conceived the idea, on the
26th day cf December, of eutering into this
congpiracy with Henry C. Bowen to make a
scandalous charge aguinst Henry Ward
Beeclier, and thus drive him from Brooklyn.
I start there with Mr. Tilton. I siy that,
from his own showing, if he is to be believed
in what he says transpired at the interview
between himself and Henry C. Bowen, if they
did there concoct these scandalous matters
and sent that letter to Henry Ward Beecher
for the purposo of intimidating him and drivs
‘ing him out of Brooklyn at the peril of under-
going a grave investigation for scandal, then
he is tainted as a conspirator against Beecher,
and ttands as a .conspirator from that
day to this. 'That conspiracy is formed, and
the only question, there is about it is, when
did Mr. Moulton enter that c.nspiracy. Now,
we say that the charge was not the charge of
adultery. We say it is not possible that if
Theodore Tilton is made of the flesh and
blood that other men are made of—it is not
possible that he carried that terrible secret in
Lis breast for six months. If he had known
what he professes to have known, there
would have been mothing left of Theodore
Tilton but his sgkeleton to confront Henry
Ward Beecher on that terrible night in De-
cember. I do not believe that any man c:n
carry locked within his bosom any such ter-
rible secret as that and remain undisturbed.
But it had not disturbed Tilton. On that
night he stood six feet two in his stockings,

fat, sleek, and happy, meeting Mr, Beecher and
negotiating with Lhim on a business matter,
bringing before him accusations which Beech-
er had made affecting the business of Tilton,
and winding up with an accusation that his wife
had confessed an undue affe tion for him, and
had charged himn with bhaving attempted her
virtue. That the charge was not adultery,
gentlemen, isproven from the fact that on the
26th he had stated his accusation against
Beecher to Bowen, and it was not a charge of
adultery, but it was a charge of unhandsome
advances. He tells you that he had made
that same accusation against Beecher to Moul
ton on the same day.

Now, these are the two first occasions in
the history of this case where we find that
Tilton is giving public utteranc. s to these «c-
cusations, and those utterances consist of a
charge of improper proposals and not of adul
tery. Would he dared, after h:ving said to
Henry C. Bowen on the 26th, und to Moulton
on the same day, that Mr. Beecher was guilty
ofimproper advances, to turn round and charge
Henry Ward Beecher with the crime of andul-
tery on the 80th? Here he had got three wit-
nesses to confront him and prove the false-
hood «fthat charge if he n.ade it—Bowen,
Oliver Johnson, who was present, and Francis
D. Moulton. In the presenceof three men he
had said four days before that that charge
was a charge of improper advances. Would
he have dared in the fuce of that evidence to
turn suddenly about, and but four days after-
wards, I repeat, charge adultery upon Henry
Ward Beecher ? But we shall not stop there,
gentlemen, with this case. We shall show
you that Mr. Tilton has stated to not less
than five different people of the higest
respectability in this city, men whose reputa-
tion stands unquestioned, in narrating that
interview which took place between himself
and Henry Ward Beecher that night —washall
show you that he said that he charged Henry
Ward Beecher with improper proposals, and
nothing else. We shall show you that to one
of these p rsons he made that declaration
within & week after the interview occurred.
He is a man of the highest character, whom
most of you will know, when he is presented
on the witnessstand. It was a man who had
b.-en one of the intimate friends of Theodore
Tilton; and Theodore Tilton in relating to
him the difficulties between himself and Mr.
Beecher, charged Mr. Beecher in that inter-
view with being the cause of Lhis overthrow
with Bowen. He said that he had got him
turned out: that Beecher and his wife and
Mrs. Morse were responsible for the loss of
placa and position, which he had suffered ; and
then hetold him that Beecher had been guilty
of improper proposals to his wife, and that
he had sent for him on this evening of the
80th, at Moulton’s house, and charged him
with it face to face. And we shall show you
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further, gentlemen, that he told this person
that Henry Ward Beecher denied it, and
when he denied it he told him: *“ If youdon't
believe that Elizabeth has made this charge, go
and see her for yourself,’”’ and Beecher weat.]

‘We shall show you that, I say, by not less
than five different persons, to whom Mr, Til-
ton has given that narration. But we shall
show you more, gentlemen ; we have shown
you more. We have shown you that that is
the truth from the written testimony of
Theodore Tilton himself.

I refer now again to the ‘‘ True Story;’’
and here let me say again that the resurrec-
tion of this part of that ‘‘ True Story’’ is al-
most a providential occurrence in favor of
this defendant. Last August, when he was
compelled by this attack to make a public
statement before the Committee, when every
paper conuected with this transaction had
been deposited in the hands of this mutual
frend, who had refused to allow him access
to one of them, and he was compelled to
draw simply upon his own memory for this
occurrence, without being able to corroborate
it by u single written paper, he gave the in-
terview that occu between himself and
Theodore Tilton on that occasion, and he
stated it substantially as Theodore Tilton had
written it down in this ‘‘True Story”’ in
1872. Mr. Beecher says: ‘‘ In that inter-
view, as Tilton went on with l:is accusation,
I grew indignant, and was about to interrupt
him, and he seeing that I was about to inter-
rupt him, stopped me and said: ¢ Wait until
1 get through ;” and when he finished he said
to me: ‘If you have any doubt that Eliza-
beth has said this, gn and see for yourself.’ ”’
This is the precise story that Tilton told
these individuals. Now, Mr. Tilton tells you
that Mr. Beecher humbly asked his permis-
sion to go and see Mrs. Tilton at the conclu-
sion of this accusation, and that he granted
him permission under certain injunctions.
We shall show you that Mr. Beecher rejected
his allegation that Mre. Tilton ever made
such an accusation. Tilton had not the paper
with him, and, gentiemen, he durst not
show it if he had. He never showed this
paper to Henry Ward Beecher, and he was
obliged therefore to send him to Mrs. Tilton.

Another fact that will strike you as remark-
able. The basis of this intervicw was a letter
obtained from Mis. Tilton, mark you. That
was the pretext under which it was obtained
from Mrs. Tilton, but it was never used for
that purpose. Never forget that fact, gentle
men, in your consideration of this case, that
when such a letter was needed to bring about
an interview with Henry Ward Beecher, the
pretense was made to this sick and almost
dying woman that it was to rescue her hus-
band from difficulty, from business troubles
and business embarrassments ; but that letter
was never shown to Henry Ward Beecher.

Never to this day has he seen it. It was
only a pretext Ly which they imposed upon
this feeble woman. But beyond that, gentle-
men, what was in that letter ?

‘Was that letter a confession of adultery, as
they now say it was, or was it what she says
it was in that letter that they induced her to
sign to Dr. Storrs—a charge of improper pro-

? That is the vital question in this
cagse. It is the most important question that
you have to consider. Upon it very much
of this case hinges. Certainly, so far as the
plaintiff’s case is concerned, it tarns catirely
upon this question. If I can satisfy you,
gentlemen, that that letter did 1.0t contain a
charge of adultery, then, of course, the
plaintiff's case ends. Why don’t they pro-
duce that letter? If they woukl produce it,
it woull end the question of fact involved in
this issue on this point, wouldn’t it? Therc
would be no room for discussion, no room for
argument. It would settle this question one
way or the other, and it would tell you who
is falsifying here and who is telling the
truth. They only need to produce that letter
to determine this whole question. Where is
it? Why don’t they produce it? They had
it. They promised to keep it, sacredly, on
the evening when Francis D. Moulton ob-
tained that retraction from Henry Ward
Beecher. Their failure to produce it now js
the most outrageous breach of faith I ever
knew to characterize a litigant in a court of
justice.

Henry Ward Beecher had gone from this
interview at Moulton’s house to this sick
wife, and he there confronted her with the
accusation which he had received from her
husband. She hardly knew what she had
made. She knew thatshe had given a letter
to her husband, but whether she ha:l a faint,
glimmering conception of the charge, or
whether she took it fur granted that sho had
charged Mr. Beecher a8 Lier husband had told
Mr. Beecher ghe had charged him, we do not
know. We only know that now she has no
knowledge or conception of what was in that
letter. But when confronted with the friend
that she had injured, when she found the
use that was being made of it, when she
found it was being perverted, she gave a re-
traction of that charge to her friend and
pastor that night in the following language :

‘“ DECEMBER 30, 1870,
‘Wearied by importunity and weakened by sick-
ness, I gave a letter inculpating my friend Henr
Ward ler, under assurances that that woul
remove all difficulties between me and my husband.
That letter I now revoke. 1 was persuaded to it —
almost forced—when I was in & weakened state of
mind. I regretit. and recall all its statements.
(Signed) E. R. TILTON.

I desire to say explicitly, Mr. Beecher has never
offered any improper solicitations, but has alwa
treated me in a manner becoming a Christian and a
gentleman(.

Signed) EL1zABETH R. TILTON.
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Now, gentlemen, that retraction itself fur-
nishes conclusive evidence of the nature of
the charge which Mr. Tilton made to Mr.
Beecher.  You see that it does not retract a
charge of adultery. There is no allusion to
the offense of adultery in this retraction at
all. It is a retraction of improper solicita-
tions. Do you believe, gentlemen, that if
the charge had been one of adultery against
Henry Ward Beecher that night, be would
have gone dcwn to the sick woman and con-
tented himself with a charge simply of im-
proper solicitations? Don’t you think that
the retraction wou!d have been as broad as
the charge? 'Would he have been satisfied
with anything less? But how happens it,
gentlemen, if the charge was adultery, and
nothing had been said about improper solici-
tations—Liow happens it that you find those
words, ‘‘improper solicitations,”’ ia the lan-
guage of one of these parties on that very
evening? But there is more than that in
this retraction which indicates the nature of
the charge. You will see that the first letter,
written and signed by Mrs. Tilton, makes no
reference at all to the nature of the charge.
When that is discovered she immediately
adds a postscript to it, covering the charge
which she understood to be made by her
husband. Can you have more cozclusive
ewidence furnished you of the nature of the
charge which Theodore Tilton then made
than this furnishes? " I apprehend not.

Mr. Beecher takes this retraction, returns
to Moulton’s house, and does not see him
again that night; and here, gentlemen, is a
slight contradiction of Mr. Tilton, to which
I desire to call your attention, to show you
that even hLe, with all his effort to be accu-
rate, is unable to state tLis transaction twice
alike. It i8 now conceded that he did not
see Mr. Beecher on that night after Beecher
left him at Moulton's house. That i3 agreed
by both Tilton and Moulton ; and yet, gen-
tlemen, in the statement before the Commit-
tee he says: ‘‘ Beecher returned, expressed
remorse and shame, and declared that his
life and works seemed brought to a sudden
end.’”” And he swore to thut statement before
the Conimittee. Now he concedes that that is
false, nnd that he did not see Beecher at all
that night after he left him at Moulton’s
house to go to his own house to see his wife.
How are you to trust Mr. Tilton’s evidence
in the midst of so many contradictions?
And that was not a hasty statement, gentle-
men, Itisin evidence here before you, that
Theodore Tilton took ten days to prepare
that statement. He had all that time, there-
fore, to make himself entirely accurate. He
had access to all the papers.  He had no dif-
ficulty in fortifying his memory and speak-
ing correctly upon these subjects. Yet in
that statemeut he deliberately says that Mr.
Beecher returned to his house and used lan-

guage which implied a confession of guilt;
and bhe put it in that statement for that pur-
pose, so that when it was read by the great
public as it was published in the newspapers,
they would see that Beecher returned to
Tilton that night and used language which
virtually amounted to a confession of the
offense. Yet Tilton is now obliged to teil
you, and Moulton tells you, that Beecher did
not see Tilton at all ; and therefore this state-
ment is entirely untrue. Nor did he say any-
thing of the kind to Moulton; that is not
pretended. Now, on this trial, as the evi-
dence stands, it is not claimed that any such
expression was made by Beecher to either
Moulton or Tilton on that night.

Well, gentlemen, Mr. Tilton goes home that
night, thinking probably theie was some-
thing strange that Mr. Beecher had not called
on him again, and wants to know what had
transpired between himself and wife. And
I come now to another contradiction of
Mr. Tilton in his sworn statement. He says
in that statement that he found his wife
weeping and almost distracted at the situa-
tion in which she had involved herself by
the charge and by its retraction. Weshall
show you, gentlemen, that he found his wife
sound asleep that night, on hisreturn, enjoy-
ing the only period of happiness that she had
been accustomed to know for several long
years, namely, when she was wrapped in
sleep. She was in bed with her nurse. Theo-
dore Tilton entered that room, awoke his
wife, and entered intoa conversation with her
which awoke the nurse, who found Mrs. Til-
ton sitting up in bed, and terribly agitated.
And then Mr. Tilton drove the nurse out of
the room, and locked the duor; and the
nurse went into an adjoining room with a
blanket wrapped around her shoulders, and
sat there for a long time, while she listened
to Tilton’s loud and angry conversation with
Lis wife. Finally he came out into the room.
and got pen and ink and paper, and went
back, and produced the nextday this explana-
tion of his wife of the retraction which she
had given to Mr. Beecher.

But you see, gentlemen, the situation in
which this retraction had involved Mr. Til-
ton. He had made the charge, in the first
instance, supposing that Mr. Bowen was to
back it ; so he rays. Failing in that, he had
obtained from his wife in some manner a let-
ter which he said inculpated Mr. Beecher ;
and, backed by that, he confronted Mr.
Beecher and made the accusation; but he
sends Mr. Beecher to his wife for the verifica-
tion, and she retracts. Not only that, gen-
tlemen, she does more : she makes a state-
ment which, in effect, charges her husband
with having extorted that paper from her.
Mr. Tilton, therefore, found himself, on his
return that night, robbed of his evidence
against Mr. Beecher ; but he found that Mr.
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Beecher had in his possession the written
statement of Lis wife, which virtually accused
him of having extorted that charge from her.
‘What was bis situation then? He wasin the
absolute power of Henry Ward Beecher. All
Mr. Beecher had to do to crush him from ex-
jstence was to publish the fact, firat, of the
letter of the 26th, and then, how Tilton ex-
torted from his'wife this charge against him
on the 29th, and then publish the wife’s own
handwriting, saying that that charge was
false and was extorted from her when upon &
sick bed, by her husband. Mr. Beecher, I
repeat, had him absolutely in his power. He
had nothing to do but to establish the facts
to absolutely crush him. Theodore Tilton
and his wise friend saw this situation. We
shall show you that Mr. Tilton fully appre-
ciated it on his return to that house that
night. They must get that retraction ; they
must get it out of the hands of Henry Ward
Beecher. And how were they to do it? They
got the explanation that night, which isa
mere explanation, as I shall have occasion to
show you in a moment. But that was not
sufficient. When he came to consult his ad-
viser the next morning, Moulton told him
that Mr. Beecher probably would not surren-
der that retraction at his request ; that they
must have the request of Klizabeth Tilton,
the one who gave it to Mr. Beecher, to in-
duce him to surrender it. And so they go to
this sick woman again and get from her ano-
ther paper, which is addressed to Moul-
ton, the ** mutual friend,” and which I will
read in this connection :

My DEAR FRARK v
I't'l‘his is ‘‘Saturday morning,” without other

e. .

1 want you to do me the greatest possible
favor. My letter which you have, and one 1
gave Mr. Beecher at his dictation last evenln{(,
ought both to be destroyed. Please bring both to
me and I will burn them.
wglhow amlis to T:]ieo“}e l1:1:1'1 Mr. B:echer. They

see the propriety of this
E. R. TiwroxN.”

That was the paper which they saw that
they must get from Mrs. Tilton to procure
this retraction. They obtained it, and on the
next night Moulton goes to Beecher arined
with this paper and asks for this retraction.
He shows him that letter, and Mr. Beecher
objects to surrendering the paper, He says:
*If I should die, what would my famil
have to protect their name and ine after
am gone!? Supposing this charge is renewed,
if Isurrender this paper what is to protect
my fame hereafter?’’ Moulton says: * You
give it to me, and I pledge to you my word
of honor I will do one of two things; I will
either destroy both the accusation and this
retraction, here, in your presence, or I will
keep both together, 8o that one never shall
" appear without the other.” He gave Mr.

. Beecher his choice, and Mr. Beecher says:

“I don't want the retraction destroyed ;
keep them both.” That was the promise on
which he obtained from Mr. Beecher this
retraction.

I repeat now, gentlemen, with more signi-
ficance, I trust, than I did when Ifirst alluded
to the sulject, where is that letter? Why
has it been destroyed? Why have these
parties broken the solemn pledge under which
they obtained from the hands of Henry Ward
Beecher this evidence of his innocence? If
that letter could be produced to-day, we say
it would satisfy you that the charge there
made was not a charge of adultery, but a
cherge of improper proposals, just as the re-
traction says it was. We say, put the letter
und the retraction together, and they both fit
each other and cover the case.

SIGNIFICANCE OF THE DESTRUCTION
OF THE PAPER.

‘Why have they destroyed it? Why is this,
the most important paper in the case, missing,
when every other paper that sheds a particle
of light upon the case has been carefully pre-
served by this painstaking and laborious
‘* mutual friend”” ? There is not a scrap of
paper or writing from Mr. Beecher, which
could throw the slighte=t light upon this case,
but that they have preserved and garnered
up with a care that indicates that they con-
sider it worth many times its weight in gold,
more precious to them than diamonds. Every
one of these letters can be construed by their
oral statement into an accusation or confes-
sion of guilt. Why is the one paper—the
one thing that would have settled this case,
missing here? Do they pretend that they
dest’ oyed it with the knowledge and consent
of Henry Ward Beecher? No! Was he
consulted about it? No. Did he assent to
it? No. They say they destroyed it. They
tell you they destroyed it after the *‘tripar- -
tite agreement.” Where is the logic, gentle-
men, of taking out this one single paper and
destroying that, and preserving all the
others? If the ¢ tripartite agreement *” had
been intended to be executed by them in the
good faith in which it professed to have been
mude, and to be a final settlement of &1l this
difficulty, then I concede to you that there
would have been logic and reason and pro-
priety in the destruction of all the papers
that bore upon this case. But why the
destruction of this one single paper? Why
the picking out of thig scrap from Moulton’s
archives and consigning this to the flimes,
when they husbanded all the others? I wiil tell
you why, gentlemen. We will show you that
this paper could not have been destroyed, if
it has been destroyed at all, until the conspi-
racy was hatched between Theodore Tilton and
Victoria Woodhull to charge Henry Ward
Beecher with adultery, and then the suppres-
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sion of this paper became absolutely necessary
tothe scheme. They could not live & moment
with that paper in Mr. Beecher’s reach. It
would blast every man and woman that would
have connected himself or herself with the
scheme. He would only have to produce it to
convince every man in the community of the
conspiracy. Suppression, therefore, became
imperative, an absolute necessity ; but the
paper was never destroved, if it has been
destroyed to this day (which we do not
believe, and which you have no evidence to
prove but Theodore Tilton’s), until after they
had perfected that conspiracy.

Now, gentlemen, we shall show you by a
witness who has no superior for integrity in
the city, a man whose word will stand un-
questioned by you, a man who was one
of Theodore Tilton’s most intimate friends
when his course entitled him to the friendship
of honorable men—that after the publication
of the Woodbull scandal Mr. Tilton showed
to this man a copy of the identical paper that
he said he had presented to Henry Ward
Beecher on the night of the 80th of December.
They say it was destroyed immediately after
the *‘ tripartite agreement.”” We will show
you, I repeat, that he produced it to a man,
and read it, and said : *‘This is the paper
that I presented to Henry Ward Beecher on
that night;'’ and when that man,looking at
the paper,says: ‘‘Is that in Mrs. Tilton’s
handwriting '’ he says: ¢ No, it is a copy,
but the original is with Frank Moulton.”
And that was after the Woodhull publication.
Now, gentlewen, if we show you that fact,
I think that will end this case, and reveal
this conspiracy in a light 8o plain that even
¢‘he who runs may read.”

But, to show you, gentlemen, how unwor-
thy of credit are the witnesses on the part of
the -plaintiff, I need call to your attention
but a single instance in the testimony of
It i8 concerning the
Jetter which they obtained from Mrs. Tilton
on Saturday morning the 81st of December,
and on which they sought the return of this
retraction from Mr. Beecher. Now, gentle-
men, if there i8 any one fuct in this case
which must have made its impression upon
the minds of these two witnesses, it is that
night of the 30th of December and the ensu-
ing day. No event in the life of Theodore
Tilton ever compared with it in imp.rtunce.
The bringing of an accusation against a man
80 eminent as Henry Ward Beeclier, possessing
the confidence of the public as he did—the
bringing of any accusation which involved
moral turpitude against him, was a most im-
portant act. Mr. Tilton must have appre-
ciated the consequences of it, as did bis
friend Francis I). Moulton from the start,
because you see he began to make memoran-
da at once. Now, they found themselves
completely flanked by Mr. Beecher obtaining

this letter of retraction from the wife on the
night of the 80th of December. Never was
disnrganization and dismay sent into the camp
of an army more perfect and abolute than
the dismay and disorganization which struck
Francis D. Moulton and Theodore Tilton
when Mr. Beecher had obtained this retrac-
tion from Mrs, Tilton. They went to get a
letter from Mrs. Tilton ; they obtained it;
and yet, when we ask Mr. Moulton how this
letter was obtained, he is utterly unable to
tell you. If is the most remarkuble instance
of want of memory that I have ever scen in
my exp-rience in the trial of causes. He says
in the first place, as you remember, gentle-
men, that he thinks he went to the house
and asked Mrs. Tilton for it, and he thinks
he went into the sick-reom and saw her; but
he don’t know. He thinks she wrote it
there, but he don’t kuow. Hedon’t know
whether her husband accompanied him to
the house or not. He don’t know whether
the husband accompanied him into the sick-
room or not. Finally, he don’'t know whe-
ther he was in the house at all, or in the sick
room at all. He has no recollection of
seeing her writing the letter at all; and
finally, he don’t know but he got the letter
from the hands of Theodore Tiltun himself.
Now, I will read you the evideuce on this
subject. Upon his direct examination he
says to Mr. Fullerton :

Q. How did yon receive that note—from
whom? A. I think from Elizabeth Tilton
direct.

Mr. Porter—From her? A. From her di.
rectly.

Mr. Evarts—Not personally—at her house?
A. Yes, sir.”

He had not any difficulty on the direct ex-
amination in auswering where he got the
letter, but on the cross-examination you will
see how his memory fails him. I read from
the cross-examination.

*Q Did you see Mrs. Tilton? A. I think
I did; yes, sir. My recoilection is that I
went to the houre aud saw Mrs. Tilton.

Q. Where did you see her? A. In her
room, I think, sir.

Q. In herroom? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Sick-room? A. Yes, sir, I don't know
whether it was a sick-room or not. I saw

er.

Q. Was she in bed or not? A. I do not re-
member.”’ .

Now, gentlemen, perhaps you will believe
that a man who went to a house to see a lady
to obtain so important a paper as that, and
went into her room and got the letter from
her in that room, would not remember whe-
ther she was in bed or not when he went in.
You may believe that, but I do not think
you will.

Q. Was her husband withyou? A. I do not
remember that he was :
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Q. Do youremember that he wasnot{ A. Idon’t
romember that he was not.

Q. Did he go to the heuse with you! A. I don't
remember that,
q. Do you know how you went to that house? A.
If I went to the house 1 rode.

Q. Did Mr. Tilton ride with yon? A. I don’t
think he did. .

Q. Do you remember that he did not? A. To the
best—the best of my recollection is that he did not.

Q. Was he in the house when you went there §
A. T don’t recollect.

. Whether he was or not{ A. No.

. From the time you went in until the time you
came away, you don’t recollect seeing Mr. Tilton
theref A. I do not.

Q. And don’t know that he was there ! A. Don’t
recollect that he was. '

Q. Or that he was nott A. Don't recollect that
he was there.

Q. Well, do you recollect that he wasnot A. I
don’t recollect that he was there.

Q. Was that letter written in your Pruencel A,
Don’t recollect whether it was or not.”

Now, gentlemen, we have shown you that
Mrx. Tilton was sick that night and that day.
This explanation, which I will read to you in
nmoment, shows that she was sick in bed, and
we shall show you she was sick in bed on that
occasion. 8She had been attended by her
physician every day, from the 24th until the

And yet this man, who went there to
obtain this letter, don't know whether she
was in bed or not when he went into her
room; and he don’t remember as a fact
whether that letter was written in his pres-
ence. Now, it i8 not so important, gentle-
men, where Mr. Moulton obtained this letter ;
it is not very important, except as it char-
acterizes his conduct, whether he got it at the
house by Theodore Tilton going up into the
room and getting the wife to write it and
bringing it to hiin, or whether he went into
the roum and waited for her to write the
letter. But it is important for you to know
whether this witness is telliug the truth, the
whole truth, and nothing but the truth ; or
whether he i8 equivocating, whether he is
saying he don’t remember when you know
he does remember ; and, if you believe that
he says he does not remember a fact when he
does remember it, that discredits his terti-
mony ptterly and thoroughly, and you are
not permitted to give any cregit to it.

“From whose hand did you receive the letter?
%“ I think I received it from the hand of Elizabeth
ton."”
‘* Q. Can you ray you did not receive it from the
hand of Theudore Tilton? A. I caanot say but I
did receive it from the hand of Theodore Tilton.”

MR. MOULTON EQUALLY A CONSPIRA-
TOR WITH MR. TILTON.

There is another fact in this connection to
which I desire to call your attention, which
bears upon the good faith or the honest pur-.

.

pose of Francis D. Moulton. You remember
that he told you he had been the intimate
friend of Theodore Tilton from boyhood.
He says he learned on this night that his
friend’s wife had been debauched by Mr.
Beecher, and Tilton had consulted him in re-
gard to that matter as a friend. The question
we are now considering is whether Moulton
is a conspirator with Tilton against Henry
Ward Beecher. Having been consulted by
his most intimate friend. and having pledged
him bis friendship in this transaction, he
goes down to Henry Ward Beecher and in-
vites Mr. Beecher up to this interview; and
he tells you, esent.]emen, that before Mr.
Beecher reached his house he pledged his

fiiendship and fidelity to Henry Ward

Beecher in this same mattcr. Now, that he
was the sincere friend of Mr. Tilton you
know ; nobody will doubt that. Was he the
friend of Henry Ward Beecher, and was he
actuated by good faith when lie made that
promise? That is the only question for you
to cousider here in order to determine the
character in which Mr. Moulton stands in
this case. If you belicve that this assurance
to Mr. Beecher was made in bad faith for the
purpose of getting his confidence, that mukes
Moulton a conspirator with Theodore Tilton
in this transaction. But, further, gentlemen,
he goes buack to Henry Ward Beecher on the
81st, and requests the return of the retrac-
tion, presenting a letter of Mrs. Ti:ton ; and
he obtains the retraction and goes away.
Now, be knew at that time that he obtained
this retraction by presenting this letter of
Mrs. Tilion. Yet, when the matter is fist
published by the Woodhuils, it is published
by them in this way ; Mr. Tilton is repre-
sented as saying : ** My friend took a pistol,
went to Mr. Beecher, and demanded the
letter of Mrs. T. under the pain of instant
death.” That was one of the most severe
charges against Mr. Beecher in the article.
In Mr., Tilton’s statement, and in all of
Mr. Moulton’s statements, they had conveyed
the idea, in one formn of language and
another, that Mr, Beecher was compelled in
some way to survender that rctraction to
them ; thatis, that thoy demanded it of him,
and bhe surrendered it; and the question
which has influenced the public against Mr.
Beecher more than any other fact is the
question, how he came to surrender this re-
traction upon the demand of Moulton that
night. They have always concealed the fact
that they had Mrs. Tilton’s letter, who had
a right to demand its return ; and that they
presented that letter to Mr. Beecher, and
upon that induced him to surrender the
retraction. That is a fact always concealed
by these men, never made public until forced
out of them in this judicial investigation.
Has that concealment been made in good
faith? or has it been one of the tricks of
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these parties, like the garbling of Mrs.
Tiiton’s letters, for the purpose of creating

ublic opinion against Henry Ward Beecher ?
eﬂly did they not publish, when they pub-
lished anything, the simple fuct that they
took this letter of Mrs. Tilton to Mr. Beecher,
requesting tie rewurn of this rvetraction, and
upon that he surrendered it? That would
have been the simple tiuth, but it would not
have accomplished the object they had in
view. .

The reason of that was asked of Mr. Moul-
ton upon the witness stand. He was asked to
explain that, and what does he say? He
says he had absolutely forgotten the existence
of this paper. Forgotten the existence of
such an important paper as this! In the
face of the Woodhullscandal, even, the exist-
ence of this paper had not occurred to him!
¢ But you learned it somewhere, Mr. Moul-
ton?’ ‘Yes, sir.”” *You published itin
one of your statements, Mr. Moulton?'’
¢ Yes, sir.”” “Did {lou there publish
it in connection with the surrender of the
retraction of the accusation, or the sur-
render of the retraction?” No; he did not,
and he is compelled to say he did not. Every
publication which he makes in which he puts
this letter, carries the idea thut this retraction
was surrendered to him upon & demand, and
he publishes this letter in an entirely different
connection. Twenty pages away from the
story of that interview he publishes this
identical letter, and he publishes it for the
purpose of telling a lie. He publishes the
letter and says, ‘I could not comply with
Mrs. Tilton’s request to return these letters
to her that she might destroy them, because I
had previously given my word to Henry Ward
Beecher that I would carefully preserve them
both.” Yet, gentlemen, he bad this letter in
the morning, and he obtained that retraction
in the evening, and he obtained it upon the
credit of this letter itself and rothing else.
He says he had previously pledged his word
to Henry Ward Beecher that he would pre-
serve both papers together and not destroy
them. Previously? Why, he had not seen
Mr. Beechicr concerning this retraction until
he had the letter of Mrs. Tilton in his pocket.
The retraction was obtained on the night of
the 80th, and he did not see Mr. Beecher
again until the night of the 81st. He had
this letter in his pocket on the morning. of
the 8lst, and took it with him to Mr.
Beecher, and read it to him ; and yet he con-
ceals this fact ; but when he is compelled to
publish every paper he has in his possession
on the subject, he publishes the paper, and
then tells a lie about it, by saying, ‘I could
not comply -with Mrs. Tilton’s request,
because before I had received this letter from
her, I had given to Henry Ward Beecher my
word of honor that I would preserve both

papers.

FRIDAY, FEBRUARY 26, 1875.
39TH DaAY.

May it the Court, Gentlemen of the
Jury :—When I closed last night I had fin-
ished all I had proposed {o say to you on the
s.abject of the interviews of the 80t and 81st
of mber, except that, in another connec-
tion, I shall have occasion to refer to what
Mr. Moulton says were the confessions of the
defendant on the evening of the 31st. That
interview, as you remember, gentlemen,
cloged by Mr. Moulton haviug obtained from
Mr. Beecher the surrender of Mrs. Tilton’s
retraction of the charge which she had made
against him in her letter dated December 29.
It had been surrendered on the express pro-
mise of Mr. Moulton that that retraction and
the accusation should be preserved and kept
together. He had taken that retraction to Mr.
Tilton, and the difficulty in which they seem-
edto be involved the day before by Mr. Beech-
er's holding in his possession such & piece of
terrible evidence against Mr. Tilton was re-
moved. They had discovered also that the
shock which Mr. Beecher had received in
consequence of the acousation of Mrs. Tilton,
of beholding her on her sick bed, not only
shattered in body, but, as he feared, in mind,
had produced a profound impression upon Mr.
Beecher. The quick and accurate eye of
Moulton had not failed to discover that his
beart had been disturbed and moved to the
very foundations.

THE LETTER OF APOLOGY.

Having obtained from his hands the evi-
dence which he held against them, on a pro-
mise that the accusation and the retraction
should never again be used, the next thing
that seems to have occurred to these parties
was to pursue this enterprise, and to see if
they could not obtain from Mr. Beecher some-
thing authenticated by him which would give
a pretext to the accusation which Mr. Tilton
hsd made against him. For, although the
retraction had been surrendered, Mr. Tilton
did not care to rest, if he could help it, undet
the imputation that retraction cast upon him ;
nor to leave in Mr. Beecher any possible dis-
position to denounce him and his atrocious
course ; and he sought, if possible, to get
something from the defendant which should
justify or palliate the charge which he had
made. Therefore, Mr. Moulton returns to
the interview on January 1st. I shall not stop
to dwell here, gentlemen, upon the want of
memory of Mr. Moulton as to the time when
that interview began and when it ended, as
to whether the gas was lighted or whether it
was not ; all that will be distinct in your
mind. Icome now to the interview. as he

relates it, and to what did in fact occur at
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that interview, and to discover, if we can, how
much credit his testimeny is eutitled to,
when he says that the paper which he took
away from that interview was a paper dic-
tated by Mr. Beecher, sentence by sentence,
and written down by him as thus dictated.

On the evening of January 1st Moulton
again visited the house of Mr. Beecher. But
he came to make peace, not war. He drew a
picture of Tilton's sorrows, of the utter wreck
of his fortunes, of the destruction of his fam-
ily peace; and all in terms so vivid and
touching as to excite thefeelings of his hearer
to the highest pitch. He vindicated his
friend from the calumnious stories which had
been brought to Mr. Beecher and had been
believed by him. He convinced Mr. Beecher
that the charges which the latter, believing
them to be true, hud repeated to Mr. Bowen,
were utterly without foundation. Then he
dwelt on the alienation which had arisen be-
tween this husband and wife, and on the
utter misery which had fallen upon the whole
family in consequence. All this in terms
calculated to wring teans of blood from a com-
passionate heart, but without a word of
direct accusation against Mr. Beecher, And
yet, under everything ran the implication
that in some way Mr. Beecher was responsi-
ble for all his sufferings. Responsible for Til-
ton’s business misfortunes, becauss he and
Bowen had united to turn bim out of The In-

endent und The Brookly® Union. Respon-
sible for the domestic misery, because the
alienation of the wife, which Mr. Beecher
had previously supposed to have arisen from
the misconduct of the husband, was now as-
sumed to have been caused by an undue
affection for her pastor and a violent and pro-
struggle between her passion and
her sense of duty, which had destroyed her
health and unsettled ber reason,

Now, gentlemen, neither of these state-
ments fairly describes anything which Mr.
Beecher had actually done. They are only
what he was made by Moulton to believe Le
had done. It is very easy to imagine the
effect of such a process upon a nature prover-
bially kind and ingenuous. The measure of
undeserved misery then predicated of this
plaintiff having been piled very high with
careful ingenuity, it needed but a slight push
of suggertion to roll the whole over upon the
defendant. It needed no special argument or
persuasion to fix the responsibility ; the man
for whose shoulders it had been prepired
hastened himself to assume it. Henry Ward
Beecher stood convicted in his own morbid
imagination, as a slanderer of the meanest
type, and a8 a pastor and friend whose heed-
less folly bad introduced discord into t':e
holiest of relations, and had plunged into
sorrow one of the happiest families of his
flock. :

Gentlemen, can you picturo to yourself the

agony of his self-reproach under this new and
astounding revelation? Can you imagine
with what fanatical remorse he would pierce
himself again and again with the thorn thus
furnished to his hand? ‘“‘What species of
slander,’”’ he would say, *‘ is 80 buse as 1o
charge a friend falsely with marital unfaithful-
ness, seeing that the charges must involve not
him alone, but also some innocent woman in
inevitable obloquy?"' It is true he might
palliate to himself the fault by pleading the
honesty of his intentions and Lis belief in the
truth of those reports. But ncither in law
nor in morals is the mere belief in a slander
any justification for its utterance in the ab-
sence of a preliminary inquiry, with care
proportioned to the magnitude of the case.
Why had he not made more careful inquiry
into the sources of his information ? \4
had he not instituted a more searching inves~
tigation into the facts before assuming the re-
sponsibility of action so injurious? Why so
prompt to receive with credit calumnious re-
ports against a friend? Such were the ques-
tions which the aroused conscience of the de-
feudant, under the skillful manipulation of
the plaintiff’'s serviceable friend, pushed home
with stinging force and agonizing effect.

But if on this first charge Mr. Beecher,
following the delicate instincts of an honora-
ble man, felt himself to be absolutely with-
out excuse, how must his self-reproach have
been intensified by the additional thcught
now presented to him, that he had been the
means of beguiling Mrs, Tilton into an undue
affection for himself, and thus alienating her
from her husband and destroying the home
where that husband might otherwize have
found refuge with his iuined fortunes? If
this were so (and the evidence of what he
had himself seen led him in his then excited
state to accept Moulton’s statement as true),
there was absolutely but one excuse or pal-
liation which he could offer to his own accus-
ing conscience for the offense, namely : That
he had not intentionally done wrong ; that
though he might have been culpably careless
ho had not been consciously guilty of any
conduct tending to encourage the alleged af-
fection. But such a defense involved the im-
plication that the lady bad conceived this
passion entirely without suggestion from him,
or any encouragement on his part, and he
was debarred from any such ples by all the
instincts of a gentleman. as wcll as by his
genuine respect and affection for the lady
herself. Nor would this plea, evcn if he
could have induced himself to raake it, have
been a full defense. It ix the srlemn duty of
a clergyman to prevent such a disaster from
arising out of his associations with his flock,
He is gravely in faultif he fails to see and tore-
press the first symptoms of a dangerous affec-
tion for him on the part of a married woman.
This, gentlemen, is the simple and obvious
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meaning of that language in Mr. Beecher's
statement which has been &0 maliciously and

8o dishonestly perverted for the ends of thi-
great conspiracy. ‘The case, as it then ap-
peared in my eyes,’’ says Mr. Beecher, speaks
ing of this interview, **wag strongly agaiust
me. My old fellow-worker had been dispos-

sessed of his eminent place and influence.

and I had counseled it. His family had been

well-nigh broken up, and I had advised it;
his wife had become sick and broken in body
and mind, and I, as I fully believed, had
been the cause of all this wreck by contina-
ing, with blind heedlessness, that friendship
which had beguiled her heart, and roused her
husband into a fury of jealousy, although

not caused by any intentional act of mine.

And should I culdly defend myself? Should

I hold her up to contempt as having thrust
her affections upon me unsought? Should I
tread upon this man and his household in
their great adversity "’  All this, for purpos-
es sufficiently obvious, has been industrious-
1y misrepresented as a contemptible resort on
the part of Mr. Beecher, to the very line of
defense which in this language he expressly
repudiates. Though this was his only possi-
Lle defense, yet he forebore to useit, It was
either this or silence, or, what was but one
degree better than silence, an acceptance of
all the blame, together with an earnest dis-
claimer of any intentional wrong. He says :
¢ I disclaimed with the greatest earnestness
all intent to harm Theodore in his home or
business.”” Think for a moment of his situa-
tion, gentlemen. A charge, the most terri-
ble that could possibly confront & man in his
position (forit wouldie easy to show that, un-
der the circumstances, a charge of impure pro-
posals would seem to be more difficult to meet
than one of actual aduitery), and such a
charge has been suddenly sprung upon him
like & thunder-clap from a clear sky, not
by the gasconading harlequin who orders
him out of Brooklyn at the muzzle of a sheet
of *‘commercial note,”’ but in a paper signed
by a lady, his friend, his child almost, one
whom he knows to be, when: in her normal
condition, pure and good and truthful. How
stunning the surprise ! how horrible the com-
plication! Is it possible that she can have
consented tosuch an accusation ! If so;, what
diabolical machination has led to it? And
what must be the final result? He has re-
ceived from her, indeed, a frank retraction,
with tearful expressions of regret, and a
touching story of the means by which she
was driven to ruch an act; but bardly are
these consoling accounts cold before he is in-
formed «f & re-retraction! 'Then is sheindeed
broken in health and distracted inmind; andall
these troubles have been brought upon a faum-
ily for many ycars, and still, so dear to him ;
and be a minister of the gospel, who has
been to these people as a father, he the man

by whose agency all this ruin had been brought
about! When we consider the swift succes-
sion of images presented to the man who, in
addition to his remorse for the past, had rea-
son to upprehend a plunge into public con-
flict with a jealous husband, and with no
other defense than his own simple word of
honor, can we wonder that Mr. Beecher was
a deeply agitated and excited man !

But this is not all. The pastor of Plymouth
Church, surrounded by troops of friends,
might have risked even this terrible conflict,
if he were absolutely free from b'ameworthi-
ness. And it has been freely asked, how could
he apologiz: to a husband who biought a
false charge against him? But this contin-
gency had been foreseen. The emissary of
Tilton entirely dropped the charge of impro-
per advances, and neither then nor ever after-
wards alluded to it. But, using the language
and manner of a gentleman, and pledging his
word f Lionor to the truth of what he said,
he found no difficulty in convincing Mr.
Beecher that the unhappy little woman, who,
as he well knew, and as her husbaud knew,
bad always Joved Mr. Beecher with a reveren-
tial affection, had been misled by his flatter-
ing attentions and sympathetic interest into
an actual passion for him, which had de-
stroyed her domestic peace, and the strugsle
beiween which and her sense of duty had
shattered her mind. That this was the fact,
we have already shown that Mr. Beecher was
made fully to believe. And did not this af-
ford a more satisfactory explanation of her
mysterious charge than his previous supposi-
tion that it was extorted from her by her
cruel busband? Nothing was more natural
than that a wonfan, whose mind was shaken
by this cause, should imagine that the object
of her love had solicited her affection. Noth-
ing more natural than that in an hour of re-
morge and of mental prostration, she should
confess her own passion and assert that she
not only loved, but had been loved. For
where is the weman living who will freely
confess that she hasloved without encourage-
ment and without solicitation? ‘This sup-
posed state of facts cleared up the whole mys-
tery, explained the whole disuster to the
family, and relieved the husband from all
suspicion of a conspiracy against his pastor.

But where did it leave the pastor himself?
It made his defense impossible, so long as the
accusation brought against him was not coarse
and vulgar in its terms. He was not free
from farit. His own conscience condemned
him. Although he well knew that he bad
never said an impure word, nor offered an im-
pure caress, yet he could not deny the charge
of having beguiled the woman’s nffections,
without imputing to her the indelicacy of
‘“thrusting her affection upon 1im unsought.”
This is what he said he would die before he
would do. This is what he said in his state-
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ment last August, that he had alw:ys found it
impossible todo. Nay, more,with such instinct-
ive horror did he shrink from such'a defense,
that he would not use it tojustify himself
before his own conscience, but assumed at
once that in some way he must have been to
blame, he must have enticed the affections of
this wife from her husband. And to this
charge, which was the only one intimated by
Moulton at the interview of January 1st, he
pleaded guilty before his own congcience and
before his God.

Here, gentlemen, I must break the thread
of my narrative to prevent a fresh injustice to
my client. It must be distinctly understood
that he does not now believe, and that he did
not, when making his statement last August,
believe one word of thisstory concerning Mrs.
Tilton's pssion for him, to which he was in-

duced to give credencein January, 1871. He"

believes that Mrs. Tilton has never been un-
faithful to her husband in word, look,or
thought. He believes that she has lavished
upon her unworthy husband all the treasures
of her royal nature, and thatall the fountains
of her love—u love to whose depth and ten-
derness no justice can be done by language of
mine—have been wasted exclusively upon
that barren sand which the plaintiff has him-
self described as the ““ cold and cruel heart of
Theodore Tilton.”” |
But, Mr. Beecher had no such relief on the
. night of January 1, 1871, Full of the con-
viction tbat he was responsible for the shat-
tered mental condition and the domestic mis-
ery of the woman whom he loved with as
pure an affection as any of you, gentlemen,
have for your own daughters, for upwards of
an hour Henry Ward Beecher walked that
floor, giving utterance to emotions so intense,
in langnage so extravagant, that the self-pos-
sessed, keen-cyed gentleman watching him
there, almost forgot the delight of triumph
in the pleasure of surprise. He had come to
this interview, commissioned to obtain at all
hazards something from Beecher, something
to supply the place of deserting nuxiliaries
and lost ammaunition. Bowen had slipped
from under and could no longer be relied on
for the promised reinforcements, The charge
of improper proposals has failed or had been
neutralized by the retraction ; the locker is
absolutely empty, and the whole campaign
must be begun anew. To get in Mr. Beech-
er’'s hand or with his signature something in
the nature of a confession of improper ad-
vances to fit the vague accusation which had
already been propounded with such imperfect
success—this was the problem. A tolerably
difficult game to play, one would bhe apt to
think, with the wily and aecomplished vil-
lain whom you have already heard so vigor-
ously desciibed by the senior counsel for the
plaintifi. But lo, t.uis man, represented to

you as a shrewd and gifted scoundrel, a con-
summate villain, un unparalleled dissembler,
who had practiced wholesale levdness for
more than thirty years under the concen-
trated gaze of the whole world, and up to this
time succeeded in covering his tracks—now
advances voluntarily to this friend of a day,
opens at once every joint in his harness, and
invites him to insert his javelin at his own
swect will. Why, gentlemnen, never did a
three-year old baby, quivering with contri-
tion for its first conscious fault, more swiftly
run to bury its bowed and tearful face in its
tender mother’s lap, than did this suffering
man advance to cast himself on the breast of

- that guileless and gusking creature, Francis

D. Moulton.

With the volubility of one half crazed, he
pours out the most poignant sclf-reproaches
without limit. For, gentlemen, you know
that men express themselves about their sins
generally in inverse ratio to their desert of
blame. Their estimate of sin is according to
their standard of holiness. There was once
before, in good old Scripture days, a
man who was given over for a time to the
manipulations of the devil. I refer to Job,
the patriarch of Uz, who is spoken of as a
man ‘‘perfect and upright, one that feared
God nnge eschewed evil.”” And yet in the
days of hisaffliction this good man could say :
1 abhor myself and repent in dust and
aghes.”” It was becaus: he had been permit-
ted to see in & vision the divine standard of
holiness. The greatest of prophets cried :
* Woe is me, for I am unclean, for mine eyes
have seen the Lord,”” And from those fimes
down pure and rpiritual-minded men—men
conspicuous in the world for personal holi-
ness—have becn wont to puzzle and astonish
worldly natures by the unmeasured terms in
which they have denounced their own faults
and imperfections, 8o this defendant on this
occasion, excited almost to frenzy by pity and
remorse, gave way to his mighty sorrow in a
vocabulury whose sombre richness and ful-
ness we may well imagine. How embarrassed
by the very copiousness of the resources thus
gushing forth befors him, must have been
this ** cool hand’’ who there with hard, cold:
eyes, 81t watching this curious development.
‘¢ Something to commit Beecher’’ kad been
his quest, and here was Mr. Beecher himself
furnishing terms in torrents, intense enough,
comprehensive enough to cover all sins for-
bidden in the dccalogue! Oh, to get a thou-
randth part of this rich material on paper, for
here it is runcing all to waste, and every sen-
tence is gold. ‘*There's millions in it.” But
the copious talker is in ne mood for writing,
and our shrewd operator in vivisection,
watching then his opportunity, sees the su-
preme moment arrived for dropping the
scalpel and taking up the pen.
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HOW THE LETTER OF APOLOGY WAS
WRITTEN

And now, gentlemen, having brought you
up to the situation as it exists in our concep-
tion, let us leave it thus for a moment. Mr.
Beecher, pouring forth an unceasing torrent
of morbid self-accusation and soirow, and
Moulton, with unpracticed pen, in the gath-
ering darkness, at his wit's end, to make
1apid selection and arrangement from the
multitude of significant expressions, such as
should best answer the end in view, namely,
to get Mr. Beecher on paper in the attitude
of & penitent criminal. Let us, I say, turn
from this interesting situation, and institute
a somewhat careful inquiry into the genesis
and nature of the remarkable paper which
was the product of that rapid incubation.
There is no doubt, gentlemen, that the paper
originally called the *‘Letter of Apology,”
but more recently the ¢ Letter of Contrition,”’
was written by the mutual friend at this in-
terview of January 1, 1871; but in regard
to every other fact concerning its preparation
theﬂdefendant and Mr. Moulton will be in
conflict.

The interview of January 1st is described
by Moulton as fullows: On his direct ex-
amination he says ;

¢ Q. State, if you please, what that interview was?
A. I'told Mr. Beecher that I had taken the retrac-
tion to Mr. Tilton, and that I had told Mr. Tilton
that it woulill have been very foolish for him to
have carried his threat of the morning into execu-
tion. I told him that Mr. Tilton was pleased with
?ﬁ having procured the retraction, and that I told

. Beecher that Mr, Tilton seemed to me to be ""—

[Then he was interrupted. Then he pro-
ceeds again :]

““T told him that I thought that—I told him that
Tilton told me that he had made up his miud that,
no matter what came to himself, he weuld under-
take to protect the reputation of his witc at all
hazards, Then Mr, lieecher sa d to me that he
was in migery on account ot the: crime that he had
committ:d againet Thevdore Tilton and his w.fe
and family ; he said that he wou d be willing to
make any reparation that was within his power;
he said that Mr. Tilton, he thon,?ht, would have
been a better man under the circumsiances in
which he had been placed than he had been; that
he felt that ho had done a great wrong, because he
was Treodore Tilton's friend, he was his pastor,
he was his wife’s iriend and pastor, and he wept
bitterly; and I eaid to him, ‘Mr. Beecher, why
don’t you say that to Mr. Tilton?’* [Observe,
ge‘ol:lt‘lemen. that the snggestion of writing comes

Moulton in this interview.] * I said to him,
¢ Mr. Beecher, why don’t you eay that to Mr. Ti ton,
why don’t you exp ess to him the grief you feel,
and the contrition for it. You can do no more than
that, and I thinck I know Theodore Tilton well
enou%h to know that he would be satisfied w th
that, for I know he Joves his wife.” Mr. Beecher
to'd me to take pen and paper and to write at his
dictation. and I did write at his dictation the letter
of January 1, 1871,

Q“[ ‘What was done after you wrote that letter?
c. read the letier to him, and he read it, and then

] sl%ned—
Q. Never mind ; we will show that in a moment.

You “i, you read it to him ? A, Yes, sir.
Qi P d you read it as it was? A, Yes, sir, and
as it is

. Did he take it and read it? A. Yes, sir.

. Do you mean to be understood that you read
it to him, and that he read it efterwards for him-
eelf? A, Yes, certainly.”

80 remarkable a fact, you ohserve, gentle-
men, had attracted the attention of the
counsel, and he wuanted to make sure if the
witness meant to be understood that after he
had read this letter aloud carefully to Mr.
Beecher, Mr. Beecher then took it and read
it over himself. ‘A very remarkable fact,
if it be true,”” as the newspapers say.

On cross-examination he was asked :

“Q. Well, what snbilects did you and Mr. Beech-
er co.verse about on that day ; just name the topics
of conversation, so far ag you can re ember?
A. The effect of the recantation upon Theodore
Tilton; Mr. Beecher’s expression of contriticn for
the crime that he ha « committed against Elizabeth
Tilton and Theodore Tiiton, and h's expression of
re%r'et that he had mentioned Mrs. Bul.ard's name
to Mr Bowen; those are the three distinct subjects
that I now reco.lect.

Qb.n?nd tne only three that jou recollect?
A, Those are the three, sir.”

You will remember, gentlemen, that he
described that interview as lasting from one
to two hours, and yet he names but three
subjects that were conversed about at that-
interview, and all be relates of the interview
would not have occupied more than ten
minutes. Indeed, he states but little of im-
portance occurring on that day, except the
fact of the writing of this letter. He admits
that -the preparation of the paper was sug-
gested by a remark that Mr. Beecher made
during that conversation. But in another
part of his testimony he says that the paper
was prepared at the begiuning of the conver-
sation. He says it was dictated by Mr.
Beecher deliberately, sentence by sentence,
and that he wrote it down as dictated, and
that the paper is not only in Mr. Beecher's
words, but the very sentences are of his con-
struction, while Mr, Beecher will tell you,
gentlemen, that this paper was prepared to-
wards the close of a long and excited conver-
sation, embracing many more topics than
those referred to by Moulton; that it was
suggested by Moulton, who remarked that
Tilton was under the impression that Beecher
was inimical to him and desirous of his over-
throw, and that if Tilion could but know
how kindly Mr. Beecher had expressed him-
self towards him in this conversation, it
would remove all barshness from his mind.
Mr. Beecher declined to write, but said:
*‘You can tell him what Isay.”” To which
Moulton replied : ** It would have more ef-
fect if it came from you in some autbentic
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form.” ¢ Well,”” said Beecher, *‘you can
make a memorandum of what I;:i'. ' And
thereupon Moulton took a pen began to
write what Beecher had said during the
conversation. Substantially, gentlemen, the
ouly dictation which Mr. Beecher did in the
matter, was on two or three occasions, when
Moulton asked him: *“ What word or phrase
did you use at this point #*’ And Mr. Beecher
supplied the word or phrase a8 the case might
be. The preparation of the paper was the
last thing done at the interview. It was
completed after Mr. Beecher's tea-bell had
rung, which on Bundays always rings at five
o'clock. The sun had set. The room was
growing dark, and the gas was not lit. It
was written in great haste, it was not read
over by Moulton, nor was it read by Beecher.
It would hardly have been possible for either
to read it. When asked by Moulton to sign
it, Mr. Beecher refused, on the ground that
it was not his paper ; but, being pressed, he
finally took a pen and wrote on the extreme
lower edge of the last page : ¢ I have trust-
ed this to Moulton in confidence.
. H. W. Bxzoner.”

The question at issne between Moulton and
this defendant is this—Was the paper pre:
pated at the beginning of the conversation,
deliberately dictated sentence by sentence,
written down exactly as delivered and present

with the parties during the remainder of the

-interview, or, on the other hand, was it hasti-
ly prepared, at the end of the conversation,
by one who endeavored to gather up and re-
cord the more salient points of what had
been previously uttered ! T'o settle this ques-
tion of veracity, gentlemen, I appeal to the
paper itself. Is it credible that Henry Ward
Beecher ever dictated and deliberately sign-
ed such sentences as are here recorded? We
say that the paper bears on its face conclu-
sive evidence of desperate haste, leading to
inaccuracies of composition, which neither
Mr. Beecher nor Moulton could -ever bave
committed, had they written deliberately
and at their leisure. In the first place, it
lacks all the indications which would dis-
tinguish a letter either written or dictated by
a- man of culture, habituated to the produc-
tion of thoughtful, metbodical papers. The
slightest glance must convince any intelligent
man that no man of letters could ever have
literally dietated this incaherent production,
ne matter what his mental coodition if it
were shert of absolute insanity. Kven if he

had been insane, it is doubtfal whether the:

habits of & literary man would not have led
him to prepare & letter having at least the
external symbols of logic, sense, and oxder.
But the paper now under oonsideration, as

the most ueeducated man may see, is ubso- |
lutely without logical sequence, and viclates |

the most familiar. roles of composition. If
4

Mr. Beecher had really dictated a letter to
Mr. Moulton, sentence by sentence, his liter-
ary instincts would inevitably have prompted
a production having such a natural begin-
ning, middle, and end as is common to all
letters written by educated men.

This paper has none of these things. It
opens with an abrupt extravagant phrase
which, if literally construed, is profane, and
which shows upon its face that it is a distor-
tion of a proper, though excited expression.
Bat nete, also, the entire disconnection of the
latter part of the sentence from the first.
[The letter was here handed to the jury, who
examined it while Mr. Tracy continued.]
'The first sentence of this letter, gentlemen,
is a8 follows : .

‘“ MY DEAR FRIEND MouLTOX : I ask through you,
Theodore Tilton’s forziveness, and I humble my-
self before him as I do before my God; he would
have been 3 better man in my circamstances than
I have been.”

Now, I ask you to nete that the last clause
of that sentence Las no sort of relation to
the first ; and, yet, Mr. Moulton coolly swore
in your presence, that Mr. Beecher deliberate-
ly dictated as one single connected sentence,
without any intervening stop, these extra-
ordinary words : ¢‘ Iask through you Theo-
dore Tilton’s forgiveness, and I humble my-
self before him as I do before my God, he
would have been a better man in my circum-
stances than I have been.”” No one but &
maniac could bave deliberately uttered such
a sentence ; and neither Mr. Moulton nor
Mr. Tilton has ever ventured to print that
sentence in type as it was originally written.
But all the sentences are disjointed ; they do
not follow each .other in any natural order.
Their confusion is perfectly comprehensible if
we believe that they are hasty reports of
hasty expressions, spread over a long conver-
sation, at intervals, and eagerly grasped at
by one who was anxious to record the worst
language which he could possibly select from
the excited utterances of & man under deep
feeling ; but utterly -incomprenhensible, if
we accept Mr. Moulton's oath that the paper
was deliberately dictated and deliberately
written.

But it is that I should show you
the desperate haste with which this paper
was prepared by other internal evidence of a
still more unmistakable nature. In the first
place, if you observe the paper, you will see
that the first four or five lines are more dis-
tinotly written than the subsequent portion.
Down to the word ‘‘ God’’ every letter is
complete in itself, but after this word a com-
ma i8 inserted where. there should be & period,
and the next word begins with a small, in-
stead of a capital *‘ H'" 'in the first sentence,
after the word ‘“ God.” You csn hardly read
that sentence, gentlemen, without making a



50 QPENING FOR

THE DEFENSE.

period at the word ‘‘ God,” and commencing
the new sentence, of course, with a capital ;
and yet you will observe that it is com-
menced with a small ‘‘ H'' and separated
only by & comma. Now, Henry Ward
Beecher would never have dictated such a
sentence as that; itis not possible. Nor is
it possible that Francis D. Moulton would
have ever written such a sentence as that,
except in the greatest haste; and I am now
referring you to the internal evidence from
the paper itself, thut Mr. Beecher’s ver-
sion of the conversation must be true, and
Mr. Moulton’s must be untrue. It will be
further observed that the writer inserts a
comma after the word ‘‘ man,’”’ where there
should be none, and a dash after the word
*been,”’ where there should be a period. He
next writes, ** I can’t ask nothing’’—clearly
showing that he did not write this from dicta-
tion. For he would not have written *‘ can’t,”
if Mr. Beecher had just dictated ‘can,”
But starting to frame the sentence ‘‘Ican’t
ask,”’ he discovered as the remainder was
formed in his mind, that he must change
* can’t’’ to‘ can,”’ and 8o canceled the ¢ t,”’
a8 you see in the manuscript—a clear evi-
dence, ag we submit to you, gentlemen, that
that word was not written from dictation,
but written by a man who was starting to
frame a sentence in his own mind, writes
three words of the sentence, and then sees, as
the balance of it is formed in his mind, that
he must change the word; and so changes
“can’'t’”” to ‘‘can.”” And so the word
¢ other’’ is imperfectly written, the necessary
letters being undiscoverable, as is seen by an
inspection of the paper, showing further evi-
dence of the haste with which the writer
went on with the composition. You see, as he
began, he began leisurely, writing the first
few lines—every word perfect; but as he
goes on in his composition, his haste in-
creasing, darkness perhaps coming on in the
room, there are letters left out of the words
and characters inserted that cannot be said to
represent any letters. The word ‘ would” is
very imperfect; no one could say that the
last character was intended for a *‘ d.”” After
the word ¢ ache” he makes a dash, instead
of a period, as there should be. The first
period occurring in the paper is found after
the word ** myself,” away down in the com-
position. The words * for myself’' are in-
terlined, which would not have been the case
had be written them down from Mr. Beecher’s
dictation.

The second period occurs after the word
s guffer.”” The next period occurs after the
word “‘inculpated.”” The sentence succeed-
ing begins with asmall ‘‘a’’ after the period
he has marked.

You observe he has marked a period
there; and then, in haste, has begun the
sentence with a small letter instead of a capi-

tal; and I want to impress upon you the
fact, genjjemen, here, that although this
letter was published by Mr. Moulton, it has
never been published as written ; that is, he
changes the whole form and style of the letter
by the form of its punctuation—the manner
in which he punctuates it and publishes it.
The punctuation I now give is in accordance
with the manner the letter was punctuated
when written by Moulton himself; I am
reading you his own punctuation of it. The
word *‘ towards’’ is imperfectly written, there
beiog nothing to indicate the letters ‘“d s”
except a single dash of the pen resembling
‘“d 8” inno wise either singly or together.
There is no comma after the word ¢ friends’’
a8 there should be. The next ** toward’’ is
printed ‘‘towards’’ in the statement. You
will see, gentlemen, that in the sentence
‘‘lying there and praying, with her hands
folded,’’ after the word *‘ hands’’ there is a
semi-colon instead of a period, but the next
word begins with a capital, ‘‘She is guilt-
less”’—tbe word ‘‘she” beginning with a
capital. The ‘s’ in * sinned against’’ has
been altered evidently from an ““I.”” He
started to write ¢‘ I,”’ then he changed it to
‘g’ and wrote the word ‘‘sinned.”” There
i8 no period mark after the word *‘ another,’’
although the next word begins with a capi-
tal, as it should do—the sentence beginning
‘‘Her forgiveness I have.”” You see the
“I'’ looks as if originally written an ‘¢ g’’
and changed to an ‘““1.”” And thus all
the way through, gentlemen, this letter
bears internal evidence on its face, that it
was prepared in great haste ; confirming pre-
cisely in itgelf the statement which Mr.
Beecher will give you of this interview, and
of the manner in which this paper was pre-
pared. Now, Moulton asks you to believe,
gentlemen, that be not only read this letter
himself, but that Henry Ward Beecher took
the letter afterwards and deliberately read
it also, without discovering or correcting
these errors of punctuation. Is it possible
to believe that Henry Ward Beecher would
ever sign and send out over his own signature
such a composition as that ?

But now, gentlemen, we come to the con-
clusive evidence that the writing of this let-
ter was suddenly terminated by an abrupt
interruption. You will observe that the paper
begins in the form of a letter, addressed to
¢ My Dear Friend Moulton.”” Had the wri-
ter recognized the fact that he had con-
cluded his letter with the sentence,.‘‘ I hum-
bly pray to God that he may put it into
the heart of her husband to forgive me," it
is impossible to understand why be did not
prepare it for Mr. Beecher's signature by
adding some usual concluding clause, as
‘““Yours Truly,”” or the like. You observe,
gentlemen, that letter begins, ‘‘ My Dear
Friend Moulton.”” Now, I say, that if Mr.
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Moulton had supposed that letter was to stop
when he wiote. the last word of the letter,
that that word was the conclusion, he would
baxe prepared it for Mr. Beecher's signature
by addhg, ‘** Yours truly,”” or *‘ Yours faith-
fully,”” for Mr. Beecher to sign. But there
is no such clause in the letter. On the con-
trary, you observe that after the last word of
that letter there is a dash instead of a period,
showing that the writer intended to continue
writing at the time he wrote the last word of
the letter—that he had not finished the let-
ter ; he expected to keep on gathering up
these gems that were falling in such abun-
dance from the lips of this excited man. But
at the time he had written his last word and
made his dash, expecting to continue, Mr.
Beecher’s tea-bell rang and interrupted the
writing and stopped it. Then came the ques-
tion of signing. Mr. Beecher said : *‘I cannot
sign that, because it is not my composi-
tion.’’ Then he asked him to authenticate it in
some form, so that he could show Mr. Tilton
that he had something from Mr, Beecher. It
was a trick, gentlemen ; a plan deliberately
devised to commit this man, in his excited
condition, to some note or memorandnm that
could afterwards be used against him asa
power to convince him that he was under
their control—that they had him committed.
That was the purposs and the object of that
letter, and that is the way it was that Moul-
ton pressed so hard for Mr. Beecher’s signa-
nature in some form to the letter itself.
Gentlemen, Mr. Moulton tells you another
fact—that he put at the head of that let-
ter the clause, ‘‘ In trust with Francis D.
Moulton.”” He says Mr, Beecher did not
dictate that. He says it, I think, for the pur-
pose of explaining the absurdity of Mr.
Beecher’s dictating that clause at the head
of the letter, and then adding it at the foot
of the letter, leaving it twice upon the letter.
Mr. Beecher would not have been likely to
do that. If he had dictated at the head of
the letter ‘“In trust with Francis D, Moul-
ton,”” he would not have added the same
thing at the foot.  Nor would he have added
that, if it had been written as a letter to
Francis D. Moulton. But Moulton said :
¢¢ Trust this to me ; I will preserve it; I will
see that no harm comes to you by your giving
me this documcnt, that I may show Tilton
in writing how. kindly you feel towards him.
Leave that to me ; trust it to me ;’’ and by
these forms of expression, repeated by Moul-
ton when inducing Beecher to authenticate
this paper in some form, he got from Mr.
Beecher the phrase : *‘ I have trusted this to
Moulton in confidence. H. W. Beecher.”’
Again, gentlemen, if Mr. Beecher bad com-
menced this letter dictating ‘‘My Dear Friend
Moulton,”” and that letter had been written
by Mr. Moulton in the course of five or ten
minutes, what must he have thought of Mr.

Beecher, or Mr. Beecher have thought of
himself when he refused to sign the letter
which he had commenced by dictating ? Is not
that a remarkable statement — that Mr.
Beecher should begin the dictation of a letter
*My Dear Friend Moulton,”’—a letter that
only containg about one hundred and thirty
or one hundred and forty words, and at the
close of it should say, ** I won't sign it "’ ?
You see it beging in the form of a letter.
Now, if Mr. Beecher had deliberately com-
menced that in the form of a letter, why
would he not have finished it? What oper-
ated in bhis mind in these five or ten or per-
haps twenty minutes during which this letter
was preparing !—what operated npon his mind
to make him change and refuse to sign the
letter which he had begun by addressing it
‘*My Dear Friend Moulton ’? Why, the
propogition, it seems to me, gentlemen,carries
the evidence of absurdity upon its face ; and
it shows that Mr. Beecher did not dictate that
phrase, ‘‘ My Dear Friend Moulton.”” It is
evidenced by another fact: in all these four
years’ correspondence, among the number of
letters which Mr. Beecher haa written to Mr.
Moulton since then, no letter of his has ever
been addressed in that form, ‘‘ My Dear
Friend Mouiton.”” There is no such letter
from the beginning to the end of this corre-
spondence.

For all these reasons, we submit to you,
gentlemen, that this paper itself so corrobo-
rates the statement that Mr. Beecher will
make to you up:n the stand, and so contra-
dicts the evidence that Mr. Moulton gives
you, that when you come to hear Mr. Beoch-
er's statement you will believe that he speaks
the truth, and that Mr. Moulton does not.

MR. BEECHER'S ALLEGED ORAL CON-
FESSIONS.

Now, gentlemen of the jury, I come to
another branch of this case; and that is the
branch which i8 now mainly relied upon, to
wit, the pretended oral confessions which tbis
defendant is alleged to bave made to Francis
D. Moulton and to his wife, and to the plain-
tiff, Theodore Tilton. In the beginning,
gentlemen, we shall show you that these
parties relied expressly upon the writing that
they had, and upon nothing else. As late
as July 10, 1874, after the appointment of
the Church Committee, and on Mr. Tilton’s
first appearing before the Committee, we
shall show youw, I apprehend, by evidence
which you will not doubt, that Mr. Tilton
there said that his case against Henry Ward
Beecher was in writing. He said that he
knew that his reputation was impaired in
this comnmunity, and that the guilt or inno-
cence of Henry Ward Beecher did not at all
depend upon his word—he had it in writing.
I think that the evidence will show you that
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after Mr. Tilton had repeated that once or
twice over, he was interrupted by one who
thought, at least at that time, that he had
seen the written case against Henry Ward
Beecher, who said to him: *‘ Mr. Tilton, if
your case against Henry Ward Beecher is in
writing, then it is wholly a question of what
these writings prove; that is a fact that
other people can judge of as well as you can ;
it is the construction of the papers ;" and he
was told ther and there, I think, by one who
supposed he had seen these rs and
studied them carefully, that they did not
warrant the insinuations which Theodore
Tilton was then making, and they would nof
prove the case that he was then insinuating.
I think it will transpire before you, gentle-
men, that up to that time neither Tilton nor
Moulton had ever talked about oral confes-
sions of Henry Ward Beecher. I think it will
transpire that this part of their case has
arisen since that date. At least I have no
doubt that it will appear to you that on
that occasion Mr. Tilton did not pretend
that he had any oral confessions from Mr.
Beecher tending to establish his case, but
that he said distinctly that his case against
Mr. Beecher was in writing, and was locked
in his safe, or in Moulton's safe.

In Moulton’s statement, published August
21st, some time after this, and after this con-
troversy had begun, Mr. Moulton alleged
in general language, that Mr. Beecher had
confessed orally to him; but his language
was entirely general; he gave no specific
words; he made no statement which was
legal evidence of that fact. His paper was
challenged on that account, and it was said :
¢ If Henry Ward Beecher ever confessed to
you, why haven’t you stated the confession,
so that other people can see whether his
language amounted to a confession of guilt
ornot?’ It wasnot until after he had been
thus challenged and made his second state-
ment that he undertook to give the words in
which Mr. Beecher confessed. And finally,
on the trial here, gentlemen, he clothes Mr.
Beecher's confessions in entirely different
language from what he did in his second
statement. But you will not forget the re-
markable language which he so continuously
puts in the mouth of Henry Ward Beecher ;
‘‘gexual relations,”’ ¢‘sexual intercourse,’’
¢¢ gexual expresgion,”’ ‘‘adultery,’”” not ence
—not once, gentlemen, I beg you to rve,
but continuously, at every interview, and he
never has Mr. Beecher refer to ‘‘their rela-
tions,”’ without preceding it with the word
s¢gexual.”” Do you believe that, gentlemen
of the jury? Even assuming that Henry
Ward Beecher did intend to convey to Francis
D. Moulton the idea that he had bad criminal
relations with the wife of the plaintiff, do
you believe that at every interview that
ogourred between them afterwards Mr. Beech-

er expressly referred to the confession, and
used the precise language that he did on
the first occasion? Having used it once,
would not a mere reference to it afterwards
have been sufficient? Was it necessary for
him to repeat always the words ‘‘sexual
relations”’ to have Mr. Moulton understand
what he meant ? Why, it is most improbable,
I submit. If Mr. Beecher kad been coufess-
ing, he never could have been guilty of such
weakness, and di-played such love of nasty
expressions as to be continually rolling these
from his lips, as Moulton says he did. It is
impossible to believe it; it is incredible.
They are words that are manufactured and
put into the mouth of Henry Ward Beecher
on occasion after occasion. He never used
any such expression ; he never made any such
coufession. And you will remember, geatle-
men, if you recall his (Moulton's) expression
upon the witness stand, when he has attempt-
ed to repeat this phraseology, the remark-
able slip he made, not once, but twice, when
he undertook to say, ** Mr. Beecher said his
relations—his gexual relations.”” Not once,
but twice, he did that in repeating it, and
that is the precise manner be r it in
his statement. In his published statement he
says: * Mr. Beecher said his relations with
this woman,” without adding the word
‘‘ gexual ; but when he comes to repeat it
from the witness stand he says: ‘‘ Mr.
Beecher said his relations—his sexual rela-
tions;’’ and when he told it again on his
cross-examination he made the same slip,
and, recalling himself, added the word
‘gexual.”’

I shall not dwell upon those interviews.
They are remarkable, if they ever oocurred,
most remarkable. It is a most remarkable
fact that Henry Ward Beecher, if he had
been guilty, could have committed the in-
discretion of throwing open his heart to a
friend of & day; for you will bear in mind
that Francis D. Moulton was a stranger to
Henry Ward Beecher on the night of the 30th
of December. He tells you that he was
a stranger to him ; that is, he knew him as
everybody knew Mr. Beecher; he had a
speaking acquaintance with him ; he bad been
introduced to him before, but there were no
relations between them as friends or acquain-
tances ; and yet he goes to him on the 80th
of December in 8 hostile attitude, as a friend
of the man who was accusing him, and he
comes to him again on the 81st of December,
the next night, and he says, without werd of
caution or preliminary suggestion, Mr. Beech-
er opened to him and confessed his adultery
with this woman  The absurdity of the
statement itself is sufficient to challenge the
closest acrutiny on the part of the jary, and
to vxcite the gravest doubts, even if it fell
from the lips of an unquestioned witness,
whether it could be pos-ible that avy maa in
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his senses could be guilty of such an indis-
eretion as that.

AN INVENTED INTERVIEW.

But further, gentlemen, you will remem-
ber the great struggle we had when Mr.
Moulton was on the witness stand, to get
him to testify that the subject of these
stories which Bowen had circulated against
Tilton to Beecher, and Beecher had circulated
against Tilton to Bowen, were the subjects of
conversation between Mr. Beecher and
Moulton on the night of the 81st of Decem-
ber, or on the night of the lst of January.
But we could not get him to do it; we could
not get him to say that Mr. Beecher agreed
to apologize to Bowen, and to write a letter
to Bowen taking back what he said in regard
to Tilton and Mrs. Bullard. He would not
acknowledge that it was done on either the
81st of December or the 1st of January. This
was very important for him, and he under-
stood the importance of it, because that would
give a clue, you see, to the contrition and the
sorrow and the regret which Mr. Beecher was
expressing on the night of the 1st of January.
If his discreditable report concerning Laura
Curtis Bullard had been the subject of con-
versation, and he had agreed to take it back,
and had agreed to write a letter for that
purpose—if these stories that he had circulated
in regard to Tilton, to Bowen, had been the
subject of conversation, and he bad been ex-
pressing his regrets concerning them, why,
that would have furnish~d some explanation
of what his excitement was, what caused it.
But they keep that all out of view. They
ask you to believe, gentlemen, tlat there was
nothing talked of on either of these nights
except his relation to Mrs. Tilton, substan-
tially, and that that was what he was ex-
pressing his sorrow and regret for; and so
they say that this letter to Bowen was not
the subject of conversation. But it was
written so soon after, you see, gentlemen,
that they could not postpone it very long. It
must be the subject of conversation right
away. If it was not on the night of the 3lst
of December, or the 1st of January, it must
be immediately following. They saw that
necessity, and they must meet it. Now, how
did they do it? Moulton does it by invent-
ing an interview between himself and Mr.
Beecher on the 2d of January, where he
meakes these stories the subject of conversa-
sation, and this letter to Bowen their matter
of talk and agreement. I say he invents it,
and I shall leave you no doubt upon thateub-
ject, gentlemen. The 1st of January that year
came on Sunday. This letter called the
‘ Apology '’ was written Sunday afternoon.
in Beecher’s house. Moulton tells you that
he called the next day in the aft-rnoon,
towards evening, somewhere from 3 to 6

o’clock, I think, that evening, and had ano-
ther long interview with Mr. B:echer, on the
2d of January, and he tells you in great
detail what occurred. He tells you expressly,
in answer to a question put to him on cross-
examination, that he had four separate inter-
views with Mr. Beecher on four successive
days. That is the question put to him and
that is the question he answered. Now,
gentlemen, we shall show you that Francis
D. Moulton had no interview with Henry
Ward Beecher on the 2d of January. The 2d
of January was the day celebrated as New
Year’s, and Mr. Beecher, as was his custom,
received New Year's calls that day, and was
engaged all day long in receiving New Year's
calls. He had nearly 800 callers, I am inform-
ed, at his house on the 2d of January, 1871.
Busy all day, from 9 o’clock in the morning
until late in the evening, he had no opportu-
nity for such an interview, and no such in-
terview ever occurred. I say it has been in-
vented, and invented for a purpose, in order
to enable this witness to carry an interview,
on very important and vital questions, one
day beyond the writing of this letter of apol-
ogy. He tells you further that Mr. Beecher
cousulted him on that day as to whether the
pew-renting should go off that year. Why.
gentlemen, if that interview was on the 24
day of January, the pew-renting was to take
place the next day, and had been advertised
everywhere, and everybody knew it was to go
on. The talk of stopping it from going on
would have been worse than a printed confes-
gion, There was no such talk, no such
thought. The renting of the pews, I say,
had been advertised, and it took place the
next day, and thers was never a suggestion
a8 to whether it should go off or not, or be
postponed. ’

THE FIRST OBJECT OF THE PLOT.

The object of the efforts of Moulton and
Tilton in the early days of January, 1871, was
to restore Mr. Tilton, if possible, to The Inde-
pendent and The Union. You see, gentlemen,
that this dismissal was disastrous to Mr.
Tilton. He has stated to you from the witness
stand why it was disastrous. It was peculiarly
disastrous for this reason. He had just made
a new arrangement with The Independent by
which he ceased to be editor and became chief
contributor, and was to be editor of The Union,
and that arrangement had been announced in
The Independent on the 22d, and yet, eight
days afterwards, he i3 displaced from both
papers; and everybody said, ‘‘ Why this re-
markable change I’ It was disastrous to Mr.
Tilton ; it was something more than a mere
business change that could be explained on
its face without discredit to other parties.
Hence their great desire to restore Mr. Tilton
in some way to The Union and Independent,
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or to get some explanation of that dismissal
which would not be ruinous to him. Now,
their plan was to get everybody who had told
stories concerning Mr. Tilton to retract. Mr.
Beecher was to retract, Mrs. Tilton was to re-
tract, and you see they did get a letter from
Mrs. Tilton which denied tbat she had ever
desired a separation from her husband, and
attributed it to the action of her poor mother;
they even force this weak and sick woman in
her weakened state to attribute her action,
in the letter which she gave them, to her
mother. They got Bessie Turner to retract
the stories which she had told to Mr. Beecher
concerning Mr. Tilton.

And, gentlemen, there is more significance
to the retraction of Bessie Turner than to
most of the retractions in this case, because
there i8 another fact connected with it. Bes-
gie Turner had circulated the story, had told
to Mr. Beecher and had told to other people
that Mr. Tilton had twice attempted her vir-
tue, once by taking her from her own bed and
carrying her to his, and on another occasion, I
believe, in coming to her bed-room and at-
tempting to lie in bed with her. These sto-
ries were told, and the evidence of Moulton
and Tilton shows you that they knew that she
" had circulated these stories, and, taken with
the flood-tide that was coming in against Mr.
Tilton, they were extremely damaging. And
they say that she was a girl that was given
to talk, and she was somewhat under the in-
fluence of the mother-in-law, and, if we are
to believe Mr. Tilton, the mother-in-law was
sometimes given to talk, and it was import-
ant not only, therefore, to get Bessie Turner
- to retract these statements, but to get her out
of the way-—get her out of Brooklyn where she
would not talk—get her into a distant coun-
try, where no Brooklyn people could hear
her, where she would not be tempted to retail
these scandals concerning Tilton.

They tell you that Bessie Turner was sent
West because she had overheard a quarrel
between Mr. Tilton and his wife, in which
Mr. Beecher’s name had been mentioned, and
that was the reason she was sent away, and
not because of these stories. And the ques-
tion i, which is true? They attempt now to
put the responsibility of her absence upon
Mr. Beecher and upon the rumors concerning
Beecher and Mrs. Tilton. But they were
careful to get from Bessie Turner her written
retractions of these stories against Mr. Tilton,
and they treasured them up. What for?
For the very use that they are putting them
to now ; for the very use that they are mak-
ing of them now. They bring them into
Court to confront this young girl, and to say,
Here are statements that your stories con-
cerning Mr. Tilton are false. They got them
for that purpose, and they went into these
general archives of Moulton, of all papers
relating to this scandal, and bave been care-

-

fully preserved ever since. Was that to pro-
tect Mr. Beecher? Did they get these retrac-
tions from Bessie Turner that Theodore Tilton
had never attempted her virtue, or never had
carried her, screaming, from her bed to his
own, in order to protect Henry Ward Beecher?
I think, gentlemen, you will agree with me,
that the same reason that induced parties to
get the retraction, influenced them in send-
ing her away. They are connected; there is
a vital connection between the obtaining of
this retraction, and the sending Bessie Turner
out of Brooklyn. Now, here are her letters ;
January 12th is the last.

¢ The story that Mr. Tilton on-e lifted me from
my bed, and carried me, screaming, into his own,
and attempted to violate my verson, isa wicked lie.
Yours truly,
BESsIE.”

The other letter was dated January 10th,
1871. [Reading :]

“MyY DEAR MRs. TrLToN : I want to tell you some-
thing. Your mother, Mrs. Morse, has repeatedl

‘attempted to hire me, by offering me dresses an

presents, to go to certain persons and tell them
stories injurious to the character of your husband.
I have been persuaded that the kind attentions
shown me by Mr. Tilton for years were dishonor-
able demonstrations. I never at the time thonght
that Mr. Tilton’s caresses were for such a purpose.
I do not want to be made use of by Mrs. Morse, or
by at:iy one else, to bring trouble on my two best
friends, you and your husband. Bye-by%. v
ESCIE.

Now, that is a remarkable letter, gentle-
men, to be obtained by Mr. Tilton and placed
in the hands of his most intimate friend to
be kept and preserved. It is a very remark-
able letter. I say it was obtained by Mr.
Tilton. It was obtained at his suggestion
and influence by his wife, and placed in the
hands of his most intimate friend, Francis D.
Moulton, and by him preserved wuntil this
hour, ready to be produced against this girl
if she should ever appear in Court and give
a different version of this transaction. ¢‘I
have been persuaded that the kind attentious
shown me by Mr. Tilton for years were dis-
honorable demonstrations. I never at the
time thought that Mr. Tilton’s caresses were
for such a purpose.’”’ *‘ Caresses’'—a very
remarkable phrase, gentlemen, if there never
was anything between Tilton and Bessie Tur-
ner. Then, that was not sufficient, so two
days afterwards they got another letter from
her. ¢ The story that Mr. Tilton once lifted
me from my bed and carried me screaming to
his own and attempted to violate my person, is
a wicked lie.”” Well, now, gentlemen, Bessie
Tuiter never said he did. If there was any
such story, it was a lie. I am not aware that
Bessie Turner ever charged any such thing
against Mr, Tilton. I understand that her
story simply was that she was taken from
her bed in his arms and carried to his bed,
and he attempted to persuade her to remain
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there. I have never understood that the
charge was one of attempted violence. So
that letter of Bessie Turner is no retraction
of what she had really told against Theodore
Tilton, as I understand it. So it does not
convict her of falsehood ; if any such stories
had got in circulation, she could properly
deny them. And now, gentlemen, isn’t it
remarkable that the man who, they say, sent
her away, bad no inducement to get any re-
traction from her? She had never circulated
any stories about Mr. Beecher and Mrs. Til-
ton ; she never had anything to retract con-
cerning them, and nobody ever suspected her
of a disposition to talk concerning them.
That is a pretense. Buat we have the fact
that she talked about Theodore Tilton. We
have the fact that it was weil known to
Moulton and Tilton that she was talking
about him at this very time. Moulton tells
you 8o. We have the fact that those two re-
tractions were obtained and she was sent
away ; and we -shall show you, gentlemen,
that she was sent away as an inducement to
her giving these retractions.

But more, we have it from the unconscious
language of Francis D. Moulton himself,
when be says that ‘‘he told Mr. Beecher.”
Mind you, Francis D. Moulton is the man
that suggested the sending away of Miss
Turner, not Henry Ward Beecher. Francis
D. Moulton is the man who makes the sug-
gestion, and he tells Mr. Beecher that Mr.
Tilton cannot afford to pay the expenses,
Ah, indced ! If it was Mr. Beecher’s business
to send her away, why would Tilton have
ever thought of saying whether he was able
or not able to pay Mr. Beecher’s bills? Do
you say that you are not able to pay your
neighbor’'s hack bill? Does that question ever
occur to you ! Do you ever use any such lan-
guage about paying your neighbor’s hack bill ?
If this. was Mr. Beecher’s affair—if she was to
go away for his protection, and not for Mr,Til-
ton’s—why did Mr. Moulton use the remark-
able language that ¢‘ she ought to be got out
of town, but Mr. Tilton cannot afford to pay
the expenses '’?

You cannot have a more explicit acknowl-
edgment, gentlemen, that it was understood
by all the parties that it was an affair
which Mr. Tilton was to pay, but an expense
which he could not afford to incur, because of
his reduced condition in consequence of his
dismissal. And therefore, in the interest of
peace, when they are getting everybody to
retract and are seeking to repair Mr. Tilton's
character—everybody is to retract that has
ever said anything against him—they say it
is indispensable to his salvation from this
girl that she be got out of Brooklyn, but he
could not afford to pay the expenses. Then
Mr. Beecher says : ** If it will be doing a fav-
or to Mr. Tilton, I will pay the expenses of
sending her to school; I will meet these

expenses ; Mr. Tilton is in reduced circum-
stances; Mr. Tilton's income has been cut
off ; if it is really necessary to his restoration
that this girl should be got away where she
cannot talk, why send her to school and I
will pay the expenses.”’ And now these men
come in, gentlemen, and attempt by their
oath to turn upon Mr. Beecher a transaction
that was instituted and carried forward, as
the written documents which we have already
introduced, as the evidence which we shall
further introduce will show you, for Tilton’s
benefit. Yet, that has been made a charge
of crime against Mr. Beecher. But, gentle-
men, they soon found that reinstatement was
impossible; Bowen could not or would not
take Mr. Tilton back. Therefore, the scheme
of The Golden Age was started. That history,
gentlemen, you know ; Ishall not dwell upon
it. Sufficient to say that it was started under
auspices that were favorable, and that Mr.
Tilton believed he wus going to have a great
success in that paper, and he probably would
have had a success in it but for the folly
which he was led to commit in the summer
followicg, in writing Mrs. Woodhull’s life.

UTTERANCES INCONSISTENT WITH
: ADULTERY.

There is another fact, gentlemen, that
transpired at the interview on January 3d or
4th, to which I desire to call your attention.
It is the interview when Mr. Beecher meets
Mcr. Tilton at Mr. Moulton's house, early in
January, when Mr. Tilton cut him, you will
remember: did not receive him cordially. I
call your attention to it briefly in support of
the theory that we are now attempting to
bring before you, that the action of all of
thege parties has been inconsistent with adul-
tery. Mr. Moulton says that Mr. Tilton did
not recognize Mr. Beecher cordially at their
first meeting, after January, and he upbraided
him for it. He says: * Why, Mr. Beecher
has done all he could; he has apologized.
You ought to accept it; you ought to recog-
nize him, and I don’t like to have you treat
a guest in my house in this way.”” Well,
now, gentlemen, are you prepared to believe
that Francis D. Moulton used such language
as that to an injured husband who was meet-
ing the seducer of his wife? And he talked to
Mr. Tilton so severely that Mr. Tilton did
recognize Mr. Beecher. I do notdwell on it;
I only call it to your mind for the purpose of
showing simply that their actions are entirely
inconsistent with the theory which they now
seek toadvance. It is impossible that & man
can upbraid another for not shaking hands
with one who has done him such a great wrong
as that, the first time meeting him after
such a disclosure. It would be an insult and
an outrage which I do not think even Moul-
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ton could be guilty of perpetrating upon
his most admired friend.

Then comes the correspondence of February
7th, where three letters, gentlemen, were
written on the same day, written, as Mr. Til-
ton tells you, at Mr. Moulton’s suggestion.
All these writings are done at their sugges-
tion. Mr. Beecher is told, ¢* You had better
write ; there is some object that you can
accomplish by a letter ; now write.”” And
the three letters are written, two by Mr.
Beecher—one to Mrs. Tilton and the other to
Mr. Moulton—and a letter by Tilton to Moul-
ton. Now, the object of these letters, gentle-
men, is very obvious; it is to make more
complete the reconciliation which these par-
ties had attempted to inaugurate. The men
- were reconciled after this interview at Mr.
Moulton’s house to which I have just alluded,
but the woman was sulky; the woman was
resentful at her treatment; she was not
entirely reconciled. She was recovering in
health ; they were not entirely sure that when
she got out from under that roof again she
would not go talking. She did not admire the
maopner in which she had been treated by her
husband, and they wanted to make doubly
sure of her submission; so they got Mr.
Beecher to write this woman a letter, using
all the influence that he had upon her, urging
her to live with her husband, to submit to
the wrongs that she was called upon to
endure, and to build up and restore the peace
and unity of her family. That was on the
7th of February. But thereis a remark in the
letter which Mr. Beecher writes Moulton to
which I desire to call your attention, gentle-
men. It is in the line of the thought which
I am now advancing, that the conduct of
these parties shows conclusively that they
were not dealing in regard to an admitted
adultery, for in that letter of Mr. Beecher to
Mr. Moulton, speaking of Mrs. Tilton, he
says: ‘‘ My earnest longing is to see herin
the full sympathy of her nature at rest in him,
and to see him once more trusting her and
loving ber with even a better than the old
love.” Is that nota remarkable sentence for
a man to write to the most intimate friend of
a husband who has been outraged by his wife
being debauched by her pastor, for that pas-
tor to say to his friend : **Ihope to see that
husband loving his wife with more even than
the old love”—love her better than he ever
did because of this act and afterit? Is it
possible that if this was an admitted adultery,
and this man had forgiven his wife, that
Henry Ward Beecher could be urging upon
this mutual friend, this dearest friend of the
husband, that the husband should love the
wife better than he ever did before? Wouldn’t
a man be quite contented if ‘he could see the
husband love her as well as he ever did be-
fore? Gentlemen, Henry Ward Beecher wes
writing of the supposed affection which this

woman had for him, and had assured Mr.
Tilton that he had never intended any wrong
to him, that if his wife’s affections had be-
come alienated it had been by his unconscious
act, and he was suggesting undoubtedly that
if Mr. Tilton would be more attentive at
home, show his wife more attention, he could
win back her affections, and he trusted to see
that family, which bad thus been alienated
and shattered, restored and built up, and the
affection existing between husband and wife
greater than it had ever been before. That
i8 consistent ; that is honorable ; that is reas-
onable. But the suggestion that the husband
should love a wife who had been debauched
better than he ever loved her before, i8 a sug-
gestion, I am sure, that never could have
emanated from the pen of Henry Ward
Beecher.

Then there are other letters during the
winter or spring after that 7th of February,
to which I shall not call your attention. ex-
cept one, gentlemen. They have introduced
a letter here from Mr. Beecher, which they
say was an invitation to Mrs. Tilton to visit
him at his house during the absence of his
wife, and while his sister kept house for him.
Now, we shall end -all that, gentlemen, by
showing that if that was such an invitation,
or was understood to be such an invitation,
that Mrs. Tilton never, as matter of fact, did
visit Henry Ward Beecher at his house. I
shall not stop 10 discuss, and it is not my pur-
pose to discuss, the effect of the construction
to be put upon that letter ; but I simply an-
nounce to you the fact that no such visit ever
did take place. She did not call upon Henry
Ward Beecher at his house during that win-
ter. The sister was keeping house, and the
sister will be introduced on the stand and will
50 tell you. So will all the other letters, upon
which I cannot dwell at present—I mean the
later letters that passed in that winter,

Nor will I stop to consider the monstrous
story which this plaintiff has told you con-
cerning a remarkable interview which he says
occurred between bim and Mr. Beecher when
they held an inquest over the paternity of
the last child of Mr, Tilton. The monstrosity
of such a story is sufficient to shock the morul
sense of any man who is compelled to listen
toit. Yon will not believe, gentlemen, that
any such interview ever occurred. We shall
show you what did occur there by the witness
who was present and who took partin it.
That was a friendly interview, and it was one
in which Mr. Tilton expressed a wish that the
past be buried, and that the old relations of
Mr. Beecher to that family be restored, and
he resume his visits—a fact which is quite
inconsistent with adultery. But, for reasons
which are obvious to you, while Mr. Beecher
had the deepest sympathy for this woman,
and while he had the highest regard for her,

" he, of course, under the circumstances, would
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not renew his visits to that family, and
never did.

ATTERNOON SESSION.

TILTON’S RELATIONS WITH MRS.
WOODHULL.

Gentlemen, we have now approached the
period of time in this case when the plaintiff
says he first made the acquaintance of Victoria
Woodhull. Something of the history of that
acquaintance, gentlenen, has already been
detailed to you from the witnessstand. You
know something of the character and public
position of Mrs. Woodhull, of her principles
and the manuner in which she advocated
them ; and the fact of this acquaintance of
Theodore Tilton with her has also been
brought to your attention. It is conceded
that in September, 1871, he wrote and pub-
lished a biography of Mrs. Woodhull. That
has not been introduced in evidence to you,
the whole of it, at least, but enough has been
introduced to show you something of the
character of the work ; and the fact that he
published it is admitted. He tells you, gen-
tlemen, that that acquiintance of his with
Mrs. Woodhull was a misfortune to hin, and
he has stated in various ways that it was a

t misfortune, a great calamity to him.
That that was the secret of Mr. Tilton’s fail-
ure in his newspaper enterprise, The Golden
Age, I have no doubt. At least that was suf-
ficient to prevent success, if success had other-
wise been possible. But the most remarka-
ble feature of his evidence in this connection,
is that he attempts to charge the existence of
that acquaintance, and his association with
Mrs. Woodhull, to the defendant in this suit.
Even the writing of that Life, even his fall-
ing in love and becoming infatuated with this
woman, is all on account of the defendant
and for his sake, and on account of
his wife’s sake. The period which he
assigns for the beginning of this acquaint-
ance is a very remarkable one. He fixes it
about May 23, 1871, and he tells you that
before that time he had not known Mrs.
Woodbull. He represents to you, gentlemen,
a8 he is bound to do on his theory of his
cage, that his acquaintance with her being
for the purpose of preventing her from pub-
lishing this scandal, was entirely pure on his
part, that he never saw Victoria Woodhull
guilty of any impropriety, and that his rela-
tions with her have been always entirely pro-
per. Because, you perceive, as he perceives,
that if he wag compelled to admit that im-
proper relations existed between himself and
Mrs. Woodhull, even he could hardly have
the presumption to say that that was for the
sake of Henry Ward Beecher, or for the sake
of his wife. Therefore he makes his acquaint-
ance with her merely casual, having been

brought into relations with her on account of
her knowledge of this scandal, and never pur- ~
suing that acquaintance was beyond what nec-
eseary, or what he deemed to be neeessary to
induce her to suppress it and not to pub-
lish it. Now, ifit should transpire, gentlemen,
that this is a misrcpresentation on the part
of Mr. Tilton, you will at once perceive how
fatal it is to his case. If he has presumed,
under the solemnity of an oath, to acoount to
you and to this community for the remarka-
ble relation which existed between himself
and Victoria Woodhull, by invoking this
scandal and its existence, and his apprehen.
sion that she might give publicity to it, when
that statement is untrue—why, of course I
need not say to you that no man would give
credence to anything he has said here from
the witness stand.

If we satisfy you, gentlemen, that his ac-
quaintance with that woman, whether it
originated at the time he says it did or be«
fore, whether it was as chaste and unexcep-
tionable a8 he pretends it was, or not—if we
succeed in satisfying you that that acquaint-
ance did not originate and was not consinued
by him for the purpose of inducing her to
suppress this scandal, then we contradict bim
on a vital point of this case. I shall not de-
tain you, gentlemen, by a detailed statement
of what we shall show in this particular ; but
if it should happen to transpire that Mr. Til-
ton’s acquaintance with this woman did not
begin when he says it did ; if it went to a de-
gree that he says it did not; if it was carried
on for the purpose of inducing this publica-
tion instead of suppressing it, then bis at-
tempted explanation of his acquaintance with
Mrs. Woodhull will prove to him the most
fatal part of this case.

That he went down to Coney Island with
her in a carriage is admitted by him. He de-
nies that he went bathing with her. We
shall satisfy you, gentlemen, that he is mis-
taken in that particular; at least we shall
prove to you that when they arrived at Coney
Island on that occasion, they deposited their
watches in the custody of the coachman, and
went to the sea-shore, as if to bathe—all, of
course, for the sake of Mr. Beecher, and to
preserve him from this scandalous publica-
tion! And we shall show you that when they
returncd the golden locks of Mr. Tilton were
damp with the mists of the ocean, unless, in-
deed, they were dampened by the perspiration
that he suffered on account of the agony he
was enduring for the sake of Henry Ward
Beecher, in his associations with Mrs. Wood-
hull on the sea-coast at that time. We shall
show you that they returned to the carriage
with all the evidences that they had been
bathing together. We shall show you, gen-
tlemen, what is not in fact disputed here,
that when driven back to this city, they stop-
ped at the house, I think, of Moulton, and
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late in the evening they ordered a covered
carriage, and he went home with Mrs. Wood-
hull. We shall show you that he discharged
the carriage at that house, and the coachman
left him there, where, we suppose, he re-
mained all night, all for the sake of Mrs.
Tilton, and to save her from the apprehended
scandal that Mrs. Woodhull was threatening
to publish! We probably shall leave little
doubt on your minds, gentlemen, before the
evidence closes, that Mr. Tilton used that ac-
quaintance with Victoria Woodhull to stimu-
late this woman to the publication of this
scandal rather than to its suppression. Un-
less I am very much mistaken, we shall show
these two parties colluding together upon
this subject. Unless I am misinformed or
misapprebend the force of our evidence, we
shall show these parties in consultation to-
gether. We probably shall show you that
the rlip, substantially as published after-
wards, was in circulation in the newspaper
offices long before that publication, and I
think we shall leave no doubt in your minds
that Theodore Tilton knew it and under-
stood it. If we do this. and we bring you
to the conclusion tbat Theodore Tilton was
using the acquaintance of this woman to in-
duce her to make this publication instead of
suppressing it, what becomes of his oath up-
on this point and his credibility as a wit-
ness upon any other point in the case f

I need not dwell, gentlemen, to you on
the fact that Mr. Moulton and Mr. Tilton in-
duced Mrs, Moulton to go over for this wo-
man and bring her to the house of Moulton
in this city, not once, but twice, thrice, or
more. I need not dwell upon the fact that
this biography of her was published Septem-
ber 14th, in The New York Sun, as we shall
show you. It has already transpired about
what time it was published. It was published
about the same time that he published
the free-love article in The Golden Age. The
two publications were almost simultaneous,
and his publication of his principles of free-
love in The Golden Age was made, as we
* shall show you, almostin the precise lan-
guage in which Mrs. Woodbull announced
her views upon the same question about the
same time. This publication, gentlemen,
was fatal, as I have said; to Mr. Tilton’s
prospects as a journalist. The indignation
which that publication brought upon him
from one end of the country to the other was
evidence to him that his fate was sealed as
the editor of a great newspaper in this coun-
try, unless he could devise some plan for re-
lieving himself from that burden. But not
only did he publish that Life, but we have
shown you that he presided at the Steinway
Hall meeting, and introduced her there. We
have had the evidence of Mr. Moulton as to
his speech. We shall present probably a
more authentic report of it than has yet been

presented, and show you that be introduced
her as the advocate of social freedom, and
what that meant in his mind and in hers
there will be no room for doubt.

But Theodore Tilton was not content with
cultivating Mrs. Woodhull himself. He at-
tempted to involve Mr. Beecher in that asso-
ciation ; and what was the motive, gentle-
men? Having involved himself in difficulty
by this indiscreet publication, his effort was
to compel Mr. Beecher to relieve him or to
come to his relief ; in other words, having
found that he had taken upon his shoulders a
load greater than he could bear, he under-
took to ‘“unload,’” in the language of ‘‘the
street,”’ on Mr. Beecher ; and he wanted Mr.
Beecher to come forward before the public to
indorse this woman in some way, 8o that to
everybody who assailed him for publishing
her life he could point to the pastor of Ply-
mouth Church and say: *‘ True, I published
her biography, but Henry Ward Beecher in-
dorsed the woman and her sentiments at
Steinway Hall. If you have got any quar-
rel with me, you have the sume quarrel with
Henry Ward Beecher. This woman is a good
woman. This woman is a pure woman. An
enthusiast she may be; but the fact that
Henry Ward Beecher has indorsed her is evi-
dence of her purity, and does not enable any
man to condemn me for having published her
biography.”” That was his effort. It was the
scheme of himself and Moulton, and it is the
explanation of their efforts to induce Mr.
Beecher to preside at that Steinway Hall
meeting. I have no doubt if we could pene-
trate the inner recesse- of the thoughts of
these three persons, it would transpire that
the Steinway Hall meeting was devised for no
other purpose than to induce Mr. Beecher to
preside at it, and thus indorse this woman,
and thus to that extent relieve Theodore
Tilton from the scandal and the obloquy
that he had brought upon himself by publish-
ing her life. That life, as I say, was pub-
lished in September.

On the 1st of November Tilton published
the poem that has been given in evidence
here, known as ** Sir Marmaduke’s Musings,’’
and the object of that, although it is denied
by Mr. Tilton, is perfectly obvious. There
had been compurative peace from the 7th of
February, in this matter, until November 1st.
There had been no outbreak ; there had been
no scandal ; there had been nothing but such
a circulation as was given to it by the whis-
perings of Tilton and one or two others who
were quietly circulating stories injurious te
Mr. Beecher. What their nature or what
their character was we do not know, but
there had been to a certain extent circula-
tions injurious to his character in this con-
nection ; but there had been no outbreak,
and no outbreak had been threatened. None
would have been made, gentlemen, if Theo-
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dore Tilton had remained prosperous. If he
had not made this blunder of writing the life
of this woman, if he had nct become so in-
fatuated with her as to bave lost his head
and made a fool of himself. if he had gone
on prosperously in The Golden Age, having a
fair future before him, I have no idea that
any publication would ever have been made,
or any allusion made to his troubles. The
history of this case shows to you, gentlemen,
that whenever Theodore Tilton was prosper-
ous, or whenever he had a future before
him, he was as silent as the grave concerning
this scandal. It was only when in adversity,
only when he was down and was requiring
help to be lifted, only when he was involved
in difficulty and was demanding that Mr.
Beecher should put his hand beneath bim
and raise him up, that he ever bruited this
scandal at all. Then in September, I say,
at the time of this publication, all was
peaceful, but he had involved himself in dif-
ficulty . Mr. Beecher did not come forward
to indorse Mrs. Woodhull, or to relieve him
from that difficulty. It is well known, and
will be shown to you, that Mr. Beecher al-
ways repudiated that relation of Tilton with
Mrs. Woodbull. From the beginning to the
end he told him it was disastrous. From the
beginning to the end he always told him :
** There is no power on earth can lift you into
the respect of the people of this country
unless you repudiate absolutely your rela-
tions with this woman,’” That was the po-
sition that Henry Ward Beecher always held
to Mr. Tilton. It is the language he always
used from beginning to end. * You must re-
pudiate your relation there; you must cast
her off ; you must say to the people that in
some way or other you have made a mistake,
and you repent of it: and that henceforward
your conduct will be entirely free from just
cause of complaint in this particular.”’

MENACES TO MR. BEECHER.

But Mr. Beecher not moving, Mr. Tilton
must give him a menace ; he must do some-
thing to alarm him, something to stir him
up, to make him go-forward to aid him out
of the difficulty into which he had fallen
with the Woodhulls. So on the lst of No-
vember he published wbat is known as *‘Sir
Maruaduke's Musings,”” The first verse of
it is ;

¢ I won a noble fame,
But, with a sudden frown,
The people snatched my crown,

And in the mire trod down
My lofty name.”

What had happened to have the people
with a sudden frown snateh the crown of
Theodore Tilton on the 1st of November,
18717 What but his relations with Victoria
Woodhull and his doctiine of Free Love,

\

which he bad before published in The Inde-

endent and Golden Age? There was nothing
ﬂnown to the public that could have justified
that first verse in this poem except his known
relations with that woman. It was that and
that only to which he alluded. But the
poem wasan excuse merely to publish the
following verse :

“1 clasped a woman’s breast,
As if her heart I knew,
Or fancied would be true,
But proved—alas. she too,
False like the rest.”

And yet he tells you, gentlemen, that
although the story of the scandal had been
circulated among a large number of people ;
although it was known to the Woodhulls, as
he says, the May previous, who had threaten-
ed to make it public, and who had published
a card which called attention to the fact that
some prominent minister in Brooklyn was
living a life of adultery with the wife of an-
other prominent teacher in Brooklyn; al-
though it had circulated among his handful
of friends, and how far it had gone he did
not know, yet he tells you that when he pub-
lished that verse he had no idea that anybody
would think that he referred to his own wife.
Do you believe it ?

According to his own showing the story
had been in circulation for nearly a year.
How extensively circulated he could not
know, but he did know that ruwnor of a do-
mestic infelicity in his own family had re-
ceived a considerable circulation in this com-
munity. Could he be so dull as not to un-
derstand that the publication of that poem
over his own signature would be a confession
to every person who had beard it, of that
rumor, that the rumor was true, in whatever
form they may haveheard it? Whether it
was of adultery, or of improper propesals, or
of undue affection ; no matter, I repeat, in
what form they had heard the rumor, every
person who heard the rumor of a domestic
difficulty in the family of Theodore Tilton
would: have taken that poem as a con-
firmation of its truth. Didn’t he know it
would be so received? Can it be possible he
did not know it? And yet, he tells you
from the witness stand that if he supposed
any person could have imagined that that
had reference to his own domestic troubles
he would have suffered his right hand to be
cut off before he would have published it. I
say that that was a menace ; it was to send
alarm to Mr. Beecher ; it was to say to him:
4¢ Sir, you must come up to my rescue and my
relief, or you will be scandalized by this re-
port.”’ And immediately following that pub-
lication, on the 18t of November, was started
the Steinway Hall meecting, where they at-
tempted to induce—rnot only induce, but by

threats, to compel Mr. Beecher to preside.
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And it is a remarkable fact in this scan-
dal, gentlemen—it has been once stated and
proved, and probably will be again, that
in his relations with the Woodhull wo-
men, he was much more solicitous on
account of his wife and Mr. Beecher than they
were for themselves. Forit is true that Mrs.
Tilton, notwithstanding the threats and argu
ments by which he attempted to persuade ber
to acquiesce in his relations with this woman,
always scouted her and always detied her.
She never feared the slanders of Mrs. Wood-
hull, and she never accepted the arguments
of her husband that it was necessary to pla-
cate this woman and prevent her circulating
stories derogatory to her character. She
would not have the Woodhull women in her
house; and you see when Mr. Beecher was
urged to preside at this meeting and to in-
dorse this woman, he faced everything rather
than consent to it. He said : ‘‘Let her do
her worst ; you, Theodore Tilton, do your
worst ; no power on God's earth shall induce
me to indorse the principles that this woman
advocates.”

In confirmation of the fact which I bave
just stated, that Mr. Tilton’s pecuniary
wants were always the standard by which
you could determine what his course was to
be about these slanders, I am just remind-
ed by my learned associate that at the very
time of the publication of this ¢ Sir Mar-
maduke’s Musings,’” . and this effort to com-
pel Mr, Beecher to preside at the Steinway
Hall meeting, Mr. Tilton had just over-
drawn his account at Woodruff & Robinson'’s,
and was consequently out of money. Theim-
portance of that will be made apparent as we

go along to another point of this case. ButI-

refer to another fact, gentlemen, in evidence,
in support of my view that the Steinway
Hall meeting was designed for the purpose of
compelling Mr. Beecher to relieve Mr. Tilton
from the load of obloquy which rested upon
him ; and that his refusing to do so was re-
garded as un act of hostility by Mr. Tilton,
and was so treated by Mr. Moulton. From
that time forward, whatever they may have
pretended to Mr. Beecher, their course has
been one of secret hostility, which has never
ceased for a single moment. And, in support
of that, I refer you to a letter of February 6th,
1872. That is the long letter written to
Moulton on the 6th of February, 1872, which
is known on this trial as the * Ragged Edge
Letter.”” It is one in which Mr. Beecher, you
remember, refers to his having upon his
hands his church, his book, and his news-
paper, and his being so absorbed in these
labors and his course of lecturing abroad ; he
was necessarilly taken away fromn the society
of Moulton; saw but little of him, while
Moulton had Tilton constantly under his

resence ; and, therefore, was continuously
impressed with Tilton's needs and necessities,

as he necessarily could not be with the situa-
tion of Mr. Beecher. You will remember the
letter. I only desire to call your attention to
a single phrase of this letter in this connec-
tion for the purpose of illustrating the point
that I am now making. Mr. Beecher says :

 For all this fall and winter I bave felt that you
did not feel satisfled with me, and that I seemed
both to you and Tilton as contenting myself witha
cautious or sluggish liciv, willing to save myself,
bat not to risk anything for Tilton.”

¢« All this fall and winter ;”’ that is going
back to his refusal to preside at the Steinway
Hall meeting, which was the preceding
November, That is the beginning of the
coldness of Moulton towards Beecher; or, in
other words, it is the commencement of a
feeling on his part that he could not induce
Beecher to come forward and indorse this
woman for the purpose of saving Theodore
Tilton. This letter was written on the 6th
of February, 1872. About that time, you
remember, gentlemen, Tilton went West on a
lecturing tour. His controversy with Bowen
for his compensation had been pending under
the charge of Moulton from January 1,
1871. It was now February, 1872, and he
had not been paid. No money had been re-
ceived on account of it. He goes West in
1872, and returns discouraged. He finds the
public hostility against him so great that he
cannot withstand it. They did not under-
stand how it was that his relation with Z'Ae
Independent and The Union were so suddenly
and mysteriously severed. Bowen still held
out and refused to pay. The Golden Age was
failing and was not paying expenses, and
Tilton's money was again exhausted. Some-
thing must be done to replenish his treasury.
That claim against Bowen must be pushed to
a successful issue, and that amount received,
or The Golden Age and all its prospects must
collapse.

You remember, gentlemen, the letter which
he wrote to Bowen on the 2d of January,
1871, immediately after his dismissal by that
geuntleman, in which he recounts, item by
item, the different slanders which he said
Bowen repeated against Henry Ward Beecher
at the interview on the 26th of December.
He wrote that letter. What was his motive ?
We say it was twofold: First, to show
Beecher that if he did not sever the union
between himself and Bawen, and make peace
with Tilton, he would have to subject him-
self to the publication of this letter, and to
this open scandal which would arise from its
publication, because Tilton would publish to
the world the accusations which Bowen bad
made against Beecher—the fact that he bad
instigated Tilton to write that letter, and
that that had led to his dismissal. He pre-
tends to say that he deemed the publication
of that letter necessary to a proper explana-
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tion of his dismissal. At all events, its pre-

aration and its threatened use showed

echer that if he persisted in hostility to
Tilton, and continued his relations with
Bowen, and so took Bowen’s side of the fight,
that letter would be published and he would
have to confront the public scandal which
would arise from it. It was used as a menace
to Bowen by saying, ‘* Sir, I publish this let-
ter to the world ; I inform the world over
my own signature that in that interview you
repeated those horrible scandals against
Heary Ward Beecher.  You instigated me to
write that letter. You promised to support
it. You promised to bear it to Mr. Beecher
yourself. You have borne it to him as my
friend, and you basely deserted me and joined
him, f,nd that is the explanation of my dis-
missal.”’

BOWEN THE VICTIM OF A BLACKMAIL-~
ING SCHEME,

It was a missile, therefore, that was pre-
pared to be hurled against both of these men;
but it had another object. He knew that
Henry C. Bowen would never dare to face
those accusations against Henry Ward
Beecher. He knew that Bowen would com-
Ppromise or adjust those difficulties in some
manner, because he would never take the
responsibility of fathering such a scandal as
that. He hoped, probably, in its first pre-
paration, to induce Bowen to compromise and
patch up a peace by which he would be taken
back; but, when that failed, he knew it
could be used for extorting the money.
Moulton himself tells you, gentlemen—and
it is a most significant sentence, one which I
hope was so impressed upon your minds when
it fell from the lips of that witneeg that it has
not left your minds, and will not leave them
until the case is finally decided—he told you
that that letter was prepared to be used
to negotliate with Bowen. Ah! it was a
business letter. Tilton had an eye to busi-
ness in everything that he did in this trans-
action. It was business from beginning to
end. Whether his wife’s virtue or his own
character was involved, it was all brought to
the standard of business—business; and this
letter reciting those horrible stories and ac-
cusations was prepared that it might be used
to negotiate with Bowen, says Moulton, and
it was used, as I will show you, gentlewen,
as few documents have ever been used in a
Christian community, for the purpose of ex-
torting money from a man who denied his
liability. A suit had been instituted, but
that didn’t bring Bowen to terms. Bowen is
not frightened at law-swits.  But accusations
against prominent clergymen are quite a dif-
ferent matter with him. The law-suits had
not compelled him to pay. An intimation
that that paper might possibly be used had

not induced him to pay. But when Tilton
returned from the West, what does he do!?
He makes what he calls, or heads, ‘‘ a personal
statement,”” and he goes and sets it up in
type in The Golden Age. as if he was to pub-
lish it—an explanation of the reasons why he
was dismissed from The Union and Independ-
ent by Bowen, in which article you remember
he incorporates that letter of January 1,
1871. He takes proof-slips of that article—
press.copies, a8 they are techaically known—
and what does he do with them.

Now, gentlemen of the jury, Tilton tells
you that he felt impelled to make a publica-
tion of the reasons which had led to his dis-
missal in order to satisfy the public. He
took press copies, and he took pains to have
it shown to Bowen, as if he was going to
publish it, and he takes one of these press
copies himself to Samuel Wilkeson, as we
shall show you, an owner in The Christian
TTnion, largely interested in the publishing
house of Ford & Co., who were Mr. Beecher's
publishers, and he told him that he should
publish that article unless Henry Ward
Beecher did him justice. Not unless Henry
C. Bowen did him justice. That would have
produced no effect at all upon Samuel Wilke-
son ; but he took it to Wilkeson, a friend of
Beecher, a man deeply interested in the repu-
tation and prosperity of Mr. Beecher as a
writer and a newspaper editor; a man who
was to suffer a large pecuniary loss if any-
thing happened to Mr. Beecher which should
injure his usefulness in this respect. His
house bad invested a large sum of money in
the book which Mr. Beecher was then pre-
paring—** The Life of Christ.”” It was then
uncompleted. Wilkeson saw at a glance that
if that article was published it would produce
a public scandal, which he told Tilton, then
and there, would shake Christendom, and he
says : ‘‘Tilton, you must not tbink of
making this publication. What has Mr..
Beecher done to you?’' Says Tilton : * He
did nothing to save me when Bowen dis-
missed me. He could by the lifting of his
little finger have saved me; but when I lay
upon the sidewalks in Brooklyn, deprived of
my position, deprived of my opportunity for
pecuniary profit and fame ; when he saw me
lying helpless upon the sidewalk, he passed
by on the other side; he did nothing ; he re-
fused to aid me, and now he must do me
justice.”” Bear in mind, gentlemen, that
Henry Ward Beecher owed Theodore Tilton
nothing. Theodore Tilton apparently was
not seeking to extort money from Henry
Ward Beecher, but he was seeking to obtain
what he claimed was due him from Bowen.
If he was prosecuting an honest claim, why
did he go to the friend of Henry Ward
Beecher about it at all? Why didn’t he go
to Mr. Bowen? We shall show you he did
causethe letter to be communicated to Bowen
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by another hand—a threatened publication.
Did he ever intend to publish, gentlemen?
Was that letter prepared by Theodore Tilton
with an honest intention to publish it, for the
purpose of making th's explanation to the
public, which he pretends to have thought
necessary ; or, was it prepared for the sole
and single purpose of being exhibited to the
friends of Mr. Beecher and the friends of
Bowen, to compel Bowen to settle this
account, and to compel Beecher’'s fiiends to
insist to Bowen that he should settle that ac-
count? On this important point I will cite
no other witness against Theodore Tilton but
Theodore Tilton himself. If T satisfy you,
gentlemen, that his pretense that he prepared
that article with a view to publication was
untrue ; that his whole object was to extort
the payment of his claim, which he said
Bowen owed him, and to induce Mr. Beecher
and his friends to insist to Bowen that he
should pay him—1I say, if I satisfy you that
was his only object, then I show Theodore
Tilton engaged in a transaction that can be
truly called by no other name than that of
blackmail, for no man is at liberty to resert
to threatening a publication, or creating a
gcandal aguinst another in order to compel
the settlement of a disputed claim.

You see, gentlemen, that if the allegation
upon which Henvy C. Bowen discharged Til-
ton, to wit, his immoralities, which rendered
it unsafe and improper for him to continue
his relations upon the paper, had been true,
he could have successfully defended any
action that Theodore Tilton might bring
against him. He had brought his action,
and Bowen had not paid. That this article
was prepared for the purpose of extorting this
money, as I have said, I cite no other witness
against Tilton than Tilton himself. What
does he tell you? He says that this article
was prepared and set up, and two or three
copies of it struck off; that the type wag then
“ locked up,’’ the proof corrected, in which
Oliver Johnson assisted him, and one or two
copies struck off—not over two, he says—and
he accounys for every copy, you remember,
or attempts to, and then, says he, the type
was immediately distributed.

I want to know how he could publish it in
The Golden Age. If he set up this article,
and struck off only three or four copies to be
used for private circulation, to be exhibited to
Bowen and to Beecher and their friends, and
then immediately distiibuted the type, how
could he have made the publication? The
fact that that type was distributed im-
mediately upon the striking off of these one
or two extra copies, gentlemen, i8 conclusive
evidence that be never intended to make the

ublication, never expected to make the pub-
ication. He got his copies 8o that he could
show the people that he was about to make
the publication ; so that he could say to them

he woull make the publication, but he never
intended to make it. He intended to use it
simply for the purpose of compelling the pay-
ment of this money, and when he got his
press copies, he says, he immediately caused
the type to be distributed.

But, having got his press copies, then he
proceeds to use them, and, as I say, be called
upon Mr. Wilkeson, Mr. Beecher’'s friend,
and Mr. Wilkeson was horiified at the sug-
gestion of such a publication as that. He
saw at once the fire that it would kindle. He
knew the scandal that it would create. He
knew the shock it would produce to this en-
tire community, and he said : ‘* It will never
do to make this publication, Mr. Tilton. If
Mr. Bowen owes you money he must pay it.
I will see Mr. Beecher, and Mr. Beecher has
friends in Brooklyn that can induce Henry
C. Bowen to pay that money if he owes it to
you. I will undertake to see that you get
your money from Mr. Bowen ; at least I will
aid you.” And Mr. Tilton said: ‘ What a
fortunate thing it was that I called on you
this afternoon! I was walking along Fiftia
avenue, thinking how disastrous had been all
my undertakings, how failure after failure
had met me, and as I came along past this
building, it occurred to me that my old friend
Samuel Wilkeson was here, and 1 thought I
would step in and see him. What a fortu-
nate thing it was that I did. Some kind
angel must have directed my steps hither !’
That was on the 29th day of March, 1872,
and on the 3d day of April Theodore Tilton
had a check in his pocket from Henry C.
Bowen for $7,000.

I don’t say that Henry C. Bowen was black-
mailed, gentlemen. Oh, no! Idon’t say
but what he owed Theodore Tilton honestly
that money under his contracts. It is very
clear that Tilton satisfied Wilkeson that he
did; Idon’t say how thatis; Idon’t know
how itis; I don’t care how itis; I only
know that the claim had been in existence
for 15 months, and a suit had been brought
and Mr. Bowen had not paid, and I know
that when Theodore Tilton camne home from
the west and made his personal statement,
and took three or four press copies of it, and
had distributed the type, and then went to
circulating the copies around among the
friends of Beecher and Henry C. Bowen—I
know the money came.

THE TRIPARTITE AGREEMENT.

It came as the result of an arbitration,
which produced what is known to you as the
¢ Tripartite Agreement,”” where all these
difficulties were settled and adjusted. And
here, as I shall show you, gentlemen, comes
in another one of those marvelous breaches
of faith that have characterized this plaintiff
and his ‘ mutual friend’”’ from the beginning
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of this unhappy controversy to the present
time. I shall show you now a fact which
will leave no doubt, I take it, in your minds,
if it be true—and we shall make it clear by
evidence that even the plaintiff, I think, will
hardly dare dispute—that it was distinctly
understood and agreed, not only that all the
difficulties between Henry C. Bowen and
Henry Ward Beecher, but all the difficulties
between Theodore Tilton and Henry C. Bowen
and all the difficulties between Theodore Til-
ton and Henry Ward Beecher were to be com-
promised and adjusted in that arbitration and
settlement.,

And further, gentlemen, when that arbi-
tration was concluded and the tripartite agree-
ment settled upon, it was distinctly under-
stood and agreed that every one of the
papers connected with this scandal should be
destroyed. That was a part of the arbitra-
tion ; it was a part of the agreement; that
peace was to be final and no party to that
contract was to be at liberty, or to have the
means hereafter of reviving any of the
scandals settled or adjusted there. This was
in 1872, you will remember, and the paper
then known as the apology, which had been
obtained from Mr. Beecher on the first of
January, the retraction, and the explanation
then existed, and were in the hands of Fran-
cis D, Moulton. Mr. Tilton had from Mr.
Bowen what Mr. Bowen very much desired
to recover, a letter known as the Woodstock
letter. That was to be surrendered, and all
the other papers were to be destroyed.

Now, we shall prove that, gentlemen.
Bnt how did this gentleman and his ¢ Mutual
Friend’’ carry out the agreement? I say the
same breach of good faith which has char-
acterized every act of theirs was found in
this. They agreed to destroy, but they never
did destroy. The only paper connected with
this scandal that has (’ip isappeared from the
archives of Mr. Moulton is that most im-
portant paper of all, that I alluded to be-
fore, the paper on which Theodore Tilton ac-
cused Henry Ward Beecher on the night of
the 80th of December. That paper has dis-
appeared. That paper, they say, was destroy-
ed after the tripartite agreement, and in con-
sequence of the tripartite agreement. Don’t
forget that, gentlemen. They tell you their
excuse, and their only excuse for destroying
that paper, for picking it out from among
the mass of papers held by Moulton, and de-
stroying it, was that the destruction of that
followed in consequence of the ¢ tripartite
agreement.”” They do not admit, of course,
that it was a part of the * tngartma agree-
pient” that it should be destroyed ; but they
destroyed it afterwards, and in consequence
of that. Why didn’t they destroy all the

pers then? They had agreed to. Why
did they select this one paper? If it exmted
to-day, this case could not stir one single

step. Why did they pick that out from
among the mass and get rid of that paper,
aud yet hold Mr. Beecher’s papers in their

jon, which afterwards, by means of
oral confessions and oral testimony, they
could make to mean: whatever they chose to
make them to mean? And the question I am
putting to you, gentlemen, all through this
case i8, whether these parties have been ac-
ting in good faith—have been fulfilling their
agreements and their arrangements which
they have entered into from time to time.
I say they have not. I say they have been
conspirators all this time against Henry
Ward Beecher ; and if I show you that, in
any important point of this case, they have
been guilty of breach of faith, that they
have violated their contracts, and have ob-
tained advantages by fraud which they have
afterwards retained and used against him,
that is evidence sufficient to show that they
are conspirators, and have been manipulating
this defendant from the beginning to the
end, with the view of holding him in their
power go long as they could use him, and
when they could do that no longer to destroy
him if they could.

One word more upon the ** tripartite agree-
ment.”” Tilton tells you on his cross-exami-
nation, gentlemen, that the signing of the
‘¢ tripartite agreement ’’ had nothing what-
ever to do with the award of the money;
that the money had been paid, and it had
been actnally received by him some time be-
fore there was anything at all said about this
‘“ tripartite agreement ; '’ that it was a sub-
sequent suggestion, brought up and signed
by mutual consent, in no manner resting
upon this arbitration. There, gentlemen,
we ghall show you he is not truthful. On the
contrary, we shall show that the very first step
in this arbitration was the *¢ tripartite agree-
ment,”’ and the award followed the agree-
ment to sign, and not the agreement to sign
followed the award. We shall show you
that, two days before this check was prepared
and before this award was made, the ** tri-
partite agreement '’ was drafted and was pre-
sented to this plaintiff, and he objected to a
clause of it, and all his objections were met
and arranged, and tbat the paper as agreed
to by him finally to be signed, and as it was
finally gigned by him, was presented on the
night of the arbitration, and was assented to
in the presence of the arbitrators before they
made any award at all, or considered the
question of award ; and that after this ¢ tri-
partite agreement ' had been fixed upon, and
all its terms settled satisfactorily to Tilton,
then the arbitrators withdrew into another
room, heard his statement and Moulton’s
statement and Bowen’s statement, and then
made the award. Then the ‘¢ tripartite
agreement '’ was taken by Mr. Wilkeson and

engrossed—it having been in detached pieces
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and erased and interlined—engrossed by Mr.
‘Wilkeson, just as it was agreed upon by the
parties that night, and then it was signed ;
but the agreement to sign it and the terms
of the agreement were all fixed before the
arbitration commenced at all, and as a matter
that preceded the arbitration.

Well, gentlemen, Mr. Tilton got his $7,000
from Bowen, and was then in a prosper-
ous condition. It is a remarkable fact,
however, that just as he got the $7,000, his
dear friend, Mr. Woodruff, took advantage
of that $7,000 to get relieved from hig sub-
scription to The Golden Age, and all the
parties got relieved from their subscriptions.
If it should be necessary to go into that
question farther (it is not very important and
we may not do s0), but if it is necessary, we
shall have no difficulty in showing you that
Mr. Woodruff urged the other parties to
accept these terms, on the distinct ground
that the paper was to fail; that he had no
confidence in it himself, and said it never
could succeed, owing to Mr. Tilton’s fatal
connection with the Woodhull woman —that
he himself was entirely disgusted with the
whole crowd, and wanted to get out of it, and
that he urged the other subecribers to get out
of it in the same way, and it was upon his
argument and his suggestion that they did it.
This was on the 4th or 5th of April,

THE GREELEY CAMPAIGN AND THE
WOODHULL SCANDALL.

You will remember that the Cincinnati
Convention followed soon after, in the begin-
ning of May. Mr. Tilton went to the Cincin-
nati Convention. He claims, in an article
subsequently published in The Golden Age,
that he suggested the nomination of Horace
Greeley to that Convention. Whether he
got it patented or not I do not know. But
at all events he took a very promineat part
in that campaign. He looked to the success
of Horace Greeley as the opening of a new
avenue to his own success; and it is fair to
say that in the beginning of that campaign
the prospect did not look unreasonable. He
went into the campaign heartily, and all
through the summer of 1872 you observe
there is no outbreak in regard to the scandal.
The money had been got from Bowen; he
had a future hope of succeas to be won in the
election of Greeley; and he bad every ambi-
tion to have no scandal that would injure
him or kis family, or injure any one; no
inducement to promulgate the scandal; and
he says he from the Woodhulls
about that time. If he did, it is clear he
separated from them on account of political
reasons, and in the hope of baving political
promotion. You lave seen, gentlemen, by

the correspondence we have introduced b:-
tween himself and Horace Greeley, early in
the previous year, how little sympathy Mr.
Greeley had with the Woodhull woman or
her doctrines ; and it was very clear to. the
apprehension of Mr. Tilton, I think, that he
could have no hope of success with Mxr.
Greeley if he continued his relations with
Victoria C. Woodhull. He once in his life,
therefore, sacrificed his love to his political
ambition. He entered into the campaign, as
I say, with high hopes of success, and nothing
oocurred until the North Carolina election,
which was calculated to quench those hopes.
But soon after, the Maine and Pennsylvania
elections settled the fate of the Presidential
campaign. )

He still, however, adhered to the fortnves
of his leader, and was engaged in New
Hampehire, just before the election, at the
time of this Woodhull publication. We may
or we may not show, gentlemen, whether he
was absent by accident or design at that
time; but that he knew that this publication
was to be made, and had known it for some
time, I have no reasonable doubt, But the
publication wasmade ; and Mr.Greeley wasde-
feated, and died soon after. Mr. Tilton’s hopes
of political success were gone in that direction.
That avenue to prosperity had been closed.
He must now seek other and different ave-
nues.

You all remember, gentlemen, the sensa-
tion which that publication created, and
the general expectation that some of the
parties, at least, mentioned in that pub-
lication—not as principals, but as persons
who had the sources of information—would
deny that they had thus given the informa-
tion to Mrs. Woodhull. There were various
parties named as the sources of information.
Mrs. H. B. Stanton was one, who denied
promptly, as you will remember. Mrs. Paulina
Wright Davis was another, who at the time
of its publication was in Europe, but who
denied instantly on its reaching her, that she
had been the source of information to the ex-
tent imputed to her, or to any extent what-
ever. Francis D. Moulton was another per-
son named in the publication as one of the
sources of information ; Theodore Tilton was
another, and the publication rested entirely
upon what was represented to be the iofor-
mation of these parties to the woman Wood-
hull. AsI have said, Mrs. Stanton and Pau-
lina Wright Davis denied it. It only re-
mained for Moulton and Tilton to deny, and
the Woodbull scandal would have been dead
—dead abeolutely, beyond the hope of a re-
surrection, without either of the principals,
Henry Ward Beecher or Mrs. Tilton, touehing
it at all. But we have shown you that Til-
ton refused to deny, and there was a long
delay. Nothing was heard from either Moul-
ton or Tilton on the subject.
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A PERSONAL EXPLANATION.

Now, gentlemen, we have reached a stage
of this case, where, for reasons obvious, I
suppose to you, and entirely so to me, my
name has been dragged into this investiga-
tion, and it has been introduced in a way, by
the plaintiff and his counsel, and his main
witness, that leads me to make you a person-
al statement of my relations to this investi-
gation and to this scandal, from the begin-
ning to the end of it, so far as they have
connected me with it. I shall not follow ne-
cessarily the order of time, but I shall begin
at the most recent date and go back.

I shall endeavor, gentlemen, to state no
fact in what -I am about to say which will
not be made plain to you by evidence which
we shall introduce, or which, with the com-
ments that I make upon the facts already
proved, will not be sufficiently plain to you
without further evidence. If some of the
facts to which I am about to refer are mate-
rial to this case, then, of course, we shall
prove them by witnesses ; but if the plaintiff
in this case bhas dragged in matters that are
not material, for the purpose of connecting
my name with this investigation, I take it
that I bave a right to make a personal ex-
planation®of those facts, although when we
offer the evidence in the case, he might prob-
ably object to it on the ground that it is not
material. We may differ on that question.

I certainly confess myself surpriged to learn
that what transpired, or is said to have trans-
pired, between myself and the plaintiff's wife
at a time prior to her appearance before the
Investigating Committee, is a matter at all
material to the issue in this case, and yet that
has been introduced by the plaintiff for the
purpose of casting an imputation upon me
and connecting my name with this investiga
tion as controlling the plaintiff's wife in her
action before the Investigating Committee.
If I heard correctly the evidence of the plain-
tiff touching that matter, he says that I told
him that I prepared every question and answer
before she appeared before that Committee.
Now, geotlemen, we shall show you, in
answer to that allegation, that I saw the
plaintiff’s wife for the first time in my life to
speak with her or to hear her speak—possibly
1 had seen her in the street before—but I saw
her probably for the first time in my life about
thirty or forty minutes before she was in the
presence cf that Committee, making her
statement. I was introduced to her by her
stepfather, Judge Morse, one of the most
reputable men in this city, about thirty or
forty minutes before she was before the Com-
mittee. I had no conversation with that
woman, except in his presence and the pres-
ence of two or three witnesses. There never
was a word passed between us as to what she
should say before that Committee or what

5

she should not say. There was no question
suggested and no answer suggested at all,
and I never so told the plaintiff, the fact being,
gentlemen, that on the sixth, I think it was,
of July, knowledge came to me, quite late in
the evening, that Mrs. Tilton was at the
house of a mutual friend of herself and her
husband, in Hicks street, desiring to commu-
nicate with some of the Church authoritfes of
Plymouth Church, and I was requested to
see her and have an interview with her to
see whether she desired to go before the
Committee. I called at that house, and I
wag informed that she had gone to consult her
stepfather as to her duty. I did not see her
then, but it was thought she would be back
in an hour, or half an hour, or something
like that, and I called again at the time that
I supposed she was to come; and she came
in with her stepfather, Judge Morse, and he
introduced Mrs. Tilton to myself in the pres-
ence of two other parties.

It was then, I think, so dark that I could
not see her face in the room where we were.
We talked a few moments as to whether she
wanted to go before the Committee or not,
and before determining the question she went
and had a private consultation with her step-
father, and returned and said to me she de-
sired to see the Committee. Her stepfather
left immediately, and I left to see the Com-
mittee, to see if they would come to where
she was to hear her statement. I went to
the Committee, and was gone perhaps ten or
fifteen minutes, and the Committee returned.
Mrs. Tilton had stepped down to the dining-
room for a cup of tea, and I stepped down there
to inform her that the Committee were ready
in the parlor above to hear her. The lady
of the house was present.

The only words that passed between Mrs.
Tilton and myself on that occasion were
substantially as follows. In the presence
of this lady, I said: * Mrs. Tilton, if
any questions are asked you this evening
which under other circumstances you might
eonsider indelicate or improper, I beg you to
believe that they are not so intended. The
Committee will undoubtedly question you,
and they may inquire into something that
under ordinary circumastances you might con-
sider indelicate.”’ She made answer that she
should not be offended by any questions they
saw fit {0 ask her, and went immediately into
the presence of the Committee, and proceeded
to make her statement. I was not gone two
minutes from the parlor until Mrs. Tilton
was seated in the presence of that Committee
making her statement before them, and she
proceeded at once without questions, and
there were but very few questions asked Mrs.
Tilton by the Committee or myself that
evening. Her statement generally was a
narrative of her relations with her husband
and family affairs. Now, I never told the
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plaintiff that I prepared every question and
answer for this lady. I was not so disposed,
and I never had any opportunity to do it, if
I had been 8o disposed. It was sn unneces-
sary reflection, it seems to me, for him to
cast upon his wife. No such thing ever
occurred.

Another effort has been made, gentlemen,
to show you that I have been guilty of un-
professional conduct in some way in connec-
tion with this case in my relations to this
plaintiff ; and it is necessary for me to refer
to the evidence already given upon the sub-
ject and then to state to you the facts as I
understand them. '

It is true that some time after the Wood-
hull publication—how long I don’t know, but
I should fix the time in either the last of
November or the first of December—Mr.
Woodruff inquired of me if I would consent
to hear a statcment of the facts comcerning
that publication, to seé¢ what answer could be
made to it. He said many people were say-
ing that Mr. Moulton, his partner, ought to
make some statement. I say here that at
this time it was well known to Mr. Woodruff,
and to everybody who knew my sentiments
on that subject, that I was the friend of Mr.
Beecher in this affair, not his counsel, for he
bad employed none, and I had no relations
to Mr. Beecher at that time which would
have led him toselect me assuch. Although
a member of his congregation, attending
church there for a few years previous, I had
never taken any prominent part at all in the
affairs of the society and was not a member
of the Church, nor was any memher of my
family, and I knew but very few people in
the Church. I knew Mr. Beecher only as
hundreds and thousands of others of his con-
gregation know him, never having spoken
with him, I think, over three or four times
in my life prior to the publication of the
Woodhull scandal. But I had been very out-
spoken to Mr. Woodruff in regard to this

ublication after it was made, and particularly
n regard to Mr. Moulton’s position towards
it. Mr. Moulton was a stranger to me ; Mr.
Woodruff was well known to me. The un-
derstanding was distinctly stated that the
employment was not professional, but a
friendly consultation of me as a friend of
Mr. Beecher, and as a friend of their firm, if
I wonld consent to be consulted and look
into the facts to see what answer, if any,
could be made to that publication. It was
distinctly understood that there was to be ne
compensation for that service. I said, cer-
tainly I would ; if I could be of service to
Mr. Beecher, or to them, in the matter, I
should willingly give my time to do so. The
next morning, or a few mornings after that,
ibly the next morning, he came around
with Mr. Moulton and introduced Mr. Moul-
ton to me; it was the first time I had ever

‘plaintiff in his evidence.

seen him. Of course, gentlemen, it wagin the
hurry of business, in the morning hours of
the day, and the conversation that occurred
there was entirely general. The Woodhull
publication was not there. I had learned
from Mr. Woodruff before, or I had heard in
the street—it was well understood, any way—-
that Mr. Moulton had certain papers in his
possession that it would be necessary to see
and consult before any one could determine
what answer could be made to the Woodhull
publication. The conversation, I say, was en-
tirely general at that interview. There was
no descending into particulars, for the obvi-
ous reason that the WoodLull publication it-
sc1f was not present, and none of these pa-
pers were present, and therefore it would be
idle to spend the time to consider the ques-
tion of what could or could not be done.
Well, my recollection is not specific as to that
conversation in the morning, as it would not
be as to any conversation occurring in the or-
dinary way in the morning hours at my of-
fice. I know generally that the object and
purpose of that interview was to introduce
Mr. Moulton to myself, and to appoint an in-
terview where the papers should be present,
and the whole question could be considered.
Such an interview was appointed, and it
took place at Mr. Moulton’s study. There
were present, as I recollect it, Mr. Moulton,
Mr. Tilton, Mr. Woodruff, and myself. Two
conversations have been alluded to by the
I remember but
one. As I recollect the conversation, I went
down to the house of Mr. Moulton on Sunday,
right after my Sunday dinner, which brought
me there not far from three o’'clock. I do
not remember Mr. Tilton’s being present
when we entered the house, or went into the
study ; I know he didn’t go into the study
with us on that occasion. We went into Mr.
Moulton’s study, and the papers were pro-
duced. The first paper presented to me was
the important paper in the case, and that is
what was then known as the apology, which
is now called the letter of contrition. I
mean the paper of January 1st, 1871. The
Woodhull’s publication was present, and of
course I has a general knowledge of the
main features of that publication. Taat let-
ter was examined by myself. I remember
reading it and I remember what I said about
it. Then the retraction was produced, and
the explanation of the retraction was pro-
duced. Those were the only three papers
which Moulton exhibited to me on that oc-
casion that have been introduced in evidence
here. Another paper, which was of very lit-
tle importance, but connected with the case,
was shown me at a later period of the con-
versation. Well now, gentlemen, there oc-
curred at that interview just what men fami-
liar with business would expect to have
occurred in this respect. The object of the
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interview being to see what answer could be
made to the Woodhull scandal, the Wood-
hull scandal was taken up with reference to
these papers, and gone over paragraph by

paragraph.

‘The first thing that I asked Moulton about,
of course, was the pistol scene as described in
the Woodhull publication. That has been
read to you once or twice. It represents
Mr. Moulton as going with a pistol and ob-
taining thid retraction from Henry Ward
Beecher under the threat of death. I asked
him if that was true and he told me no, as
he has told you here, it was not true. Then
the only other place in which his name was
connected with it was where he is represented
as going into the presence of Henry Ward
Beecher and with Mrs. Woodhull and Mrs.
Tilton urging Mr. Beecher to preside at the
Steinway Hall meeting, and where Mr. Tilton
is represented as having made a particular
speech to Mr. Beecher on that occasion, set-
ting forth reasons why he should preside at
that meeting. I asked Mr. Moulton if that
was true, and he said it was not; no such
thing ever occurred-—as he has sworn to you
that no such thing ever occurred. He said
that he had not given Mrs. Woodhull the
information or any part of the information
there published; he denied having com-
municated to her the facts; he denied hav-
ing been an actor in the scenes where he
was represented as being an actor. Now, my
recollection is that after the paper had been
looked over, a question was.asked as to what
Mr. Tilton had to say about this, and what
the foundation of the story was, if there was
any, and my recollection of it is that Moulton
said he preferred that I should hear that
from Mr. Tilton. Atall events, I remember
that Mr. Tilton was not in the room at the
time. I know he came iuto the room soon
after. Whether he was in the house when I
went there and was waiting to be summoned
to the study, I do not remember. He may
have been sent for after I went there, or he
may bave been notified that there was to be
a meeting and have come around late, and
Mr. Moulton expecting him, may have gone
down. and found him in the lower rooms and
brought him up. I remember he came into
the room after the papers had been shown to
me, and after Moulton and I had had consid-
erable talk on the subject of the Woodhull
scandal. I didn’t know when the interview
was appointed that Mr. Tilton was to be
present. His presence there was a surprise to
me. Of course, when I was asked if I had
any objection to seeing him or hearing a
statement from him, I had none at all, and I
said I hadn’t. He was brought up into the
rdom, and he brought with him considerable
manuscript, rolled, as I remember, in black
leather.

He sat down, and before he began to read

that manuscript, turned to me and said in
substance, *‘ Mr. Tracy, I don’t know what
the etiquette of your profession permits ; if I
give you a statement of my case against
Henry Ward Beecher, and he and I should
afterwards come into collision, in that case
would the etiquette of your profession per-
mit you to be counsel for Henry Ward
Beecher?”’ I did say to Mr. Tilton, as I
remember it, without discussing what the
etiquette of my profession would or would
not permit, that if I consented to receive a
statement from a man who had a controversy
with another, and tbey should come into col-
lision on that case afterward, I should not feel
at liberty to become counsel for the other

party. .

Agd thereupon he proceeded to read to me
a statement or manuscript which, as I re-
member it, was substantially the ‘‘True
Story,”’ so far as it has been produced here.
It was not a clean copy, as he says, of the
¢*True Story,” for I well remember, as he
read it to me, it was interlined and erased
and supplemented in various ways. It looked
like a draft upon which he had been bestow.
ing much labor. The only fact, the only
paper which was communicated to me, as I
remember it, which I had not before heard,
and received from Mr. Moulton, was a letter or
paper purporting to be from his wife, similar
in language and statement to that now intro-
duced here as her letter to Dr. Storrs, al-
though that paper did not purport to be
a letter to Dr. Storrs. It contained the charge
against Henry Ward Beecher of improper
proposals. That is the only fact that was
communicated to me, touching his relations
with Henry Ward Beecher, that I had not
known before, and learned from Moulton, as
I remember it. That document then pro-
ceeded after this statement to quote what is
now called *‘the letter of contrition,”” but
until recently called the ¢‘apology,’”’ the
paper of January 1st, as proof of the truth of
the allegation which Mrs. Tilton made against
Mr. Beecher. Now, it is quite true, gentle-
men, undoubtedly, as Mr. Tilton says, that
after he had made his statement to me, or
talked with me, I did take this ‘‘apology,”’
or ** letter of contrition,’’ and examine it. I
undoubtedly did that, because I had looked
at it in the first instance with reference to
the Woodhull scandal, which charged a life
of adultery between these parties as of ten
years’ duration ; that was the charge of the
‘Woodhull scandal, and I had examined it
with reference to that charge. But when
Mr. Tilton presented the case of improper
proposals and not of adultery, I did, I have
no doubt, take up that paper, and look at it
again very carefully to see how it compared
with and supported or contradicted the charge
which he made of improper proposals. There-

fore it is quite likely, as Mr. Tilton states,
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that I did have in my hands and did go over
this letter of apology after he came into the
room, and that may account for Mr. Wood-
ruff’s remembering that we had that letter
-there after Mr. Tilton came into the room.
We undoubtedly did.

The statement of improper proposals or
the statement to me having been read, the
discussion between us commenced. Now, Mr,
Tilton states to you that he read me that
¢ True Story’’ as finally completed, as I un-
derstand him to say, late in December or
the 1st of January. But, gentlemen, I am
very confident that that paper, as presented
here a8 a final paper, was never shown to me
in the world ; that is to say, I never saw or
heard of the letters of Mrs. Tilton and of Mr.
Beecher, dated December 29th, 1872, denying
this charge. I saw neither of these papers
in the winter of 1872 and 1873 ; I never saw
Mr. Beecher’s until, when the investigation
was going on, he tyrned over to me some of
his papers, and among them was this one. As
I remember it that is the first I ever saw of that
letter. I mever saw Mrs. Tilton’s letter until
I read it in the publication of Mr. Moulton or
Mr. Tilton himself. I think it was Mr.
Moulton. So I know that the ¢‘ True Story,”’
a8 :l fompleted paper, was never shown to me
at all.

I have ransacked the chambers of my

. memory since this thing has been up, and I
can recall no two conversations at Moulton’s
house where the subject of this scandal was
conversed about between Tilton, Moulton and
and myself, three of us together, and another
where Woodruff was present as a fourth.
Of course, I cannot affirm positively that no
conversation took place, but I do affirm—do
say that, to the best of my recollection, there
was but one conversation. I am certain that
the first time I ever saw Mr. Tilton on this
subject, what I have repeated in regard to
his questioning me and my answer, and his
proceeding to state the charge against Mr.
Beecheras I have detailed it now, took place.

Well, then the question’came up as to what
denial could be made of the Woodhull charge.
‘We went overititem by item, and Mr. Tilton
denied substantially the truth of the Wood-
hull publication in every important particular;
that is to say, taking up one view, one scene
after another—* Mr. Tilton, did you give this
information to Mrs. Woodhull ’ ¢ No.” In
substance he denied having been the author
of that information or any of that informa-
tion to Mrs. Woodhull as he denies it here.
So he denied scene after scene. *‘ Did such a
scene occur, or such a scene occur?”’ *‘ No.”’
¢ Then,” I said, ‘‘I don’t see why you can-
not deny this, and Idon’t see why you and
Mr. Moulton cannot deny it.”” Mr. Moulton
admitted that he could deny it so far as the
‘Woodhull publication represented him as an
actor in the scene. There was no doubt but

what he could deny it. He bhas sworn to you
on the stand that he could deny it. Why
could not Tiltondeny it? He could not ; as
he argued then, as he subsequently said in
his letter to a ** complaining friend,”” which
has been introduced here—he could not deny
the Woodhull scandal, because while that
story itself was false, there was a true story
that it did not tell ; and he insisted that he
could not deny the Woodhull scandal as such
without at the same time telling the true
story. In other words, if he denied the false
story he could only do it by telling the true
one, and he went into that sort of reasoning
which he sets out in the letter to the ‘‘ com-
plaining friend ;'’ and referred to The Police
Gazette as an illustration, just as he does in that
letter to show that where there is any truth
lying at the bottom of the story, a man could
not deny the story without telling the other
story that was true. I argued against that.
I said : ¢ The story, as you now tell it, of
improper proposals, is not alluded to at all in
this Woodhull publication. The story that
they tell, you say, is false, and inasmuch as
they don’t allude to the story that you now
tell, you are at liberty, it seems to me, to
deny the Woodhull publication without say-
ing anything about the ¢‘ true story.”” "Now,
if there was anything said about lying af
that interview, it was the discussion of the
question whether it would be a lie for a man
to say that a story which is told as a single
story, which is substantially untrue—whether
for him to say that that story was a lie
would be asserting the truth, provided there
was another transaction not alluded to in it,
but connected with it, as between the same
parties, that was true.
cannot contradict the false story, unless I at
the same time tell the true one;”’ and the
discussion was a long one, and even became
warm at times ; and it continued until ten or
eleven o’clock in the evening—but that was
the result.

They tell you that I said silence was the
one course to take. Nevertheless, gentlemen,
it must be manifest to you from their own
statements, that I did not say that silence
was the only course in this matter, except
upon the theory that Tilton put forward, that
he could not deny the Woodhull scandsl
without publishing what he called the ¢True
Story,’’ or the truth, in which he proceeded,
while exonerating his wife, to put Mr.Beecher
in the position of having assailed her virtue.
After arguing and failing to convince Tilton
that he could deny truthfully the Woodhull
story without telling the other, and he wa-
king it a condition that he would make no
answer to the Woodhull story except the one
that exonerated his wife and charged Mr.
Beecher with soliciting her to crime, I un-
doubtedly did say, as a choice between that
and silence, that silence was the only thing;

He said, ‘““No, I
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because I regarded, as every man must re-
gard, the charge against a minister of solicit-
ing.a woman, as serious a charge as that of
the actual accomplishment of the act. And
I did not suppose that it would mitigate the
alleged offense at all to deny the fact of
adultery, and to publish at the same time
the assertion of an attempt to consummate
it. Now, so far as that was concerned, I
undoubtedly did say that, as between the
two things, silence was the only thing to do;
but in no other event than that; because
both of these parties conceded the statement
of facts which, I argued, enabled them both
truthfully to deny the Woodhull pablication
as such. They could deny it without lying in
fact. I argued, as far as Moulton was con-
cerned, I remember, that to omit to deny it
was to lie, because a man who sat silent under
a falsehood, and did not deny it when it was
his duty to deny it, was morally guilty of
a falsehood.

But we failed to agree; and it was very
evident, I think, to all of the parties there,
that Tilton and Moulton and I could not get
on together with this scandal business; we
differed so widely, that my recollection is
that we never met again. Certa.inl{ We never
met except incidentally, or possibly to talk

. over some question connected with it; but

if we ever did I do not remember it. My
recollection is that that is the first and last
meeting that had ever occurred between us.
I know our differences were very radical ; and
I had no expectation when I left that house
that I should ever be consulted again by
by those parties on that subject, and I never
was, to my recollection. I stepped down and
out of the case after December, 1872.

Isaw Mr. Beecher at Mr.Moulton’s request
once after that meeting, and but once I think.
The only way I can fix the date definitely is
that I know I saw him at his house once on
the subject, and had an incidental conver-
sation with him on the letting of the pews at
his church in January, 1878. We talked five
minutes, perhaps, in which we alluded to this
subject incidentally, and it is the last time
that I ever alluded to this matter with Mr.
Beecher, until a long time after.

I considered myself out of the case, and was
out of it from that time, December, 1872,
until after the publication of the Bacon letter.
Ou the night of that publication I was sent
for by Mr. Moulton to come to his house,
and I went to his house and found Mr. Tilton
and Frank Carpenter in the dining-room.
Mr. Moulton took me to an upper room, and
then introduced to me the subject of this
Bacon letter, and said to me—after reading
it to me—that he wanted me again to come
into the case. I was very much excited and
outraged at that pnblication. It took me al-
together by surprise, for I had been so en-
tirely out of it that I had not even known or

read of Dr. Bacon's letters in The Indepen-
dent, or his address at New Haven, and 1 did
not know, and had not heard, that any such
publication was contemplated. I remember
that the conversation between Mr. Moulton
and myself regarding Mr. Tilton’s conduct
was pretty excited that night ; but he insisted
that that letter did not foreclose the possibil-
ity of a settlement and adjustment, and he
had a written abstract of a letter already
prepared, which he proceeded to read to,me.
But I wasin no condition to be convinced
that night, and went away, he requesting to
see me again. Mr. Moulton said to me that
if anything was to be done about it he was
determined that Mr. Shearman should be
kept out of the case; that he thought that
Mr. Beecher would do anything in a settle-
ment that he and I concurred in advising,
and he had sent for me for that purpose.
had been since 1872—although not in connec-
tion with this case, gentlemen—much with
Mr. Moulton, because I had been the counsel
of that firm in their difficulty with the Gov-
ernment, and it bad brought me in connec-
tion with Mr. Moulton very much; I had
seen much of him. I assume that he inferred
that he could talk with me more confidentially
than he cared to talk to Mr. Shearman, be-
cause their relations were unpleasant. He
said he must have some one with whom he
could converse confidentially, and, therefore,
he wanted me to come into the case. Myin-
troduction into the case, therefore, was as the
friend of Henry Ward Beecher, in June, 1874,
at the instance of Mr. Moulton, on the theory
that I could aid him as the friend of Mr.
Beecher, and one whom Mr. Beecher would
trust in bringing about an adjustment of this
difficulty, which he said he desired very much
to accomplish.

I saw him afterwards, when he talked to
me about this card which it was proposed
that Mr. Beecher should sign, the one stating -
that he had committed an offense against
Mr. Tilton, but no crime; and I suppose I
am the counsel alluded to in the opening *
as the one who said it would not do for
Mr. Beecher to sign that card, for I would
not approve of it. I certainly did tell Mr.
Moulton when we got into consultation that
I could not recommend Mr. Beecher to sign
that card, and should not. He thought I
was mistaken, and attempted to convince me
that I was; but he and I always differed on
that subject, and we parted company on that

Now, that is the history of my connection,
in short, gentlemen, with this scandal and
with these parties. After the publication of
the Bacon letter, and after my interview with
Mr. Moulton, I published an interview in
Th8 Brooklyn Union, giving my understand-
ing of this case, in which I stated the case as

I had received it from Mr. Tilton in '72, as a
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oharge of improper proposals. Mr. Tilton

called to see me the next day after that pub-

lication, and we had a long conversation on

the subject of my publication in The Union,

and the way I stated the case, the details of

;vhich, perhaps, it is not necessary to go into
ere.

The controversy went on until this com-
mittee was appointed. When the time was
approaching that I saw, or thought I saw, a
tendency in Mr. Tilton to change his ground
against Mr. Beecher, and instead of charging
an improper proposal, to make a charge of
adultery—as soon as I saw that, Isought Mr.
Tilton and said to him: ‘‘ Mr. Tilton, when

ou presented to me your case with Mr.
echer at Mr. Moulton’s house in 1872, you
asked me a certain question, and I made the
answer that I should not be Mr. Beecher’s
coungel if you came in collision with him on
the case that you stated to me. Now,” I
gaid, ‘‘ as long as you adhere to the case, Mr.
Tilton, as there presented, I shall adhere to
my‘promise ;" but if you ever change your
cause of action against Mr. Beecher, and say
to me that the story you told me on that oc-
casion is not true, and that your cause of
action against Mr. Beecher is an entirely dif-
ferent one from what you then presented, I
give you notice that I shall consider myself
at liberty—I shall not consider myself bound
by the promise I then made you.” Now, on
that question, gentlemen, which involves my
professional standing, there is no dispute of
facts between Mr. Tilton and myself, the
only difference is one of judgment and dis-
cretion on that question, whether he, having
stated to me one case against Henry Ward
Beecher, and obtained from me & promise
not to be his counsel, binds me not to be the
counsel of Henry Ward Beecher when he
brings an entirely different case against him.
Now, on that question, I say, there is no dis-

pute of facts.

I do not undertake to state what Theodore
Tilton will say about it now ; but I undertake
to state what he did say about it in the sum-
mer of 1874, when the question was up be-
tween us, because in the presence of a half-
dozen men he brought this allegation against
me, a8 he does now, and said, ‘‘ You agreed
at a certain time that if I ever came into col-
lision with Henry Ward Beecker you would
not be his counsel.”” My reply to him was
precisely what I have made to you to-day,
and his reply to me was, *‘That does not re-
lease you from your promise.”’ I said, * Mr.
Tilton, that is a question of judgment. I
hold that it does. You are at liberty to think
that it does not, but I gave you notice before-
hand that I should consider myself absolved,
and I do consider myself absolved from all
obligation under that promise.”” Now, gen-
tlemen, on that question, as Isay, I have
taken careful pains to be right. I have sub-

mitted this question to some half-dozen of
the most eminent lawyers in this city and
New York, before I eonsented to ap

in the case at all, and they agreed with'me
on the state of the facts that there was not
any doubt about it. As I infer, the counsel

that there is not any doubt about it. Aund
before I appeared in this case I caused the
same question to be submitted to my eminent
associates, Mr. Evarts and Judge Porter, and
they agreed that there was no doubt of my

to professional propriety.

I say that Mr. Tilton stated that and ad-
mitted the fact last summer. There is no
doubt about it; but the position he took
was, that ¢ conceding that, it don’t absolve

is the issue, as I understand it, between Mr.
Tilton and myself.

Now, gentlemen, I undertake to say that
I never understood Theodore Tilton, any-
where, to cast any imputation against his
wife as having been guilty of adultery at any
time prior to the institution of the Investi-
gating Committee in 1874. The interview
published in the Union during the summer of
1874, immediately .after the publication of
the Bacon letter, gave my understanding of
this case precisely as I had derived it from
Mr. Tilton. I had a conversation with Mr.
Tilton the day after its publication, and he
did not question the accuracy of that inter-
view, or the statement of it. The only criti-
cism he made on it was this : ‘‘ You make
me merely a martinet of jealousy. You say
that the charge was improper proposals, and
then you say that Mr. Beecher and my wife both
concur in denying that there is any truth in
that. That don’t leave me any case at all
against Mr. Beecher,” and hesaid : ‘¢ You
array my wife against me there, by saying
that she denies the truth of that allegation.”
And he criticised my taste and judgment in
permitting the publication of that interview
without seeing and conferring with him, aud
in arraying his wife against him by saying
that she denied the truth of the charge of
improper proposals. Now, gentlemen, that
is the history, in brief, of my connection with
this scandal, as I understood it. I think that
professionally I shall be entirely justified by
every lawyer, certainly, who agrees with me
on the facts : and as to these, I have Mr. Til-
ton’s admission, distinctly made.

MONDAY, MARCH 1, 1876.
FORTIETH DAY.

May it please the Court, Gentlemen oy the
Jury: When we closed on Friday night last,
gentlemen, we had reached what is now
known in this case as the period of the publi-

would agree, on my statement of the facts, |

right to appear here without any question as

you from your promise.” I said it did. That
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cation of the Woodhull scandal. We have
shown you that after that publication, Mr.
Beecher, following the advice and judgment—
the honest judgment, as he then supposed—
of the ¢* Mutual Friend,’’ Frarcis D. Moulton,
accepted the policy of silence, and that policy
was accep by all, in the supposition and
belief, on the part of my client, that it was to
be executed by all in good faith.

THE POLICY OF SILENCE.

The defendant has been widely criticized
for the policy of silence which was adopted
and long pursued in reference to this scandal.
The fact that the defendant assented to this
policy and adhered toit for several years, has
been and now is the very corner-stone of this
prosecution. The most of your time has
been occupied with evidence tending to prove
this fact—a fact never denied, but always ad-
mitted. But this policy did not originate
with Mr. Beecher. 1f we are to believe the
plaiuntiff, the policy of silence and suppression
had been adopted by himself long before
Moulton bore to Mr. Beecher the message
which brought about the memorable interview
on the night of December 80. Tilton now as-
serts that he then knew, and had konown
since the preceding July, everything he now
knows. Yet he had maintained a silence and
effected a suppression so complete that the
knowledge which he professes to have had of
the facts had never come to the ears of Mr.
Beecher. Forit is conceded by all the parties
that, down to the evening of that interview,
"Mr. Beecher did not know that he was in any
wise involved in Tilton’s domestic difficulties,
except that he had concurred with his wife
in advising Mrs. Tilton to separate from her
husband, and had repeated to Mr. Bowen
stories affecting Mr. Tilton’s character in re-
spect to marital fidelity. The object of that
interview was to inform Mr. Beecher of a fact
which Tilton says had hitherto been kept from
him. Not only from Mr. Beecher had the
knowledge of that fact been kept, but also
from the friends of the family. Moulton,
who visited the house frequently, had never
observed the slightest alienation ; Mrs. Brad-
shaw, the most intimate friend of both hus-
band and wife, had seen nothing. 8o, if this
fact, which Tilton now pretends, ever existed,
he had suppressed it most absolutely. Surely
thus far the policy had been a success.

But in December, 1870, as we have seen,
business difficulties arose between Tilton and
Bowen, which, to again repeat Mr. Tilton’s
own words, ‘‘were augumented by Mr. and
Murs. Beecher.”” At the interview in Bowen's
house on Dec. 26th, Tilton for the first time
departed from his policy of silence, and
charged Beecher with having made a dishon-
orable proposal to his wife, but did it under
¢¢ a special pledge mutually given, that noth-

ing should ever be said concerning Mr Beech-
er's demonstration towards Mrs. Tilton.”
Here the charge was made, but on the express
condition that it should be suppressed, and
should not enter into the conflict which he
and Bowen were about to inaugurate. Gen-
tlemen, that fact is susceptible of the clear-
est proof by the plaintiff’s own testimony.

Set on by Bowen, Tilton wrote and sent
that insolent demand that Mr. Beecher
should quit the pulpit and leave Brooklyn.
Tilton says Bowen assigned as a reason why
he could not sign the letter with him, that
he had just settled all his difficulties with
Mr. Beecher—but promised, if Tilton would
make the attack, he would assume and carry
on the fight. He bore the letter to Mr.Beecher;
and then , in the twinkling of an eye, Bowen
slipped through Tilton’s fingers like an eel.
Two days after signing the letter Tilton
found him an euemy instead of a friend. I
repeat again, gentlemen, that what I say
concerning the intercourse between thiese two
men I base exclusively on the statement of
the plaintiff in this court as a witness. I re-
peat again that I unwillingly condemyp any
man on the statement of this plaintiff con-
cerning any fact; but this is a fact that has
been published for years, and I believe has
never yet been denied by Mr. Bowen. Thus
deserted by Bowen, liable himself to be as-
sailed by Mr. Beecher, and threatened with
dismissal from both his papers, Tilton’s ruin
seemed inevitable unless he could suppress
the publication of his letters and repress the
indignation of Beecher which that letter had
aroused. :

For this purpose we have seen how like a
coward he attempted to interpose the body
of a sick and suffering wife between
himself and the man he had so gross-
ly outraged, and how this attempt only
plunged him into new disasters,  ren-
dering further efforts at suppression im-
perative, since it ended in Mr. Beecher’s obtain-
ing from Mrs. Tilton her written declaration
that the charges made against him by her
husband not enly were false, but had been
coerced from her while on a bed of sickness.
How anxious Mr. Tilton and his friend Mr.
Moulton were to suppress the wife’s retrac-
tion, we have already seen. If Mr. Beecher
would only consent to its suppression they
would destroy both the retraction and the ac-
cusation, or they would keep both together,
80 that one should never appear without the
other.

Thus far the policy of silence and sup-
pression had been the policy of the plaintiff.
The retraction was surrendered upen the dis-
tinct assurance of both Mr. and Mrs. Tilton,
that the whole matter from which it had
arisen should be suppressed, and suppressed
forever.

Mr. Beecher did not make, but he accepted,



72

OPENING FOR THE DEFENSE.

the proposition. When the accuser offered
to suppress the charges, the accused had no
alternative but either to consent, or else to
publish, himself, the fact that he had been
falsfily accused by a woman and her hus-
band.

Such an act is expected of no man; such
an act Mr. Beecher could not commit with-
out destroying her who had been his friend,
and who, on a bed of sickness, with uplifted
hands had called on God to witness that she
was not morally respousible for the contents
of that paper. Here the policy of silence
and suppression was united in by all the
parties ; but it was assented to on the part
of the defendant, and not suggested by him.

The next day Moulton comes again as a
messenger of peace and reconciliation, and car-
ries away with him the paper which they now
call the letter of contrition. This he took from
the defendant to the plaintiff, not as a weapon
of war, but as an emblem of peace and fra-
ternal feeling. And on February 7th, Moulton
finding that Mrs. Tilton was not so complete-
1y reconciled as he desired she should be, he,
and not the defendant, suggested the corre-
spondence bearing date on that day, in order

to establish a more perfect peace, and to

make the suppression of this difficulty doubly
gure. The only criticism to which the de-
fendant is liable in this respect is, that hav-
ing assented to the policy of silence at the
instance of the plaintiff, he accepted it in

faith and honestly endeavored to carry
it out.

This policy was thus inaugurated on the
night of December 81st, to save the plaintiff
from a ruin which the defendant could have
certainly effected had he been disposed to
press the advantage he then possessed.

But the difficulty between him and Mr.
Beecher was not the only one Tilton and his
friend Moulton desired to bury at this time.
Tilton was covered all over with foul scan-
dals, which demanded suppression. There
were the stories which had reached Bowen’s
ears, which Tilton needed to have stifled,
and to stifle which had been the object of the
meeting at Bowen’s house on the 26th of
December. That meeting, at first apparently
successful, had afterwards resulted in signal
failure. Then there were the ugly scandals,
which had come to Mr. Beecher, which he,
giving credit to them, had repeated to
Bowen on December 27th, when the latter
bore to him Tilton’s audacious demand.
There was the hideous story which Bessie
Turner had communicated to Mr. Beecher,
Mrs. Morse and others, of the manner in
which Tilton had lifted her from her bed at
night and carried her to his own, and how,
Egon anoth r occasion, he had again attempt-

the virtue of this poor child, who bhad
been adopted and cared for by his large-
hearted and benevolent wife. And more

than all, there was need to keep from public
knowledge the fact that his wife had separat-
ed from him and had threatened to leave
him forever because of his infidelities and
the many cruelties that she bad suffered at
his hands. If Theodore Tilton was to be re-
surrected from the sepulchre of in‘amy and
again set upon his feet, all the scandals must
be suppressed and kept from the knowledge
of the world.

You will see, gentlemen, that this was
a task requiring for its performance a man
possessing every characteristic which Tilton
tells us guided him in the selection of his
friend. To accomplish the part, it was neces-
sary to possess ‘‘loyalty to his employer, a
genius of administration, and great courage of
thought and action.”” I quote Tilton’s de-
scription of Moulton, given from the witness
stand. All these, Tilton says, Moulton pos-
sessed in an eminent degree. Undismayed by
the extent and variety of the evil stories that
had gathered over Tilton, the administrative
geniugs commenced at once with wonderful

| subtlety and patience the work of suppressing

them. First, Mrs. Tilton was persuaded not
only to deny the story that she had desired to
separate from her husband, but to pronounce
it a falsehood, coined by the brain of her poor
mother. So this story was for the time being
suppressed, and so thoroughly congenial to
the new master-operator was the business of
suppression, that even this denial was w.th-
held from the knowledge of Mr. Beecher.
Then Mr. Beecher was assured by the
¢ Mutual Friend'* that a story he had re-
peated to Bowen concerning Tilton’s relations
with a lady not his wife was unfounded ; and
he was induced to retract it. So that story
was silenced. Then Bessie Turner was made
to sign a retraction of her story, and this was
delivered into Moulton’s hands as a means of
suppression, after which the girl was sent
away to prevent her prattling—and so she

- was for the time being suppressed.

The last and hardest task remained: to gej
a retraction from Bowen. From him they
sought to obtain not only an indorsement of
Tilton’s character, but also the payment of
money—a hard thing to get from Bowen.
Success was achieved only by fifteen months
of persistent and laborious endeavor, A law-
suit was begun; but a law-suit could not
frighten Bowen. It induced him neither to
pay nor to retract. When every legitimate
effort had failed, another method wgs resorted
to. Tilton prepared a personal statement,
giving what purported to be the history of
bis dismissal by Bowen, and containi
the letter written by himself to Bowen, an
dated January 1, 1871, in which he repeated
the slanders which he said Bowen uttered
against Mr. Beecher. This statement was put
in type at The Golden Age office, as if intended
for publication, and printed slips of it were



HOW THE POLICY OF SILENCE WAS VIOLATED.

73

shown to Bowen and to Wilkeson, Mr. Beech-
er’s friend.

They say, gentlemen, that Bowen was not
blackmailed. I make no comment. You
have seen that a law-suit did not bring the
money, but the threat to publish this article
brought both the money and a certificate of
character to Tilton published in The Independ-
ent. The skill of Moulton was strikingly
shown in his choice of means to obtain in-
dorsements of character for his friend from
the two men whom he had the most reason
to fear. Mr. Beecher he controlled by gaining
his confidence, and by convincing him that
the stories against Tilton were false. Mr.
Bowen he centrolled by arguments of a differ-
ent character.

But Mrs. Tilton’s complaints of the treat-
ment to which she was subjected must also
be suppressed. To this end she was made to
feel that she was the only obstacle in the way
of that reconstruction of her household life
for which she longed. In the letters of Feb-
ruary 7th, every argument that could move
her was brought to bear upon her, and at last
Mr. Moulton succeeded in obtaining from her
a pledge that she would never remember her-
gelf to Theodore's harm—a pledge she too
faithfully kept, gentlemen, until by his open
and shameless attack upon Mr. Beecher, the
plaintiff drove her forth, a despairing, fright-
ened fugitive, flying as for her life from the
jaws of hell. Once before her brethren of the
church she has had liberty to speak, but
prior to that time she was forbidden ; and
now, in the crisis of this horrible struggle,
while the conflict wages over her good name,
she is again silenced. Yes, gentlemen, when
the plaintiff found that the lips of his inno-
cent wife were unsealed before the tribunal
which he had accepted, and that she was re-
solved, throwing off the incubus of her life,
to speak freely the whole truth, he made
haste to choose a tribunal where the law
would keep her dumb. And so she is sup-
pressed.

* Thus the administrative genius of the
¢‘Mutual Friend,”” inventing and executing
a policy of suppression, had accomplighed what
Tilton would never have been able to do.
Tilton’s way would have been to talk and
make *‘ statements,”’ each of which would
have added to his difficulties. Moulton's
way was to suppress talk, and get other
people to make statements which he could
stow away in his repository of material. If
he had only been able to maintain over
Tilton’s malice and folly the same command
which he a.cc;uired over Beecher’s generosity
-and Bowen’s self-interest, the first and
primary object of this conspiracy, namely, the
reinstatement of Theodore Tilton in bustness
and society, might perbaps have been accom-
plished, and Moulton might have had two

powerful and ready allies in the men he had
reconciled. ;

But Tilton whispered to as many as he
chose his malignant slanders against Mr.
Beecher—the creations of his own obscene
imagination. So long as Mr. Beecher kept
the secret, Tilton had an excellent chance to
retail his own versions as to what the secret
was. These versions varied according to his
moods; they agreed in one thing only, hatred
to Mr. Beecher. While he was in immediate
danger, Moulton was able to keep him com-
paratively quiet ; but when he had procured
his money from Bowen, and suppressed, as he
thought, the stories assailing his own charac-
ter, he did not see why the policy of sup-
pression should be rigidly adhered to merely
on his wife’s account.

Particularly after the Woodhull publica-
tion, and the substantial failure of Thke
Golden Age, Tilton took a new course towards
Mr. Beecher. What he had hitherto circu-
lated in the dark he now began to use as a
direct menace. With Mr. Beecher silence
had been a sacred duty under the circum-
stances, as he understood them. To Tilton
and his * Mutual Friend’’ it was not a duty,
but a policy, and they pursaed it just as long
and just as far as their objects required. Til-
ton’s passion and folly, left to themselves,
would soon have overthrown the whole of
their plan; but, under Moulton’s skillful
management the scandal was merely kept
alive, 8o as to torment Mr. Beecher without
provoking an open rupture, or arousing his
suspicions that the conspirators were playing
him false. Mrs. Morse, a lady whose ener-
getic tongue they were powerless to suppress,
was perpetually and falsely put forward as
the malicious source of the wild rumors
which thickened around their unconscious
victim.

This, gentlemen, is the history of the pol-
icy of suppression in this case, a policy de-
vised and inaugurated by the plaintiff and
his devoted friend, and pursued by them with
treachery for wicked ends, while it was ac-
cepted by the defendant in pursuance of a
chivalric impulse, and maintained by him
with loyalty and fidelity through every trial
and danger to the last.

HOW THE POLICY OF SILENCE WAS
VIOLATED.

Having shown you, gentlemen, how the
defendant was induced to enter into this pol-
icy of silence, and how he has pursued it for
years, in good faith, I now come to show
you how this plaintiff and this ¢ Mutual
Friend'’ treacherously and continuously vio-
lated it. We have seen how the failure of
the political campaign of 1872, and the im-
mediate death of Mr. Greeley following upon
the substantial failure of The Golden Age,
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blasted the hopes of Theodore Tilton in that
direction, and compelled him to look for new
avenues of success. Up to this time, gentle-
men, the policy which I have no doubt moved
Moulton and Tilton was mainly the restora-
tion of Tilton by this new newspaper euter-
prise which he had entered into in the at-
tempted establishment of The Golden Age.
But this had failed. The money which he
had received from Bowen in 1872 was nearly
expended ; indeed, on December 27, I am in-
formed by the accounts, the last money of
Tilton had been drawn from Woodruff &
Robinson. The $7,000 was exbausted, and
he had no means of future supply. It was
necessary, therefore, that they should look
around to find some new avenue for the ben-
efit of Tilton ; and, gentlemen, the counsel
for the plaintiff in opening this case called
your attention to a newspaper scheme that
was started and talked of in December, 1872,
Be represents it to you as the suggestion of
some one to Mr. Beecher, that now was the
great time for a newspaper enterprise in New
York, and he was the man to head it. Three
out of five editors controlling the great daily
morning press of New York had recently
died. Raymond, the youngest of them, and
the man perhaps having the best conception
of the true sphere of journalism of all men
who have ever been on the American press,
was the first to depart ; Bennett, the ablest
newspaper publisher and editor that we have
ever seen in this country, had also gone ; and
now came Greeley, by far the strongest
writer that ever wrote upon the American
morning press. He had died in the early
days of December. There remained, tben,
only, Dana, of the Sun, and Marble, of the
World, left among the men of established
reputations upon the morning press of New
York city. This scheming gentleman, look-
ing out to provide an avenue for Tilton, sug-
gested that this was an occasion for the start-
ing of a new newspaper in the city of New
York ; that now there was no greatand over-
shadowing name upon the morning press in
the city of New York ; there was a vacancy,
and Mr. Beecher was the man to fill that
vacancy, and it would be wise and judicious,
under the circumstances, for him and Tilton
to unite in that enterprise.

I thank the counsel for the plaintiff for
calling your attention to this scheme, gentle-
men, since I shall not be charged with
having forced it to your attention here. We
shall show you that the friends of Theodore
Tilton approached the friends of Henry Ward
Beecher in December, 1872, with this propo-
sition : ** Let us buy The New York ,!
which was for sale; ‘‘let us turn it into a
morning journal ; let Henry Ward Beecher
assume the editorship of it, and retire from
Plymouth Church, and let Theodore Tilton
go abroad for three or four vears and be the

head of the foreign bureau of that paper, and
by that time the Woodhull scandal will have
died away and will have been forgotten, and
he can come back and take a position upon
the editorial staff of that newspaper.”” We
shall show you, gentlemen, that meetings
were held between the friends of Theodore
Tilton and the friends of Henry Ward Beecher
to consummate that scheme. We shall show
you that the men who represented Theodore
Tilton said to the friends of Henry Ward
Beecher, ‘‘Unless something is done for
Theodore Tilton, there will be an explosion
here which will shake Christendom.’’ There
were several meetings. Not only were Mr.
Beecher’s friends approached in the city of
Brooklyn by the friends of Theodore Tilton,
but they were also approached in the city of
New York. There were two meetings at
the Union League Club, where this scheme
was fully canvassed.

But Mr. Beecher’s friends, gentlemen, did
not bite at the bait. Although every induce-
ment was brought to bear, and although
they were threatened with exposure and
menaced by a scandal, they refused to
enter into the scheme. More than that,
gentlemen, they denounced the scheme in
1872 as blackmailing; they so denounced
it to Theodore Tilton to his face, in the City
of New York, at the Union League Club.
They told him, then and there, that this
newspaper scheme which he was proposing
was no more nor less than an effort
to blackmail Henry Ward Beecher and his
friends by threatening the world and Chris-
tendom with a scandal, unless it was accepted.
‘We shall show you, gentlemen, by witnesses
whom you will not doubt; we shall show it
by a man almost as well known in this
country as the defendant himself, standing a
prince among New York merchants, whose
word bas never yet been questioned, who
told Theodore Tilton to his face: * You ask
me to subscribe to a fund to buy that paper
as the coudition of Henry Ward Beecher
retiring from the pulpit and the suppression
of this scandal—you to be interested in
the paper; I tell you it is blackmail.”” And
it did not succeed.

THE COMPLAINING FRIEND LETTER.

Another thing, gentlemen, I desire to
call your attention to in this connection.
These interviews were held in the last days of
December. Remember that Mr. Tilton and
all these parties had just resolved to maintain,
with regard to the Woodhull scandal, a policy
of silence, that this scandal was to remain a
secret, and to be kept a secret. But the
friends of Henry Ward Beecher held back ;
they did not move to the establishment
of .this newspaper. And now, I want to

call your attention to this *‘Letter to a
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Complaining Friend,”” and ask you why
it was that this pledge of silence was broken
within a very few days after it was made.
Here is a letter to a *‘ Complaining Friend,”
which is confessedly a fiction. ~Theodore
‘Tilton tells you from the witness stand that
he never received a letter from a ‘‘Com-
plaining Friend ;”’ he tells you that he never
wrote a letter to a ‘ Complaining Friend ;"
he tells you it was a fiction invented by him,
to be published by him, concerning this
scandal. Now, why wasit? I will read the
letter, gentlemen :

My CompLATNG FRIEND: Thanks for your good

letter of bad advice. You say, ‘ How easy it is to

five thc,a’l‘i’e to the wicked story, and thus end it
'orever

I have read enough to call your attention
to the letter, gentlemen. Now I go to the
foot of the letter and show you the threat
that is in it : .

“ Moreover, after all, the chief victim of the pub-
1ic displeasure is myself alone, and, so long as this
18 happily the case, I shall try with fmuence to

keeﬁ my answer within my own breast, lest it shoot
forth like a thunderbolt th.ough other hearts.’

He has told you in the letter before, you
remember, that this Woodhull scandal can-
not be answered except by publishing the
¢¢True Story,’”’ thereby intimating that he
has got a true story to publish—to tell the
world; he has got a true story to pub-
lish—referring to the scandal, in December,
and not denying it, and closing the letter
with a threat that if he should speak it
would send a thunderbolt through other
hearts. I ask you why was this lie, this con-
fessed lie, this lie of a letter to a ‘‘ Com-
plaining Friend,” when he had never re-
ceived any such letter, and never answered
any such letter? Why was it invented and
puilished at this moment, except as a menace
to the friends of Mr. Beecher? For, I want
to tell you in this connection, gentlemen,
that we shall show you at the Union League
-Club, when this friend of Mr. Tilton ap-
proached the friends of Mr. Beecher on this
newspaper enterprise, and said that that was
the only means of suppressing the scandal, a
friend of Mr. Beecher said to him: ¢ If
Mr. Beecher cabnot stay in his pulpit in
the face of this scandal, it will be still worse
for him as a journalist. He will expose him-
self to attack from every quarter; and how
is it going to benefit Mr. Beecher by getting
out of the pulpit and getting into a news-

per !’ BSays the friend: *‘ We can take
care of that. 'We have got possession of the
documents.”’ And, of course, if Henry Ward
Beecher headed a great business enterprise, in
which the friends of Theodore Tilton and
Thecdore Tilton himself were interested, they
wouldygnot kill it by publishing the jdocu-

ments against Mr. Beecher, and thus creat-
ing a scandal. And the very suggestion that
they had the documents which they would
not publish, was a suggestion that if the
scheme did not go on they might publish.
And I desire to impress upon you, gentlemen,
right here, that those documents which this
friend of Mr. Tilton was talking about in the
City of New York in December, 1872, are the
identical ones which Moulton and Tilton had
solemnly agreed as the condition of the tri-
partite agreement, in April, 1872, to burn
and destroy. They had not burned them ;
they had preserved them, in violation of
their covenant, treacherously, and now they
were uging them, and boasting of their pos-
gession, a8 a means of menace and of intimi-
dation to Henry Ward Beecher.

I am desired by my associate to call your
attention, gentlemen, to the fact that the
very day on which this letter to the ‘‘Com-
plaining Friend ’’ is dated, is the very day
that Mr. Tilton had drawn out his last dollar
at Woodruff & Robinson's; a strange cvin-
cidence. This case, as I progress in it, you
will see i8 as full of remarkable coincidences
as any case that has ever been brought be-
fore a court of justice. But that game did
not succeed. Mr. Beecher did not go into a
ne;vspaper enterprise, but §he stayed in the
pulpit.

TRICKERY WITH THE GOLDEN AGE
ARTICLE

The winter went on ; Theodore Tilton had
no employment. I now come, gentlemen,
to another fact which, unless I mistake, will
throw a greater flood of light into the hid-
den secrets of this case, and the character of
this defendant, and the mannerin which this
scandal has been worked up from month to
mouth and from year to year, than any other
fact that has yet been commented upon
during this opening. You remember the his-
tory of what is known here as * The Golden
Age article’’ that Tilton put in type after
his return from his discouraging efforts to
lecture in the west, in the winter of 1871
and 1872, the paper with which he menaced
Bowen and Beecher, and which brought the
$7,000. Now, gentlemen, that paper was pre-
served by Theodore Tilton until the follow-
ing fall, and until the publication of the
Woodhull scandal. And right at this time,
during the excitement of the Woodhull scan-
dal, and when Mr. Moulton was recommend-
ing silence to Beecher-~when these parties
were agreeing upon silence and suppression, ¥
will show you that Theodore Tilton artfully,
cunningly, as in every step of his course in
this transaction, made an effort to get that
article secretly published without assuming
the responsibility of it himself-—wanted to
bave it mysteriously published. And so he
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had a conversation with a man that he de-
nominates from the witness stand, ‘‘ That
man over there,”” whom we have since seen,
Mr. McKelway of The Brooklyn Eagle.

And it transpires, gentlemen, that on the
18th day of November, 1872, Mr. McKelway
of The Brooklyn Eagle, in pursuance of his
profession as a journalist, of course, having
read this Woodhull scandal, was sent by his
principal, Mr. Kinsella, to have an interview
with Mr. Tilton, an appointment having been
brought about and made by their mutual
friend—I will not use that term in regard to
John W. Harman. Their friend, Mr. Harman,
had apgointed an interview between Mr. Til-
ton and Mr. McKelway at Tilton’s house, and
that interview occurred on the 18th of
November, I think—18th or 19th. Weshall
show you under this head, gentlemen, not
only that Tilton gave the history of this
scandal, and of his difficulty, to McKelway
on that occasien ; we shall show you not only
that he stated to McKelway that the charge
he made against Mr. Beecher on that night
of the 80th of December was not adultery,
but improper proposals; we shall show you
that he told Mr. McKelway that his wife re-
sisted the proposals of Mr. Beecher; and we
shall show you that when McKelway applied
to him for that article—‘‘The Golden Age
article '’—for publication, he said that he had
bound himself not to publish; therefore he
could not make any publication for which he
could be held responsible to the public; that
mvould be in violation of his word. But he
had no objection to the publication, if it
could be arranged, you know! Well, how
could it be arranged? So they canvassed va-
rious schemes by which this article could be
got before the public without Theodore Til-
ton’s being held personally responsible for the
gublication; and McKelway suggested that

e might give it to somebody else, and that
somebody else should show it to him, or that
he might have a hypothetical interview with
& man ; suppose a case and thus get the facts.
And they canvassed various schemes, and
finally Tilton says, ‘I will tell you: we will
go up to my and our dexr friend John W.
Harman; I will take this article along, and
1 will give it over to him, and then, if he has

. amind to give it to you, why, that isall right.
I do not care what Mr. Harman does.”’

And so they went up to John W. Harman’s,
and walked into the parlor. There a new
difficulty met them. John W. Harman was
not at home. But Mr. Tilton is equal to any
emergency with bis suggestions. And so he
said to Mr. McKelway, ‘‘See here ; I will
write a hote to Mr. Harman, and I will leave
this paper in a big envelope right here, on
Harman's table, and then you and I will go
away, and, of course, if you get this paper,
why it is none of my business.”” And so he
put the article in the envelope and he wrote

7/

the note to Harman, and they went away,
and, of course, Mr. McKelway turned righ$
around and went back into the house and got
the paper and had it in his possession, as Mr.
Tilton knew he would. But so strong a desire
had Tilton manifested to have this letter
got before the public that when Mr. McKel-
way came to communicate the facts to his
principal they dared not publish it. They
suspected a trick and dared not publish it,
and so they dictated it to a shorthand writer,
and then returned the copy to Mr. Harman
and kept the shorthand notesin their pos-
session, and it was not until the following
April that another enterprising newspaper
man got hold of those notes and published
them in The Sunday Press.

Now, gentlemen, that is the history of the
publication of that Golden Age article. It
would have been published on the 19th day
of November, 1872, following the publication
of this Woodhull scandal, by the act of Theo-
dore Tilton, as I have stated it to you, butfor
the fact that his zeal and anxiety to have it
published, and yet to avoid the personal re-
sponsibility of its publication, were so mark-
ed as to frighten the newspaper men, and
they durst not do it. But in April, 1873, this
newspaper article came before the public in &
surreptitious way, proceeding from the iden-
tical copy that Mr. Tilton got into the hands
of Mr. McKelway in the manner which I have
stated. Of course, it created a great com-
motion. It was one of the emergencies of the
case. It was published, I think, on Sunday,
the 20th day of April.

BLACKMAIL.

Now I come to another remarkable coin-
cidence. (Samuel Weller is nothing to Til-
ton in producing remarkable coincidences.
I come to another remarkable coincidence.
said that, in the preceding December, Tilton
had drawn his last dollar from Woodruff &
Robinson—he had drawn his account, but
there was an interest account which had not
been cast up, and between December, 1872,
and April, 1878, he had deposited about $100
more, I believe. But on the 21st of April,
which was Monday, this account, which had
been previously ordered to be written up, was
paid over to Tilton.

It must have been on Saturday, the 19th,
that Tilton ordered his account to be made
out, and learned how little he had ; on Sun-
day the 20th this scandalous paper was pub-
lished—of course without his knowledge,
and on the 21st of April Mr. Tilton drew his
last dollar from the firm of Woodruff & Rob-
inson—his last cent ; down to a cent; the
books were closed.

You will note, gentlemen, the treachery
towards Henry C. Bowen of Tilton's attempt

to publish that Golden Age article.
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You will remember that Mr. Tilton had
got the money from Mr. Bowen on the prom-
ise never to repeat these scandals, and never,
therefore, to publish that letter, and he had
obtained it on the distinct understanding that
all the papers, which inclnded the one ad-
dressed to Bowen by Tilton on January 1st,
should be destroyed ; and yet, you see, in
violation of that agreement, in violation of
the agreement by which he had obtained from
Mr. Bowen $7,000, in 1872, six months after
he had so obtained that money, he was col-
luding with a journalist to get that letter
published, without being compelled to take
the personal responsibility of publishing it.
Xt was this tripartite agreement to which he
had reference when he said to Mr. McKelway :
¢¢ Why, I have agreed not to publish this
paper, therefore I cannot publish it on my
own responsibility, but if it can get before
the public without my being responsible for
it, all right.”

This brings us within a few days of a very
important event in the history of this matter.

I have shown you that in the beginning
they sought the restoration of Mr. Tilton ; I
have shown you that in the middle of this
controversy they wanted what afforded bread
and butter to him, a position as proprietor of
the Golden Age, and also in the newspaper
enterprise of 1872, But as he had gone on,
one disappointment after another had come
upon him;, no success had attended his efforts,
and it degenerated, as such things always do
degenerate, into a mere question of money.
You have heard from Mr. Moulton how, on
an occasion, he took pains to display to this
defendant the liberal offer of another person
to contribute to the support-of The Golden
Age, with the remarkable statement, gentle-
men, which I want to impress upon you, ac-
companying that exhibition, that they did
not intend to use that money. Now, if they
did not, pray why did Moulton exhibit it to
Mr. Beecher at all? If this was money
which had been rejected and was to be re-
turned, why was Mr. Beecher’'s attention
called to it? Do not suspect, gentlemen,
that Francis D. Moulton or Theodore Tilton
are bungling operators here. No more skill-
ful men ever undertook the conducting of
such a transaction as this. Mr. Moulton did
not go to Henry Ward Beecher and say,
¢ Your money or your life.”’ He did not go
to him and say: ‘‘ Mr. Tilton is bankrupt;
he is on the verge of starvation ; give me
$65,000, or I cannot keep him quiet.”” That
is the way the bungler would have done.
That is the way the unskillful operator
would have- performed it. But do not sus-
pect Francis D. Moulton of such indis-
cretion ag that. He exhibits these papers
and says: ‘‘ My God! isn’t that friendship ?
isn’t that friendship? ' Well, Mr. Beecher
was dull ; he did not actually take until he

got away from Moulton, and, as he wen
away reflecting upon what he had seen,
he said to himself, ‘‘ What does this
mean ?’ And, all at once, it occurred to
him what it meant, and in a day or two
afterwards he saw Moulton, and when he
suggested his theory about it, why, he found
that he was exaotly right; that money was
what Moulton wanted. Mr. Beecher had
taken the hint, and Mr. Beechersays : ‘“Why,
I am willing to contribute; I will contri-
bute;’’ and Mr. Moulton says: *‘ It will be
the best investment you ever made.”” But,
says Mr. Beecher, ‘‘ Ishall have to raise the
money on a mortgage.’’

Now, gentlemen, I think I do not mistake
Mr. Moulton’s evidence. Although he in-
tended, attempted to cast an aspersion on
Mr. Beecher’s character in this respect in his
public statement, when he comes upon the
witness stand, if I did mot mistake his evi-
dence, he says that Mr. Beecher told him he
would have to raise it on a mortgage, and as
soon as he could get the money on a mort-
gage he would contribute. So Moulton knew
that he was not taking the loose money of
Henry Ward Beecher. He knew that he was
requiring him to mortgage his property toraise
it. And yet he would have you believe that
this was & mere incident, a matter that at-
tracted no attention, no thought. And Mr.
Beecher went home and mortgaged the roof
that sheltered him and his aged wife and
children, to satisfy the demand of these two
conspirators, and he went to the bank and
drew the money and took it and placed it in
the hands of Moulton. And then there came
a message from Tilton—** Grace, mercy and
peace!” That money was put into the
hands of Francis D. Moulton, gentlemen,
and the day he received it he knew that Til-
ton was wanting money. That is evident
from the fact that a friend had offered to
contribute money which had been returned.
He knew that Mr. Tilton was wanting money,
and ke lost no time in sending him money.
But he sent it with a note saying : *‘ I send
you a thousand dollars and a memorandum
note. Please sign and return.”” And what
was Tilton’s answer? ¢ I cannot borrow
money, for I see no way to returning it,”’—
and he sent back the note and the check.
And then Moulton sent him the check with-
out the note, and Tilton kept the money.
And then he went on from time to time,
drawing from Moulton every time he said he
was short, for one whole year, gentlemen ;
for one entire year we have shown you that
Theodore Tilton had no other income except
the $5,000 that Mr. Beecher had deposited
for him with Moulton, and he lived on it and
consumed it, and but for the unfortunate
publication of the Tripartite eement in
May—in the last of the sgame month—there
would have been peace all that year in re-
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gard to that scandal. Remember, gentlemen,
that Moulton had never been in the habit of
loaning Tilton money. He tells you that
he never loaned him at any time exceed-
ing $500, and that Tilton only owed
him at this time about $1,000. And yet he
went on advancing him for a year until he
had advanced him the $5,000. But in the
spring of 1874 the fund was running low.
This man, who knew nothing about it, this
man who was in blissful ignorance of the
source of the revenue that was feeding and
supporting him, somehow or other bad an in-
tuitive knowledge of the fact that the pile
was becoming exhausted. Because, we shall
show you, gentlemen, that in May, 1874,
when this money was running out, this same
serviceable friend of Tilton’s, who had at-
tempted to organize for his benefit this news-
paper scheme of 1872—this same friend goes
again to the friend of Mr. Beecher and de-
mands $5,000 more for Theodore Tilton. I
am reminded of what I should have remem-
bered, that the first demand was for $10,000.
Failing in that, they offered to compromise
for $5,000. Of course, gentlemen, it was
not demanded for Theodare Tilton in the
express language of blackmail. Oh, no!
This is a case of indirection from the begin-
ning to the end of it ; indirection has marked
every step of it, and so you meet it here
again ; but the veil is so thin that the mind
of no intelligent man will fail to penetrate it.
The Golden Age was still on Tilton’s hands.
It was worthless; it was bankrupt. Tilton
was seeking to give it away, absolutely beg-
ging for some one to take it; and in 1874
there came to the friends of Mr. Beecher a
suggestion from this same friend of Mr. Til-
ton who had attempted to negotiate this
newspaper enterprise of 1872, suggesting a
scheme by which Tilton should go to Europe,
and be gone some time. But the difficulty
was to raise the money ; he had no means to
go to Europe, and it was finally said, ¢ Why,
Mr. Beecher’s friends can put into Mr. Til-
ton’s hands $5,000 of money, under the pre-
tense of a transfer of The Golden Age. We
can buy The Golden Age of Tilton, and pay
him $5,000, and then give it to somebody
(whoever will take it), and make the transfer
of The Golden Age the cover of putting into
Mr. Tilton’s bhands $5,000 in money. Now,
as I say to you, gentlemen, this Golden Age,
a8 has already appeared in the evidence satis-
factorily, and will be made further to appear
in evidence, this Golden Age was perfectly
bankrupt. Mr. Tilton had long been seeking
to get rid of it, to give it away; and it was
stated distinctly between this friend of Tilton
and this friend of Beecher, that it was only
used as a cover to transfer this money from
the hands of Mr. Beecher’s friends to the
hands of Theodore Tilton. Now, in all these
talks about newspapers, gentlemen, I want

you to bear in mind, that Theodore Tilton
was informed of the enterprise, and knew
what had transpired between his friend and
the friends of Mr. Beecher. For instance, he
was informed in 1872 who this friend was,
what he had said, and what he had done
fully; and two years afterwards we find this
- same friend—not another, but the same man
—coming again to the friends of Beecher with
a new suggestion for $5,000 more—made
$10,000 in the start, and finally reduced to
$5,000.

We will show you, gentlemen, that Mr.
Tilton was seen and talked with on the sub-
ject, and knew of the negotiation that was
going on. We shall show you that this was
about the time of the preparation of the
Bacon letter, which caused this explosion.
‘We shall show you, unless I am mistaken,
that the Bacon letter was in preparation at
the very time this negotiation for $5,000 was
going on. It was well understood by the
friends of Mr. Beecher and the friend of Mr.
Tilton that it was in preparation. If it is per-
mitted, gentlemen, we shall show you that
this scheme, when mentioned to one or two
others of Mr. Beecher’s friends—this second
scheme—was denounced as a blackmailing
operation, and they refused to submit to it,
or to have anything to do with it. Their
answer was, ‘‘If we begin now, we don’t
know where we shall stop. Pay not one
cent.”” And this fricnd of Mr. Tiléon was
informed that this money could not be raised,
and the negotiation need not longer be con-
tinued, or rather the proposition need not
longer be presented. And we shall show you,
gentlemen, that that friend then said:
‘“Well, the letter to Bacon, or the Bacon
letter, will be published, and Mr. Beecher
will be ruined.”” The $5,000 was not paid.
True to the prediction of that friend, the
Bacon letter was published, and I think no-
boddy will dispute that it has been followed
by a persistent and malignant effort to ruin
Henry Ward Beecher, and thus cause the
prophecy of that friend to come true. The
money was not raised ; Theodore Tilton did
not get his $56,000; The Golden Age passed
into other hands about this time; and this
controversy began.

MR. BEECHER'S DEFIANCE.

Now, gentlemen, I go back to the publica-
tion of the tripartite agreement and to the
scenes that followed about the first of June,
1873. That tripartite agreement, as you
have heard, was published, without the
knowledge or consent of Mr. Beecher, by one
of his friends, who had preserved a copy of
it—the only copy, I believe, gentlemen, so
far as I am informed, that Mr. Beecher or any
of his friends ever had of any paper con-

nected with the controversy; for I recall at
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this time no paper of the multitude that was
ever left in their hands or kept by Mr. Beech-
er or any of his friends. But this friend pub-
lishes a copy of the tripartite agreement, and
that caused an explosion. That was publish-
ed on Friday, May 30th. Mr. Tilton then
threatened that he would make a publication,
uunless Mr. Beecher in some way vindicated
him from the imputation which he said the
tripartite agreement, thus published, cast
upon him. Well now, gentlemen, you have
heard from the witness stand how much pains
Theodore Tilton took in changing his clause
of that tripartite agreement before signing
it. He has told you, Moulton has told you,
and other witnesges will tell you all about it.
He took it home with him, and he re-wrote
it himself—every word of it, as I believe—
and he made that clause of the tripartite
agreemeut just to suit him ; it was just what
he wanted it, and he refused to sign anything
else than just such a statement of his case as
he desired. Then one would have thought
having drawn hig own paper, that the pub-
lication of that paper would not have been a
very great offense to Theodore Tilton. We
could understand how Mr. Bowen might have
complained of the publieation, and justly ;
but it is difficult to understand how Theodore
could complain of it. But he did, and he
insisted that that publication put him ‘in the
Eeition of one having been forgiven by Mr.

echer, and therefore Mr. Beecher should do
something to right that wrong.

Mr. Beecher was not responsible for that
publication, but that was no matter. Itisa
peculiarity of this case, gentlemen, which
has marked it from the beginning to the end,
that Mr. Beecher has been held responsible
by Mr. Tilton for everything that everybody
did in coonection with this scandal. Ifa
member of Plymouth Church uttered a word
concerning Theodore Tilton, Beecher was re-
sponsible. If my friend Shearman said any-
thing that was offensive to Tilton or Moul-
ton, the man who was to be held responsible
was Beecher, not Shearman. If the Clerk,
or Assistant Pastor, or anybody else down
at Plymouth Church, did what Tilton did not
want him to do, or refused to do what he did
want him to do, the man who was to blame
for it was Beecher, and Beecher should be
held responsible. So this publication of the
tripartite agreement, which was an accident
that none of the parties to it directly were
responsible for, was to he charged home upon
Mr. Beecher, and he must redress the wrong ;
nay, more, he must do something which
would be equivalent to relieving Mr. Tilton
from the imputation that he said his own ar-
ticle put upon him. Well, now, what was
that imputation ? It is difficult for us to say,
gentlemen.

Mr, Beecher sought to convince this man
thav the publication of the tripartite agree-

ment did him no wrong ; but he insisted that
it did, and so he threatened to publish ; and,
on Saturday morning, May 31, Mr. Beecher
was sent for to come to that celebrated study
in Remsen street, where he had an interview
with Moulton and Tilton, and Mr. Tilton
threatened to make a publication ; and Mr.
Beecher went home that morning to eonsider
and determine his course. He had thought
of it through the day, and he had fixed upon
the policy that he should pursue. He had
entered into the policy of silence which they
had instituted for their own protection,
whieh they had instituted for the purpose of
suppressing the scandals that were floating
in the community against Tilton, and he had
followed that policy with the same good
faith that characterizes every act of Henry
Ward Beecher’s life. He had endured their
persecutions, their annoyance, their torments,
their threats, their indiguities, for four long
years ; but now at last, by the indiscreet act
of a friend, Mr. Tilton claimed to be so of-
fended that this policy of silence should no
longer be adhered to. * Well,”” said Mr.
Beecher, ‘‘let it come. I am prepared to
meet it. I face your publication, and I
defy you! But there is Plymouth Church,
dearer to me than the apple of my eye ; there
are these thousand trusting souls, young
men and women who have been reared up
by me and under my instruction ; there is
its Sunday School organization, which has
within it three thousand children ; there is
a power that is doing good in the land, fore-
most in every good work, carrying on every
enterprise of charity and benevolence, with
an effective force that characterizes no other
church in this city or this State. That church is
mine. Under God, I have been permitted to
raise it, to build it upand to bold it together.
Now, shall I shatter it? Shall any personal
controversy of mine be made the thunderbolt
that shall shiver Plymouth Church to atoms ?
Shall I divide it? No; that society shall be
united ; I will ight my own fight against
Theodore Tilton, but I will not drag it into
the church. I will step outside of it; then
I will welcome the conflict, if the conflict
must come.””  And so, on Sunday night, he
went down again,—this brave-hearted, true
man,—to meet the men who had been per-
secuting him for yemrs; and there he said:
‘ You publish; I resign; I welcome the con-
flict—-come on. But I take not Plymouth
Church into this conflict ; at least, I will
give these noble men and women, who have
stood by me, the opportunity to say whether
they accept my resignation, before this con-
test is inaugurated.” Thus he met them ; and
how did they receive it? Why, when he
showed to Moulton this resignation, Moulton
said: ‘‘Good God!'" It took his breath
away. He read it, and he ran down quicker
than lightning to convey to Tilton the news
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of this man’s design. The time has come
when persecution will be no longer submitted
to : the hour has come when it is liberty or
conflict, and conflict is liberty : ¢ You pub-
lish ; I fight.”” They were amazed at the
temenity of this man ; they were astounded
to find that the man they thought they had
sure hold on and whom they would lead
forever under their yoke, at last had come to
the point of saying : *‘ Gentlemen, thus far,
but no farther.”” Mr. Beecher went home,
and on the next morning he indited the let-
ter of June 1st, expecting that that was to
be the last Sabbath he would spend as minis-
ter of Plymouth Church. He supposed, in
the language of that letter, that he was
‘‘preaching his last sermon;”’ he supposed
that he should go from the pulpit, on
that Sunday night, to controversy and to
battle with these two men, who had been
hounding him for the last four years. But
he writes to Moulton: ‘I too shall make a
statement ; you publish; I publish too; I
will make a statement that will stand the
test of the Judgment Day’’—and he sends
the letter down to Moulfon. He receives
back this answer : .

“My DEAR FRIEND: Your letter makea this first
Sabbath bf summer dark and cold, like a vault.”

Ah, gentlemen, you will remember the
history of that letter. Mr. Moulton first
starts to write, and he writes the following :

“My DEaR FRIEND: You know I have never
been in sympathy with the mood out of which you
have often spoken as yeu have written this morn-
ing; I know you can stand if the whole case was
publighed to-morrow ; and‘in my opinion, it shows
a selfish faith in God, to—’

And there he stops; erases what he has
written ; and commences his letter anew;
but he says to Mr. Beecher there :

¢« I know that you can stand if the whole case was
published to-morrow.”

And so did Mr. Beecher know it; it con-
veyed no information to him; but it is a
confession passing between these two men, at
this time, showing that they both knew that,
when the truth of this cass came out, Mr.
Beecher could stand, and stand successfully.
Having written that, he goes back and writes

again :

* My DEAR FRIEND: Your letter makes this first
Sabbath of summer dark and cold, like a vault. You
have never inspired me with courage or hope; and
if I had listened to you alone, my hands would
have dropped helpless long ago. You don’t begin
to be in the dailFer to-day that has faced you many
times before. If you now look it square in the eyes,
it will cower and slink away again.”

And so it did cower and slink away !
“Yon know that I have never been in sympathy

with, but that I absolutely abhor, the unmanly
meod out of which your letter of this morning came.

This mood is a reservoir of mildew. You can stand
if the whole case were published to-morrew.
my opinion it shows oxly a selfish faith in God to
g0 whining into heaven, if yon could, with a truth
that you are not courageous enough, with God's
help and faith in God, to try to live on earth. Yoa
know that Ilove you; and because I do, I shall try
and try and try, as in the past. .
You are mistaken when you say that Theodore
Tilton charges you with making him appear as one
graciously pardoned by you. He said the ferm in
which it was published in 8ome of the papers made
it so aplpeari and it was from this that he’asked
relief, I don’t think it ithpossible to frame a letter
which will cover the case. May God bless you; I
know He will protect you.” .

A prophet was Francis D. Moulton, as well
a8 a ‘“ Mutual Friend.”’

But what sort of a God is Moulton’s, if he
believes what he asserts, ‘‘ I know that God
will protect you, Mr. Beecher,”” if Mr. Beecher
was then the man that he now pretends to say
he is? ¢ God will protect you.” Wiil
God protect the guilty? Does Moulton
think that his God protects the guilty?
Does he think that He will cover with
His protection one whoy has been for
years a cold-blooded and heartless seducer of
innocence? I affirm, gentlemen, that both of
those expressions in that letter show that
Francis D. Moulton knew that, when this
whole scandal was out, there was nothing to
affect the honor of Henry Ward Beecher asa
Christian minister.  Indiscretion it might
prove; complications arising out of family
difficulties that are hard of solution and diffi-
cult to be explained to outsiders, it might es-
tablish ; but he tells him and he tells you,
‘‘There is no guilt there, on account of which,
the world knowing it, you could not still
stand as the pastor of Plymouth Church.’’

I had hoped, gentlemen, to have in court
an authority on the subject bearing upon this
letter. I will refer to it, and state the law. It
is this, as established by the Supreme Court of
this State, that when a jury is called upon to
consider the credibility of a witness, and his
writing, which he made at the time of a trans-
action, is in conflict with the testimony that
he gives on the trial, and that testimony is
also in conflict with the other party to the
case, the jury are bound to take the writing,
and not the oath of the witness as delivered
from the stand. I read, if your Honor please,
from the 20th of Howard’'s Supreme Court
Reports, Boyd #s. Colt, page 884.

‘“Where, on a question of fact, the plaintift
swears one waga, and the defendant directly adverse,
and the defendant introduces a letter of the plain-
tiff in evidence, written before the commencement
of the action, flatly contradicting his oath, the jury
are bound to disregard his oath.

This is a decision at the New York General
Term, Sutherland, Judge, delivering the opin-
ion ;

“ The question in this case was whether the ser-
vices performed by the plaintiff for the defendant
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in London were performed under a special agree-
ment to be paid for at the rite of $1,000 per year,
or whether they were performed without any spe-
cial agreement as to the rate of compensation, and
with a view of the plaintiff receiving therefor what
they were really worth. On this question of fact
the plaintif ewore one way, and Sargeant, the
ent of the defendant, another. The jury had a
ght to credit the plaintiff and not Sarzeant, We
ought not to grant a new trial because They did so.
ut L do not see how the Jury could disregard
the plaintiff’s letter produced and read in evidence
by the defendant on the trial. In that letter, the
defendant expressly admits that he had been in the
defendant’s e.nploy for two years at $1,000, mean-
ing evidently at the rate of, or salary of $1,000 Per
year, and these two years must include the period
of his services in London up to the date of his letter
on or about the 1st of January, 1854.
It appears to me that this letter, unexplained,
‘was conclusive ?ainst the“rlalntiﬂ’, and that the
Jury were bound to disregard his oath when flatly
contradicted by his own letter, written long before
the action was commenced.
I think the judgment should be reversed and a
new trial ordered, with costs to abide the event.”

Now, gentlemen, we have shown you the
letter of Francis D. Moulton, written in June,
1873, to Henry Waid Beecher, who knew cer-
tainly quite as well as Mr. Moulton knew,
what were the real facts of this case, and in
that letter we see Francis D. Moultoa saying
to Mr. Beecher : *“ You can stand if the whole
case was published to-morrow.”’ But now he
coumes into court, and, under the solemnity of
an oath, proceeds to tell you tbat this man,
for two years before—for three ycars nearly,
had been confessing his adultery with the
plaintiff's wife.  He tells you a story which
in fact makes the defendant one of the worst
seducers and libertines the country has ever
seen; and yet he pretends to us that such a
man could stand in the foremost pulpit of
America and be received and sustained by its
people, although he should confess his crime
and the falsehoods and lies that he had told
to cover it up! Gentlemen of the jury, you
will not believe, in the face of this letter, in
the face of the numerous contradictions of
Mr. Moulton, in the face of the fact that the
witness has been himself lying about this
case, a8 he would now have you believe, for
four years—when you have heard the cvi-
dence of Henry Ward Beecher on this subject,
I say, you will not believe the testimony of
Francis D. Moulton, but will accept his letter
written on that Sunday morning of June lst,
1873, as stating the truth and the whole
trath in this unfortunate controversy.

WhileI am on this subject, gentlemen, I
desire to call your attentivn b.icfly to one or
two of the marked features that characterize
Mr. Moulton’s testimony as a witness. I
have had occasion, once or twic:, #3 I passed
along, to call your attention to special facts
where he forgets or don’t remember. His
cross-examination, in that respect, was one of
the most remarkable that I have ever seen in
a court of justice. I doubt whether it is not

6

the most remarkable that has ever been ex-
hibited before any judicial tribunal. I have
taken pains, gentlemnen, to have counted the
number of times in which Mr. Moulton, in
answer to questions on cross-examination
touching material points in this case, has said,
T don't remember,”’ or ‘I don’t recollecy;”’
the number of matters which have been called
to his attention, important and material in
this case, where he has refused to give an an-
swer, and cloaked himself under the pretense
that he don’t remember, or cannot recollect ;
and that number,gentlemen,is 305 times. Here
is a specimen. Speaking of Mrs. Woodhull,
after her Free L)ve speech at Steinway Hall,
where he heard ber, and was present with Mr.
Tilton when he presided. I asked him if he
had Mrs. Woodhull at his house after that.
[Reuding :]

¢Q. Did you have her at your house after that
speech? A. I don’t recol ect.

. Youdon't recollect? A. No.

. When Mrs. Woodhall was at your house talk-
ing about her Steinway Hall speech, did Mr ‘I'ilton
come with her? A. I don't remember whether he
was with her or not, 8ir. .

Q. Do you recollect whether he went away with
her? A. I don'trecollect, 8ir.”

Speaking of this gift that was proposed to
be given to The Golden Age, at the time he
exhibited the papers to Mr. Beecher, saying
that ¢ that was evidence of friendship,’” Iask-
him :

Q. Do you remember whether the amount
glll;ered was as high as $5,000? A. I don’t recollect,

Q. Do you remember whether it was as high as
$3,000? A. Idon't recollect.”

Then, speaking of the Woodhull speech
again: ’

*“Q. What was the subject of that speech? A. I
don’t recollect, Sir, what «he subject was.

. Well, you heard it? A. Yes, Sir.

. Was it on the marriage reiation? A. Ireally
do?'t recollect, Sir, whether that was the title or
not.

Q. I did not ask you about the title? A. You
asked me what the speech was on, whcther it was
on the marriage relation.

Q. Yes; I asked you whether the subject was
not the marriage relation? A, That, I say, I can
not tell you.

Q. You cannot tell that? A. No, Sir.”

Present at the speech—a speech that had
created great excitement—had a serious inter-
ruption—and he could not tell the subject of
the speech! And yet you will remember.
gentlemen, that, after he got out of our hands,
on cross-examination, and was taken by the
plaintiff, he was able to repeat, almost word
for word, Theodore Tilton’s speech introduc- -
ing Victoria Woodhull on that occasion, made
in 1871, though he swore he had never read
it since that time. He repeated it, I say, al-
most word for word ; a fact in human mem-
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ory that I have never before seen cqualed—
if it was true. He repeated it, only leaving
out of it that remarkable feature in which
Theodore Tilton introduced Victoria Wood-
hull to the audience as the advocate of social
freedom. With that single exception, gentle-
men, which occurs at the last end of the
8peech, his repetition of that speech was word
for word with the short-hand report publish-
ed in the newspaper the next morning,
though he tells you he had never read it since;
and yet when I had him on cross-examinas
tion, he could not tell us what the subject of
Victoria Woodhull’s lecture was!

Gentlemen of the jury, will you give credit
to the testimony of such a witness? Will
you hang the most important istues that have
been submitted tothe judgment of twelve
men for eighteen centuries, on the testimony
of such a witness as that? I repeat that, by
actual count, we have had no less than 305
such answers as those from Francis D. Moul-
ton on cross-examination.

AFTERNOON SESSION.

We were speaking, gentlemen of the jury,
of the letters of June lst, 1878, which you
will remember occurred on Sunday. The
difficulty which the publication of the tripar-
tite agreement had created was, after Mr.
Beecher’s threat of resignation, and his pro-
posal to face these men, and to meet state-
ment to statement settled, as you will see,
by a very slight concession. Moulton proved
& prophet, and this new danger did slink
away and hide its<1f when Mr. Beecher met it
tirmly and bade them do tbeir woist, and Mr.
Iilton was contented with this little card,
which he says he wiote himself, and which
was published in The Brooklyn Eagle.

“To the Editor of The Brooklyn Eagle:
. JUNE 2d, 1873,

DEAR SIR: I have maintained silence respecti
the slanders which have for some time past followe
me. I should not speak now but for the sake of
relieving another ot unjust imoutations. The do-
cameént that w s recently published, and bearing
my name with others, was pub.ished without con-
sultation either with me or with Mr. Tilton. nor
with any aathorization from us. If that document
should iead the e;ubhc to resard Theodore I'ilton
as the author of the calumaies to which it alludes,
it would do him great injustice I am unwilling
that he shoun.d even seem to be responsible for the
injurious statements, whose force was derived
wholly from others.

H. W, BEgcHER.”

Now, you will see, gentlemen, that that
card satistied Mr. Tilton ; but the document
which was published, the tripartite agree-
ment, had not asserted or profvssed to assert
that Theodore Tilton was the author of the
scandals which it recited, and the publication
of it créated no such imputation; and yet
you see that this great emergency was settled

when Mr. Beecher proposed to meet their
threats by the publication of that mild and
harmless card. But there is another fact,
gentlemen of the jury, connected with this 2d
day of June, 1873, to whick it now becomes
my duty to call your atteution.

MRS. MOULTONR’S TESTIMONY.

‘We now, gentlemen, approach one of thé
most delicate subjects which my duty calls
upon me to discuss. I refer to the connec:
tion of Mrs. Emma Moulton with this case.
Apart from her relations to this matter, I
shall not speak of this lady otherwise than
in terms of respect. I feel most deeply her
extraordinary position—the terrible emer-
gency which she bad to meet, and the over-
whelming power of the temptation before
which she has fallen. The truth of this case
makes it impossible for me to abstain from
speaking with apparent geverity of thislady’s
testimony ; but I do so with sorrow for her,
reserving all my indignation for those who
have forced her upon the witness-stand to
«wconfirm the accusations which they have in-
vented. The experience of ages has shown,
gentlemen, that among the best, the purest
and the loveliest of women, the instinct of
devotion to their husbands and their children
is so strong, and rises to such a sublime height
of unsellishness, that not only will they, in
the majority of cases, sacrifice all their own
temporal interests, but that in many instan-
ces they will consciously imperil their immor-
tal souls for the sake of saving the unworthy
men to whom they are bound by sacred ties.
This truth has always been recognized by our
law, which until eight years ago would not per-
mit wives to be called upon to testify for or
against their husbands, and by that other prin-
ciple of the law, still in force, which absolves
a woman from rcsponsibility for any crime, less
than murder, committed by her in the im-
mediate presence of her husband. This truth
is perfectly familiar to every one frequenting
our courts ; for not a week passes in which
some poor, broken-hearted, cruelly-abused
‘woman, in the lower walks of life, does not
appear in some court and swear that the in-
juriee which she had received from her bru-
tal husband were not really inflicted by him,
but proceeded from some other cause. It is
recogniz.:d by society at large, which expects,
as a matter of course, that women, otherwise
excellent and truthful, are just, in proportion
to the loveliness ahd magnanimity of their na-
tures, likely to deceive their friends in their
accounts @f their husbands’ conduct. And
this feminine weakness, which it is impossible
not to admire, even while we must strongly
condemn, it has been immortaliz:d by more
than one poet as a fit subject for pathetic
verse.  One of the most touching of
Adelaide Proctor’s poems-is il lustrative of this



MRS. MOULTON’S TESTIMONY.

83

very point. It iscalled ¢‘Milly's Expiation,’’
and is the story of a poor, high-minded girl,
who, in order to save her lover from a con-
viction for murder, committed deliberate per-
jury, and having saved him, devoted the
rest of her life to one long expiation for her
sin.

What is the relation of Mrs. Moulton to
this case? This lady is the wife of the only
man who has anything to lose by a verdict
for the defendant. Animated by his thirst
for revenge, Francis D. Moulton has periled
all on the issue of this suit. The plaintiff
himself might find some persons to excuse
him, on the supposition of an insane jealousy ;
but no such excuse can be made for his
friend. He will be held to a strict and stern
regponsibility, and the plaintiff’s failure in
this suit, as every man can see, involves Mr.
Moulton in utter and hopeless ruin.  Yet his
guilt and his ruin will not release his
unhappy wife from her allegiance, nor make
him any the legs the father of her only
child. What a terrible alternative for her!
If she so testifies as to save Mr. Beecher, she
necessarily ruins her own husband, destroys

her home, and leaves her only child to a’

blight. If, on the other hand, she can give
such testimony as will convict Mr. Beecher,
she saves her husband’s fame, at least so fur as
to prevent the exposure of his perjury. And
a woman’s confidence may lead her to hope
that she can thus reinstute him in social
position, and maintain him in the business
world.

There is much to be said in palliation of
Mrs. Moulton’s course. Her husband has
doubtless assured her with the utmost solem-
nity that he knows Mr. Beecher to be guilty ;
and this she may well have been made to be-
lieve, since it is hard indeed for a wife to dis-
believe the earnest assurances of her husband.
The struggle then presents itself to her mind
as one between her husband, asserting the
substantial truth, and her husband’s enemies
asserting substantial falschood. ‘¢ What mat-
teris it,”’ she may say to herself; ** which
side presents the truth as to details? The
side which has the substantial truth ought to
gain the victory ; and if that victory can only
be gained by misrepresenting some of the
minor circumstances, is it not better that the
truth should be sacrificed in respect to these
details, than that it should be sacrificed upon
the main issue? Mr. Beecher,”” she may say,
* has certainly been guilty of adultery. {s
it not less wicked that I should say that he
has confessed it to me, than that he should
sacrifice my husband, by falsely asserting
that he has not confessed to him ! ' Since he
has confessed to somebody, of course, wien
talking on the same subject, he must have
meant to confess to me. He expressed him-
self sorrowfully, and for what else could he
have felt sorrow ? He pcknowledged that he

had been in fault, and to what fault could he
have referred, except the crime of adultery?
If, then, I put that very word into his
mouth, Ishall only be expressing his real
meaning, and he serving the cause of sub-
tantial truth.”” Such, gentlemen, it is easy to
imagine, was the process by which Mrs. Moul-
ton convinced herself that she ought to
testify to these explicit confessions ; and hav-
ing quieted her conscience to this extent, it
was not hard to go farther, and attribute
language to herself which no lady could pos-
sibly use under such circumstances, and
language to Mr. Beecher which none buta
fool could utter.

The firgt interview which Mrs. Moulton re-
Jates obviously does not suffice to convict
Mr. Beecher, while it plainly shows that her
husband had previously given her his version
of the case. Mr. Beecher, she says, asked
her if Frank had told her the facts about
his great sorrow, and she said he had. No-
thing else that is pretended to be a confession
follows, until June 2d, 1873, when Mrs.
Moulton says she advised Mr. Beecher to con-
fess his crime before the church. This is ex-
traordinary language for a lady to use, when
conversing with her pastor in his great sor-
row. The word *‘crime’’ i8 offensive and
coarse. No lady of the refinement of Mrs.
Moulton could possibly have used it on such
an occasion. This, it will be remembered, was
the time when Mrs. Moulton says she kissed
Mr. Beecher on the forehead insympathy for his
distress. You will remember Mrs. Moulton's
singular manner in giving her testimony.
Her face was flushed, her eyes were steadily
fixed upon the floor, and she could not look
even her husband’s own counsel in the face.
During the whole of the cross-examination in
the morning session, she never once looked Mr.
Evarts in the eye. Twice she made the effort
to do so, but her eyes ingtantly wandered and
made the circuit of the court-room and the
ceiling, without resting upon her questioner.
In the afteruoon, by a desperate effort, she
succeeded in ‘doing better. But these are
minor matters. Her manner stiongly indi-
cated that she was repeating a lesson. By
another of those extraordinary coincidences
which mark her husband’s testimony, she,
too, was obliged to ‘stop and correct her ac
count of Mr. Beecher's language, by chang-
ing it from a natural to an unnatural form of
expressivn. In her direct examination she
made Mr. Beecher say, ¢ Tilton in striking at
me, sacrifices his wife,”” and immediately
changed the words into this strange form,
¢* Tilton, in stating the truth concerning me,
sacrifices his wife;”’ an awkward and utterly
unnatural mode of speech, reminding us of
her husband’s saying that Mr. Beecher spoke
of his * relations’’ —and then stopping, and
changing it into ¢ sexual relations’’— with
Mrs. Tilton. It ig perfectly clear that these
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changes were made for the purpose of insert-
ing something unnatural, with a view to the
conviction of Mr. Beecher.

I will not dwell on other points of the
story which show its inherent improbability ;
the language about the tortures of the
damned, which is plainly copied from hig
letter of February, 1872 ; the continued ad-
vice to go to the church immediately and tell
all the truth, given the day after Moulton
had so strongly dissuaded him from publish-
ing anything, and two days after Tilton had
threatened to shoot Beecher if he did tell the
truth ; the allusion to the card in The Eagle,
as a thing which he was considering, but
thought useless, when in fact the card was
already in type in The Eagle office, as Moul-
ton himself has shown ; the unutterable ab-
surdity of Mr. Beecher’s announcement that
he should never see her again, and should
poison himself forthwith, followed by his con-
clusion to postpone his death for one day,
for the sake of collecting some mementoes to
send through her to his friends. These in-
herent absurdities are enough to condemn
this story. But I shall have something even
more decisive to say upon the subject of this
interview presently.

Before coming to that, however, I desire
you to observe that Mrs. Moulton’s account
of the interview of July 18th, 1874, bears
similar internal evidence of its untruth. I
will only call attention to one point. Mrs.
Moulton accuses herself ¢f having used this
unladylike expression ;: *JIf you had con-
fessed it then, you would have been better
off. Now, you have the original crime and
four years of perjury and lying to answer
for.””  Gentlemen, you have seen for your-
selves that Mrs. Moulton is naturally a lady ;
you know and I know that she has the man-
ners of a lady. She could no more have
made that coarse and vulgar speech tp her
pastor, at that time, than she could have cut
off her hand. Nor could she have had even
the idea of *‘peijury’”’ in her mind, for Mr.
Beecher had never taken an oath, nor gaid a
word in public, except in his brief card of
June 80, 1873. But the climax is reached
when she represents Mr. Beecher as respond-
ing to that insult, ‘*You are dcarer to me
than any sister I have.”” That is the reply
he makes to her charge of perjury!

Again, the account which Mr. Moulton
gives of her interview with Mrs. Tilton in
October, 1873, is preposterous upon its face.
In her direct examination she told you that
she then called on Mrs. Tilton, to ask if she
would allow her husband to go down with
the truth. On her cross-examination, she
admitted that on this occasion she implored
Mis. Tilton to stand by Mr. Beecher, and
urged her with agony and tears not to allow
Mzr. Tilton to destroy him. That is the in-
terview which she states occurred between

herself and Mrs. Tilton, you will remember,
gentlemen, in October, 1878, at the time Mr.
Tilton had gone down to the church, at the
church meeting. But feeling the difficulty of
her position before you, Mrs. Moulton sought
to qualify this statement, by claiming that she
orly begged Mrs. Tilton to stand by Mr.
Beecher so long as she could without sacii-
ficing the truth. Yet if Mrs. Moulton is to
be believed, it was impossible for Murs. 'Til-
ton to stand by Mr. Beecher at all, without
sacrificing the truth.

But, gentlemen, there remains a graver
fact than any to which I have yet referred.
You will observe that Mrs. Moulton fixes
the principal interview with Mr. Beecher
upon Monday, the 2d of June, 1878. She
has identified that day with great particu-
larity, and left no room for misapprehension
as to date. She has alsc fixed the length of
that interview at four hours, by reference to
circumstances which cannot now be explained
away. The motive for naming this day is
obvious. There were but two days on which,
even according to the plaintifi’s theory, the
idea of suicide could possibly have been
talked about, namely: May 31 and June 2,
1873. And Mrs. Moulton was required to
confirm her husband’s story of Mr. Beecher's
contemplated suicide on May 8lst, which
wag Saturday. The testimony of Mr. Moul-
ton has left no room for a four hours’ inter-
view between bhis wife and Mr. Beecher. The
next Monday was therefore chosen as the
only available day, and it has been specified,
I repeat, wiph the utmost particularity. The
subject of this pretended conversation, and
the circumstances under which it was had,
are such as to make it certain that it either
took place on June 2, 187 % or never took
place at all.

Gentlemen, in all this the interposition of
Divine Providence is most singularly mani-
fest. For, upon that very morning of June
2d, 1873, Mr. Beecher was detained at his
own house in consultation with a gentleman
well known to you all ; and at the very time
at which, according to Mrs. Moulton, she was
tucking him up on her sofa, and encouraging
him to confess, he was seated by the side of
his own wife, and speeding on his way to
Peekskill! This we shall prove to you so
conclusively, gentlemen, that I venture with
confidenge to predict that you will see Mrs.
Moulton again on the witness stand, testify-
ing that by June 2d, she meant May 81st,
that by Monday she meant Saturday, that by
four hours she meant half an hour, that
there was nq sofa and no afghan, that nine
o’clock in the morning was seven o’clock in
the evening, and that Mr. Beecher’s card in
The Eagle was not spoken of or thought of !
Perhaps you will believe this story, gentle-
men, when thus amended, as amended ¢ w32

surely be; mt if you do, your capacity for
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belief will exceed that of any other twelve
gentlemeu in my acquaintance. For Mr.
Beecher will give you the most explicit
assurance that no such conversation as that
which Mrs. Moulton hasrelated ever occurred.
either on June 2d or at any other time, that
ke never spoke of sunicide, and she never spoke
of crime, and that the only interview between
bimself and this lady at or about this period
took place on the evening of Saturday, May
81st, lasting only from fifteen minutes to
half an hour, while Mr. Moulton stepped
down stairs to repeat Mr. Beecher’s proposed
resignation to Mr. Tilton.

Gentlemen, this portion of my task has
been a peculiarly unwelcome one to me. I
have personally known and esteemed Mrs.
Moulton. I had hoped that at the last she
might be saved from the terrible calamity
which has befallen her. I beseech you to
judge charitably of this hapless lady, dragged
down to ruin by two men who have slaugh-
tered their own wives and children, in their
desperate attempt at an impossible revenge.
She will yet repent of her grievous error.
She will realize that by truth, and truth only,
can she serve to any purpose those whom she
loves ; and she will live to ask and to receive
the forgivenes: of the man whom she has
vainly tried to derstroy.

MR. BEECHER'S REFUSAL TO AC-
KNOWLEDGE AN OFFENSE AGAINST
MR. TILTON. .

I go now briefly, for a moment, to the
publication of the Bacon letter. and to the
effort that was made to induce Mr. Beecher
to sign a card acknowledging that he had
committed an offense against Theodore Tilton,
but no crime, which offense he had apologized
for, and that apology had been accepted and
the difficulty settled, and he ¢hould not be a
party to the opening of that controversy.
That card was proposed, as you remember,
gentlemen, by Moulton, who thought, or
pretended to think, that the Bacon letter still
left open a way of compromise and settle-
ment by which this public scandal, this great
public calamity, which has been inflicted
upon the world, could be avoided. His plan
was that, Mr. Tilton having charged Mr.
Beecher with an offense in the Bacon letter,
and not bhaving characterized that offense.
Mr. Beecher should acknowledge that he had
committed an offense, but add that he had
apologized for it, that that apology had been
accepted and the case settled.

It was in regard to this card, gentlemen,
as I stated to yon on Friday evening, that T
was called into this case as the adviser of Mr.
Moulton and Mr. Beecher on that subject.
I differed with Mr. Moulton, as I there stated.
I could not see how any friend of Mr. Beecher
could advige him to sign this card. I sought

to convince Moulton that he could not sign
it ; but Moulton persisted, and. after I had
declined, still urged it upon Mr. Beecher.
You will remember, in the evidence given,
it has been stated to you by Mr. Moulton
himself, that he told Beecher that if he would
sign this card, acknowledging an offense
without stating what the offense was, Theo-
dore Tilton would accept it as satisfactory,
and if Mr. Beecher would sign it, he, Moul-
ton, would burn every paper connected with
this case, and would stand by Beecher if Til-
ton sought to wage a conflict with him after
that. Now, gentlemen of the jury. if Mr.
Beecher had known what they suy hie knew ;
if he bad been conscious of guilt with this
woman for sixteen months; if he had con-
fessed it over and over again to all these par-
ties; if it be true that his writing referred to
adultery, and not to n complicated domestic
family difficulty—if that be true, I say, how
can you explain the fact that Mr. Beecher re-
fused the offer of Mr. Moulton? He had not
distrusted Mr. Moulton at this time. Moul-
ton still had his confidence. He still believed
Moulton his friend, and he relied upon Moul-
ton fulfilling the promise if he made it.

Now, gentlemen of the jury, do you believe
that if Henry Ward Beecher had been con-
scious of his guilt, if he had known that his
guilt could be proved hy a cloud of wit-
nesses, that he would have refused the offer
to sign a card which simply acknowledged an
offense, without naming the offense, and thus
have the paper destroyed and make an ally of
Moulton whom Tilton could not have de-
tached. They would have disarmed them-
selves with the destruction of that paper.
They would have had nothing to go into
court with a case against Mr. Beecher.

How is it possible, I say, to account for
this refusal upon any known motive which
actuates or controls human nature? Why, if
Mr. Beecher had not been conscious of his own
innocence—if he had not felt confident of the
power, however thick the storm might beat
upon him, ultimately to vindicate himself
from this charge, he would have made haste
to sign that card, attach Moulton to him, and
let him destroy the papers and the evidence
against him. But he refused, steadfastly re-
fused, to do any such thing. He said, ¢ I will
8ign no card ; " and for this reason. Mr. Til-
ton had charged, it is true, in the Bacon letter,
simply an offense ; but he had charged it in
such a way that most people, reiding the
Bacon letter, thought that it intended to
charge a marital offense ; and if Mr. Beecher
had signed this card acknowledging an of-
fense, persons who wantel to believe him
guilty would say that that meant adultery,
and he would not sign unless the card should
specify what the offense was. That was the
poin:, and the point of dispute in that adjust-
ment,
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And that brings me to consider for a single
moment the card which has been given in
evidence, which Tilton tells you he prepared
after consultation with his wife, after his
wife bad been before the Committec.
It is possible that if the card bad
specified what Mr. Beecher said the offense
was, he would have signed a card admitting
an offense, and specifying what it was so
clearly that nobody could mistake it; but if
there was to be left that ambiguity about it
which would leave it open to misconstruction,
he refused absolutely to sign it. Now, gen-
tlemen, this card has been introduced, and
Mr. Tilton tells you that he prepared it in
consultation with his wife. It is a proposed
report for the Committee to make. I will
read but a single clause of it :

¢ The Committee further find that Mr. Tilton, in

his relations with the pastor, had a just cause of

offense and had received a voluntary apologr Mr.
or

Tilton declined to characterize the offense the
following reasons:
First, becaure the necessary evidence which

should accompany any statement would include
the names of persons who had happily escaped
thus far the tongue of public gossip.

Next, that the apology was designed to cover a
complicated transaction, inciuding details difficult
of exact or just statement.”

Now, gentlemen, that is precisely what
Henry Ward Beecher has always said this
controversy between himself and Theodore
Tilton wag. He has always said that that
is what his correspondence pointed to, and to
nothing else. He has always said that that
is what the letter of apology and the other
letters referred to, and nothing else. It was
an apology, in the language of this report,
**designed to covera complicated transaction,
including details difficult of exact ‘and just
statement.”” Now, you have Mr. Tilton
going home, and in consultation with his
wife, after she has been before the (‘ommittee,
agreeing with her that a certain report shall
l:e made by this Committee, and they will go
before the Committee and make a statement
which shall justify that report ; and he there
writes in his own handwriting the exact
statement that Mr. Beecher has always given
of this affair.

MR. BEECHER'S LETTERS.

I have now, gentlemen, I believe, gone
over all the fucts of this case so far as I
design to call them to your attention in this
address. You will observe, gentlemen, that
I have spent no time in commenting upon or
explaining the letters of the defendant. I
have confined myself to stating a case, which
we shall prove, which explains the letters;
and I prefer that the case should explain the
letters, 1ather than to explajn them by mere
word of mouth. When we have presepted

to you our case, when we have proven the
facts which I bave laid before you, you will
see that the case explains the letters. The
letters explain themselves. They are entirely
consistent with the case as we shall make it.
Everything here turns upon a single questijon.
When these people were talking upon gen-
eralities, when Mr. Beecher was using gene-
ral language which might cover one thing or
cover another thing, the question is, To what
were the parties referring, what did they have
in their minds? Did they have this compli-
cated transaction, the details of which were
difficult of exact statement, involving this
business trouble, involving the stories which
Mr. Beecher had told and circulated against
Mr. Tilton, involving the angry remarks
which he had made to Bowen when that
letter had been presented to him, involving
the domestic difficulty between Tilton and
his wife, in which Mr. and Mrs. Beecher had
both taken part, involving the supposed
state of Mrs. Tilton’s affections, for which
Mr. Beecher was induced to blame himself:—
was it this complicated affair which had ended
in Tilton's dismissal and injury, and for
which Mr. Beecher had been convinced that
he had been in the wrong, and had done
Tilton injustice—was it this, or was it a case
of adultery? That is the only question here -
for you. And, as I say, the case that we
have made, the fac ts that already stand proved
in this case, when . they are put alongside of
other facts which we shall prove, will show
vou heyond all question what it was these
parties were talking about, and what it is
that this general language in the correspon-
dence refers to. You will see, gentlemen,
how utterly unsafe it is to infer any
particular offense as covered by general
language that designates nothing. In all
this correspondence you will observe that but
very few facts are stated at all. This corre-
spondence consists entirely in general expres-
sions of sorrow, and regret and anguish ; but
wherever there is a fact stated in one of these
letters, when you come to consider it, ag you
will when the case comes to be summed up—
wherever there is a fact stated in one of these
letters, you will see thut that fact is against
adultery ; it tends to establish innocence and
not guilt.

But to show you how utterly unsafe it is to
say that general language points to any par-
ticular sin or crime, I desire to read to you
briefly now a letter from Mrs. Tilton dated
the 31st of January, 1868. It is conceded on
all hands that at this time this lady was per-
fectly pure. This language had no relation

‘to adultery, as the plaintiff and we both con-

cede. It is nine months before the pretended
allegation, and two years and a half before
even a suspicion had been excited. All agree
that at this time this lady had no suspicion
or thought that she had been accused of
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crime, aud certainly that she had never com-
mitted it. 8he i3 referring to the ordinary
sins, the ordinary difficulties between hus-
band and wife, and now I want you to see
how she described it :

¢ My DeAr HusBaND: I have just roturned from
Mattie's. Have the bust. Love it, &c. Oh, Theo-
dore, darling! I am haunted night and day by the
remorse of knowing that because of my harshness
and iudifference te you, you were driven to despair,
and pgrhaps Bin, and these last years of unhappi-
Dess.

There is the word ** remorse,’’ used in con-
nection with harshness, merely, bash words,
harsh language ; and yet they say that the
word ** remorse,”’ in Mr. Beccher's letter,
means adultery, cannot. mean anything else
than adultery, for what could a man have
remorse for except for the crime of adultery ?

“I sometimes feel it to be the unpardonable sin.”

Suppose this letter had been written by
Mrs. Tilton after the alleged act of orime,
‘how the changes would be rung on that
phrase! IHow my eloquent friend would ex-
patiate on that sentence, and he would ask
you what is the unpardonable sin’ of the
wife. What is it but adultery; what can it
be but adultery. And yet the sin of which
she is here speaking is the sin of harshness
to her husband, uncharitableness, and ill-
temper.

¢——and God cannbt forgive me ; but if you on!
may be restored to your former loveliness, I shall
be content tv live my life in penance, yea, in dis.
grace. I am the chief of sinners. I understand
: gerfectly how you have felt. I carryin my soul this
urden black of sin."”

Is there any such language in Mr. Beech-
er’'s letters, notwithstanding his sorrow, not-
withstandiog the woe and wretchedness that
these men inflicted on him for four years,
notwithstanding the fuct that he did walk on
the rough and ragged edge of life for four
long years—is there any such geuneral language
in bis letters as this woman hus used to de-
scribe the mere, most venial offenses in house-
hold life? And Icould turn you, gentlemen,
and my associates will, to letters of Theodore
Tilton himself, written during this very pe-
riod, that fall but very little below the ex-
aggerated Janzuage which I have read from
“his wife. He, too, uses the word *‘ remorse.’’
‘With him life has been a failure and blight.
1 am quoting the language of his letters,
long before any charge of this description is
mooted, in 1867 and '8. His language, I re-
‘peat, is as strong as Mr. Beecher’s, a8 strong
as the plaintiff’s wife’s, nearly.

You see, gentlemen, the necessity that they
felt, the pressure that they were under of at-
tempting to explain their own letters. Theo-

dore Tilton was put upon the witness stand
to explain away his own letters, and attribut-
ed them all to his early belief in Calvinism,
and to the agony which the occasional return
of that belief causes in his soul ! [Laughter.]
John Calvin was responsible for his letters,
his sins and omissions prior to 1870, and
Henry Ward Beecher bas been responsible for
all that have been committed since that time !
[Laughter.] So between Calvin and Beecher,
‘Pilton walks out as white-souled in his own
estimation as he describes his wife to be.

In weighing, therefore, the testimony in
in the case, we say you are to consider, gen-
tlemen, the relative probabilities and improb-
abilities involved, of innocence and guilt re-
spectively. It is impossible, if the letters of
the defendant are confessions of guilt, that
the guilty man should write such letters,
most of them voluntarily, and covering a
long period of time. We say, gentlemen of
the jury, that if Henry Ward Beecher had
been conscious of guilt, it he had sup-

at the time of writing these letters
that they could be construed into confessions
of adultery, it is not possible that he, or any
man 80 situated, should have ever written
them. Ipstead of these letters being evi-
dence of guilt, the fact that he has used this
geperal language is evidence that at the time
of writing the thought that it could be per-
verted to cover such a charge never occurred
to him.

It is improbable that a.guilty man should
volunteer to surrender to the plaintiff or bis
friend the alleged clandestine letters of the
exigtence of which they bad no knowledge,
aod no means of knowledge. Yet, gontl-
emen, they have introduced before you
some evidence of the secret correspondeuce,
a8 they choose to call it, between Mrs.
Tilton and Mr. Beecher. It was very secret
indeed. Where are the lutters produced
from ; where are they brought from into the
Court to testify against Henry \Ward Beecher ?
Why, from the archives of Krancis D. Moul-
ton. And how did they come there? Why,
Henry Ward Beecher delivered them to him.
Do you think, gentlemen, that if he had
thought this a guilty correspondence, and
they did not know of it, would not he have
kept those letters to himself, or silently de-
stroyed them and placed them beyond exist-
ence! Would he have gone and deposited
them where they could be produced against
him? The very fact that he did it, I submit,
is evidence conclusive that the thought of
guilt was not in his mind.

IMPROBABILITIES OF THE PLAINTIFF'S
STORY.

Again, it is impossible that a guilty man
should communicate his guilt to a woman,
to ask her how to conceal it, and that he
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should express his gratification at her having
communicated his guilt to other persous.
That is another remarkable feature of this
case. Here was Mr. Beecher, they say, pos-
sessed of a secret which was crushing him,
a secret which he knew if it was ever expos-
ed would be his ruin, asecret which they say
he was continually moving Heaven and earth
to conceal, and yet, it is a remarkable fact,
gentlemen, that whenever one of these par-
ties has told another of that secret and that
fact has been communicated to Mr. Beecher
he has always expressed the highest pleasure
and gratification because it has been thus
communicated. He had told Moulton the
secret, they say, and in 1871 Moulton told his
wife, and when she spoke to him and said,
** Frank has told me about it,”” why, Beecher
wasglad Frank had told her about it. He
had been struggling for a year and over to
keep his secret and to keep it safe, and when
he found that a woman had got it how glad
he was! [Laughter.] It would certainly be
kept now. If men could not keep it, she
could ; and so he was gratified to learn that
at least one woman knew his secret. They
say he wasglad of it, because he wanted so
much to have some woman to whom he
could converse on the subject; and yet, learn-
ing it in 1871, the first conversation she re-
fers to between him and her on the subject
was in 1873, two years afterward. Bat, to
help Beecher keep- his secret, shé went and
told the Robinson family of it, a pretty num-
erous family in this city, and when she com-
municated the fact to Beecher that she had
told the Robinson family of it, why, Beecher
wus s0 glad that Robinson knewit! [Laugh-
ter.] It would enable him to meet Robin-
son so much better. He had been going
down to Robinson’s office day after day, and
baviog long interviews with Moulton, and
Robinson didn't know what it meaut, and
Beecher knew he didn’t know what it meant,
and therefore, he felt sort of guilty going
und baving an interview with a man's part-
ner, when all the firm didn’t know what he
was talking about, and be was go glad when he
learned that the next time that he went down
to Robinson's office the whole firm would
koow that he bad come there to talk about
his adultery with Mrs. Tilton !

You may believe all these improbabilities,
gentlemen, but I dou’t think you will.

My associate suggests to me another re-
markable fact of this case. Atter Mr. Beech-
er knew that Mrs. Moulton knew his secret
and knew that he had been guilty of udultery,
he was anxious for Mrs. Moulton to come to
church. It would be such a gratification for
him to see in his congregation at least one
woman who kuew when he was preaching
that he was a libertine and seducer. You
may believe, gentlemen, that Henry Ward
Beecher, knowing that a woman knew him

guilty of adultery, invited her to come to
his church that she might hear him preach ;
but I think you will rather believe that if
any such thing were true, Henry Ward Beech-
er would go a thousand miles to avoid preach-
ing and looking such a woman as that in the
face. Thenthey introduce letters also, show-
ing that Beecher was anxious to see Mrs, Til-
ton at cburch too; it would be such a sat
isfaction for him to see his poor victim, whom
he had ruined, and whose family he had shat-
tered, in his presence on Sunday, when he
was invoking the blessings of God upon him-
self and his congregation !

There is another fact in regard to Mrs.
Mou!ton to which I desire also to call your
attention, one of the improbabilities in this
case, and that is, she says she urged upon
him to go down to his church and confess,
and said bis ciuurch would forgive him and
stand by him, and Frank would stand by him;
and she would be his friend also ; and yet, in
the same breath she tells you that she used to
say to Henry Ward Beecher: * How can I
receive communion at your hands, knowing
of your guilt? Ican’t; but you go down and
tell those 3,000 men and women at Plymouth
Church that youare covered all over with
the leprosy of adultery and falsehood, and
they will forgive you, and they will stand by
you, and they wiil receive communion at
your hands, and I and Frank will be your
friends.”’

Again, gentlemen, I have shown you that
in the correspondence of the 7th of February,
1871, Mr. Beecher commended to Mr. Tilton
his wife, and expressed the hope that Tilton
would love her with even more than the old
love. Is it probable that a man who had
seduced another man’s wife would write a
letter to the dearest friend of that man and
express such a monstrous idea as that the
fact that he had debauched the woman should
be a reason why the husband should love
her better than ever before ?

All this shows you, gentlemen, that these
parties were not talking about adultery, but
were talking &bout these complicated tumily
transactions—this supposed alienation of Mrs.
Tilton's affections, this leaving her husband,
and threatening to separate from him, and
this businessd ifficulty, which had become so
complicated that it could hardly be unraveled.

Again, we say that it is improbable that a
guilty man should demand investigation,
when it was resisted by his accusers. And
yet we have the word of Mrs. Moulton, given
in evidence here, that her husbaud was out-
raged and officnded at Mr. Beecher because
he bad demanded an investigation; and you
see how boldly even this woman inakes this
man meet this chaige, He tells her : ¢ They
cannot convict me.”” He tells her: ‘‘ They
may do their worst ; I am going to be free.”’
Is it probmble, if he had been guilty, he would
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have been the man ingisting upon an investi-
gation while his accusers were struggling to
prevent it ?

It is improbable that the husband, having
reason, in good faith, to believe his wife
guilty, should continue, without interruption,
to cohabit with her. Yet it is conceded he
did—not for six months, gentlemen, but for
four years. It is improbable thatthe wife
should put in writing, or that the husband
should consent to her doing 8o, a confession
and charge against the paramour, and that
the husband should use it for the purpose of
aiding in his extrication from another diffi-
culty. And yet it is conceded that this
statement of what they claim wus her con-
fession, or her statement, or her accusation,
whatever it is called, was obtained from her
by the husband to be used, and was used,
touching a business difficulty.

It is improhable that the husband should
communicate his wife’s guilt to third per-
sons, for the purpose of securing its conceal-
ment. It is improbable that the husband
should forgive the paramour and meet with
him socially at dinner-tables and receptions,
and receive affectionate salutations from him.
It is said somewhere, gentlemen, that I, in
some conversation, told Mr. Tilton that the
world would never forgive him for having
taken back his wife. All that I have to say
about that is, Mr. Tilton is mistaken. What I
said to Mr. Tilton was in the summer of 1874,
and not in’72 or '78. In the summer of "74,
when he was about to bring a charge of
adultery against Mr. Beecher, I said, * Mr.
Tilton, the world will never forgive you for
having been the friend of the man you
claim to be the seducer of your wife.”” It
was for taking back to friendship the man,
and not the woman.

It is improbable that the husband should
destroy the original charge. And yet they
come here saying, gentlemen, confessing that
they have destroyed the original charge on
which they accused Henry Ward Beecber on
the night of the 80th of December. They do
not produce it ; they preterd it is destroyed.
We say that it is improbable that the most
important document of all these should have
been destroyed, if it ever existed, and if it
would do anything but damn their present
case, if presented.

It is improbable that the husband should
make successive threatsof disclosure, and con-
stantly advise the paramour to remain silent.

It is improbable that the husband, if he
believed his wife’s guilt, should declare her
to be pure.

It is improbable that he should delay to

e for over four years, upou what he now
alleges as the true and original charge,
while he has been confessedly in the interim
wanipulating a false or garbled charge

~ against the defendant.

INFIRMITIES OF THE PLAINTIFF'S
EVIDENCE.

Now, as to the infirmities of the plaintiff's
evidence. The defendant’s own writings ad
duced against him, none of them expressly
indicate guilt, and, as read in the light of the
circamstauces which will be proved by the
defendant, they point to innocence. All the
other evidence adduced by the plaintiff is in-
fected by every infirmity known to the law.
The testimony is of oral admissions, which
are of themselves notoriously unreliable.
Such alleged admissions require corrobora-
tion, and the corroboration must be of facts
pointing to guilt. No such facts have been
thus far adduced. The willful destruction of
documents impairs the credibility of the
story. The witnesses have given contradic-
tory accougts. They admit that, gentlemen.
Moulton and Tilton both tell you upon the
witness stand that they have been lying
about this case for four years, and you will
remember the reply of my associate to Moul-
ton, ‘“We have your word for that when
you say you have been lying.”” Certain it is
that they have been asserting the innocence
of Mr. Beecher for four years. Now they as-
sert his guilt. The reason they give for it—
that Moulton gives for it—is, that at the
time he was asserting Mr. Beecher’s innocence
he regarded himself as a friend of Beecher.
Now that he is the enemy of Beecher, and
the party more involved in this case, and
having more to lose in it than any other but
Mr. Beecher, he asserts Beecher’s guilt;
and the only question you have got to deter-
mine is whether a man who has lied four
years for a friend, by his own confession, will
lie one year for himself. The witnesses Til-
tonand Moulton have both repeated their own
falsifications. The witnesses Tilton and Moul-
ton have shown themselves to have been in
constant confederacy throughout their deal-
ings with the defendant. I call your atten-
tion to this fact, gentlemen, that it is proved
from the witness stand that while Moulton
had secured, and gained, and held the con-
fidence of $Beecher as no other man ever held
the confidence of another, while he was pro-
fessing to be a friend, acting for him, pro-
tecting him in this matter, you have it from
his own mouth that, with but a single excep-
tion, all the papers and documents that he
ever presented to Beecher in this connection
for four years, were written by Tilton him-
self, or prepared in Tilton’s presence—all save
one, and that was the letter I read to you
this morning—the letter of June lst, 1878,
gentlemen.

That letter Moulton says he wrotein Til-
ton’s absence ; Tilton was not present; and
you see what sort of a letter he does write
when away from Tilton. Do you believe
that if Tilton had been present when that
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letter was prepared, any such careless phrase
a8 “I know you can stand if the whole
case were published to-morrow ’—do you be-
lieve that if Tilton had been present dictat-
ing the letter, such a clause as that would
have crept into it? Oh! no. Mr. Tilton
knew the force of words too well to commit
such an indiscretion as that. The letter was
written in Tilton’s absence by Moulton,
the shrewd aetor but poor writer; and
it is the only important one in this case for
four years that Moulton presented to Beecher
that Tilton had not himself composed, or in
the compogition of which he had not been
present, taking part.

The witness Mrs. Moulton has shown that
she was a party to their design to bring an
action at the time when they were still pre-
tending to be the friends of the defendant,
and when Moulton was still claiming to hold
the defendant’s letters in trust for the pro-
tection of each party against the other. Do
you remember the important evidence, gen-
tlemen, that fell from the lips of Mr. Moul-
ton’s wife upon the stand, that on the 13th
day of July, while Mr. Moulton says he was
professing to be the friend of Henry Ward
Beecher, while he was claiming to hold these
letters in trust for him, for the benefit of
both parties, there having been between him
and Beecher no break, no breach at that
time, she tells you she told Beecher they
were going to sue him in a court of law?
How came this woman to be possessed of that
fact, gentlemen? She tells you that she
knew as early as that time that she was
to be a witness against Henry Ward
Beecher, and she was not to be a wit-
ness before the Investigating Committee.
How'ca/me ghe in the possession of that informa-
tion

This ‘‘ Mutual Friend,” protecting Beecher
from Tilton and yet refusing to give Mr.
Beecher his documents, this man who
had for four years betrayed every one of
Beecher’s secrets to his most deadly enemy,
the moment they came to his possession—
this man’s wife knew days and weeks
before there was any pretended breach
between Moulton and Beecher, when Moul-
ton was still soliciting and still re-
ceiving the confidence of this defendant—his
wife knew that he was to be sued at law and
she was to be a witness. No conspiracy here,
gentlemen! No confederacy between these
men! Nothing butsincere and honest friend-
ship from Moulton to Beecher! There has
no little piece of evidence accidentally drop-
ped from the witnessstand during this long
trial that has the significance that that acci-
dental and unthought of remark which that
woman let fall in your presence has. It
stamps the conduct of these parties, and dis-
closes the malice and organized plotting
which had been going on between them for

months, for the final overthrow and ruin of
this defendant.

HISTORIC PARALLELS TO THIS CASE.

Gentlemen, the charge of incontinence
which is brought against this defendant is
not a new or unfamiliar charge against cler-
gymen. It is the common method of war-
fare. There is no accusation to which a cler-
gyman is 80 much exposed ; an enemy 1{hat
desires to do him a deadly injury has no point
from which to strike with such deadly effect
as the charge of infidelity in marital relations.
That charge, whether there is guilt or not, is
almost sufficient to blast the usefulness of
any clergyman, however respected and how-
ever beloved. But Mr. Beecher is not the
first eminent clergyman that has been called
upon to face such a persecution as this. It
was by means of such an accusation that the
enemies of St. Athanasius sought to destroy
the great champion of the orthodox faith.
It was by such means that the name of St.
Francis de Sales was kept under a cloud for
four years, during which he maintained the
same silence for which my client is so sharpc
ly criticised. It was upon such a charge tha-
the ruin of the illustrious Fenelon, Archbish
op of Cambray, was attempted. It was un-
der such an imputation that the ¢ judicious
Hooker,’’ one of the brightest lights in the
English Church, ‘remained ‘‘dumb as the
dead,”’ though innocent as a babe, for six
years of bitter anguish. It was such a charge,
spread broadcast over England, that John
Wesley, the man who of all Protestants
most nearly approached to the spirit and la-
bors of the Apostle Paul,suffered to pass with-
out any public reply for twenty years. And,
by a yet more remarkable coincidence, it was
by means of an insinuation that he had made
improper advances that a persecution was
kindled against him in Georgia, which re-
sulted in driving him out of this country un-
der the ban of an indictment. Who envies
the memory of the jury which found that
indictment? Where is John Causton, the
magistrate who inspired the prosecution?
He is pilloried forever in a few lines of Wes-
ley's biography, and escapes oblivion only
because the unsullied and venerated name of
the man whom he thought he had crushed
makes it impossible for him to escape infamy.

THE VALUE OF ESTABLISHED CHAR-
ACTER.

In the discharge of my duty, I have laid
before you, gentlemen, so much of this case
as, to the best of my ability, I could put into
words. But the deepest truth that underlies
it is beyond adequate exﬁression by feeble
words of mine; nor, I think, could any single
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tongue set forth the nature and the power of
that influence, which radiates throughout the
world and time, and beyond the grave, from
the glowing centre of a good man's life.
There are facts which are not spoken from
lip to ear, but from heart to heart. There is
a treasure at stake, in comparison with which
even the good name of one innocent man and
one innocent woman, however sacred and
precious this may be, is of trivial worth ; I
mean the principle of the value of established
character. What is the use of an honorable
life if it is no barrier against false accusation ;
if, in the face of foul conspiracy, its prayers
and labors, generosities and heroisms are to
be counted as worse than nothing—merely
the disguises of a rotten hypocrisy ?

Against this most dangerous infidelity of
our time, one grand protest has been made.
Three thousand men and women of Plymouth
Church have presented to this community a
spectacle unparalleled of faith in goodness and
in God. These people are your fellow-citi-
zens, gentlemen;  virtuous, industrious,
practical, sensible as yourselves. They love
their wives and daughters; they cherish the
purity of their households. Foremost among
you in every work of charity; earnest, sincere,
good friends, good neighbors, good citizens,
they stand and have stood through many
months unshaken in their confidence around
the pastor whom they love. And this they do
because they know him—because for thirty
years they have looked through his clear
eyes into his transparent soul—because his
influence upon them and their children has
been pure and wholesome—because he has
taught them from lips that repeated the
words of the Master and by a life that reflect-
ed the example of the Master to fear God and
to abhor evil. This multitude of witnesses
bear testimony to the value of a good man’s
character, as read in a good man’s life. And
it is the lesson of the value of character
which you, gentlemen, are called to impress
upon the world. It will be seen, that al-
though this city contained men vile enough
to assail with perjured lips the spotless repu-
tation of our noblest citizen, there were also
found in it those whose firm faith in him
could not be shaken by ingenious lies, and a
jury of honest, just and fearless men to stand
like a rock against the tide of slander.

You will save Brooklyn, already too much
disgraced by the existence of such a scandal,
from the far greater disgrace of permitting
such a man to be destroyed by such instru-
mentality—an eagle towering in his pride of
place, hawked at and killed by mousing
owls! Youwill tell the American people that
when innocence is assailed by unscrupulous
and cunning malice, however successful for a
time the assault may seem, it must find its
barrier when it reaches an American jury.
And you will say to this heartless and ungodly

persecution, ‘¢ Thus far shalt thou come, but
no farther—here all the midnight plottings
of cruel craft must cease forever.”

I ask of you for this defendant nothing but
that justice which you would mete out to the
humblest citizen ; yet you cannot but feel, as
I do, an overwhelming sense of the solemn
importance of this trial. It will loom larger
in history that any which has taken place for
eighteen centuries. No man of this defend-
ant’s fame has ever been called upon to
answer such a charge in a court of justice.
What a spectacle has been presented in this
city of churches ! Every day for eight weeks
this aged man, who has been a large and
various contributor to the literature of the
English tongue, and who never wrote a word
that was not inspired by the love of God, of
nature, and of his fellow-men; who has
swayed with sublimest eloquence greater mul-
titudes than any living orator, and who never
spoke save for justice, truth and virtue ; who
has convinced, rescued, instructed and com-
forted unnumbered thousands of erring,
struggling, suffering souls, counting his own
life, fortune and reputation as nothing,
if by their risk or sacrifice he could
serve the humble and the weak; this
man, whose fame encircles the ,earth,
and whose name is honored and be-
loved wherever Christianity bears sway, has
been dragged by malignant conspirators into
this Court to answer the vile and odious
charge, which all the evidence of a life-
time outside of these walls, no less than the
evidence produced within them, brands indeli-
blyas alie. Day by day he has passed along
our streets with his brave and true wife, to
meet the unmerited indignity of this ar-
raignment. Strong men have been touched
with mingled pity and wrath at the sight,
and women have turned aside to weep. It is
an outrage which posterity will avenge.
This fair city will yet boast among her proud-
est monuments the statue of him who con-
ferred upon her such glory, and received
within her gates such torture. All who had
part in this crowning drama of his life will be
remembered with execration or with praise.
Those who falsely accused, those who weakly
doubted, those cowards who forsook him,
those who were swift to believe evil, on the
one side; and, on the other, those who
steadfastly trusted, and those, gentlemen of
the jury, who justly judged.

Yes, gentlemen, by the judgment which
you here; pronounce, you will yourselves be
judged at the tribunal of after ages. What
you do here will never die. When these
scenes shall have passed away ; when he who
presides over this trial shall rest in the silent
chambers of the dead; when the seats you
occupy shall be filled by your children, or
your children’s children, strangers from dis-
tant climes will come to view the place from
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which was given back to the world, freed from
cloud or passing sgadow. the name of Hen:

Ward Beecher. Even when centuries shall
have rolled away, when these marble walls
shall have crumbled and decayed, this trial
will be remembered with undiminished inter-
cst. More eloquent than the words of this
defendant, more inspiring than his deeds of
magnanimity, more powerful among men
than the story of all his life of usefulness and
virtue, will be the recital of his serene faith
and patience under dire affliction and deadly
assault. Heroes are admired ; it is the mar-
tyrs who are beloved. Not the triumphal
procession and the loud hosanna, but the cup,
the thorn-crown, the cross, the sepulchre,

conquered the world; and since the hour !

of the Divine Sufferer no follower of Christ
has borne the crossin vain.

Gentlemen, do you believe in God? Then
you will recognize to-day what the genera-
tions to come will so clearly see ; what the
Day of Revelation will blaze forth in letters
of immortal light—the mark of God’s appro-
val upon this, His faithful, upright, suffering
servant, whom He hath hitherto guided, sus-
tained and blessed ; whom in the hour of
tribulation He hath not forsaken ; and whom,
by all the truth of His eternal promise and
all the resources of His Almighty power, He
will surely rescue and reward ; for ‘‘ Though
hand join in hand, the wicked shall not be
unpunished, but the seed of the righteous
shall be delivered.”” [Applause.]



